

# **Community-Based Exercise Rehabilitation in a**

# **Diverse Chronic Disease Population**

Fiona Skelly B.Sc.

PhD

January 2021

Community-Based Exercise Rehabilitation in a Diverse Chronic Disease Population

Fiona Skelly B.Sc.

A thesis submitted for the award of

Doctor of Philosophy

School of Health and Human Performance

**Dublin City University** 

Primary supervisor: Prof. Niall Moyna<sup>1</sup>

Secondary supervisor: Dr. Andrew McCarren<sup>2</sup>

Secondary external: Dr Brona Kehoe<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Health and Human Performance, Dublin City University, Ireland

<sup>2</sup>School of Computing, Dublin City University, Ireland

<sup>3</sup>Department of Sport and Exercise Science, Waterford Institute of Technology, Ireland

January 2021

#### Declaration

I hereby certify that this material, which I now submit for assessment on the program of study leading to the award of PhD is entirely my own work, that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original, and does not to the best of my knowledge breach any law of copyright, and has not been taken from the work of others save and to the extent that such work has been cited and acknowledged within the text of my work.

Signed: June Velly ID No. 10339729 Date 7/07/2020

Fiona Skelly (PhD Candidate)

### Acknowledgements

I would like to pay special regards to all the people who through their kindness and support have made this PhD journey possible for me.

Firstly, to all MedEx Wellness and ExWell Medical participants both past and present, who this research would not be possible without. The experience of working with you during the exercise classes over the past 5 years is something I will always treasure. Your positivity and strength has drove my passion for this work. You have made my journey truly special, and I have formed many personal bonds over the years. A whole-hearted thank you to you all.

My PhD supervisors, Prof. Niall Moyna, Dr. Bróna Kehoe and Dr. Andrew McCarren, thank you for your support, encouragement and persistent help throughout this process. Your advice and guidance has been invaluable. I feel truly lucky to have you as my supervisors and am sincerely grateful for everything you have done for me.

To Dr. Noel McCaffrey, your drive, passion and love for the program is an inspiration. Your unique and genuine connection with the participants is something I have always admired. The opportunity to work with you over the years has been a privilege.

To Ken, Gemma and staff in the DCU sports complex, thank you for providing me with this opportunity and your continued support over the years. I often felt like DCU sport was my second home and I will always be grateful to have carried out my PhD in such a positive environment.

To Dr. Lisa Loughney, thank you for joining the team when you did and offering so much expertise to allow this research to happen. Working alongside you was such an enjoyable part of the journey and I truly hope we get to work together again in the future.

To the MedEx research cluster, and my fellow postgraduate students over the years, thank you for your help, positivity and happy memories. I have made some lifelong friends along the way and have always felt extremely fortunate to have shared this journey with you.

To all the intra students over the years, thank you for all the donkey work throughout the data collection process. As crazy as it was at times, you made it possible.

To Dr. Kieran Dowd, thank you for sharing you expertise on the activPALs and giving up your time on many occasions to help.

To my housemates in 146 RR and the extended lotto syndicate crew, I am truly grateful to have such a supportive group of close friends around me. You're a great bunch and I look forward to the celebrations with you all.

To my parents and sisters, Gráinne and Lorna, for your unconditional love, support and always being there for me, thank you. You have always believed in me, but particularly in the last few months, that have never meant more.

To Anthony, from writing my personal statement during my application, to taking the brunt of my moaning throughout it all, you've been with me every step of the way, thank you.

#### **Research Dissemination**

#### Publication

 Kehoe, B., Skelly, F., Moyna, N., Cantwell, M., Boran, L., Daly, L., McCarren, A., Dowd, K., Woods, C., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L. (2020). The effects of participating in MedEx Wellness community-based chronic disease exercise rehabilitation program, on physical, clinical and psychological health: A study protocol for a cohort trial. *Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications*. (In Press).

#### **Conference Presentations**

- **Skelly, F**., O'Leary, E., Furlong, B., Loughney, L., Woods, C. and McCaffery, N. An Evaluation of the effects of the MedEx programme on Aerobic Capacity. Oral presentation at the Faculty of Sport and Exercise Medicine Spring Students Day, April 2016, Dublin, Ireland.
- Skelly, F., Moyna, N., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L., and Furlong, B. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviours of a Chronic Disease Population. Oral presentation at the Faculty of Sport and Exercise Medicine Conference, September 2017, Dublin, Ireland.
- Skelly, F., Moyna, N., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L., and Furlong, B. Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, Physical Functioning and selected Blood Biomarkers in men and women with Chronic Disease. Oral presentation at the Health Enhancing Physical Activity Conference, November 2017, Zagreb, Croatia.

- Skelly, F., Moyna, N., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L., and Furlong, B. The Effect of the MedEx Community-based Exercise Rehabilitation Programme on Physical Function and Physical Activity in Individuals with Chronic Disease. Oral presentation at the European College of Sports Science Annual Congress, July 2018, Dublin, Ireland.
- Skelly, F., Moyna, N., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L., Woods, C, Gorman, D, Dowd, K, Daly, L., and Furlong, B. Effects of a 12-month community-based exercise program in men and women with non-communicable diseases. Poster presentation at the American College of Sports Medicine Annual Meeting, May 2018, Minneapolis, United States.
- Skelly, F., Moyna, N., McCaffrey, N., Loughney, L., McCarron, A., Cantwell, M., Woods, C., Gorman, D., Dowd, K., Daly, L., and Furlong, B. Physical Activity, Physical Function and Quality of Life in Patients with Single and Multiple Chronic Diseases. Poster presentation at the American College of Sports Medicine Annual Meeting, May 2019, Florida, United States.

DECLARATION	3
Acknowledgements	4
Research Dissemination	6
Publication	6
Conference Presentations	6
LIST OF FIGURES	14
LIST OF TABLES	16
Abbreviations	18
DEFINITION OF KEY TERMS	21
Abstract	23
CHAPTER 1	24
INTRODUCTION	24
Rationale	24
Aims	30
Hypotheses	30
CHAPTER 2	31
LITERATURE REVIEW	31
Chronic Disease	

### Table of contents

Mortality Associated with Chronic Disease	31
Prevalence of Chronic Disease	33
Economic Burden of Chronic Disease	34
Patient Burden of Chronic Disease	34
Multimorbidity	36
Risk Factors associated with Chronic Disease	37
Physical Activity, Inactivity and Sedentary Behaviour	38
Physical Inactivity	40
Physical Activity	41
Physical Activity and Health-related Physical Fitness	45
Physical Activity in the Primary Prevention of Chronic Disease	49
Physical Activity in the Secondary Prevention of Chronic Disease	53
Exercise Setting	66
Community-based exercise programs for chronic disease	68
Sedentary Behaviour and Health Status	81
Patterns of Sedentary Behaviour	85
Physiological Mechanisms Associated with Sedentary Behaviour	88
Physical activity and Sedentary behaviour in individuals with chronic disease	91
The Effect of Exercise Rehabilitation on Physical Activity Levels and Sedentary Behaviour	93

Determinants of Physical Activity	
Conclusion	
CHAPTER 3	
Methodology	
Study Setting	
Study Design	
Participants	
Intervention: MedEx Wellness	
Outcomes	
Attendance	
Program initiation	
Drop-out	
Completers	
Adherence	
Safety	
Data Analysis	
CHAPTER 4	
Study I	132
EXPLORING DAILY STEP COUNT AND SEDENTARY BEHAVIOUR IN A DIVERSE CHRONIC DISEASI	E POPULATION132

Introduction	132
Methods	137
Results	142
Discussion	159
CHAPTER 5	161
Study II	161
EFFECT OF A COMMUNITY-BASED EXERCISE REHABILITATION PROGRAM ON PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS, SEDE	NTARY
BEHAVIOUR AND HEALTH OUTCOMES IN A DIVERSE CHRONIC DISEASE POPULATION	161
Introduction	161
Methods	165
Results	169
Discussion	193
CHAPTER 6	195
Study III	195
Factors Associated with Inter-Individual Variability in Response to Community-Based Exercise i	n Diverse
CHRONIC DISEASE POPULATION	195
Introduction	195
Methods	199
Results	209
Discussion	220

CHAPTER 7
DISCUSSION
Overview
Study 1 223
Study 2 232
Study 3 248
Strengths of this research
Impact of this research
Recommendations for future research 260
Recommendations for future practice
Conclusion
References
Appendices
Appendix A. Plain language statement 328
Appendix B. Informed Consent
Appendix C. Feedback Report
Appendix D. Questionnaire competed during visit 1
Appendix E. Questionnaire taken home on visit
Appendix F. Data Collection sheets

Appendix G. Summary of main effects for participant demographics on health-related measures 354
Appendix H. Summary of post hoc analysis on primary outcome variables with a significant main
effect for time
Appendix I. Summary of simple effects analysis on time*primary CD interaction effect for the 6MTT 
Appendix J. Summary of simple effects analysis on time*primary CD interaction effect for the PHQ8 
Appendix K. Summary of simple effects analysis on time*primary CD interaction effect for the SWLS
Appendix L. Summary of simple effects analysis on time*primary CD interaction effect for the WEMWBS
Appendix M. Outcome measure were there was a significant main effect for time in study 2 (chapter 5)
Appendix N. Outcome measures were there was a significant main effect for attendance in study 2 (chapter 5)

## List of Figures

FIGURE 2.1 GLOBAL CAUSES OF DEATH IN 2017
FIGURE 2.2. CHRONIC DISEASES ASSOCIATED WITH PHYSICAL INACTIVITY
FIGURE 2.3 THE RELATION BETWEEN BEHAVIOUR, FITNESS AND HEALTH
FIGURE 2.4 THE TRANSTHEORETICAL MODEL OF BEHAVIOUR CHANGE
Figure 2.5Social Cognitive Theory
FIGURE 3.1 STUDY ALGORITHM
FIGURE 3.2 OVERVIEW OF PROGRAM INDUCTION AND OUTCOME ASSESSMENTS
FIGURE 3.3 TIMEPOINTS INCLUDED IN THE ANALYSIS FOR EACH STUDY
FIGURE 4.1 OUTLINE OF DATA COLLECTION PROCEDURES
FIGURE 4.2 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND SEDENTARY TIME FOR ALL PARTICIPANTS AND INDIVIDUALS WITH A SINGLE CHRONIC DISEASE AND MULTIMORBIDITY
FIGURE 4.3 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND SEDENTARY TIME FOR ALL PARTICIPANTS AND PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE
Figure 4.4 Patterns of sedentary behaviour
FIGURE 5.1 THE MEDEX WELLNESS PROGRAM AND DATA COLLECTION TIMEPOINTS
FIGURE 5.2 PROGRAM COMPLETION AND DROPOUT FLOW CHART
FIGURE 5.3 LIPA (BL-12M) PAIRWISE COMPARISONS
FIGURE 5.4 NUMBER OF AND TIME SPENT IN SEDENTARY BOUTS OF 11-30 MIN DURATION AND TOTAL NUMBER OF SEDENTARY BOUTS (BL-12M) PAIRWISE COMPARISONS
FIGURE 5.5 BL – 12M FOR PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASES DIAGNOSIS

FIGURE 5.6 SIT AND REACH BL – 12M FOR SINGLE CHRONIC DISEASE AND MULTIMORBIDITY
FIGURE 5.7 8-ITEM PATIENT HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE BL – 12M FOR PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE DIAGNOSIS 188
FIGURE 5.8 SATISFACTION WITH LIFE SCALE BL – 12M FOR PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE DIAGNOSIS
FIGURE 5.9 THE SHORT WARWICK EDINBURGH MENTAL WELLBEING SCALE BL – 12M FOR PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE DIAGNOSIS
FIGURE 5.10 THE SHORT WARWICK EDINBURGH MENTAL WELLBEING SCALE BL – 12M SINGLE CHRONIC DISEASE AND MULTIMORBIDITY
FIGURE 6.1 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN LIGHT INTENSITY PHYSICAL ACTIVITY BETWEEN BASELINE AND 6 MONTHS
FIGURE 6.2 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN SIX MINUTE TIMED TRIAL BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS 211
FIGURE 6.3 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN SIT TO STAND BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS 212
FIGURE 6.4 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN HANDGRIP BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS 213
FIGURE 6.5 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN WAIST CIRCUMFERENCE BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS 214
FIGURE 6.6 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN 8-ITEM PATIENT HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS
FIGURE 6.7 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN EUROQOL VISUAL ANALOGUE SCALE BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS
FIGURE 6.8 INTER-INDIVIDUAL VARIABILITY FOR CHANGE IN SATISFACTION WITH LIFE SCALE BETWEEN BASELINE AND 6 MONTHS
FIGURE 7.1 CYCLE OF PHYSICAL INACTIVITY ASSOCIATED WITH CHRONIC DISEASE

## List of Tables

TABLE 2.1 STUDIES EXAMINING THE EFFECTS OF COMMUNITY-BASED EXERCISE REHABILITATION ON CHRONIC DISEASE
POPULATIONS
TABLE 3.1 EXERCISE PRESCRIPTION OF MEDEX WELLNESS CLASSES       114
TABLE 3.2 TEST BATTERY
TABLE 4.1 PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHICS FOR THE ENTIRE COHORT, PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE, SINGLE CHRONIC DISEASE AND         MULTIMORBIDITY
TABLE 4.2 HEALTH-RELATED MEASURES FOR THE ENTIRE COHORT, PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE, SINGLE CHRONIC DISEASE AND         MULTIMORBIDITY
TABLE 4.3 SUMMARY MAIN EFFECTS FOR PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASES DIAGNOSIS AND SCD OR MM ON HEALTH-RELATED
MEASURES AND PSYCHOSOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY.
TABLE 4.4 RELATION OF STEP COUNT AND SEDENTARY TIME WITH HEALTH RELATED OUTCOMES       152
TABLE 4.5. DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INDIVIDUALS ABOVE AND BELOW THE GUIDELINES OF MVPA FOR HEALTH RELATED
OUTCOMES
TABLE 4.6 FACTOR DERIVED FROM PRINCIPAL COMPONENT ANALYSIS OF HEALTH-RELATED MEASURES       155
TABLE 4.7 ANCOVA MAIN EFFECTS FOR PARTICIPANT DEMOGRAPHICS, DISEASE STATUS, PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND SEDENTARY
TIME ON FACTORS DERIVED FROM PRINCIPAL COMPONENT ANALYSIS
TABLE 5.1 NUMBER OF CLASSES ATTENDED FOR ALL PARTICIPANTS, COMPLETERS AND DROP-OUTS ACROSS ALL TIMEPOINTS
TABLE 5.2 DEMOGRAPHICS FOR COMPLETERS AND DROP-OUTS    172
TABLE 5.3 BASELINE PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND SEDENTARY BEHAVIOUR FOR COMPLETERS AND DROP-OUTS
TABLE 5.4 BASELINE PHYSICAL, CLINICAL AND PSYCHOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR COMPLETERS AND DROP-OUTS 174

TABLE 5.5 TYPE III ANALYSIS OF TIME, ATTENDANCE, TIME*PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE AND TIME*SCD OR MM EFFECTS FOR
PRIMARY OUTCOMES
TABLE 5.6 TYPE III ANALYSIS OF TIME, ATTENDANCE, TIME*PRIMARY CHRONIC DISEASE AND TIME*SCD OR MM EFFECTS FOR
SECONDARY OUTCOMES
TABLE 5.7 SUMMARY OF PAIRWISE COMPARISONS ON SECONDARY OUTCOME VARIABLES WITH A SIGNIFICANT MAIN EFFECT
FOR TIME
TABLE 5.8 CORRELATION BETWEEN CHANGE IN MEASURES OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND PSYCHOSOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF
PHYSICAL ACTIVITY BETWEEN BASELINE - 12 MONTHS 192
TABLE 6.1 BINARY LOGISTIC REGRESSION RESULTS USED TO ESTIMATE REQUIRED NUMBER OF ATTENDANCE FOR ACHIEVING A
MEASURABLE CHANGE AND CLINICALLY MEANINGFUL CHANGE IN HEALTH RELATED MEASURES AND PSYCHOSOCIAL
DETERMINANTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

#### Abbreviations

- 6MTT = 6 minute time trial
- 6MWT = 6 minute walk test
- ADL = Activities of daily living
- AIC = Akaike Information Criterion
- ANCOVA = Univariate analysis of covariance
- BIC = Bayesian Information Criterion
- BL = Baseline
- BMI = Body mass index
- BP = Blood pressure
- CAD = Coronary artery disease
- CBER = Community based exercise rehabilitation
- CD = Chronic disease
- COPD = Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
- CRF = Cardiorespiratory fitness
- CRP = C-reactive protein
- CVD = Cardiovascular disease
- DBP = Diastolic blood pressure
- DCU = Dublin City University
- EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale
- EU = European Union
- FEV<sub>1</sub> = Forced expiratory volume in 1 second

HbA<sub>1</sub>c = glycated haemoglobin

- HDL-C = High density lipoprotein cholesterol
- hsCRP = high sensitivity c-reactive protein

HR = Hazard ratio

- HRQoL = Health-related quality of life
- LDL-C = Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
- LIPA = Light intensity physical activity

LPL = lipoprotein lipase

- MANCOVA = Multivariable analysis of covariance
- MET = Metabolic equivalent
- MM = Mulitmorbidity
- MMA = Mixed model analysis
- MSKF = Musculoskeletal fitness
- MVPA = Moderate to vigorous physical activity
- Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders
- PA = Physical Activity
- PAD = Peripheral arterial disease
- PCA = Principal component analysis
- PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire Depression Scale
- QoL = Quality of life
- OR = Odds ratio
- SB = Sedentary behaviour
- SBP = Systolic blood pressure

- SCD = Single chronic disease
- SCT = Social cognitive theory
- SD = Standard deviation
- SE = Standard error
- SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale
- SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale
- T2DM = Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- TG = Triglycerides
- TRX = Total body resistance suspension training
- UK = United Kingdom
- US = United States
- VO<sub>2max</sub> = maximal oxygen uptake
- VO<sub>2peak</sub> = peak oxygen uptake
- WHO = The World Health Organisation
- WHR = Waist to hip ratio

#### **Definition of Key Terms**

**Chronic disease (CD):** complex long-term, progressive diseases that develop in response genetic, environmental, physiological or behavioural risk factors (Larsen & Lubkin, 2009).

**Multimorbidity (MM):** the presence of two or more chronic medical conditions (Wallace et al., 2015).

**Cardiovascular disease (CVD):** a group of disorders of the heart and blood vessels and include coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, rheumatic heart disease and other conditions (World Health Organization, 2020c).

**Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD):** a progressive disease of the lungs characterized by airflow limitation that is not fully reversible (World Health Organization, 2019b).

**Type 2 Diabetes (T2D):** a chronic metabolic disease, characterized by disruption of glucose homeostasis, resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both (American Diabetes Association, 2005; DeFronzo, 2004).

**Cancer:** is a generic term applied to a large group of diseases characterised by the growth of abnormal cells beyond their usual boundaries (World Health Organization, 2019b).

**Physical Activity (PA):** any bodily movement produced by the contraction of skeletal muscle that increases energy expenditure above basal level (Caspersen et al., 1985).

**Light intensity physical activity (LIPA):** activities <3.0 METs or that do not cause a noticeable change in breathing rate and can be sustained for prolonged periods (Haskell et al., 2007; Norton et al., 2010).

**Moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA):** activities >3.0 METs or that cause an increase in heart rate and breathing rate (Haskell et al., 2007; Norton et al., 2010).

**Exercise:** a sub-category of PA that is planned, structured, repetitive and is completed with the purpose of improving or maintaining one or more components of physical fitness (Caspersen et al., 1985).

**Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF):** an integrated measure of the ability of the cardiovascular, respiratory and muscular systems to supply and utilise oxygen during sustained physical work.

**Community-based exercise rehabilitation (CBER)**: exercise rehabilitation that is delivered in local fitness centres, gyms and community centres.

**Sedentary behaviour:** a range of human endeavours that result in an energy expenditure of no more than 1.5 times resting energy expenditure and typically includes time spent sitting or lying during waking hours (Matthews et al., 2008).

#### Abstract

#### Skelly, Fiona. Community-Based Exercise Rehabilitation in a Diverse Chronic Disease Population

The effectiveness of physical activity (PA) for reducing the morbidity and mortality in individuals with chronic disease (CD) has been widely established. CD populations participate in lower levels of PA than their healthy counterparts. Currently research has focused on individual disease cohorts and limited evidence exists investigating levels of PA and SB in a mixed CD population. Study I used a cross-sectional study design to evaluate total daily PA and SB in men and women (62.98 ± 10.99 yr and 50.6% men) with a variety of CDs and examined the association between these behaviours and selected health indices. Participants spent 9.5 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, 4.1 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, 1.4 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, and 0.3 h.day<sup>-1</sup> sedentary, standing, in light intensity PA (LIPA) and moderate to vigorous intensity PA (MVPA), respectively and on average took 6713 steps per day. The majority of SB was accumulated in bouts lasting  $\geq$  30 min. A higher daily step count was associated with more favourable measures of body composition, aerobic fitness and self-rated health. Increased daily sedentary time was associated with less favourable lower body strength. These findings highlighted that individuals with CD, regardless of specific condition, are a target cohort for intervention. Community-based exercise rehabilitation (CBER) programs have the potential to improve health outcomes in CD groups by increasing PA levels and reducing sedentary behaviour (SB). Historically such programs have involved single CDs. Given the similar programme design and the growing prevalence of multimorbidity (MM), an integrated model may be more suitable. MedEx Wellness is a novel CBER service in Ireland, which offers a shared programme to a range of CDs. In study II a quasiexperimental design was used to investigate the effects of a CBER program on levels of PA, SB and selected health indices, in men and women with a variety of CDs. There were significant improvements in LIPA, patterns of SB, physical function, body composition and psychological health following participation in a CBER program. A higher attendance to the CBER program was associated with improvements in measures of LIPA, MVPA, step count, time in sedentary bouts > 60 min, physical function, body composition and psychological health and psychosocial determinants of PA. These findings demonstrate that CBER is an effective approach to increasing PA and improving health related outcomes for individuals with CD, however statistically significant findings often mask the range of inter-individual variability that exists within response to CBER. In study III factors associated with an effective response to participation in a CBER, in terms of a measurable change, in men and women with a variety of CDs were explored. For measures of LIPA, strength, body composition and psychological health, a lower baseline (BL) value increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change. A higher cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) level at BL, increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change. Individuals with cancer were more likely to improve measures lower body strength. Individuals with metabolic disease and respiratory disease were less likely to improve measures of LIPA and psychological health, respectively. Individuals with CD participate in low levels of PA and accumulate high levels of SB. A shared CBER program is an effective approach to inducing change in PA, SB, physical function and psychological health in a CD cohort. Identifying factors associated with a non-response to CBER could optimise program design and delivery.

#### Chapter 1

#### Introduction

#### Rationale

Chronic disease (CD) is an umbrella term that describe long-term progressive illnesses including cardiovascular disease (CVD), cancer, type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD) (World Health Organization, 2013). Globally, CD is the leading cause of mortality accounting for > 70% of annual deaths (Roth et al., 2018; World Health Organization, 2018b) and > 60% of all adult ( $\geq$  18 yr) deaths in Ireland in 2018 (Department of Health, 2019). CD represents the major driver of health care utilization and it is estimated that the management of CD accounts for 70% - 90% of healthcare budgets in Europe and the United States (US) (Cronin et al., 2017; National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020).

Multimorbidity (MM) refers to the coexistence of two or more long-term medical conditions or diseases and is associated with a higher risk of premature death, hospital admission, reduced functional capacity and quality of life (QoL), compared to a single CD (SCD) (Bayliss et al., 2004; Fortin et al., 2005; Smith & O'Dowd, 2007; Wallace et al., 2015). Currently, > 90% of older adults in Ireland a living with at least one CD and 70% with MM (Hernández et al., 2019).

Maximizing disease outcomes requires a combination of medical management, primarily pharmacological strategies and lifestyle interventions including smoking cessation, dietary changes, reducing SB and increasing physical activity (PA). PA is defined as any bodily movement produced by the contraction of skeletal muscle that increases energy expenditure above basal level (Caspersen et al., 1985). Exercise is a subcategory of PA that involves planned, structured, and repetitive body movements undertaken to improve and/or maintain physical fitness or health.

PA can be classified by the intensity of the activity, which in absolute terms is measured by the rate of energy expenditure, usually described in metabolic equivalents (METs). Moderate to vigorous intensity PA (MVPA), is identified as any activity that requires 3-6 METs (World Health Organization, 2020a). It is currently recommended that individuals with CD should accumulate at least 150 min per week of moderate to vigorous PA (MVPA) (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018b). However, only a small proportion of individuals with CD meet the recommended PA guidelines (Bernard et al., 2018; Fox et al., 2015; Loprinzi et al., 2013; Morrato et al., 2007; Serrano-Sanchez et al., 2014). This may be due in part to the fact that many individuals living with CD have a low functional capacity, limiting their ability to participate in MVPA (Brown & Flood, 2013; Kujala et al., 2019; Welmer et al., 2013).

The health enhancing benefits of increasing light intensity PA (LIPA), which refers to activities performed at >1.5 METs to < 3 METs (Chastin et al., 2019) are now emerging. In a metaanalysis by Chastin *et al.*, (2019) evidence for beneficial acute and long-term cardiometabolic responses associated with LIPA are demonstrated. Furthermore, an association between LIPA and a reduced risk of mortality was found. Additional research has reported favourable associations between LIPA and body composition, blood lipids and glucose, systemic inflammation, depression, risk of hospitalization and all-cause mortality (Donaire-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Fuezeki et al., 2017a;

Gando et al., 2014; Healy et al., 2007; Loprinzi & Pariser, 2013; Park & Larson, 2014). A threshold for the amount of LIPA required to onset health benefits has yet to be established, however increasing LIPA by 2 min every hour was associated with a lower risk of mortality in individuals with chronic kidney disease (Beddhu *et al.*, 2015). Recent evidence reports that reallocating 30 min of sleep, sedentary time or standing with LIPA is associated with significant decreases in BMI, body fat and fat mass in older adults (Powell et al, 2020). For some individuals with MM, LIPA or MVPA is potentially the most effective treatment option to positively impact all components of the illness (Barker et al., 2018) and the term 'polypill' has been used to describe the pleotropic effects of PA, which has been shown to include physical functioning, clinical and psychological enhancements in health (Pareja-Galeano et al., 2015).

Sedentary behaviour (SB) refers to any waking behaviour characterized by an energy expenditure ≤ 1.5 METs while in a seated, reclined or lying posture (Tremblay et al., 2017). The specific postural component of SB (sitting activities), differentiates SB from physical inactivity. Physical inactivity refers to PA levels which are below the recommended guidelines. SB is associated with an increased risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, which appear to be independent of PA (Patterson et al., 2018; Rezende et al., 2014). Prolonged SB has been associated with detrimental effects on glycaemic control, lipid levels and body composition (Brocklebank et al., 2015; Powell et al., 2018; Wirth et al., 2017). The relative risks associated with prolonged sitting become more pronounced in individuals who are also insufficiently active (Biswas et al., 2015; Bouchard et al., 2015; Ekelund et al., 2016). Moreover, among CD populations, the number and length of sedentary periods along with frequency of interruptions with standing or LIPA are associated with an increase and a decrease, respectively in markers of cardiometabolic and

cardiovascular health in CD populations (Bankoski et al., 2011; Biswas et al., 2015). Interestingly, the negative effects of too much sitting may not exist on the same continuum as the healthenhancing benefits achieved through PA (Dempsey & Thyfault, 2018; Knaeps et al., 2018). Distinct genomic regions are linked to PA and SB and SB has detrimental cardiovascular and metabolic effects which are independent of PA (Hamilton et al., 2008). From a public health perspective, MVPA by itself may be insufficient to eliminate the negative health effects of SB and findings a health balance between sitting, standing and PA throughout the day may encompass a more integral public health recommendation for individuals with CD (Van der Ploeg et al., 2017).

Although several biological risk factors are shared across CD groups including hypertension, insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, dyslipidemia and chronic inflammation, all of which are positively impacted by PA and reduced SB (Koene et al., 2016; Nesto, 2019; Warburton et al., 2006; World Health Organization, 2005b), PA studies to date have largely focused on SCD cohorts, and comparison across disease groups are limited. Community-based exercise rehabilitation (CBER) programs are exercise rehabilitation services that take place in a local fitness centre, gym or community centre and have the potential to increase daily PA levels and improve health outcomes in CD cohorts (Moreton et al., 2018; Varas et al., 2018, Gallé et al., 2019; Marsden et al., 2016; Pang et al., 2005; Santa Mina et al., 2017) Although CBER programs have historically accommodated specific disease cohorts (Anderson et al., 2016; Dunlay et al., 2014; Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Shepherd & While, 2012) they often incorporate similar structures and primarily comprise of a combination of aerobic and resistance training (Bourke et al., 2016; Heiwe & Jacobson, 2011; Heran et al., 2011; Lane et al., 2014; Marsden et al., 2016; McCarthy et al., 2015). In addition, similar exercise training programs for

individuals with MM have been shown as effective therapeutic strategies (Barker et al., 2018; Ewanchuk et al., 2018; Zgibor et al., 2017). Given the commonality in program design and delivery, an integrated approach to CBER may offer a more resource efficient strategy for reducing SB and increasing PA. The effectiveness of a shared exercise rehabilitation program for CD and MM has yet to be established.

Wide-ranging responses exists within participant cohorts in response to pharmacologic treatments or lifestyle interventions and indeed, it is not uncommon for some participants to experience an adverse response to an intervention or treatment (Garrod et al., 2006; Gayda et al., 2008; Stoilkova-Hartmann et al., 2015). Reporting mean changes in health indices as a representative of the entire group usually has little clinical importance for individual patients (Jaeschke et al., 1989) and can often may mask adverse responses. In contrast, determining clinically meaningful changes in indices of health are of much greater importance in the management of CD (Cook, 2008). Research identifying factors associated with meaningful biological and behavioural responses could assist in program design and delivery.

The CD population is currently primarily segregated in terms of both research and healthcare. Research capturing PA levels and SB has focused on SCD populations and comparisons are limited as a result of different methodologies used to capture these outcomes. Moreover, individuals with MM are often excluded from SCD cohort studies. An integrated model of CBER has the potential to highly effective for improving PA and health related outcomes in the CD population, while also reducing a substantial burden on healthcare services. The evidence base for this approach to CBER currently does not exist. The purpose of this PhD was to determine the levels

of PA and SB in a mixed CD cohort and evaluate the efficacy of CBER on PA levels and SB within this

cohort.

#### Aims

- Determine the levels of PA and SB in a mixed CD cohort and to investigate the associations of PA and SB with selected indices of health
- II. Evaluate the effects of CBER on PA levels, SB and selected indices of health in a mixed CD cohort
- III. Investigate factors associated with a favourable response to CBER in a mixed CD cohort

#### Hypotheses

- I. Total daily PA will be low, SB will be high and will be accumulated in prolonged bouts in men and women with CD and MM and higher PA and lower SB will be associated with more favourable measures of physical, clinical and psychological health
- II. Participation in a CBER program will result in significant improvements in PA, SB, physical, clinical and psychological health
- III. Inter-individual variability in physical (activity behaviours and physical functioning), clinical or psychological health between men and women with SCD and MM will predict response to CBER.

#### Chapter 2

#### **Literature Review**

#### Chronic Disease

CD, also known as a non-communicable diseases, are complex long-term, progressive diseases (Larsen & Lubkin, 2009) that develop in response to genetic, environmental, physiological or behavioural risk factors. There are a wide range of medical conditions which are captured under the umbrella term CD, with CVD, cancer, T2DM and chronic lung conditions being most prevalent (World Health Organization, 2013). CD require ongoing medical treatment, which can limit activities of daily living (ADL). Lifestyle behaviours such as smoking, poor nutrition, excessive weight, physical inactivity and alcohol consumption are the primary, preventable determinants of CD (Ezzati & Riboli, 2013).

#### Mortality Associated with Chronic Disease

More people worldwide die as a result of a CD than any other cause of mortality. In 2017, CDs were responsible for > 73% of global deaths (figure 2.1) (Roth et al., 2018). According to the World Health Organisation (WHO) (World Health Organization, 2018b), CD are responsible for 75% of premature adult deaths, i.e., death occurring between the ages of 30-69 yr. CDs develop at a younger age in low and middle income countries (World Health Organization, 2005a) resulting in a higher rate of premature death compared to developed countries. With the number of people over the age of 65 yr increasing in the developed and developing world, the proportion of the population living with a CD is growing. Approximately half of all Americans and one-third of adults in EU member states are living with at least one CD (Raghupathi & Raghupathi, 2018, OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, 2019b). The primary causes of death in European Union (EU) countries are circulatory disease, cancers and respiratory diseases (OECD/European Union, 2018).

In Ireland, around 50% of men and women aged 65 yr and over, reported to have at least one CD (OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, 2019a). In 2018, CD accounted for 61.4% of all deaths in the population between the ages of 0 - 64 yr and 64.7% of all deaths in adults aged  $\geq$ 65 yr in Ireland with CVD, cancer and respiratory diseases the most common cause of death (Department of Health, 2019).

	0%	5%	10%	15%	20%	25%	30%	35%
CARDIOVASCUALAR DISEASE CANCERS RESPIRATORY DISEASE LOWER RESPIRATORY INFECTIONS		4.57	7% %		17.08%			31.80%
DEMENTIA DIGESTIVE DISEASES NEONATAL DEATHS DIARRHEAL DISEASE DIARCHEAC MENUTUR		4.499 4.259 3.19% 2.81%	%					
LIVER DISEASE RAOD ACCIDENTS KIDNEY DISEASE TUBERCULOSIS		2.45% 2.36% 2.22% 2.20% 2.12%						
HIV/AIDS SUICIDE MALARIA HOMICIDE	0	1.71% 1.42% 1.11% .72%						
PARKINSONS DISEASE DROWNING MENINGITIS NUTRITIONAL DEFICIENCIES PROTEIN-ENERGY MAL NUTRITION	0.0.0.0	.61% 53% 51% 48% 41%						
MATERNAL DEATHS ALCOHOL DISORDERS DRUG DISORDERS HEPATITIS	0. 0. 0.	35% 33% 30% 23%						
HIRE CONFLICT HEAT-RELATED (HOT AND COLD EXPOSURE) TERRORISM NATURAL DISASTERS	0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0	22% 21% 10% 15% 12%						

Figure 2.1 Global causes of death in 2017 Adapted from Ritchie (2018)

#### Prevalence of Chronic Disease

The prevalence of CD in the UK is expected to increase by more than 50% between 2015 and 2035 (Kingston et al., 2018). Specifically, by 2035 the number of people diagnosed with cancer, diabetes and coronary artery disease (CAD) is expected to increase by 179%, 118% and 22% respectively. Likewise, the number of older adults in the US living with a CD is expected to double and reach close to 71 million by 2030 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2011). A 40% increase in the number of adults in Ireland living with a CD is expected in the next decade (Government of Ireland, 2018).

#### **Economic Burden of Chronic Disease**

The cost of CD encompasses direct costs (e.g., medical care, including ambulances services, inpatient or outpatient care, rehabilitation and medication), indirect costs (e.g., loss of human resources caused by morbidity, reduced working population) and intangible costs (e.g., the impact on mental health, bereavement, and suffering, which can result in low productivity). Examining healthcare expenditure alone illustrates the magnitude of the burden of CD. It is estimated that 90% of the US \$3.5 trillion annual health care expenditure and 70%-80% of healthcare budgets in the EU are spent caring for individuals with CD (National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, 2020, Cronin et al., 2017). In Ireland, approximately 90% of the total healthcare budget is spent treating CD (Smyth, 2017). The management of CD is Ireland has been described as inadequate and the present system is unsustainable. Public outpatient services in Ireland are overwhelmed and constantly operating off waiting lists (Irish College of General Practitioners, 2018). Unless urgently addressed, it is expected that CD will have profound social and economic consequences (Riley et al., 2016).

#### Patient Burden of Chronic Disease

Living with a CD is associated with considerable burden. All CDs have the potential to limit the quality of life (QoL) of the people who live with them (Harris & Wallace, 2012). Functional capacity can be impacted which in turn effects independence (Nihtilä et al., 2008). CD impacts the general wellbeing of individuals across a variety of components including functional capacity and psychological health.

#### Functional capacity and functional independence

Functional capacity can be defined as an individual's ability to independently carry out ADL (Liang & Jette, 1981) and a single CD (SCD) is a significant predictor of functional status decline (Stuck et al., 1999). Furthermore, loss of mobility over a 4 yr follow-up period in adults  $\geq$  65 yr is highly predicted by the presence of CD (Guralnik et al., 1993). Approximately 80% of older adults with a CD are unable to perform some ADL unaided. (Júnior et al., 2017). Among community-dwelling women with CD, three-quarters indicated that the illness had a significant impact on daily life, including reducing activity participation, necessitating modifications to their usual routine and affecting future plans (Restorick Roberts et al., 2017). A decrease in independence can significantly impact QoL. The presence of a CD appears to accelerate the normal decline in functional capacity is a major cause of disability and increases ADL dependency (Hou et al., 2018).

#### Quality of life and psychological health

Treatment priorities for CD populations have shifted over the decades as increased survivorship and non-fatal health outcomes, including HRQoL and psychological health, are now a major factor for consideration in healthcare. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is based on an individual's level of satisfaction with their current level of functioning in terms of physical, social and psychological health (Stenman et al., 2010). The CD population have a lower HRQoL than healthy age and gender matched counterparts (Alonso et al., 2004). An increased life expectancy is likely to result in a large proportion of the CD population, particularly those > 50 years of age, living with a reduced HRQoL (Siegel et al., 2012; Wilmot et al., 2015). Across a range of CDs, Lam and Launder, (2000) reported adverse effects on HRQoL in a number of physical, social and psychological health components including physical fitness, emotional health, limitations in daily activities, limitations in social activities and overall health.

Rates of depression and decreased life satisfaction are increased in individuals with CD (Hébert, 1997; Mhaoláin et al., 2012). Chapman *et al.*, (2005) reported elevated rates of depressive disorders across a range of CDs including asthma, arthritis, CVD, cancer and diabetes. Among T2DM, the presence of depression and anxiety is significantly higher than in healthy age-matched controls (Rajput et al., 2016) and is related to risk of mortality in this population (Naicker et al., 2017). A high proportion individuals with COPD report having a persistent low mood and lack of interest (Kotrotsiou et al., 2017). Furthermore, individuals with depressive symptoms following a myocardial infarction are less likely to adhere to lifestyle and behavioural therapies, which potentially will increase their risk of additional cardiac events (Ziegelstein et al., 2000).

#### Multimorbidity

MM, defined as the presence of two or more chronic medical conditions has been shown to have a significant impact on QoL, functional capacity, risk of depression, and health care utilization (Wallace et al., 2015, Marengoni et al., 2011). Furthermore, the presence of MM is associated with increased likelihood of hospital admissions, length of stay and readmission, polypharmacy, and increased healthcare costs, dependency, and risk of mortality (Marengoni et
al., 2011; Salive, 2013). Studies in both the UK and US have found the patients with MM contribute largely to healthcare expenditure (Safran et al., 2005; Sum et al., 2018).

MM affects a substantial percentage of the population and the burden is expected to grow, owing to the aging population (Laires & Perelman, 2019). More than half of the UK population (54%) over the age of 65 yr were reported to have  $\geq$  2 CDs in 2015 and this is expected to increase to 67% by 2035 (Kingston et al., 2018). In a representative sample of the Irish population > 50 yr, it was estimated that 66.2% of individuals have MM, with 11% having > 4 chronic conditions (Glynn et al., 2011). Currently, > 70% of older adults in Ireland are classified as having MM (Hernández et al., 2019).

#### **Risk Factors associated with Chronic Disease**

A number of non-modifiable and modifiable risk factors are shared across many CDs. Nonmodifiable risk factors include age, gender, race and family history. Modifiable risk factors include depression, impaired glucose tolerance, hyperinsulinemia, dyslipidemia, hypertension, obesity, unhealthy diet, smoking, physical inactivity and excessive alcohol (World Health Organization, 2020b). At least 80% of CAD, 90% of T2DM and 30% of cancers could be avoided with lifestyle modifications (Waxman, 2004). SB is also a lifestyle behaviour that is associated with the development of CD (Owen et al., 2014). In the US > 95% of the adult population have at least one modifiable risk factor, > 70% have two or more and > 45% have three or more (Adams et al., 2019). overweight and obese respectively (Healthy Ireland, 2019). In addition, 69% do not get the recommended levels of daily physical activity (PA) (World Health Organization, 2018c).

## Physical Activity, Inactivity and Sedentary Behaviour

PA is defined as any bodily movement produced by the contraction of skeletal muscle that increases energy expenditure above basal level (Caspersen et al., 1985) and includes occupational, household (e.g. caregiving, household cleaning, gardening), transport (e.g. walking or cycling to work) and leisure time activities (Booth et al., 2011). Exercise is a sub-category of PA that is planned, structured, repetitive and is completed with the purpose of improving or maintaining one or more components of physical fitness (Caspersen et al., 1985). The current minimum recommended amount of PA is 150 min of moderate PA, 75 min of vigorous PA or an equivalent combination totalling  $\geq$ 600 MET-min per week (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a). Subsequentially, physical inactivity refers to PA levels which are below the recommended guidelines and hence, less than those required for optimal health and prevention of premature death (Booth et al., 2011).

A continuum depiction based on intensity is frequently used where physical activity lies at the lower end. Research investigating the underlying mechanisms of physical inactivity as a risk factor and PA as a primary prevention tool have challenged the continuum theory of these two behaviours. The effects of inactivity are not simply a mirror image of the effects of activity. One example is their differing effects on vascular function. Inactivity results in immediate (within days) increases in the vasoconstrictor tone due to an inward remodelling mechanism in the arteries (Thijssen et al., 2010). The primary mechanisms involved with exercise training in enhancing vasodilator activity is outwards remodelling, which requires 4-6 weeks. Comparing the response to bed rest and exercise training also highlights the non-parallel association between activity and inactivity. Alibegovic *et al.*, (2010) found that 9 days of bed rest induced insulin resistance in 20 healthy males and altered the expression of more than 4,500 genes and a subsequent 4 weeks of exercise training only partially recovered these adaptations.

The term physical inactivity can be defined in different ways. It can refer to individuals who are insufficiently active to meet the recommended levels of PA (Thivel et al., 2018). Given the established dose-response relation between PA and health, defining physical inactivity in a similar manner suggest a continuum theory. Physical inactivity, defined in terms of non-active behaviours characterized by a lack of motion, distinguishes the unique nature of inactivity. This behaviour is now more commonly described as sedentary behaviour (SB).

SB can include a range of human endeavours that result in an energy expenditure of no more than 1.5 times resting energy expenditure and typically includes time spent sitting or lying during waking hours (Matthews et al., 2008). SB refers to too much sitting rather than too little PA and is thought to be a distinct set of behaviours. A physically inactive person is someone who does not meet the recommended levels of PA. However this does not characterize them as sedentary. To date there has been no threshold established to characterize an individual as sedentary.

## **Physical Inactivity**

Physical inactivity has been identified as a primary risk factor for the development of CD (Booth et al., 2017; González et al., 2017). Indeed the risk of CD development associated with physical inactivity is similar to the risk associated with obesity or smoking (Lee et al., 2012b). Globally, physical inactivity is accountable for 6-10% of CD (Lee et al., 2012b), and 30% of the burden of ischemic heart disease, 27% of T2DM, and 21-25% of breast cancer and colon cancer (World Health Organization, 2009). Booth *et al.*, (2011) concluded that physical inactivity is one of the most important causes of most CDs and have identified 35 conditions highly associated with physical inactivity (Figure 2.2)





Technological advances in modern society have greatly contributed to the growing prevalence of physical inactivity. Since the introduction of powered machinery, daily step counts

are estimated to have dropped approximately 50-70% (Booth et al., 2011). A third of adults globally are physically inactive (Hallal et al., 2012). Almost 70% of the adult population in Ireland are insufficiently active (World Health Organization, 2018c). It is estimated that reducing physical inactivity by 10% - 25% would avert 533,000 to 1.3 million global deaths annually (Lee et al., 2012).

## **Physical Activity**

Participation in PA can be classified in terms of absolute and relative intensity. The absolute intensity of an activity is measured by the rate of energy expenditure associated with that activity, usually described in metabolic equivalents of task (METs) (Miles, 2007). A limitation associated with the measurement of PA intensity on an absolute scale is that a particular activity might require quite different physical effort between individuals with varying fitness levels (Lee et al., 2003). For example, walking at 3 to 4 mph (brisk walking), on an absolute scale, is classified as moderate intensity or requiring 4 METs, regardless of whether it is performed by a young man or elderly women. PA can be also be expressed in relative terms, where the intensity of an activity is classified by measuring the energy requirement in a particular individual compared to their level of fitness (Howley, 2001). The relative intensity of an aerobic activity can be described in terms of percentage of maximal oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2max</sub>), oxygen uptake reserve, heart rate reserve or maximal heart rate. Likewise, intensity can be classified relative to an individual's subjective perceptions of effort or intensity.

Categories along this continuum can be described as follows:

**Light:** activities < 3.0 METs or that do not cause a noticeable change in breathing rate and can be sustained for prolonged periods.

**Moderate:** activities 3.0 – 5.9 METs or that cause an increase in heart rate and breathing rate but where one can still hold a conversation. This intensity can generally be sustained for 30-60 minutes.

<u>Vigorous</u>: activities  $\geq$  6.0 METs or in which a conversation could not be maintained and activity can usually be sustained for up to 20 minutes.

(Haskell et al., 2007; Norton et al., 2010)

Light intensity physical activities (LIPA) can include, but are not limited to, activities that involve casual walking, stretching, light weight bearing activities and can be performed as part of ADL or as leisure time pursuits. Observational evidence reporting that LIPA can confer health benefits is accumulating. Cross-sectional and longitudinal research reports that LIPA is positively associated cardiometabolic health, lipid metabolism, glucose metabolism, bone mineral density and functional capacity and inversely associated with adiposity, T2DM, metabolic syndrome, Creactive protein, levels of depression (Fuezeki *et al.*, 2017a) and all-cause mortality (Beddhu et al., 2015; Loprinzi, 2017). Increasing LIPA by 2 min every hour was associated with a lower risk of mortality in individuals with chronic kidney disease (hazard ratio (HR), 0.59; 95% CI, 0.35 to 0.98) (Beddhu *et al.*, 2015) however findings were based off observational data, prohibiting interpretation beyond an association. LIPA is associated with a reduced risk of hospitalization (HR 0.79, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.93), lower waist circumference and blood glucose levels in individuals with COPD (Donaire-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Park & Larson, 2014); cholesterol (odds ratio (OR) 0.99; 95% CI 0.99 to 0.99), waist circumference (OR 0.98; 95% CI 0.97 to 0.99) and risk of visual impairments (OR 0.62; 95% CI 0.42 to 0.92) in individuals with T2DM (Loprinzi et al., 2014; Loprinzi & Pariser, 2013); and high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) (ß=1.23; 95% CI 0.46 to 2.05) and total cholesterol (B=2.72; 95% CI 0.53 to 4.90) in individuals with MM (Li et al., 2019). In a recent study which employed a composite data analysis approach, that accounted for device-measured sleep, sedentary time, standing time, LIPA and MVPA, greater LIPA was strongly associated with favourable measures of adiposity in older adults (Powell et al., 2020). The results demonstrated that reallocating 30 min of sleep, sedentary time or standing with LIPA was associated with marked improvements in BMI (0.63, 0.96 and 1.08 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively), body fat (1.58, 1.61 and 1.73%, respectively) and fat mass (1.92, 2.12 and 2.26 kg, respectively). The current evidence promoting the benefits of LIPA remains predominantly observational and interventional studies are warranted to further investigate the health enhancing potential of LIPA.

The benefits associated with participation in MVPA have been extensively investigated. In 1995, the American College of Sports Medicine issued the first public health recommendations on PA, stating that every adult should accumulate 30 min or more of moderate intensity PA on most days of the week to promote and maintain health (Pate et al., 1995). The current minimum recommended amount of PA is 150 min of moderate PA, 75 min of vigorous PA or an equivalent combination totalling ≥600 MET-min per week. Previously, research suggested that each bout of

43

MVPA must be a minimum of 10 min in duration to be health enhancing (Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee, 2008). However, subsequent research has established that a bout of MVPA of any duration can contribute to meeting the recommended target (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a).

A meta-analysis of 44 studies found a 20-30% reduced risk of all-cause mortality among those meeting the MVPA guidelines (Lee and Skerrett 2001). Based on the analysis of the pooled results from 6 population-based studies, Arem *et al.*, (2015) reported that individuals meeting the PA guidelines had a 20% reduced risk of mortality compared to those reporting no leisure time MVPA. The risk was further reduced to 31%, 37% and 39% from those achieving 1-2 times, 2-3 times and 3-5 times the recommended minimum, respectively.

An abundance of research has demonstrated the protective benefits of PA for mental health among adult populations. Meeting the PA guidelines was associated with decreased odds of elevated depressive symptoms in a study involving over 10,000 Irish adults (McDowell et al., 2018a). In a study by McDowell *et al.*, (2018b) a 40% reduction in prevalence of depression was observed in those meeting the PA guidelines compared to those below the guidelines. Available evidence suggests an inverse association between PA and both anxiety symptoms and disorders. The longitudinal associated of PA and anxiety were examined in a systematic review and meta-analysis by McDowell *et al.*, (2019a). Similarly in a study with over 4,000 Irish adults  $\geq$  50 yrs, PA was cross-sectionally associated with lower anxiety symptoms and status, and a potential dose-response relation was identified (McDowell et al., 2019b). In a recent study with over 7,000 Irish

44

adults, meeting the PA guidelines was associated with a 13.5% lower odds of anxiety (McDowell et al., 2020). Specifically in patients with CD, exercise training has been shown to significantly reduce symptoms of anxiety (Herring et al., 2010) and depression (Herring et al., 2012).

Among individuals who participate in some MVPA but who fail to reach the recommended amount, there is a 22% reduced risk of mortality (Hupin et al., 2015) and greater survival (Loprinzi, 2015) compared to those who undertake no MVPA. A recent review by the American College of Sports Medicine, highlighted the potential health benefits of adding a little daily MVPA in those who currently perform little or no MVPA (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a). Similarly, the current Australian PA guidelines state that *"if you currently do no physical activity, start by doing some"* (Australian Department of Health, 2019). In Ireland, the PA guidelines recommendations are at least 30 min a day of moderate activity on 5 days a week, but add that *"some physical activity is better than none, more is better than some, and any amount of physical activity you do gains health benefits"* (Department of Health & Children & Health Service Executive, 2009).

## Physical Activity and Health-related Physical Fitness

Health-related physical fitness is a state of wellbeing that reflects an individual's ability to perform ADL with vigour and is related to their current and future health. It encompasses CRF, musculoskeletal fitness, body composition, flexibility and balance (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a). Regular PA can enhance or maintain the various components of healthrelated physical fitness. Physical fitness is an outcome associated with a variety of behaviours, with PA considered a major contributing behaviour (figure 2.3). Physical fitness a key predictor of health and improving physical fitness is central to how PA impacts health.



Figure 2.3 The relation between behaviour, fitness and health (Blair et al., 2001)

CRF is an integrated measure of the ability of the cardiovascular, respiratory and muscular systems to supply and utilise oxygen during sustained physical work. It is an excellent marker of functional capacity and one of the strongest independent predictors of all-cause mortality and CVD mortality (Lee et al., 2010). Small improvements in CRF are associated with significant health benefits. An increase in functional capacity of one metabolic equivalent of task (MET) is associated with a 13% and 15% reduction in the risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, respectively (Kodama, 2009). Importantly, the greatest mortality benefits are achieved by those with the lowest initial level of CRF.

CRF is a stronger predictor of current health than PA levels (Warburton & Bredin, 2016; Blair et al., 2001; Myers et al., 2004; Williams, 2001). CRF and PA have independent and interrelated associations with health, in particular disease risk and premature mortality (DeFina et al., 2015; Myers et al., 2015). PA and CRF have parallel benefits in relation to CVD outcomes (DeFina et al., 2015). However, their beneficial effect on cardiovascular health may be explained by mechanisms specific to each activity.

The physiological adaptations associated with increasing CRF include altered autonomic tone, improved endothelial function and altered thrombotic potential (Willerson et al., 2007). Resting heart rate is a well-recognised indicator of CRF, where a lower resting heart rate suggests better cardiac autonomic control. In a study by Carroll *et al.*, (2012), resting heart rate was not found to be a factor that explained the relation between PA and cardiovascular health. Instead metabolic and inflammatory emerging were potential mechanisms.

Among obese individuals, CRF and high levels of PA were found to be more important for improving health than improvements in body composition (Gill & Malkova, 2006; Lee et al., 2012a; Pedersen, 2007). The risk for all-cause and CVD mortality are lower in individuals with a high BMI and optimal fitness than those with a normal BMI and poor fitness (Fogelholm, 2010). However, physically active individuals with a high BMI have a greater risk of T2DM, and CVD than those individuals with a normal BMI and low PA. Regular PA improves CVD risk factors including blood pressure (BP), HDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), triglycerides (TG), CRP, and glucose tolerance. While increasing PA levels can have a positive effect on health, improving CRF can evoke additional health benefits.

Musculoskeletal fitness (MSKF) can be described as a combination of muscular strength, muscular endurance and muscular power along with joint flexibility (Katzmarzyk & Craig, 2002). Optimal MSKF is strongly related with functional capacity, reduced risk for CVD and fracture, functional independence, improved QoL and cognitive function (Pate et al., 2012; Warburton et al., 2001; Warburton & Bredin, 2016) and is an important determining factor in the ability to perform ADL (Kell et al., 2001). In CD patients, reduced skeletal muscle mass and accompanying loss in strength and function is related to impaired QoL and increased risk of institutionalization (Wolfe, 2006).

Resistance training is an effective approach to maintaining and/or improving MSKF (Abernethy et al., 1994; Reid & Fielding, 2012; Williams et al., 2007). Numerous national guidelines for PA for both healthy adults and those with CD include recommendations for muscle-strengthening exercise. The guidelines suggest that 8-10 resistance training exercises, of at least a moderate intensity for 8-12 repetitions, which targets all major muscle groups on 2 or more days a week should be conducted (Australian Department of Health, 2019; Chodzko-Zajko et al., 2009; Department of Health & Children & Health Service Executive, 2009; Tremblay et al., 2011; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018b).

#### Physical Activity in the Primary Prevention of Chronic Disease

Primary prevention of CD refers to activities that aim to limit the incidence of disease, mainly by reducing risk factors that can negatively impact health and promoting factors that are protective of health (Gilford, 1988). There is a strong evidence base linking PA to primary prevention of most CDs and all-cause mortality (Blair et al., 2001, Reiner et al., 2013). A graded linear relation between the volume of PA and health status exists, where the most physically active people are at the lowest risk of disease development. Indeed, PA is believed to be an essential components in the primary prevention of at least 35 CDs (Booth et al., 2011).

The role of PA in the primary prevention of CVD has been widely established. CVD is a progressive disease, with numerous manifestations across patient cohorts, often beginning with cardiovascular risk factors such as dyslipidemia and hypertension, which are known to induce oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction. Classes of disorders under the umbrella term of CVD are diseases affecting the heart or circulatory system and includes CAD, cerebrovascular disease, peripheral arterial disease (PAD), rheumatic heart disease, congenital heart disease, heart failure and deep venous thrombosis. Although CVD is preventable, it is the leading cause of global mortality. The role PA plays the primary and secondary prevention of CVD is well established. The seminal work by Morris *et al.*, (1953) on London bus drivers and conductors was perhaps the first to establish the link between PA and CVD. Bus conductors, who spend the day walking up and down double-decker buses, had a 30% lower incidence rate of CAD than sedentary drivers. Subsequently, large scale epidemiology studies such as the Harvard Alumni Study (Paffenbarger &

Lee Jr, 1998; Sesso et al., 2000) and the Nurses' Health Study (Manson et al., 2002) have determined that meeting the recommendations for PA is associated with a reduction in relative risk of CVD of 20-35%. A meta-analysis of 26 studies reporting on over 510,000 individuals found significant protection against CVD in those reporting moderate to high levels of leisure time PA (Sofi et al., 2008). Greater engagement in MVPA is associated with more favourable cardiovascular biomarkers such as higher HDL-C and lower levels of total cholesterol, mean arterial pressure and C-reactive protein (CRP) (Loprinzi, 2015). Mora *et al.*, (2007) found that PA lowered the rate of CVD over a 10 year period through it effect on inflammatory biomarkers such as CRP, BP, lipids and body mass index (BMI).

There is now emerging evidence that PA improvements in CVD outcomes can occur independent of their effects on traditional risk factors (Fiuza-Luces et al., 2018; Joyner & Green, 2009). This is due to the fact that several important physiologic and pathologic processes at play in patients with CVD are favourably modulated by PA. Vascular dysfunction is one of the earliest events in the development of atherosclerosis, the most common form of CVD. Damage to the endothelial occurs prior to angiographic detection of the disease. Regular PA through its effect on shear stress, circumferential stress and hydrostatic pressure helps to maintain vascular structure and function across the lifespan (Davignon & Ganz, 2004). In addition, PA results in cardiac remodelling including reduced ventricular stiffness and the development of coronary collaterals, improved autonomic nervous system balance, protection against ischemic-reperfusion injury and stabilization/regression of fibro-fatty plaques (Fiuza-Luces et al., 2018).

Similarly to CVD, there is compelling evidence for the role of PA in the primary prevention of T2DM. A review of prospective studies concluded that a 30% - 50% risk reduction of T2DM is associated with a physically active lifestyle, compared to a sedentary lifestyle (Skerrett & Manson, 2002). Physical inactivity and obesity are the primary non-genetic determinants of T2DM. Even in the absence of weight loss, PA has been shown to decrease the risk of developing T2DM (Tuomilehto et al., 2001). Moreover, the Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study in China found that exercise significantly decreased the development of T2DM in individuals diagnosed with prediabetes due to impaired glucose tolerance (Pan et al., 1997). Both the Finish Diabetes Prevention Study (Tuomilehto et al., 2001) and the Diabetes Prevention Program (Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group, 2002) found that among individuals with impaired glucose tolerance, leisure time PA is associated with a 58% risk reduction in T2DM. Glucose transportation from the circulation into the cells is primarily mediated by a membrane-bound glucose transport protein – GLUT4. Exercise increases the muscle cell content of GLUT4 allowing more efficient removal of glucose from the circulation, which is independent of insulin action (Stanford & Goodyear, 2014). In addition, exercise improves insulin sensitivity resulting in lower levels of insulin release from the beta cells of the pancreas (Stanford & Goodyear, 2014).

Research investigating the effects of PA in the primary prevention of COPD is limited. In a study of almost 7,000 participants, PA was associated with a decreased risk of COPD development over an 11 year follow-up period (Judith Garcia-Aymerich et al., 2007). Even for active smokers, the prevention fraction of COPD attributable to high levels of PA was 21%. PA can attenuate the inflammatory effects of smoking, through the enhancement of anti-inflammatory markers and antioxidant mechanisms.

Forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) refers to the maximum volume of air that an individual can forcefully exhale in one sec after maximum inhalation, and is a commonly used measure of lung function (David & Edwards, 2019). Among the general population, PA has been found to be associated with the decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> over approximately 4 years, independent of smoking status (Jakes *et al.*, 2002). In a 25 year follow-up study, the mean decline in pulmonary function at the 10, 20 and 25 year follow-up was found to be significantly less in the highest PA tertile compared with the lowest and the beneficial effects of PA on pulmonary function was similar across all smoking categories (Pelkonen et al., 2003). Likewsie, Cheng *et al.*, (2003) found PA to be associated with better respiratory function at baseline (BL) and remaining active was associated with higher FEV<sub>1</sub> and forced vital capacity at follow-up of 24 years.

Cancer is an umbrella term used to describe a large group of diseases characterised by abnormal cell growth (World Health Organization, 2018a). There is a strong evidence base for PA in the prevention of colon and breast cancer, with the relative risk reduction for both men and women estimated to be as high as 30-40% (Hardefeldt et al., 2018; Lee, 2003; Wu et al., 2013). A recent systematic review found that in addition to colon and breast cancer, PA is associated with 10-20% relative risk reduction in endometrium, bladder, stomach, oesophagus and kidney cancer (McTiernan et al., 2019). There is also evidence of a dose-response relation between PA and several cancers (McTiernan et al., 2019). A pooled analysis of prospective studies involving 1.44 million participants found that higher leisure time PA was associated with lowering the risk of 13 cancers (Moore *et al.*, 2016).

The mechanisms underlying the association between participation in physical activity and cancer prevention remain unclear. Proposed pathways include reducing inflammation, preventing obesity, reducing the time it takes for food to travel through the digestive system, which decreases exposure of possible carcinogens to the gastrointestinal tract, preventing high levels of insulin, and controlling levels of sex hormones such as estrogen and growth factors that have been associated with cancer development (McTiernan, 2008; National Cancer Institute, 2020). Obesity is an independent risk factor for cancer (Avgerinos et al., 2019) and it is well established the PA can reduce obesity (Jakicic & Davis, 2011), but this link in theory appears to apply to obesity-related cancers only.

#### Physical Activity in the Secondary Prevention of Chronic Disease

Secondary prevention of CD refers to actions that halt the progression of a disease, prevent complications or reduce the risk of premature mortality (Zafari & Wenger, 1998). Even for those with an established CD, PA has a major role to play in disease management and, in many cases has the potential to be a first-line treatment option (Luan et al., 2019). PA can have simultaneous therapeutic and preventive benefits for individuals with CD. As a therapeutic approach, PA can been used to treat a condition or disease in the same sense as treatment via pharmacotherapy. As a preventive approach, PA can prevent the onset of additional health conditions that otherwise may be inevitable, for example the development of CVD as a result of hypertension (Hegde & Solomon, 2015; Stamler et al., 1993). Current public health policy recommends that individuals with one or more CD meet the same PA guidelines as a healthy adult (Department of Health & Children & Health Service Executive, 2009) and for those who are unable to achieve this level of PA, to do as much regular PA as abilities allow (US Department of Healt and Human Services, 2018b).

#### **Exercise Rehabilitation**

For many CDs, the health benefits of exercise surpass what could be achieved with conventional medications, and PA is now routinely included as part of the medical management plan (Durstine et al., 2013). Structured exercise interventions for individuals with CD have consistently shown to have positive effects on a variety of health outcomes. For people with CD, exercise rehabilitation has the potential to improve physical function, decrease symptoms, enhance QoL, decrease future use of healthcare services and reduce the risk of mortality (Anderson et al., 2016; Dunlay et al., 2014; Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Shepherd & While, 2012).

A recent meta-analysis, which included 84 studies, aimed to provide evidence-based knowledge for professionals in exercise medicine in relation to the role of exercise in CD treatment (Pasanen et al., 2017). The main findings of this extensive review were that exercise interventions can improve physical functioning and health-related QoL across a variety of CD groups, including CVD, cancer, COPD, chronic kidney disease, osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and fibromyalgia, with over half the included studies producing moderate to large effects. Included studies involved aerobic exercise, resistance exercise and a combination of both, as part of their exercise interventions, with much diversity in the delivery of the exercise components, highlighting that exercise in many forms has the potential to improve health outcomes across numerous CD.

#### Cardiovascular disease

## **Physical activity**

The mechanisms through which PA can attenuate the progression of CVD have been widely established. PA can lower resting heart rate, systolic BP and increase heart rate reserve, which in turn decreases myocardial oxygen demand, and in patients with CVD reduces the risk of myocardial ischemia (May & Nagle, 1984; Oliveira et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2012). The beneficial effects of PA are thought to expand to neurovascular responses for patients with CVD, with improved functioning in the autonomic nervous system, which promotes a decrease in sympathetic tone and enhanced parasympathetic activity (Ribeiro et al., 2012; Rosenwinkel et al., 2001). Furthermore, PA has been shown to improve myocardial perfusion as a result of the combined effects of improved endothelial function and enhanced coronary circulation (Hambrecht et al., 2003). Endothelial dysfunction is evident during all stages of atherosclerosis. The proposed mechanism by which PA enhances endothelial function is as a response to increases in blood flow-mediated shear stress, which stimulates the endothelial production of nitric oxide, reducing the risk of degradation by reactive oxygen species (Ribeiro et al., 2010).

55

The anti-inflammatory effect of PA for patients with CVD has also been investigated. Atherosclerosis is considered a condition characterised by chronic low-level inflammation (Hansson, 2005; Liuzzo, 2001; Ross, 1999). Circulating levels of systemic biomarkers of inflammation, namely circulating pro-inflammatory cytokines and CRP are reduced as a result of PA in individuals with CVD (Ribeiro et al., 2010). Arterial stiffness, which is as an independent predictor of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in individuals with CAD and post-myocardial infarction patients (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010), decreases in response to PA (Oliveira et al., 2015).

#### **Exercise rehabilitation**

Cardiac rehabilitation is a multidisciplinary treatment designed to facilitate lifestyle changes, improve exercise capacity, optimize medical treatment, address social and psychological issues and control risk factors following the onset of CVD. It is now a well-established component for the management of various manifestations of CVD (Dalal et al., 2015; McMahon et al., 2017). Exercise training is consistently recognised as a central component of cardiac rehabilitation (Mampuya, 2012). Following a major coronary event, exercise rehabilitation is associated with significant improvements in QoL in the domains of general health, vitality and mental health (Seki et al., 2003). Numerous markers of cardiovascular health have been found to be positively affected by exercise training in a range of CVD patients including BMI, body fat percentage, plasma lipids, markers of inflammation and exercise capacity (Lavie et al., 2009; Lavie & Milani, 1997a; Lavie & Milani, 1997b; Milani et al., 2004). Williams *et al.*, (2006) present evidence for the efficacy of exercise rehabilitation for patients who have experienced myocardial infarction, coronary artery

bypass graft surgery, stable angina, percutaneous coronary intervention, chronic heart failure, cardiac transplant and cardiac valve repair/replacement. The evidence suggests that exercisebased cardiac rehabilitation affects the basic pathophysiology of CVD and the underlying disease processes through mechanisms which include increasing angina threshold, delaying the onset of ischemia and improving endothelial-dependent vasodilation of the coronary arteries. Metaanalysis of cardiac rehabilitation with exercise as a primary component, for patients with CAD, observed a reduction in cardiac mortality ranging from 20% to 32% (Bobbio, 1989; O'Connor et al., 1989; Oldridge et al., 1988; West, 1995). Across the various forms of CVD, such as CAD, heart failure, stroke and PAD, PA is associated with reducing the impact of the disease, slowing the disease progression and preventing recurrences (Darden et al., 2013). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of over 2,000 patients with CVD, found that aerobic and combined aerobic and resistance exercise can significantly improve atrial stiffness in this cohort (Zhang et al., 2018). In addition to improving physiological health, exercise has also been show to significantly augment psychological health (del Pozo-Cruz et al., 2018). Cochrane reviews on exercise based cardiac rehabilitation for CAD (Heran et al., 2011) and heart failure (Sagar et al., 2015) reported significant improvements in QoL, across a number of validated QoL measures. The benefits of cardiac rehabilitation have also extensively been demonstrated in stroke patients (Han et al., 2017; Pang et al., 2005; Stoller et al., 2012; Tiozzo et al., 2015).

## **Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus**

#### Physical activity

For individuals with T2DM or prediabetes, the initiation and maintenance of PA is vital for blood glucose management in addition to overall health. CVD mortality is a major cause of premature death in T2DM, and there is strong evidence that PA reduces the risk of CVD mortality in a dose-response manner (Sadarangani et al., 2014; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a). Walking at least 2 hours per week has been associated with lower premature mortality in adults with T2DM (Gregg et al., 2003). Current treatment for patients with T2DM is focused on glycemic control and the prevention of microvascular complications including nephropathy, retinopathy and neuropathy, all of which are strongly associated with hyperglycaemia (Stolar, 2010).

## **Exercise rehabilitation**

A number of clinical trials in patients with diabetes have reported improved glycemic control in response to both aerobic and resistance exercise, with potentially greater benefits achieved with resistance training (Agurs-Collins et al., 1997; Cauza et al., 2005; Dunstan et al., 2002, 2005; Holten et al., 2004; Honkola et al., 1997). Blood levels of glycated heamoglobin (HbA<sub>1c</sub>), reflect average blood glucose levels over the previous 8-12 weeks. A meta-analysis of 14 studies, which included over 500 diabetic participants, found that exercise resulted in statistically and clinically significant reductions in HbA<sub>1c</sub> (Boulé et al., 2001). Indeed, the effects of exercise on HbA<sub>1c</sub> are comparable to the effects achieved with insulin therapies (UK Prospective Diabetes

Study Group, 1998). A single bout of exercise has been shown to improve insulin sensitivity in individuals with diabetes for up to 72 h (Devlin et al., 1987) and chronic adaptations in glucose transport and metabolism in response to exercise training can bring blood glucose levels into the normal range (Borghouts & Keizer, 2000).

Other factors associated with cardiometabolic health also improve with exercise in patients with T2DM, including BP, lipid profiles, autonomic regulation, vascular function, inflammation, body composition and cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) (Chudyk & Petrella, 2011; Després & Lamarche, 1994; Kemps et al., 2019; Loimaala et al., 2003; Rees et al., 2017; Zoppini et al., 2006). Type 2 diabetics who participate in cardiac rehabilitation following a myocardial infraction, have a lower all-cause mortality rates and lower rate of incidents that required revascularization (Jiménez-Navarro et al., 2017).

#### **Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease**

#### Physical activity

Many of the clinical characteristics of patients with COPD, such as disease severity, comorbidities, exacerbations and behavioural factors are related to levels of PA (Henrik Watz et al., 2014). Of clinical importance, device-measured PA shows moderate positive associations with FEV<sub>1</sub>, and less exacerbations in patients with COPD (Belza et al., 2001; Pitta et al., 2005; Steele et al., 2000; Walker et al., 2008; Waschki et al., 2012; Watz et al., 2009a, Waschki et al., 2012). The development of MM is common among individuals with documented COPD (Barnes & Celli, 2009;

Nussbaumer-Ochsner & Rabe, 2011; Vanfleteren et al., 2013). However increased levels of PA is associated with a reduced risk of developing systemic inflammation and cardiac dysfunction (Henrik Watz et al., 2008), metabolic syndrome (Henrik Watz et al., 2009b) or T2DM (Garcia-Aymerich et al., 2004). In a cohort of newly diagnosed COPD patients, PA was found to have a stronger association with the presence of comorbidities than airflow obstruction (Van Remoortel et al., 2014). Across a variety of measures of physical fitness, positive correlations between PA and physical fitness are evident in individuals with COPD (Eliason et al., 2011; Pitta et al., 2005; Waschki et al., 2012; Watz et al., 2009a).

#### **Exercise rehabilitation**

Compared to the lack of evidence for PA in the primary prevention of COPD, exercisebased pulmonary rehabilitation is established and widely implemented as a secondary prevention strategy (Nici et al., 2006; Ries et al., 2007; Spruit et al., 2013). Participation in exercise can be difficult for patients with COPD, as a result of symptoms that arise with this condition, principally dyspnea or breathlessness. The sensation of breathlessness while exercising can induce anxiety and further exacerbate symptoms (McCarthy et al., 2015). Due to the substantial impact of dyspnea and fatigue on functional capacity and QoL in COPD (May & Li, 2015), the research on exercise rehabilitation has been centred around these outcomes (McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Spruit et al., 2013). In two extensive Cochrane systematic reviews of pulmonary rehabilitation versus usual care (McCarthy et al., 2015) and pulmonary rehabilitation after hospital admission for exacerbations (Puhan et al., 2016), exercise-based pulmonary rehabilitation was found to improve dyspnea, fatigue, exercise capacity, HRQoL, emotional function, and the patients' sense of control over their condition. More recently, research has found exercise-based pulmonary rehabilitation to be associated with survival rates for patients with COPD (Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018).

Although the primary pathophysiology of COPD involves airflow obstruction, secondary complications, including skeletal muscle wasting and dysfunction, osteopenia, cardiac dysfunction and depression, are common (Agusti, 2005; Agusti et al., 2003; Nici et al., 2006). Exercise training has the potential to address many of these other clinical manifestations. In fact, adaptations associated with exercise in COPD seem to primarily involve the muscular system and the cardiovascular system, which in turn relieve dependence on ventilation when participating in higher intensity activities (Butcher & Jones, 2006).

Even for patients with severe COPD, an exercise intensity can be achieved to elicit skeletal muscle adaptations (Maltais et al., 1996) including remodelling of both type I and type II muscle fibres to increase their oxidative capacity and increased capillary density (Antonucci et al., 2003). The improvements in skeletal muscle function are associated with enhanced exercise capacity, even in the absence of observed changes in lung function. Furthermore, with improvements in oxidative capacity and efficiency of skeletal muscles, the requirement of alveolar ventilation at a given work rate is reduced. This can potentially reduce dynamic hyperinflation and in turn reduce exertional dyspnea (Nici et al., 2006). Cardiovascular adaptations include increases in blood volume, haemoglobin concentrations, cardiac output, arteriovenous oxygen difference and

61

potential reductions in BP, all of which can contribute to improvements in endurance capacity for patients with COPD (Maltais et al., 1996).

#### Cancer

## **Physical activity**

There is evidence to support the therapeutic role of PA at all stages of the cancer journey, from the point of diagnosis, through treatment and into survivorship. PA has been prompted by many organisations and governing bodies, such as The American College of Sports Medicine, The British Association of Sports and Exercise Sciences and The American Cancer Society, to publish specific PA recommendations for individuals with cancer (Campbell et al., 2012; Rock et al., 2012; Schmitz et al., 2010). PA can improve overall health and wellbeing throughout the cancer journey and is associated with reductions in recurrence and mortality (Lahart et al., 2015; Schmid & Leitzmann, 2014). The current recommendations by the American Cancer Society (2020) for cancer patients both during and after cancer treatment are to avoid inactivity and aim to achieve 150 min of exercise per week.

Among postmenopausal women with breast cancer and a BMI < 25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, a 66% reduction in overall mortality was observed in physically active women compared to sedentary (Emaus et al., 2010). Cancer-related fatigue is one of the most frequent and distressing side effects of treatment within this cohort (Jones et al., 2016). Lower rates of fatigue were observed in cancer patients who increased or maintained PA levels after cancer (Matias et al., 2019). Moreover, cancer

patients who are more physically active, have been reported to have lower psychological distresses and greater resilience (Matzka et al., 2016).

#### **Exercise rehabilitation**

Exercise can counteract the adverse effects of cancer and its treatment. It is also associated with improvements in patient outcomes and treatment-related side effects along with decreased risk of cancer recurrence and cancer mortality (Ashcraft et al., 2019; Cormie et al., 2018; Haydon et al., 2006; Holmes et al., 2005). The accumulating body of research demonstrating exercise as a safe and effective intervention in individuals living with and beyond cancer has led to recommendations that exercise be embedded into standard cancer care as an adjunct therapy (Cormie et al., 2018).

During cancer treatment, exercise may improve a patient's ability to withstand strenuous medical interventions such as surgery and chemotherapy. Pre-operative exercise training has been shown to improve functional capacity and clinical outcomes for cancer patients (Boereboom et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2013). In lung cancer, pre-operative training has been found to reduce the risk of post-operative complications by 48%, and the length of hospital stay by three days when compared to controls (Steffens et al., 2018a). Evidence of the effect of pre-operative exercise training on post-operative outcomes in other cancer diagnosis has not yet been established but is being investigated (Steffens et al., 2018b; Wallen et al., 2018). Cachexia is commonly associated with cancer and can negatively impact surgical outcomes (Bachmann et al., 2013; Barber et al., 1999; Pausch et al., 2012). In a systematic review by Loughney *et al.*, (2016) pre-operative exercise

training was highly effective in reducing the effects of cachexia while enhancing physical fitness and additionally health-related QoL in breast and rectal cancer patients.

Responses to exercise including increases in blood flow, pH regulation, heat production, sympathetic activation and endocrine effects have the potential to regulate tumor growth kinetics, metastatic potential, tumor metabolism and the immunogenic profile of the tumor (Hojman et al., 2018). The effects of exercise may also enhance the effects of the immune system in infiltrating tumors. Exercise can promote T-cell trafficking by increasing the circulating levels of interlukin 6, a cytokine involved in the upregulation of adhesion molecules located on the tumor vascular endothelium. Moreover, exercise can acutely increase the number and function of natural killer cells, which have a cytotoxic effect on cancer cells (Ashcraft et al., 2019; Bigley et al., 2014; L. Pedersen et al., 2016).

The is evidence that during neoadjuvant chemotherapy, exercise training can positively affect patient symptoms and response to treatment and, potentially alter tumour phenotype (Ashcraft et al., 2019; Jones et al., 2013a). Improvements in vascular function associated with exercise may have implications for the delivery and efficacy of systemic anticancer agents. An increase in the number of functional tumor microvessels, will potentially increase chemotherapy exposure to a larger proportion of tumor cells (Ashcraft et al., 2019). Finally, tumor hypoxia is associated with poor radiotherapy outcomes and increased propensity towards metastasis (Ashcraft et al., 2019). Exercise has been shown to increase tumor radiosensitivity by reducing tumor hypoxia (Ashcraft et al., 2019; Betof et al., 2015; McCullough et al., 2014). A recent

64

consensus statement by Campbell *et al.*, (2019) highlighted the growing evidence-base supporting exercise prescription in cancer cohorts after diagnosis and during treatment. Their review concludes that there is currently strong evidence for the positive effects of exercise on many common side effects of treatment including anxiety, depressive symptoms, fatigue, the impact on HRQoL and physical functioning. Although Campbell states that gaps still remain with regards to the prescription of exercise in terms of types of cancer and timing of treatment, the current evidence should guide clinicians in advising patients to be active, with a goal of achieving 30 mins of exercise on  $\geq$  3 days per week. Similarly, in a recent call to action by Schmitz *et al.*, (2019) a step by step approach for clinicians dealing with cancer patients is outline on how they can effectively assess and advise on exercise participation in this cohort. The guidelines for clinicians are as follows;

- 1. Assess current PA at regular intervals;
- 2. Advise patients with cancer on their current and desired levels of PA and convey the message that moving matters; and
- Refer patients to appropriate exercise program or to the appropriate health care professional who can evaluate and refer to exercise.

Improvements in cancer diagnosis and treatment have contributed to increased survival rates for this population (Allemani et al., 2018; Bluethmann et al., 2016). The challenges facing cancer survivors include treatment-related side effects and psychological distress associated with

transitioning to survivorship, particularly with limited supports (Cormie et al., 2018; Kantsiper et al., 2009). Exercise interventions improve body composition, physical functioning, cancer-related fatigue, QoL, self-esteem and reduce anxiety, depression, the risk of cancer reoccurrence, cancer mortality and all-cause mortality in cancer survivors (Fong et al., 2012; Ibrahim & Al-Homaidh, 2011; Meneses-Echávez et al., 2015; Schmitz et al., 2010; Speck et al., 2010; Spence et al., 2010). Indeed, cancer-related fatigue is one of the major causes of distress for cancer survivors (Akechi et al., 1999). Cancer-related fatigue is distinct from the typical fatigue that is experienced as a result of normal daily living. It is disproportional to levels of activity and is not relieved by sleep or rest (Ryan et al., 2007). In a systematic review and meta-analysis by Kessels et al., (2018) exercise was found to have a large positive effect on cancer-related fatigue of cancer survivors. Currently, the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (2020) promote the use of exercise as a strategy for reducing cancer-related fatigue. Although exercise has been shown to reduce cancer-related fatigue among patients both during and after cancer treatment, exercise interventions appear to have a greater effect in reducing cancer-related fatigue post treatment (Puetz and Herring, 2012). Exercise is reported to have a palliative effect on cancer-related fatigue in patients undergoing treatment and a restorative effect in patients post treatment.

## **Exercise Setting**

Exercise rehabilitation, delivered primarily through hospital-bsaed outpatient departments, is part of standard care in the majority of cardiac and many pulmonary settings. Uptake and adherence rates to exercise rehabilitation programmes in the hospital setting are

suboptimal. Less than 35% of eligible patients participate in cardiac rehabilitation (Bethell et al., 2008; Mosleh et al., 2015) and non-attendance rates among those referred to pulmonary rehabilitation are between 8-50% (Keating et al., 2011).

Commonly cited barriers to participation in exercise rehabilitation programmes include environmental factors, such as distance to the facility and lack of transport and health system resources (Cox et al., 2017; Keating et al., 2011; Ruano-Ravina et al., 2016). Delivering exercise rehabilitation in non-hospital settings such as the home or community setting has been demonstrated as safe, while also resulting in similar benefits compared to hospital-based programmes (Clark et al., 2015; Man et al., 2004; Neves et al., 2016; Waterhouse et al., 2010). Embedding exercise services within the community may remove many of the barriers associated with poor participation rates in hospital-based rehabilitation programmes.

CBER can be delivered in local fitness centres, gyms and community centres. McNamara et al., (2016) conducted semi-structured interviews with individuals who had attended both hospital- and CBER programs. The convenience of accessing the community venue, with close proximity to free parking was a major appealing factor for the CBER programs. Participants expressed how the community venue facilitated a positive rehabilitation experience and promoted a sense of "normality", that exercise was a normal health behaviour as opposed to a treatment for their condition. The community setting enabled participants to gain confidence to explore exercise in different settings in the future. The psychosocial benefits of CBER were identified through focus groups with individuals with COPD (Desveaux et al., 2014b). Participants acknowledged the

67

importance of the opportunity to integrate into the community and with community members. The experience of social connection with regular gym members provided a sense of feeling socially included and valued. Participants also received social support from the interactions with peers within the exercise group. The interpersonal relationships with the gym instructors contributed to the participants' sense of safety and comfort with the program.

Although an abundance of mainstream exercise programs are available within most communities, programs specific to individuals with CD have certain appealing qualities for this cohort. Cancer patients have described that they are drawn to the condition specific programs as they offer an opportunity for social contact and mutual support within a safe environment and are led by instructors who have specific training to cater for their condition specific requirements (Catt et al., 2018; Moreton et al., 2018). CEBR programmes can operate at a relatively low cost by utilizing available local leisure infrastructure (Mendes et al., 2016). Compared to hospital programs, CBER programs typically have more available space, equipment and staff (Bethell & Mullee, 1990), which results in greater potential for scalability.

#### Community-based exercise programs for chronic disease

CBER is a safe and effective model of delivering exercise rehabilitation (Desveaux et al., 2014a) with research reporting similar benefits compared to hospital-based programmes (Clark et al., 2015; Neves et al., 2016). Improvements in physical function and health-related quality of life have been reported in a variety of clinical populations following CBER, including cardiac (Mosleh et al., 2015), pulmonary (Beauchamp et al., 2013), cancer (Rajotte et al., 2012; Swartz et al., 2017),

stroke (Desveaux et al., 2014a), osteoarthritis (Kelley et al., 2011), and PAD (Bendermacher et al., 2007). The evidence for CBER in the four major CDs (CVD, COPD, cancer and T2DM) are subsequently presented. CBER is also frequently prescribed for neuromuscular and musculoskeletal conditions and therefore, the evidence for these conditions is also described. A summary of the research on CBER in CD is displayed in table 2.1.

	Disease					
Author	Cohort	n	Study Design	CBER Intervention	Duration	Results
Bethell & Mellee	CAD	311	RCT	Group circuit training supervised by	3 m	↑VO₂max and perceived energy levels
(1990)				GPs in local sports centre		↓ Angina pectoris
Kwan <i>et al.,</i> (2016)	CAD	136	Retrospective	Supervised group aerobic and	1 yr	↑ aerobic endurance
			database analysis	resistance exercise		$\downarrow$ %body fat, total cholesterol LDL-C,
						TGs
Taylor <i>et al.,</i>	CAD	670	Retrospective trial of	Supervised group aerobic and	12 wk	↑ fitness
(2016a) median 14 yr follow- re up				resistance circuit based training		$\downarrow$ risk of all cause morality in the least fit at baseline
Cramp et al.,	Stroke	18	Time series	Group exercise aerobic and	14 wk	$\uparrow$ lower limb muscle strength, paretic
(2010)			experimental design	resistance circuits led by fitness		knee extension, walking velocity and
				instructors		balance
Eng <i>et al.,</i> (2003)	Stroke	25	Single-arm repeated	Group exercise classes focused on	8 wk	$\uparrow$ functional capacity, aerobic capacity,
			measures	balance, mobility, functional		balance and satisfaction and perception
				strength and functional capacity		of physical performance
Harrington <i>et al.,</i>	Stroke	243	RCT	Group exercise focused on balance,	8 wk	个 physical integration and
(2010)				endurance, strength, flexibility and		psychological health
Laroux (2005)	Ctroko	20	Cingle arm repeated	function	0	A motor porformance
Leroux (2005)	Stroke	20	Single-ann repeated	strongth balance mobility and co	8 WK	T motor performance
			measures	ordination		
Marsden <i>et al</i>	Stroke	20	Pilot controlled trial	Individually tailored home- and	12 wk	↑ aerobic endurance
(2016)	otrone	20		community-based exercise	12 000	
Pang <i>et al.</i> , (2005)	Stroke	63	RCT	Group progressive aerobic, strength,	19 wk	↑ CRF, paretic leg muscle strength
				mobility and balance exercise		
Bendermacher et	PAD	56	Time series	Individual treadmill walking program	6 m	$ m \uparrow$ absolute claudication distance
al., (2007)			experimental design			
Kruidenier <i>et al.,</i>	PAD	129	Prospective cohort	Individual treadmill walking program	12 m	$\uparrow$ functional claudication distance and
(2009)			study			absolute claudication distance

Table 2.1 Studies examining the effects of community-based exercise rehabilitation on chronic disease populations

## Table 2.1 continued

	Disease					
Author	Cohort	n	Study Design	CBER Intervention	Duration	Results
Gallé <i>et al.,</i> (2019)	T2DM	69	Prospective controlled trial	Supervised group aerobic and resistance circuit exercise	9 m	$\uparrow$ physical functional and physical activity $\downarrow$ BMI, HbA <sub>1</sub> c, waist circumference
Mendes <i>et al.,</i> (2016)	T2DM	43	Single-arm repeated measures	Supervised group aerobic, resistance, balance and flexibility exercise	9 m	$\uparrow$ aerobic endurance, strength, balance and flexibility
Mendes <i>et al.,</i> (2017)	T2DM	124	Non-randomised controlled trial	Group supervised aerobic, resistance, balance and flexibility exercise	9 m	↑ glycemic control, total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C, TGs, SBP, DBP, BMI, waist circumference and 10-year risk of CAD
Amin <i>et al.,</i> (2014)	COPD	24	RCT	Aerobic and resistance personal training in local health club	12 wk	$\uparrow$ aerobic endurance, strength and QoL
Beauchamp <i>et al.,</i> (2013)	COPD	29	Single-arm longitudinal	Minimally supervised self- conducted aerobic and resistance exercise program	12 m	$\uparrow$ PA levels, endurance, strength and QoL
Effing <i>et al.,</i> (2011)	COPD	159	RCT	Physiotherapist delivered aerobic and strength exercise program	11 m	$\uparrow$ maximal exercise capacity and step count $\downarrow$ dyspnoea
Godtfredsen <i>et al.,</i> (2018)	COPD	803	Single-arm repeated measures	Multicentred program with supervised aerobic and strength exercise training	6 – 12 wk	$\uparrow$ aerobic endurance and QoL
Varas <i>et al.,</i> (2018)	COPD	33	RCT	Exercise training combined with a walking plan	8 wk	<ul> <li>↑ step count, aerobic endurance and self- reported PA</li> <li>↓ symptoms of COPD</li> </ul>
Christopher and Morrow (2004)	Cancer	23	Single-arm repeated measures	Supervised group aerobic, resistance and flexibility exercise	12 wk	$ m \uparrow$ psychological health and social wellbeing
Foley and Hasson (2016)	Breast cancer	52	Single-arm repeated measures	Group supervised aerobic, resistance, balance and flexibility training	12 wk	↑ mobility, muscular strength, flexibility and balance ↓ SB and DBPP
Foley <i>et al.,</i> (2018)	Breast cancer	52	Single-arm repeated measures	Supervised group interval aerobic and musculoskeletal exercise	12 wk	$\uparrow$ physical function and psychological health
Haas <i>et al.,</i> (2012)	Cancer	177	Single-arm repeated measures	Individual monitored program of aerobic, resistance and flexibility exercise	24 m	↑ QoL

# Table 2.1 continued

	Disease					
Author	Cohort	n	Study Design	CBER Intervention	Duration	Results
Knobf <i>et</i> al., (2014)	Breast Cancer	26	Single-arm repeated measures	Multicentre supervised individual progressive aerobic program on a treadmill	4 – 6 m	↑ QoL
Leach <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> (2015)	Breast cancer	80	Single-arm repeated measures	Supervised group or home- based aerobic, resistance and flexibility exercise	12 wk	<ul> <li>↑ BP, waist circumference, WHR, skin folds,</li> <li>↑ grip strength, flexibility, aerobic fitness and health-related</li> <li>QoL</li> <li>↑ BMI and RHR</li> </ul>
Rajotte <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> (2010)	Cancer	221	Single-arm repeated measures	Group supervised aerobic warm up with resistance exercise	12 wk	$\Lambda$ aerobic endurance, strength, flexibility and QoL
Santa Mina <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> (2017)	Cancer	224	Prospective cohort study	Group supervised interval aerobic and musculoskeletal exercise	30 wk	$\uparrow$ aerobic endurance, PA levels, balance cancer-related fatigue, social wellbeing and SBP
Amara <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> (2020)	Parkinson's disease	55	RCT	Supervised one-to-one resistance and mobility exercises	16 wk	Improved sleep efficiency, total sleep time, time spent in slow-wave sleep and wake after sleep onset
Combs et al., (2013)	Parkinson's disease	31	RCT	G1 traditional exercise (stretching, resistance, aerobic and balance) G2 boxing training (stretching, boxing, resistance and aerobic)	12 wk	↑ balance, mobility and quality of life in both groups ↑ gait velocity and endurance in boxing group only
Corcos et al., (2013)	Parkinson's disease	38	RCT	Supervised individual G1 progressive resistance training G2 stretching, balance and strength exercises	24 m	$\uparrow$ physical function and motor control off medication in both groups $\uparrow$ strength and movement speed in progressive resistance training group only
Kelly <i>et al.,</i> (2014)	Parkinson's disease	15	Single-arm repeated measures	Supervised one-to-one aerobic, resistance, mobility and balance exercises	16 wk	$\uparrow$ total body strength, leg power, single leg balance, 6 min walk test, QoL and improved sit to stand motor unit activation and muscle histology (myofiber hypertrophy, shift to less fatigable myofiber type profile and $\uparrow$ mitochondrial complex activity
# Table 2.1 continued

Lavin <i>et al.,</i>	Parkinson's	20	Single-arm	Supervised one-to-one	16	Improved muscle mass, neuromuscular function (strength,
(2020)	disease		repeated	aerobic, resistance, mobility	wk	power and motor unit activation), indices of neuromuscular
			measures	and balance exercises		junction integrity, cognition and well-being
Elsworth et	Neurological	99	RCT	Individual gym-based aerobic	3 m	$\uparrow$ aerobic endurance, strength and QoL
al.,	conditions			and resistance exercise		
(2011)						
Poliakoff <i>et</i>	Parkinson's	32	RCT	Supervised group aerobic,	10 -	$\Lambda$ lower body motor functioning and reaction time
al., (2013)	disease			gait and agility exercise	20	
					wk	
Salbach <i>et</i>	Neurological	14	Single-arm	Group supervised task-	12	$\Lambda$ aerobic endurance and physical function
al.,	conditions		repeated	oriented circuit exercise	wk	
(2014)			measures			

Note: CAD = coronary artery disease; T2DM = type 2 diabetes mellitus; PAD = peripheral arterial disease; COPD = chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; RCT = randomised controlled trial; GP = general practitioner; G1 = group 1; G2 = group 2; wk = week; m = months;  $\uparrow$  = increase ;  $\downarrow$  = decrease; BMI = body mass index; LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol; TGs = triglycerides; HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol; SBP = systolic blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure; CRF = cardiorespiratory fitness; QoL = Quality of life; BP = blood pressure; WHR = waist to hip ratio; RHR = resting heart rate

## **Cardiovascular Disease**

There is now a substantial body of evidence demonstrating the effectiveness of CBER programs in the secondary prevention of CVD. A 12 week CBER program supervised by general practitioners in a local sports centre was found to be effective in increasing maximal oxygen uptake, perceived energy levels and reduced angina pectoris among 200 patients following an acute myocardial infarction (Bethell & Mullee, 1990). A retrospective analysis of 670 patients with CAD who participated in the 'Heart Watch' CBER program delivered by local council leisure centres found a reduced risk of all-cause mortality at 14 year follow-up (Taylor et al., 2016a). Similarly, a retrospective analysis in 136 participants with CAD who had completed a one-year CBER program found improvements in aerobic endurance, body composition total cholesterol, LDL-C and TG Kwan *et al.*, (2016).

Cerebrovascular disease can have disabling effects including weakness, hemiplegia or paralysis (Irish Heart Foundtaion, 2020). Similar to CVD, a number of studies have reported beneficial effects among stroke survivors following their participation in home and community-based exercise rehabilitation programs. A 12-week individually tailored homebased exercise program delivered by a neurological physiotherapist and an exercise scientist to 20 stroke survivors resulted in a significant improvement peak oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2peak</sub>) and distance covered in a 6 min walk test (6MWT). Pang *et al.*, (2005) found significant improvements in both CRF and paretic leg muscle strength in 63 stroke patients who participated in a 19 week supervised group-based exercise rehabilitation. Similarly, other supervised community-based exercise programs in stoke patients have resulted in significant improvements in functional capacity, aerobic capacity, balance and satisfaction, perception of physical performance (Eng et al., 2003), motor performance (Leroux, 2005) physical integration, psychological health (Harrington et al., 2010), lower limb muscle strength, paretic knee extension, walking velocity and balance (Cramp et al., 2010). CBER has also been found to be an effective approach to rehabilitation among individuals with PAD. Supervised treadmill walking programs undertaken in physiotherapy practices, have been shown to significantly improve absolute and functional claudication distance in patients with PAD (Bendermacher et al., 2007, Kruidenier et al., 2009).

## Type 2 diabetes mellitus

In patients with T2DM, a range of improvements have been associated with participation in CBER cohort. Participation in supervised group-based exercise programs located in community sports centres results in significant improvements in aerobic endurance, strength, balance and flexibility, glycemic control, total cholesterol, LDL-C, HDL-C, TG, systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), BMI, waist circumference and 10-year risk of CAD in men and women with T2DM (Mendes et al., 2016, Mendes et al., 2017). Recently, Gallé et al., (2019) found significant improvements in PA levels, physical functioning, BMI, HbA<sub>1</sub>c and waist circumference in individuals with T2DM following participation in a supervised CBER program.

## **Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease**

COPD patients who attended an 8-week CBER program which combined exercise training with a plan to increase daily step count, had a significant improvement on exercise capacity, and a 45% increase in daily step count (Varas et al., 2018). Similarly, Effing *et al.*, (2011) reported an increase in daily step count and maximal exercise capacity in COPD patients attending a CBER program that involved a combination of one to one supervised exercise in a private physiotherapy practice and unsupervised home-based training. Significant improvements in aerobic endurance, strength and QoL, were observed in 24 COPD patients by Amin *et al.*, (2014) after 12 weeks of personal training in a local health club. In a longer-term study, Beauchamp et al. (2013), found significant improvements in PA levels, endurance, strength and QoL, in 29 patient with COPD, after 12 months of individual exercise rehabilitation in a local fitness centre, with minimal formal supervision from fitness centre staff. Finally, Godfredsen *et al.*, (2019), reported significant improvements in aerobic endurance and QoL among 800 patients following their participation in a supervised community-based pulmonary rehabilitation program.

## Cancer

In a comprehensive study by Rajotte *et al.*, (2012) with a mixed cohort of 221 cancer survivors, the benefits of a 12 week, supervised group-based exercise program located in community centres, encompassed improvements in SBP, DBP, upper and lower body strength, aerobic endurance, flexibility and overall QoL. In a more recent study involving 52 breast cancer patients, Foley and Hasson (2016) found significant improvements in SBP, DBP,

mobility, strength, flexibility and balance, after a 12 week group-based exercise program supervised by fitness instructors in local community centres. Among 224 cancer survivors, Santa Mina *et al.*, (2017) reported significant improvements in cancer-related fatigue, SBP and social wellbeing after 30 weeks of supervised group-based exercise, located in community-based centres.

A reduced health-related QoL is often associated with cancer (Nayak et al., 2017) and there is strong evidence that participation in a CBER program can significantly increase QoL in cancer survivors. Improvements in psychological health and social wellbeing were observed by Christopher and Morrow (2004) in 23 female cancer survivors, who participated in a 12 week, group-based exercise rehabilitation program. Similarly, Foley *et al.*, (2018) found significant improvements in physical function and psychological health in 52 breast cancer survivors, after 12 weeks of supervised group-based exercise training in local community centres. Significant improvements in QoL were observed by Knobf *et al.*, (2014), in 26 breast cancer survivors after participation in 4 - 6 months of supervised individual exercise training in community fitness centres. In a mixed cancer population, long term improvements in all sub-scales of QoL were found after 24 months of individualized exercise in a community gym (Hass et al., 2012).

The majority of CBER studies in cancer cohorts have focused on survivorship. However Leach *et al.*, (2015) demonstrated the feasibility and safety of supervised exercise in a community-based exercise facility and home based exercise for breast cancer patients during treatment. Importantly, the community/home based exercise program was effective

in counteracting the usual declines in physical and psychosocial outcomes that patients experience during chemotherapy and radiotherapy.

#### Neurological and musculoskeletal disorders

Parkinson's disease is a condition often associated with impaired functioning and may be linked to muscle weakness (Cano-de-la-Cuerda et al., 2010). Significant improvements in physical function and motor control were found in Parkinson's patients (off medication) following a 24 month progressive resistance training program that included stretching and balance exercise and delivered one to one by a personal trainer (Corcos et al., 2013). Paliakoff et al., (2013) also found significant improvements in lower body motor functioning and reaction time, after 10 – 20 weeks of gym-based group exercise classes in individuals with Parkinson's disease. In addition to improvements in strength, power, motor unit activation, endurance and QoL, Kelly et al., (2014) reported positive adaptations in skeletal muscle histology after 16 wk of exercise training in Parkinson's disease patients. The skeletal muscle adaptations identified included myofiber hypertrophy, a shift to less fatigable myofiber type profiles and increased mitochondrial complex activity. A recent study, which incorporated the same 16 wk exercise training program as Kelly et al., (2014) reported similar improvements in strength, power and motor unit activation while also identifying improvements in indices of neuromuscular junction integrity, cognition and well-being (Lavin et al., 2020). Transcriptome-wide skeletal muscle gene expressions were generate for a subsample of 5 participants in this study, to identify transcriptional networks that may underpin the resistance training induced neuromuscular remodelling in Parkinson's Disease. The results

of this novel analysis found that following the program 304 genes were significantly upregulated, which were notably related to remodelling and nervous system / muscle development. In addition, 402 genes, which were primarily associated with negative regulators of muscle adaptations, were downregulated. Sleep disorders affect 74% - 98% of individuals with Parkinson's disease (Lees et al., 1988; Nausieda et al., 1982). In a 16 wk exercise training program by Amara *et al.*, (2020) objective sleep outcomes were improved including sleep efficiency, total sleep time, time spent in slow-wave sleep and wake after sleep onset.

The beneficial effects of CBER in patients with neurological conditions extend beyond Parkinson's disease. In a study cohort that included 99 participants with a range of neurological conditions, three months of individual, gym-based exercise training, delivered by fitness instructors resulted in significant improvements in aerobic endurance, strength and QoL (Elsworth et al., 2011). Similarily, Salbach *et al.*, (2014), found significant improvements in aerobic endurance and physical function in 14 participants with a range of neurological conditions following participation in a 12 week, group-based circuit exercise training, delivered by physical therapists and fitness instructors in community centres.

Improvements in measures of mobility were found in mixed cohort of individuals with multiple sclerosis, motor neuron disease, neuro-muscular disorders, Parkinson's disease and cerebral palsy following their participation in community based exercise program (Elsworth et al., 2011). Likewise, Salbach *et al.*, (2014), reported that a community-based model of exercise delivery for individuals with stroke, acquired brain injury and multiple sclerosis was as safe and feasible and resulted in physical functioning related benefits, and

Currently the majority of rehabilitation programs available for individuals with a CD are disease specific. However, individuals with CD often experience the same manifestations such as fatigue, decrements in psychological health, peripheral muscular deconditioning and reduced functional capacity. CBEPs that cater for a variety of CDs groups maximizes the utilization of resources and relieves some of the demand on the clinical service.

A recent meta-analysis reported that CBER programs that catered for multiple CDs simultaneously was effective at improving both functional capacity and QoL among CD populations, when compared with standard care (Desveaux et al., 2014a). All CBEPs included in the analysis were well tolerated across all settings. A limitation of this review is that a limited number of CDs were included in the analysis (osteoarthritis, stroke, COPD and T2DM), which reduces the generalizability of the review. Although the results endorse the simultaneous inclusion of multiple CDs in CBEPs, further research which supports these findings across a wider variety of CDs is required.

The benefits and efficacy of CBER for individuals with CD has been widely established. Currently the majority of exercise rehabilitation programs available for individuals with a CD are segregated by disease. A systematic review of the structure and delivery of CBER programmes across CD populations identified that the design and components of programmes were similar, irrespective of CD (Desveaux et al., 2014a). The primary components of > 85% of the programmes included a combination of aerobic and resistance exercise. Such programmes can be easily applied across a range of conditions with minimal disease-specific adjustments. Similarities in the clinical manifestations between CD, such as reduced functional capacity and peripheral muscular deconditioning, and the growing

prevalence of MM, appears to negate the need for separate programmes for SCD. An integrated model is likely to represent a more resource efficient approach however the evidence-base supporting the mixed approach to CBER is limited. The integrated model has potential to widen access for CD patients to CBER while also reducing the burden on overwhelmed clinical-based services for delivering exercise rehabilitation. In addition, the health enhancing effects of CBER on CD cohorts has the potential to reduce future hospital admissions and use of clinical healthcare services. Investigations evaluating the efficacy of the integrated approach to CBER are warranted.

## **Sedentary Behaviour and Health Status**

Relative to the extensive literature on the effects of PA on health, much less is known about the physiological responses and health outcomes associated with SB. The published research to date indicates that there are substantial health hazards associated with excessive SB. Importantly, SB is associated with an increased risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, which appear to be independent of PA (Patterson et al., 2018; Rezende et al., 2014). Furthermore, high levels of SB are associated with the development of a number of CD and the relation appears to be independent of PA and other risk factors, including diet and BMI (Katzmarzyk et al., 2009; Patel et al., 2010; van der Ploeg et al., 2012).

The relative risks associated with prolonged sitting become more pronounced in individuals who are also insufficiently active (Biswas et al., 2015; Bouchard et al., 2015; Ekelund et al., 2016). PA may attenuate some of the risk associated with SB. Ekelund *et al.*, (2016) demonstrated that greater sitting time increased the risk of all-cause mortality, where

the least active individuals were at the greatest risk in their meta-analysis which included data of more than one million individuals. However, the magnitude of increased risk with sitting is mitigated with PA, and completely attenuated when achieving 60 – 75 min of MVPA per day. The level of PA that must be achieved to attenuate the risk associated with SB is of a duration and intensity, that is beyond the abilities of most individuals, particular those with a CD.

In a more recent meta-analysis, Ekelund *et al.*, (2019) found a non-linear doseresponse relation between high PA levels of any intensity and a reduced risk of all-cause mortality, while accounting for SB. However, the risk of mortality gradually increased with SB > 7.5 h/day. Similarly, Chau *et al.*, (2013) estimated that the mortality risk is 34% higher in individuals who sit for > 10 h/day even after taking PA into account.

The associations between SB and mental health have also been explored. Overall sitting time has been associated with depression and anxiety in observational research (Rebar et al., 2014). In a meta-analysis by Zhai *et al.*, (2014), the pooled risk of depression for highest levels of SB compared to occasional SB was 31% greater in cross-sectional studies and 14% greater in longitudinal studies. Similarly, Teychenne et al., (2015) found moderate evidence for a positive relation between overall SB and risk of anxiety. More recent research suggest that the context of SB may influence the association of SB with mental health. Hallgren *et al.*, (2018) found a lower risk of depression for those who participated in mentally-active SB such as office-work and a positive association between depression and passive SB, such as watching TV. More recently, Hallgren *et al.*, (2020a) reported that substituting 30 min per day of passive SB with mentally active SB, the odds of depression symptoms reduced by 5%.

Hallgren et al., (2020b) reported that higher volumes of SB in the leisure context may be associated with frequent symptoms of depression and anxiety.

#### Self-reported sedentary behaviour

The Canada Fitness Survey of 7278 men and 9735 women used a lifestyle questionnaire to assess the amount of time spent sitting during work, school and housework (Katzmarzyk et al., 2009). At 12-year follow-up, there was a dose-response relation between sitting time and mortality from all causes and CVD. The dose-response relation was independent of leisure time PA, and was similar among non-smokers, former smokers and current smokers and all BMI categories. Self-report of television viewing is commonly used surrogate to measure SB. A study involving 8800 adults found that each one h increment in television viewing per day was associated with an 11% and 18% increased risk of all-cause and CVD mortality, respectively (Dunstan et al., 2010). In addition, greater than 4 h per day watching television increased the risk of all-cause and CVD mortality by 46% and 80%, respectively, when compared to those watching television for  $\leq 2$  h per day. In a U.S. study of 7,744 male participants, > 10 hours per week riding in a car or > 23 hours per week of combined television viewing and riding in a car were associated with an 82% and 64% higher risk of CVD mortality than men who reported < 4 hours per week or < 11 hours per week, respectively (Warren et al., 2010). Self-report SB has been found to be negatively associated with subjective-well-being, in particular within the subscales of physical well-being, independence, learning and growth and environmental well-being (Ku et al., 2011).

## **Device-measured sedentary behaviour**

Self-report measures of SB usually involve recall, which in some cases can be a highly complex cognitive task, particularly for older adults. SB because of its habitual nature appears even more difficult for older adults to recall than PA (Wullems et al., 2016). Device-measured PA and SB can avoid subjective bias and enable more accurate and robust measures. Accelerometers are the primary tool utilised by researchers to objectively measure SB and PA in free-living conditions over a number of days (Pate et al., 2008). Such devices not only provide the cumulative time spent sedentary but also the time spent in each sedentary bout and the frequency of breaks in SB (Wullems et al., 2016).

The use of devices to assess SB has grown rapidly in recent years. The findings are in agreement self-report studies that SB negatively impacts health, often independent of PA levels. In 2015, a systematic review of accelerometer-measured SB and cardiometabolic biomarkers reported consistent unfavourable associations between SB and insulin sensitivity, independent of PA (Brocklebank et al., 2015). There was also some evidence of unfavourable associations between SB and fasting insulin levels, insulin resistance and TG. A systematic review of biomarkers associated with accelerometer-derived SB in older adults found that most of the biomarkers associated with SB were of a cardiometabolic nature. There was negative impact of SB on markers of body composition, blood lipids, glycemic biomarkers (Wirth et al., 2017). A recent systematic review and meta-analysis by Powell *et al.*, (2018) investigated the cross-sectional associations between device-measured SB and cardiometabolic biomarkers in adults. This extensive review, which included 46 studies and a combined sample size of 70,576 participants, found increased SB to have deleterious

associations of clinical significance with fasting glucose, fasting insulin, TG, HDL-C and waist circumference. Moreover, it is suggested that to offset the effect size identified for increased SB on cardiometabolic health, several weeks of aerobic training is required.

Accelerometers are not without limitations, in particular in relation to the thresholding of accelerometer counts. SB is commonly classified as inactive periods of accelerations below a defined threshold, e.g. < 100 counts per min, which is specific to each brand of monitor (Byrom et al., 2016). Such an approach can misclassify standing as SB. Bouts of standing are physiologically distinct from sitting and lying and have been associated with beneficial impacts on physiological processes such as glucose metabolism (Edwardson et al., 2017). Accelerometers that incorporate an inclinometer can determine the posture of the wearer and distinguish between sitting and standing. Powell *et al.*, (2018) examined the influence of the device using when investigating the associations between SB and markers of cardiometabolic health and reported that the activPAL device offers the most precision.

# **Patterns of Sedentary Behaviour**

SB is often described as total daily sedentary time, which has been useful in investigating the health risk associated with this behaviour. The pattern in which SB is accumulated appears to also be of clinical relevance. Prolonged or less fragmented SB is potentially more detrimental to health. A single day of uninterrupted SB in healthy adults was shown to reduce insulin action by 39% (Stephens et al., 2011). Following 5-7 d of uninterrupted bed rest, glucose and TG levels were found to be elevated by 34% and 34.8%, respectively (Hamburg et al., 2007; Zorbas et al., 1999). Although these are extreme examples

of unbroken SB, the immediate negative responses to this behaviour cannot be ignored, in particular with regards to patients with CD where periods of symptom exacerbation may result in similar SB patterns.

A definitive threshold of what is considered a prolonged sedentary bout that induces negative physiological responses is yet to be established. However, sedentary bouts of  $\geq 10$ min in duration were shown to be positively associated with waist circumference (Judice et al., 2015). The odds of abdominal obesity were 7%, 11%, 15% and 48% higher for each sedentary bout of 10-20 min, 20-30 min, 30-60 min and > 60 min, respectively.

Breaking up SB can have a beneficial effect on cardiometabolic risk and other indices of health, which may be independent of total sedentary time. Research has reported favourable associations between the number of breaks in sedentary time and measures of adiposity, blood lipids, glucose control and inflammation (Bankoski et al., 2011; Dunstan et al., 2012; Healy et al., 2008a; Healy et al., 2011). In a cross-sectional study of 168 participants, Healy *et al.*, (2008a) found the number of breaks in sedentary time, defined as interruptions in sedentary time of > 100 accelerometer counts/min, was inversely associated with waist circumference, BMI, TG and 2 h plasma glucose, independent of total sedentary time, MVPA, and the mean intensity of the breaks.

Among the first experimental studies to investigate the effects of breaking up prolonged sitting, Dunstan *et al.*, (2012) compared the effects of seven h uninterrupted sitting and sitting interrupted every 20 min with 2 min of LIPA or MVPA on postprandial glucose and insulin levels in 19 overweight/obese adults. Postprandial glycemic and insulinemic responses

were reduced with sitting interrupted by LIPA and MVPA compared with uninterrupted sitting. The effects were similar irrespective of whether the breaks consisted of LIPA or MVPA. Subsequent acute experimental studies have confirmed the positive effects of breaking up sedentary time on metabolic outcomes. Benatti and Ried-Larsen (2015) found that replacing sitting time with LIPA appears sufficient to counteract the negative effects of prolonged sitting in those who are physically inactive or have T2DM. MVPA may be required obtain such benefits in those who are habitually physically active. Recent evidence reports that reallocating 30 min from sleep sedentary time or standing time to LIPA is associated with significant reductions in BMI, body fat and fat mass (Powell et al., 2020).

The chronic effects of breaking sedentary time has been much less researched. An uncontrolled trial reported significant decreases in waist and hip circumferences, LDL-C, total cholesterol, and glycosylated haemoglobin with the introduction of treadmill desk workstations for nine months in 12 overweight/obese adults (John et al., 2011). In a quasi-experimental trial of 32 non-obese healthy adults, sit-stand workstations were associated with improvements in HDL-C after three months compared with control (Alkhajah et al., 2012). There were no differences in anthropometrics, fasting glucose or other lipid markers.

Breaking up sedentary time has also been found to be associated with functional capacity in cross-sectional studies, including upper and lower body strength and an overall physical functioning score independent of total sedentary time (Sardinha et al., 2015). In older adults, breaks in SB was associated with better lower extremity functioning (Davis et al., 2014) and ability to complete ADL (Chen et al., 2016b), which appear to be independent of MVPA.

### Physiological Mechanisms Associated with Sedentary Behaviour

The physiological mechanisms responsible for the unfavourable associations between SB and health are not fully understood. A number of mechanisms have been proposed. One involved the impairment of lipid metabolism due to suppression of lipoprotein lipase (LPL) activity. LPL is the rate-limiting enzyme for the hydrolysis of the triacylglycerol component of circulating lipoproteins. A reduction in LPL activity impairs tissue-specific uptake of lipoprotein-derived fatty acids and abnormalities in LPL function have been found to be associated with a number of pathophysiological conditions, including atherosclerosis, obesity, insulin resistance and diabetes (Mead et al., 2002). LPL may also have a role in regulating inflammation (Ziouzenkova et al., 2003).

The primary physiological regulator of LPL activity in the vasculature of the skeletal muscle is local contractile activity/inactivity. In rodent models of inactivity involving 10 h/day of unloading, almost all of the LPL activity associated with vascular endothelium of oxidative muscle fibers was lost within one day (Bey & Hamilton, 2003). The reduction was localized to the immobilized muscles and the inactivity was also associated with a local reduction of TG uptake into muscle and a decrease in HD-C concentration compared to low intensity ambulatory controls. The decrease in LPL activity occurred in the absence of a change in LPL mRNA concentration. Instead there was a decrease in LPL protein mass, suggesting the possible involvement of the transcriptional inhibitor actinomycin D. The effects of the transcriptional blockage were specific to the inactive group because there was no effect on LPL in standing/ambulatory rat (Hamilton et al., 2007). LPL activity was restored within 4 h of resuming weight bearing and ambulatory activity. There is also some evidence that plasma

lipids can acutely downregulate LPL activity and that this effect is augmented by inactivity (Zderic & Hamilton, 2006).

A second potential mechanism for the detrimental responses to SB is that lower skeletal muscle blood flow resulting from excessive sitting leads to lower shear stress on vascular endothelial cells and, consequently decreased endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression (Stamatakis et al., 2011). Vascular studies have shown that shear rate, flow mediated dilation and brachial artery diameter decrease, while endothelial cell damage and BP increase with increasing SB (Wullems et al., 2016).

SB has been positively associated with increased arterial stiffness, even when controlling for MVPA, resting heart rate, adiposity and metabolic syndrome (Huynh et al., 2014). SB has also been associated with ankle-brachial index, a vascular measure that is an indicator of PAD and predictor of cardiovascular events (Parsons et al., 2016). Every additional 30 min of SB was associated with an OR of 1.19 for a low ankle-brachial index. Considered together, these findings provide preliminary evidence that the mechanisms associated with SB relate to impaired vascular function and structure.

Systemic inflammation has also been implicated in the negative physiological effects of SB. CRP, a low-grade inflammatory marker, was shown to be doubled in individuals who engaged in > 4 hours/day of screen time compared with < 2 hours per day (Stamatakis et al., 2011). More recent research found that MVPA and CRF (when above an estimated median value) attenuated the risk of elevated CRP (Edwards & Loprinzi, 2018). Additionally, continual underloading due to SB may negatively affect muscle-tendon properties, which could lead to

muscle atrophy (Stamatakis et al., 2011). SB may change the balance between bone resorption and deposition, mainly by a rapid increase in bone resorption, without changes in bone formation. This would reduce bone mineral content and increases the risk of osteoporosis.

Finally, poor diet quality and increased caloric intake are behaviours associated with sitting, in particular television watching, suggesting the detrimental effects on health might stem from the dietary intake associated with sitting time, rather than sitting itself (Patterson et al., 2018). However, the association between TV viewing time and cardiometabolic biomarkers remains significant after controlling for dietary intake.

Several hypotheses have been proposed to describe the potential mechanisms underlying the association between SB and mental health. The social withdrawal hypothesis, which proposes that the more frequently people watch television or use computers, the less they engage in social interactions, is suggested as a potential mechanisms (Kraut et al., 1998; Lewinsohn, P., 1974). In contrast, Shaw and Grant (2002) argue that SB while using the internet can involve communication with others (e.g. emailing and chat rooms), and suggest that not all SB are applicable to the social withdrawal hypothesis. A second possible explanation for the positive associations between SB and risk of depression, is that SB may displace potential PA, and PA is strongly associated with reducing the risk of depression (Teychenne et al., 2008; Zhai et al., 2015). The associations between depressive symptoms, SB and inflammatory markers has also been explored. Longitudinal associations between SB and low grade inflammation over a 4 year follow-up was reported by Hamer *et al.*, (2015) and given the associations between inflammatory markers and depressive symptoms (Irwin &

Miller, 2007) it is feasible to hypothesize that the associations between SB and depressive symptoms might partly be explained by underlying inflammatory mechanisms (Hamer and Smith, 2018).

The potential biological pathways between SB and anxiety may include central nervous arousal (Wang et al., 2006), sleep disturbances (Dworak et al., 2007) or poor metabolic health (Mommersteeg et al 2012). On the contrary, Sabiston *et al.*, (2007) suggest that those suffering from anxiety may be more inclined to engage in SB as a means of coping with anxiety.

Recent evidence proposes differential associations of passive and mentally active SB with mental health (Hallgren et al., 2018; Hallgren et al., 2020a). Furthermore, Hallgren *et al.*, (2020b) suggest that SB which occurs during leisure-time (e.g. television-viewing) may be the predominate cause of SB associated depressive symptoms. Prolonged television viewing is often associated with social-isolation, which may limit people opportunities for supportive and mood-enhancing interactions. SB which involves screen-based devices may also contribute to sleep or mood disturbances. Finally, as SB frequently occurs indoors, away from direct sunlight, the potential that SB might reduce vitamin D synthesis has also been suggests.

### Physical activity and Sedentary behaviour in individuals with chronic disease

A very small proportion of individuals with CD achieve the recommended daily PA (Bernard et al., 2018; Fox et al., 2015; Loprinzi et al., 2013; Morrato et al., 2007; Serrano-Sanchez et al., 2014). Mean daily MVPA has been reported as 17 min per day in adults with T2DM (Wang et al., 2017), 16.5 – 7.0 min per day in patients with COPD (Bernard et al., 2018;

Eliason et al., 2011), 11.4 min per day in individuals with angina (Evenson et al., 2014), 10 min/day in cancer survivors (Loprinzi et al., 2013), 8.6 min per day among those with heart failure, (Evenson et al., 2014), and 3.7 min per day in breast cancer survivors (Lynch et al., 2010).

Tudor-Locke *et al.*, (2009) reported the lowest daily steps count of 2237 steps per day in patients with COPD and the highest number at 8008 steps per day in type 1 diabetes. Other studies in COPD report step count ranges of 4782 steps per day to 7232 step per day, with evidence that step count reduces with increasing disease severity (Bernard et al., 2018; Moy et al., 2012). Daily step counts of between 4,000 and 6,000 have been reported individuals with Parkinson's disease (Benka Wallén et al., 2015; Christiansen et al., 2017; Lord et al., 2013), intermittent claudication (Lauret et al., 2014), impaired glucose tolerance (Yates et al., 2014).

Research comparing PA levels of individuals with CD to their healthy counterparts has produced mixed findings. Among 300,000 adults in the US, individuals with CHD participated in less self-reported PA at the recommended level than those without CHD (Zhao et al., 2008). Adults > 65 years of age with T2DM were found to be less likely to engage in self-reported physical activity than those without T2DM (Zhao et al., 2011). In small scale studies of COPD (Pitta et al., 2005) and intermittent claudication (Lauret et al., 2014), accelerometer-derived PA was significantly less than in healthy controls. The Canadian Health Measures Survey of over 6000 participants found no difference in accelerometer-derived PA levels between individuals with a single CD and those with no CD. However, PA levels were significantly lower in individuals with individuals with MM compared to those with a single

CD and with no CD (Hains-Monfette et al., 2019). COPD patients with moderate to severe disease were found to engage in significantly less MVPA than healthy individuals (Bernard et al., 2018). In contrast, cancer survivors were more likely to report engaging in PA compared to non-cancer participants in analysis of data from the NHANES (Kim et al., 2013).

There are current no guidelines in relation to what is considered excessive SB. There is evidence that individuals with CD engage in more SB than their healthy counterparts. For example, stroke patients were found to accumulate more daily SB in longer uninterrupted bouts than healthy controls (English et al., 2016, Lewis et al., 2016). Similarly, patients with COPD spent more time sedentary than sedentary healthy elderly subjects (Pitta et al., 2005) and spousal carers (Lewis et al., 2016). Participants who completed cardiac rehabilitation and to whom active living had been promoted, spent eight h per day in SB (Prince et al., 2016). In the Canadian Health Measures Survey, individuals with MM had significantly higher levels of SB compared to individuals with a single CD and those with no CD.

## The Effect of Exercise Rehabilitation on Physical Activity Levels and Sedentary Behaviour

A substantial amount of research has investigated the effects of exercise rehabilitation on health-related outcomes and compelling evidence supports the beneficial effects of exercise rehabilitation on health-related outcomes such as functional capacity, disease-related symptoms, QoL, mortality and the disease burden on healthcare services, (Anderson et al., 2016; Dunlay et al., 2014; Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Shepherd & While, 2012). However, the research to date reports conflicting evidence for the effects of exercise rehabilitation on habitual levels of PA.

A previous systematic review reported that cardiac rehabilitation services are not consistently successful in increasing everyday PA in patients with cardiac disease (Jolliffe & Taylor, 1998). Similarly, Ter Hoeve et al., (2015) compared the effectiveness of both centrebased and home-based cardiac rehabilitation studies and found conflicting evidence for their effectiveness in improving PA levels. Centre-based programs did not have an effect, longterm, on PA, however moderate evidence was found that home-based programs were more effective in long term. More recently, Dibben et al., (2018) conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis investigating the effects of cardiac rehabilitation on both CAD and heart failure which included 47 studies. Of the 145 cardiac rehabilitation versus control comparisons reported across all studies, 26% of results reported statistically significant improvements in PA with cardiac rehabilitation, demonstrating moderate evidence for the effects of cardiac rehabilitation on PA levels. Pooled meta-analysis results found an increase in mean daily step count of 1423 steps/day (95% CI 757.1 to 2089.4). This is potentially a clinically meaningful improvement as Demeyer et al., (2016) estimated the threshold for a clinically meaningful change in daily step count for COPD to range between 600 to 1100 steps/day. No differences were found between control vs cardiac rehabilitation groups for SB, LIPA or MVPA for pool analyses of these measures. A review of 32 studies that evaluated the effects of pulmonary rehabilitation on PA showed inconsistent result, with 19 studies demonstrating a positive effect and 12 revealing no effect on PA (Shioya et al., 2018). A 12 month hospital based exercise rehabilitation program for cancer patients, found significant improvements in self-reported PA (Midtgaard et al., 2013).

Limited research exists investigating the effects of CBER on PA levels. The evidence available indicates those who are currently participating in CBER or have previously attended CBER, have higher levels of PA and lower levels of SB compared to those have do not (Hernandes et al., 2013; Simoes et al., 2009). Interestingly, median daily step count remained higher, even on days when they did not attend the classes in adults who participated in CBEPs compared to those who do not. On the contrary, Schutzer and Graves (2004) outline evidence suggesting that elderly populations lack the knowledge and the understanding of the role of daily PA for maintaining health. Hence, it is possible that exercise programs may not improve overall activity levels as individuals who participate may reduce activity levels outside of the program, as they could feel satisfied with their exercise participation. Further investigation is required to provide a clearer indication of the role of CBER in increasing PA and reducing SB. Specifically in CD cohorts, research indicates that habitual PA increases with CBER. In patients with T2DM, nine months of CBER resulted in significant improvements in selfreported PA (Gallé et al., 2019). Similarly, self-reported PA increased in individuals with COPD, after a 12 month CBER program (Beauchamp et al., 2013). Device-measured PA shows promising results. Daily step count increased in individuals with COPD after an 11 month CBER program (Effing et al., 2011). Daily steps per day were also found to increase after eight weeks of CBER in a study by. Varas *et al.*, (2018) for individuals with COPD.

A focus on increasing PA levels has dominated research in the area of health for decades, however, only in more recent times has the focus started to shift and recognize the role of decreasing SB. It is too often assumed that an increase in MVPA automatically results in a decrease in SB, however increasing PA causes fatigue that, consequently can have the

unintended effect of also increasing SB, resulting the possible offset of the PA related health benefits (Siddique et al., 2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis by Prince *et al.*, (2014) provides some supporting evidence that small reductions in SB can result from PA focused interventions. Interventions that target both PA and SB also resulted in modest reductions in daily SB, however SB focused interventions may be the most effective in resulting in large and clinically meaningful reductions in daily SB.

#### **Determinants of Physical Activity**

Adherence to health-related behaviours is defined by the WHO as "the extent to which a person's behaviour corresponds with agreed recommendations from healthcare providers" (World Health Organization, 2003). In medical research, adherence is generally expressed as a percentage of the prescribed dose of a medical treatment that has been completed across a specific time period (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). In the example of CBER adherence can refer to the percentage of classes attended of the recommended dose (Herring et al., 2014). In contrast, compliance to exercise therapies describes the degree to which subjects completed the prescribed exercise intensity (Miller et al., 2014). In the healthcare setting, the term "adherence" is often favoured over "compliance" because it implies an agreement between the patient and healthcare professional on the treatment plan (Osterberg & Blaschke, 2005). Compliance depicts a more one-sided interaction, where a clinician decides on a suitable treatment, which the patient is required to comply to regardless of suitability (Chakrabarti, 2014).

Adherence to these behaviours, of which PA is one, is a complex behavioural process, which has numerous compounding factors (Middleton et al., 2013). Understanding

the factors associated with PA adherence, is an important component to consider in the design and delivery of interventions aimed at increasing PA participation. Tailoring an intervention to target factors that are known to influence PA behaviour in a particular population can contribute to the success of the intervention in increasing and maintaining PA levels. Many cross-sectional studies report significant associations between a range of personal, social and environmental variables and levels of PA. For example, a study may report that socioeconomic status is associated with PA behaviours. Such relations inform correlates of PA, however, do not identify causal inferences. The logic of causality is fundamental to building an understanding of factors associated with increasing the probability of an outcome. The term 'determinant' is most when defining causal factors / predictive relations to behaviours such as PA (Bauman et al. 2002).

In the literature, demographics (e.g. age, gender), psychological factors (e.g. selfefficacy, perceived enjoyment), social factors (social support from family and friends), and physical environment factors (e.g. living/built environment, access to facilities) have been described as determining factors in PA adherence (Brochado et al., 2010). In a recent systematic review, a range of positive and negative environmental factors were reported as determinants of PA for adults and older adults (Carlin et al., 2017). At the neighbourhood level, negative street characteristics, such as lack of sidewalks and street lights were reported as barriers to PA. Street connectivity and availability/access/proximity of public transport were positivity associated with general walking and cycling in adults. Overall socioeconomic status was identified as a significant positive determinant of overall PA and leisure time PA in adults and older adults and a negative determinant of occupational PA in a systematic review by O'Donoghue *et al.*, (2018). In terms of psychological determinants of PA in adults attitude and belief where positive determinants of PA in a systematic review by Cortis *et al.*, (2017). Barriers to PA, lack of knowledge of PA benefits, pain/fatigue/weakness, fear to go out alone, fear of injuries or falling, lack of support and emotional distress were reported as negative determinants of PA. Behavioural determinants of PA for adults and older adults include positive associations with baseline activity level and negative associations for smoking (Condello et al., 2017). When investigating determinants of PA in CD cohorts, research has primarily focused on physical factors, such as functional capacity or disease severity (Gimeno-Santos et al., 2014; Stewart et al., 2013). This is unlikely to provide a complete understanding of what determines PA levels in this population.

Behaviour change theories can assist in the understanding of the determinants of behaviour, guide the development of interventions to successfully change behaviour and provide insights into the mechanisms underpinning successful behaviour change. The Transtheoretical Model (also known as the Stages of Change Model) received a lot of attention in the exercise domain. The Transtheoretical Model suggest that individuals progress through multiple stages when changing their exercise behaviour, with each stage transition requiring different determinants and possibly different interventions (Courneya et al 2001; Prochaska et al., 1994). The TTM proposes five stages of change that reflect the temporal dimensions of change in health behaviours and describe an individual's motivation or readiness for change (Figure 2.4).



Figure 2.4 The Transtheoretical Model of Behaviour Change (Prochaska et al., 1994)

<u>Precontemplation</u>: Individuals are not engaged in the recommended health behaviour and have no intention of changing in the foreseeable future.

<u>Contemplation</u>: Individuals have formed an intention to change in the near future but are still not performing the behaviour.

<u>Preparation</u>: Individual intends to take action in the immediate future and may have a detailed plan for taking action or made some small steps towards behaviour change.

Action: The behaviour has been changed to the recommended target level.

<u>Maintenance</u>: The behaviour has been maintained at the target level for at least 6 months.

Other research in the exercise domain have used Ajzen's (1991) Theory of Planned Behaviour to understand and predict the stages of change. The Theory of Planned Behaviour suggests that a person's intention to perform a behaviour is the primary determinant of that behaviour. Three conceptually independent variables (attitude, subjective norms and perceived behavioural control), in turn, determine intentions. Attitudes in this context refer to a positive or negative evaluation of performing the behaviour. Subjective norms represents the perceived social pressure an individual may feel to perform or not perform a certain behaviour. Perceived behavioural control describes the perceived ease or difficulty of performing the behaviour.

The Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (Bandura, 1998) is one of the most widely used theories in health behaviour research and one of the most effective theories for determining PA behaviour (Taylor et al., 2016b). The theory proposes that learning occurs in a social context with a dynamic and reciprocal interaction between personal, environmental and behavioural factors (figure 2.4). In relation to PA, personal factors can include age, race, gender and cognitive factors such as self-efficacy. Environmental factors include social support, such as modelling from family and friends, support from exercise partners and feedback received from exercise instructors. Behavioural factors which are vital to sustained PA participation predominantly involve self-regulatory behaviours, including the ability to self-monitor and set goals (Anderson-Bill et al., 2011). Although the SCT recognises that environments shape behaviour, the theory focuses on the individual's potential abilities to alter and construct environments to suit personal beliefs (McAlister et al., 2008).





The SCT encompasses eight key concepts, namely reciprocal determinism, outcome expectancy, self-efficacy, collective efficacy, observed learning, incentive motivation, facilitation, self-regulation and moral disengagement. These constructs explain 40–70% of the variance in PA behaviours in adults (Anderson-Bill, Winett, & Wojcik 2011; Ayotte et al., 2010; Phillips & McAuley, 2013; Rovniak et al., 2002; White et al., 2012).Self-efficacy, which describes a person's beliefs about their ability to perform behaviours successfully and achieve an intended outcome, plays a pivotal regulative role in the multifaceted causal structure of the SCT. Bandura et al., (1999) state that self-efficacy is the single, most necessary motivational element involved in pushing individuals to take actions. Particularly in relation to task orientated behaviours, self-efficacy is a vital component (Bandura, 2004). Self-efficacy is considered a key determinant of PA participation. Self-efficacy for exercise specifically refers to beliefs in one's ability to exercise, even given constraints and impediments such as feeling tired or being busy. It is suggested as the primary determining constraint of achieving health promoting levels of PA (Bandura et al., 1999) and the relationship between exercise beliefs and exercise behaviours is described as reciprocal. Behaviour change can be determined by other factors, including outcome expectations and sense of controllability (Neupert et al., 2009). An individual can have high self-efficacy for exercise but does not believe beneficial effects can be achieved by engaging in the behaviour. Self-efficacy is not an individual concept, however it is often depicted this way in research. Task self-efficacy describes an individual's confidence in the ability to perform the elemental aspects of a task (e.g. the ability to walk for 30 mins at a moderate intensity), while coping self-efficacy refers to an individual's confidence in their ability to perform tasks under challenging conditions (e.g. confidence in the ability to exercise while in a bad mood) (Rodgers & Sullivan, 2001). In patients who participated in cardiac rehabilitation, maintenance self-efficacy, which refers to beliefs about one's ability to sustain a behaviour regardless of barriers specific to the maintenance period, and recovery self-efficacy, which describes an individual's beliefs about their ability to resume action after relapses, predicted participation in PA eight months after cardiac rehabilitation (Luszczynska & Sutton, 2006).

For those with CD, self-efficacy plays a significant role in exercise adherence. Selfefficacy predicts exercise behaviour in individuals with CVD and cardiac rehabilitation can have a positive effect on exercise self-efficacy in this cohort (Blanchard et al., 2015; Carlson et al., 2001; Lemanski, 1990). A higher self-efficacy has been shown to be independently associated with greater PA levels in patients with COPD (Belza et al., 2001; Hartman et al., 2013; Steele et al., 2000). Self-efficacy was a stronger predictor of attendance to and functional improvement from pulmonary rehabilitation compared to demographics and clinical indicators (Selzler et al., 2016). Exercise behaviours in cancer patients have been shown to be highly associated with exercise-self-efficacy (Pinto et al., 2009; Rodgers et al., 2002; Vallance et al., 2008). A similar association between self-efficacy and PA has been described among individuals with diabetes (Dutton et al., 2009; Plotnikoff et al., 2000). Dutton *et al.*, (2009) investigated the effect of a 1-month print-based PA intervention, which was individually tailored based on theoretical constructs including self-efficacy, on PA levels in individuals with T2DM. After controlling for all potential cofounders, the improvements in PA levels were found to be completely accounted for by the improvements in self-efficacy. In a mixed CD cohort, a cross sectional study of 483 patients reported that PA was positively correlated with self-efficacy (Daniali et al., 2017). Sex, self-efficacy and fatigue explained 87% of the variance of PA. It was suggested that a focus on psychological factors such as self-efficacy has the potential to improve the self-care of CD patients.

Other potential psychosocial factors associated with PA in a mixed CD was explored by Shin *et al.*, (2005). Prior exercise experience, perceived health status, exercise benefits and barriers and exercise social support were identified as significant determinants of PA participation. The role of social support and social connectedness in maintaining or initiating behaviour change is well recognised and is a component of many theoretical models of behaviour change, including the SCT (Ajzen, 1991; Bandura, 2004; Bronfenbrenner, 1977; McLeroy et al., 1988; Rosenstock et al., 1988). Key themes have been identified when describing social support, which include social relationships that are reciprocal, accessible and reliable and provide any means of supportive resources (Williams et al., 2004). Social support can include social-emotional support (expressing feelings, values and attitudes), practical support (the provision of the necessary facilities and resources), information support (providing information, recommendations and guidelines) and social belonging (sense and presence of a companion to engage in activity with) (Heaney & Israel, 2008; Uchino, 2004). Perceived social support is believed to have a direct influence on exercise behaviour (Resnick et al., 2002). It was identified as a primary determinant of PA in community dwelling older adults, especially when social support came from family members (Smith et al., 2017). Social support can influence PA levels and potentially strengthen exercise self-efficacy in patients with CDs, such as CVD and diabetes (Adeniyi et al., 2012; Aliabad et al., 2014; Won & Son, 2017). Social support has also been identified as a positive determinant of PA in cancer survivors (Barber, 2012). Recently, low levels of social support for PA have been found in T2DM (Morowatisharifabad et al., 2019), which are thought to be due to a number of factors such as reduced awareness of individuals and families about the impact of PA on the improvement of patient health, along with cultural perspectives and concerns about PA.

The importance of increasing PA levels for patients with CD is well recognised and understanding and targeting the factors that determine this behaviour is likely to contribute to greater success in this effort. Determinants of PA can guide the investigation of an intervention to identify both how it achieved its desired outcome, or explain why it may not have been successful. Interventions can be refined or tailored based on these discoveries in order to optimally support patients to enhance their PA behaviour. Behaviour change techniques are defined as techniques designed to enable behaviour change by augmenting factors that facilitate behaviour change, or by mitigating factors that inhibit behaviour change (Carey et al., 2019). In the chronic disease population, there is strong evidence that PA interventions can have health enhancing outcomes, however it remains unclear how the efficacy of such interventions could be enhanced. Research has identified strategies to increase self-efficacy for PA in clinical and non-clinical populations. Behaviour change techniques such as "action-planning" where individuals are prompted to form detailed plans of their behaviour change process where successful in improving exercise self-efficacy (Williams & French, 2011). Behaviour change techniques that facilitate self-regulation (e.g. goal setting or self-monitoring) where identified as important components of physical activity behaviour change in older adults, in a systematic review by Samdal *et al.*, (2017). Behaviour change techniques reported as effective in changing diet and exercise in patients with T2S include 'instructions on how to perform the behaviour', 'behavioural practice/rehearsal', 'action planning' 'feedback and monitoring' and 'demonstration of the behaviour' (Cradock et al., 2017). The optimal combination of an exercise intervention which incorporates successful behaviour change techniques remains unknown, and future research should investigate the efficacy and feasibility of behaviour change techniques to enhance CBER for individuals with CD.

### Conclusion

CD is an umbrella term for a range of long-term, medical conditions that can develop in response to genetic, environmental and lifestyle related risk factors. CVD, cancer, T2DM and chronic lung conditions are currently the most prevalent CDs from a global perspective. All CDs have the potential to limit the functional capacity and QoL for the individuals who live with them.

The role of PA in both the primary and secondary prevention of CD is widely established. Despite the evidence, the levels of PA in CD cohort is consistently reported as low and SB as excessive. The majority of previous studies examining the levels of both PA and SB in CD populations have involved primarily single disease cohorts. Currently, there is limited research examining such behaviours in a mixed CD population and frequently individuals with

MM are excluded. Differential methods of measures PA and SB in previous research prevents comparison of the available evidence across disease groups. Consequently, the evidence base regarding PA levels and potential benefits of PA in CD cohorts remain segregated.

There is compelling evidence that CBER is a successful intervention for the secondary prevention of CD. Substantial evidence supports the efficacy of CBER in enhancing physical functioning and QoL for individuals with CD. The effects of CBER on habitual PA levels and SB in CD cohort remains unclear and further investigation is warranted. In line with the current research trends on PA levels in CD cohorts, the current model of CBER delivery is primarily restricted to single disease cohorts. The effectiveness of an integrated model of CBER deliver which caters for individuals with a range of CD diagnosis and those with MM is yet to be established. Research building on the evidence base for an integrated approach to CBER has the potential to inform future delivery of this vital service.

# Chapter 3

# Methodology

#### **Study Setting**

MedEx Wellness is a unique CBER program for individuals with CD in Ireland. As opposed to usual SCD delivery of CBER, MedEx Wellness offers an integrated approach to the delivery of CBER. Individuals with a range CD including CVD, pulmonary disease, T2DM and cancer, and those with MM attend and participate together within the same supervised exercise classes. Patients are referred to the program by hospital consultant physicians and their teams, phase III (outpatient) cardiac rehabilitation teams and general practitioners. The MedEx Wellness Chief Medical Officer provides clinical oversight to the program, which is coordinated by exercise scientists and delivered by exercise instructors certified in cardiac prevention and rehabilitation. The program is not a fixed duration. Participants can attend the program on a continuous basis and are encouraged to establish a lifelong relationship with MedEx Wellness. The program is a user-pay model, with options to pay per class ( $\xi$ 7 with a medical card,  $\xi$ 8 without) or per month ( $\xi$ 50) for leisure centre membership.

This PhD was part of a larger trial, funded by the Health Service Executive (HSE) to determine the effect of the MedEx Wellness program on physical, clinical and psychological health. This research was undertaken at the MedEx Wellness program located at Dublin City University (DCU). The program was coordinated by members of academic staff from the School of Health and Human Performance and the Sports Service department in DCU. The exercise classes were delivered in the campus Sports Centre. The program grew to an offering

of 25 supervised classes per week and there were no restrictions on how often participants could attend. There were approximately 700 participant visits per week to MedEx Wellness. Referral to the service was a rolling process, and weekly inductions were conducted involving approximately 10-15 new participants each week.

### **Study Design**

A quasi-experimental study was conducted. Participants were recruited at induction to the MedEx Wellness program following referral from a healthcare professional and were observed over the course of 12 months of participation in the programme. Outcomes were assessed at BL and 3, 6 and 12 months. Figure 3.1 outlines the study algorithm. As the study setting was within an established programme in the community, withholding service to allow for a controlled trial was not considered ethically appropriate. A cluster-controlled design was not feasible due to the challenge of identifying a matched sample to this diverse disease population.




# Participants

Men and women (aged > 18 yr) with one or more documented CDs referred to the MedEx Wellness program were recruited. The most common primary diseases were CVD, respiratory disease, metabolic disease (including T2DM and impaired glucose tolerance), cancer, or neuromuscular or musculoskeletal disorders (including arthritis, Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis). Exclusion criteria included an uncontrolled CVD condition or a significant musculoskeletal condition, neurological condition, mental illness or intellectual disability that restricted participation in a physical training programme.

# Recruitment

Consultant physicians, hospital-based exercise rehabilitation teams and general practitioners issued a referral letter to the MedEx Wellness program for patients with established CD. Upon receipt of the referral letter, patients were invited to attend a program induction session during which they were fully informed of the purpose and design of the study and the experimental procedures. They were provided with a plain language statement (Appendix A) before giving written informed consent (Appendix B) in accordance with the Research Ethics Committee at Dublin City University (DCUREC:2014/227). Rolling recruitment took place from September 2015 to July 2016 at the weekly induction sessions, involving 10-15 individuals per week.

# Sample size

The critical determination of the sample size was the standard deviation of the change in 6-min time trial (6MTT) distance from BL to 12 months. The standard deviation

estimate used was 90 m (Polkey et al., 2013). The minimum difference to be detected was 25 m (Holland & Nici, 2013). For a power of 80% and two-sided significance of 5%, a sample size of 104 participants was required. This PhD was part of a larger trial, funded by the Health Service Executive (HSE). The primary outcome for this PhD is the change in physical activity and sedentary behaviour and was not considered as part of the power calculation.

# Intervention: MedEx Wellness

#### Induction

Induction to the MedEx Wellness program involved three visits over an eight day period. Visit one introduced participants to the program and provided information on the program purpose, structure and logistics, such as accessing the facility, car parking, class times and venues. The second visit took place six days later and involved an exercise consultation, (described in detail later). Visit three took place 24 h after the second visit and consisted of a beginner exercise class. The class followed the same format as regular MedEx Wellness classes but involved smaller group sizes and included demonstrations and teachings on the exercise techniques and equipment. The beginner exercise was a component of the MedEx Wellness service which aimed to improve self-efficacy and foster social support to improve programme initiation and adherence.

# **Exercise classes**

Following the three day induction process, participants were advised to attend two supervised group exercise classes per week. Participants were encouraged to attend the

same classes every week in order to promote social-support and habit formation. Classes were 60 min in duration and consisted a 15-min warm up, the main exercise training component and 5-10 min cool down. Exercise involved a combination of moderate intensity aerobic exercises and resistance training using a range of ergometers, weighted machines, free weights and body weighted exercises. Table 2.1 summaries the class structures depending on class size and program.

The warm up involved a combination of aerobic and range of motion exercises. Due to limited availability of equipment (e.g. ergometers and machine weights) and space participants were divided into 2 or 3 groups for the main exercise component of the class. If  $\leq$ 30 participants were present, the class was divided into two groups that alternated between 20 min of aerobic ergometer exercise and 20 min of resistance exercise. If > 30 participants were present, the class was divided into three groups that rotated between 10 min of aerobic ergometer exercise, 10 min of resistance exercise and 10 min of a combined aerobic and resistance circuit. The reduced main phase component in classes >30 participants, allowed for a 1-2 minute change over period between each group.

The aerobic ergometer exercise involved the use of a range of exercise ergometers depending on participant preference and ability and included treadmills, cycle, rowing and elliptical ergometers. Classes catered for all abilities and participants were encouraged to work at a moderate to vigorous. For aerobic components of the class, the prompts employed by instructors to assist participants in interpreting the prescribed intensity was to work at an intensity at which they "feel moderately breathless, have a read face and sweat" or "moderately breathless but can still hold a conversation". To prompt participants on how to achieve a moderate intensity level during the resistance component of the circuit, instructors

advised participants to work at a slow, controlled pace, using a weight or resistance in which the participant could complete 10 - 15 repetitions at a comfortable intensity. Compliance with the prescribed exercise intensity during the classes has previously been established (Hurley et al., 2017). This research indicated that participants exercised at at an exercise intensity corresponding to  $61.3 \pm 9.2$  %VO<sub>2</sub>peak and  $76.9 \pm 9.5$ % HRpeak, and concluded that participants could effectively self-regulate participation at a moderate intensity during the MedEx Wellness classes.

The cool down consisted of aerobic exercises that gradually decreased in intensity, range of motion exercises and stretching. A social area was set up after class where participants were offered tea or coffee.

MedEx Wellness classes were ongoing, allowing participants to engage in the program on an open ended basis. With one exception, all classes included mixed CD groups. The stand-alone 12-week 'Move On' program was limited to individuals recovering from cancer related treatment. Shorter term programs are common in cancer survivorship rehabilitation (Christopher & Morrow, 2004; Foley & Hasson, 2016; Leach et al., 2015). The general characteristic of the cancer survivors cohort, warranted a program design focused on aiding participants to "Move On" from cancer treatment back to general public habits of exercise participation. On completion of the program, participants were encouraged to maintain exercise participation in general public exercise classes in local gyms. Two 12-week cycles of the Move On program were included in this study. The functional capacity and general health of the participants attending the Move On program allowed for a more flexible approach to the exercise content, as abilities tending to be higher in this program.

Classes were led by DCU sports complex employees. A ratio of 1:15 instructor to participant ratio was adhered to while conducting classes. At least one instructor in every class has British Association for Cardiovascular Prevention and Rehabilitation Specialist Exercise Instructor Level 4 qualification.

	≤ 30 participants	≥ 30 participants	Move On
Warm up	15 min aerobic and range or motion exercises	15 min aerobic and range or motion exercises	15 min aerobic and range of motion exercises
Main Phase	Aerobic: 20 min continuous on a treadmill, stationary bike or cross-trainer Resistance: 20 min circuit based using a combination of machine weights or free weight. 1 min work/20-30 s rest	Aerobic: 10 min continuous on a treadmill, stationary bike or cross-trainer Resistance: 10 min circuit based using a combination of machine weights or free weight. 1 min work/20-30 s rest	The main phase of this program varied each class. A combination of the following was included: Aerobic: continuous or interval on a treadmill, stationary bike or cross- trainer
		Combination: 10 min interval body weight resistance exercises and aerobic (e.g. jumping jacks, high knees) 30 – 1 min work / 10 – 30 s	Resistance: circuit based using a combination of machine weights or free weight. 1 min work/20-30 s rest
		rest	Instructor lead: step aerobics, combination of aerobic and resistance circuits, spinning, Pilates and total body resistance (TRX) suspension training
Cool down	5 – 10 min low intensity aerobics, range of motion exercises and stretching	5 – 10 min low intensity aerobics, range of motion exercises and stretching	5 – 10 min low intensity aerobics, range of motion exercises and stretching

Table 3.1 Exercise	e prescription of MedEx Wellness classes

Note: min = minutes; s = seconds

# **Exercise consultations**

An exercise consultation was delivered to participants during the induction process and was repeated at 1, 3 and 6 months. The purpose of the consultation was to use behaviour change techniques to improve exercise adherence. Previous research was conducted in the MedEx Wellness service, to identify factors associated with uptake and adherence to the program (O'Leary E, 2019). Self-efficacy to exercise, intentions for exercise and social support to exercise were found to be significantly different between individuals who never attended the program following induction (non-uptake) and those initiated the program (attend at least one class following induction)

The exercise consultation was delivered in a group setting, which has previously been reported to promote peer social support and allow for group problem solving with specific focus on barriers identified during decisional balance work. The exercise consultations were designed by an academic in PA and behaviour change. The delivery of exercise consultations were led by an academic with expertise in applied psychology and researchers trained in exercise consultation delivery. The researchers adhered to a motivational interviewing style, where the approach was client-centred, emphasised personal choice and incorporated negotiating strategies between the participants and researches. Behaviour change techniques included in the exercise consultations were goal setting, problem solving, action planning, pros and cons, instructions on how to perform the behaviour, review of behaviour goals, feedback on behaviours and focus on past success. During the exercise consultations at 1, 3 and 6 months, participants were given the opportunity to review previously set behavioural goals and provided with feedback on progress, which consisted of a feedback report (Appendix C) that outlined results from physical function tests at BL and subsequent assessments.

# Outcomes

Outcomes were assessed at BL and 3, 6 and 12 months. Assessments at each time point were conducted over 2 days, separated by 6 days. BL assessments were integrated with the induction process to the MedEx Wellness program, as outlined in Figure 3.2. During the first visit a fasting blood sample was taken, body composition, strength and flexibility were assessed and participants completed a questionnaires to obtain demographic information (at BL only), barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, intentions for exercise and family support for PA (Appendix D). Selected participants were provided with an accelerometer to wear for 6 days and a take home questionnaire to assess HRQoL, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and friend support for PA (Appendix E). Participants were encouraged to complete questionnaires independently but where required, a member of the research team or a family member or friend provided assistance. Visit 2 involved an assessment of CRF. Table 2.2 outlines the test battery for the study.

Table 3.2 Test batt	ery	I
---------------------	-----	---

Domain	Subsections	Variables		
Participant characteristics	Demographics	<ul> <li>Age</li> <li>Gender</li> <li>Median household income</li> <li>Educational status</li> <li>Marital status</li> <li>Working status</li> <li>Smoking status</li> </ul>		
	Chronic disease	<ul><li>Primary CD diagnosis</li><li>SCD or MM</li></ul>		
Physical activity		Accelerometer		
	Aerobic capacity	• 6MTT		
Physical Function	Strength	<ul><li>Sit-to-stand test</li><li>Handgrip test</li></ul>		
	Flexibility	Sit-and-reach test		
Body composition		<ul> <li>Height and weight</li> <li>Body mass index</li> <li>Waist circumference</li> <li>Hip circumference</li> <li>Waist to hip ratio</li> </ul>		
Biomarkers	Blood sample	<ul><li>Fasting glucose</li><li>Lipids</li><li>hsCRP</li></ul>		
	Symptoms of depression	• PHQ8		
	Self-rated health	EQ-VAS		
Quality of Life	Satisfaction with life	• SWLS		
	Positive mental health	SWEMWBS		
Determinants of physical activity		<ul> <li>Barriers self-efficacy</li> <li>Self-regulatory self-efficacy</li> <li>Intention for exercise</li> <li>Social support for exercise</li> </ul>		

Note: CD = chronic disease; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = satisfaction with life scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale



Note: CRP = c-reactive protein; PA & SB = physical activity & sedentary behaviour; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale; CRF = cardiorespiratory fitness; 6MTT = 6 min time trial

Sit to stand

Handgrip

# Demographics

Participants completed a self-report questionnaire at BL to provide information on age, sex, residential locality, and educational, marital, employment and smoking status. Residential address was used to estimate median household income based on the geographical profiles of income in Ireland (Central Statistics Office, 2019).

# **Chronic Disease**

Participants' primary CD diagnosis and co-morbidities, to indicate whether the participant had a SCD or MM, were obtained (with participant consent) from the patient referral letter provided to the MedEx Wellness program by the referring healthcare professional.

# **Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour**

The activPAL<sup>3</sup> micro (PAL Technologies Ltd. Glasgow, Scotland) was used to quantify free-living activity behaviours. Device-based measures of PA and SB have demonstrated higher validity and reliability relative to self-report measures (Chastin et al., 2018; Healy et al., 2011; Sylvia et al., 2014) A limited number of devices were available and a sub-sample of randomly selected participants were issued an accelerometer. The device measures bodily accelerations using a triaxial accelerometer sampling at 20 Hz for 15 s epochs. An inbuilt inclinometer measures thigh inclination and detects the postural orientation of the wearer. The device was worn on the midpoint of the anterior aspect of the right thigh. It was covered with a water-resistant nitrile sleeve and attached to the skin using a 3M Tegaderm<sup>TM</sup> Film (Kooperationspartner Wundversorgung, Germany) adhesive dressing. Participants were instructed to wear the device continuously, 24 h per day, for 6 consecutive days, except during water immersion activities, i.e., swimming and bathing.

## **Accelerometer Data Processing**

Raw acceleration data were processed and stored in a range on file formats, including csv files or 15 s epoch summary files. Proprietary algorithms classified activities into sitting/lying time, standing time, stepping time, step count and activity counts. Tudor-Locke *et al.*, (2011a) defined 100 steps/minute as the threshold for MVPA in older adults. Based off this threshold, MVPA was classified as  $\geq$ 25 steps within a 15 sec epoch. Trost *et al.* (2005) suggest a minimum of 3 to 5 days is required to reliably estimate the outcome variables measures with accelerometery. Only datasets that provided  $\geq$  4 valid days of activity data, including one weekend day, were processed for analysis. A valid day was defined as  $\geq$  600 min of consecutive zero accelerometer counts (Dowd et al., 2012).

SB characteristics were examined using a customized MATLAB<sup>®</sup> (version 7.0.1, The Mathworks Inc, Natick, MA, USA) software programme (Dowd et al., 2012). The MATLAB<sup>®</sup> program examined the sedentary output file of the activPAL<sup>3</sup> micro accelerometer epoch-by-epoch. Initially, the program binary coded each epoch (15 s) using the following sequence: a sedentary epoch, defined as an epoch spent entirely in sedentary activity, (i.e., sitting or lying) was coded as 1. A non-sedentary epoch, defined as an epoch defined as an epoch containing more than zero s of standing or stepping, (an epoch with less than 15 s spent in sedentary activity), was coded as 0. The program examined the sequence of each sedentary period to identify the start and

the end time for each one in hh:mm:ss format. Sleep time for each participant was manually identified by examination of the sedentary epoch Microsoft Excel output produced by MATLAB<sup>®</sup>. The first break in a SB after 6am each day was selected as the rise time. The last registered non-sedentary epoch of the day, which was followed by a prolonged, uninterrupted sedentary period (> 2 h) was selected as the time the subject went to bed. This method allowed for the differentiation between sleep time and daily SB. The number and duration of day time sedentary bouts per day was calculated. Sedentary bouts were categorized by specific durations, namely < 10 min, 11-30 min, 31-60 min and > 60 min. The number of sedentary bouts and the total duration in sedentary bouts in each category were calculated.

# **Physical Function**

**Cardiorespiratory Fitness:** was assessed using 6MTT (Ayán-Pérez et al., 2017; Bergmann et al., 2014). The 6MTT demonstrates high reliability (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.97; 95% CI: 0.96-0.99) (Ayán-Pérez et al.,2017). The test was undertaken with 5-6 participants at a time. No warm-up was permitted before the 6MTT. Participants were instructed to cover as much distance as possible in 6 min while walking and/or running between two cones placed 20 m apart on a flat 20 m indoor course. They received a standard set of instructions and standard encouragement according to the ATS guidelines for the 6MWT (Enright, 2003). The total distance was calculated to the nearest meter by adding the distance covered in the last lap to total number of completed laps. **Muscle Strength:** Lower body strength was assessed using a 10 repetition sit to stand test from a seat height of 43-45 cm (Csuka & McCarty, 1985). High test-retest reliability has been demonstrated for the 10 repetition sit to stand test in individuals undergoing haemodialysis (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.88; 95% CI: 0.79-0.94) (Segura-Ortí & Martínez, 2011). From a starting position with their arms crossed, feet placed flat on the floor pointing parallel to each other and approximately shoulder width apart, participants were instructed to stand up and sit down 10 times as fast as possible. Legs had to be fully extended and hips had to touch off the chair during the squat descent for the repetition to be valid. Participants were not allowed bounce from the chair when transferring from a seated to standing position. The time taken to complete 10 repetitions was measured using a stopwatch. Each participant performed two trials separated by 2 min. To control for the risk of a learning effect between the two trials, the best score was recorded.

Handgrip strength was measured in the dominant arm using a hand dynamometer (Takei 5401 Hand Grip Dynamometer (Digital)). High test-retest reliability has been demonstrated for the handgrip strength test for both the left (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.95; 95% CI: 0.89-0.98) and right (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.91; 95% CI: 0.80-0.96) hands in community-dwelling older adults (Bohannon & Scheubert, 2005). The test was administered in a standing position with the upper arm held tight at the trunk and forearm at a right angle to upper arm. The gripping handle was adjusted to ensure the middle of their four fingers was resting on the handle. The handle was squeezed at maximum force and held for approximately 3 s. Three trials separated  $\geq$  15 s were performed and the best

score was recorded. Mathiowetz *et al.,* (1984) suggest that the mean of three trail is a more accurate measure than one trail of even the highest score of three trails.

**Flexibility**: was assessed using a sit and reach test (Baumgartner & Jackson, 1995),. Participants sat on the bench with their legs fully extended and feet flat against a sit and reach box (Eveque Leisure Equipment Ltd, Cheshire, UK). The sit and reach test demonstrates high reliability (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.92; 95% CI: 0.88-0.95)(Ayala et al., 2012). They were instructed to flex forward, with arms fully extended and one hand on top of the other and to reach their fingertips as far as possible along the measurement scale while keeping the legs fully extended. The distance reached on the box was recorded (cm). Rest interval between trials was at the participants discretion (approximately 10 - 20 s). To control for the risk of a learning effect between the three trials, the best score was recorded.

#### **Body Composition**

Height and body mass were measured using a stadiometer and electronic scale (model 707 balance scales (Seca GmbH, Hamburg, Germany). Footwear and any heavy clothing were removed prior to the measurements. Height was recorded to the nearest 0.01 cm and body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg. BMI was calculated as body mass in kilograms divided by squared height in metres.

Waist and hip circumferences were measured in cm by a trained researcher using a tape measure. Participants removed any bulky clothing and were instructed to stand with feet together, arms by their side and to breathe normally. Measurements were taken over one thin layer of clothing at the end of normal expiration in. Hip circumference was measured

at the narrowest point as viewed from the front of the body. The hip circumference was taken around the widest portion of the buttocks. The tape was snug to the body during both measurements. Waist to hip ratio (WHR) was derived by dividing the waist measurement by the hip.

# **Biomarkers**

Venous blood samples were taken following an overnight fast. Serum vacutainers were allowed to stand for 30 min before centrifugation at 3000 rpm (1600 g) for 15 min at 4°C. Serum plasma was aliquoted into collection tubes, labelled and stored in a freezer at - 80°C. Before analysis samples were defrosted. Serum triglycerides, total cholesterol, HDL-C, LDL-C, high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) and fasting glucose were determined using spectrophotometric assays, performed on an automated bench-top clinical chemistry system (ACE<sup>®</sup>, Alfa Wassermann B.V., Netherlands) using the appropriate reagents, calibrators and controls (Randox Laboratories, UK).

#### **Psychological Health**

**Depressive Symptoms:** were measured using the 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire Depression Scale (PHQ8), a validated diagnostic and severity measure of depression in the general population (Kurt Kroenke et al., 2009). Satisfactory validity and reliability (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.82) has also been demonstrated in individuals with chronic heart failure (Pressler et al., 2011). Participants indicated how frequently they had experienced symptoms of depression, for example "*Little interest or pleasure in doing things*" on a 4-level

Likert scale that ranged from "*Not at all*" to "*Nearly every day*". A higher score indicated greater severity of symptoms of depression in the PHQ8 scale.

Self-rated Health: was measured using the EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale (EQ-VAS) (Dyer et al., 2010). Evidence of high validity and reliability of the EQ-VAS in a range of CD cohorts has been established (interclass correlation coefficient: 0.78; 95% CI: 0.75-0.82) (Sakthong et al., 2015). Participants rated their health on a vertical visual analogue scale ranging from 0 – 100, where the endpoints are labelled 'best imaginable health state' (100) and 'worst imaginable health state' (0).

Satisfaction with Life: was measured using the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS), a valid and reliable 5-item scale designed to measure global cognitive judgments of one's life satisfaction (Pavot et al., 1991). Additional evidence supports the use of the SWLS in adults over the age of 50 y (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.74) (López-Ortega et al., 2016). Participants indicated how much they agreed or disagreed with each of the statements for example, "*In most ways my life is close to ideal*", using a 7-point scale, where 1 means "*strongly disagree*" and 7 means "*strongly agree*". A higher score on the SWLS indicated greater satisfaction with life.

**Positive Mental Health**: was measured using The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale (SWEMWBS), a validated 7-item positively worded mental health scale that captures a range of concepts including affective-emotional aspects, cognitive-evaluation dimensions and psychological functioning (Tennant et al., 2007). In a large population sample ranging from ages 16 – 95 y high internal consistency has been demonstrated from the SWEMWBS (Cronbach  $\alpha$ =0.88) (Koushede et al., 2019). Participants indicated their response

on a 5-level Likert scale ranging from "*None of the time*" to "*All of the time*" for statements such as "*I've been feeling optimistic about the future*", with a higher score indicating greater positive mental health.

## **Psychosocial Determinants for Physical Activity**

**Barrier self-efficacy:** was assessed using a validated 13-item scale (E. McAuley, 1992). Participants were asked to rate their confidence in their capability to be physically active in the presence of common barriers, for example bad weather or exercising alone. Participants indicated their response on a Likert scale from 0 (not confident at all) to 100 (very confident).

Self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise: was assessed using a modified 11-item scale (Luszczynska & Sutton, 2006). Task, scheduling and recovery self-efficacy were also assessed within the scale. Questions began with the stem "*How confident are you that you can...*" and were followed by statements such as "*plan exercise session that will be at least moderately difficult (e.g. have you breathing a little hard, your heart rate increases)?" or "Schedule exercise session into your weekly routine so that you get at least 30 minutes of exercise a day, 3 times per week?". Participants rated their confidence on a Likert scale which ranged from 0 (not confident at all) to 10 (very confident).* 

Intentions for exercise: was assessed using a modified 6-item measure, which investigated intentions for exercise in general, along with intentions to attend the CBER (Sniehotta et al., 2005). Questions began with the stem "*I intend to…*" and were followed by statements including "exercise several times a week" and "attend MedEx at least once a

*week*". Participant responses were recorded on a Likert scale from 1 (completely disagree) to 4 (totally agree), with a higher score indicating greater intentions.

**Social support for physical activity from family and friends:** was assessed using a validated 10-item questionnaire (Sallis et al., 1987). Participants were required to indicate on a Likert scale of 1-5, how frequently over the past three months "*a family member offered to exercise with me*", or "*gave me encouragement to stick with my exercise plan*" for example. Higher scores represented greater social support.

# Attendance

During induction participants were assigned a personal fob wristband which they were required to scan each time they entered the facility. Attendance to the program was monitored via the number of scanned entrances to the facility.

**Program initiation:** Initiation of the program was defined as participants who attended at least one exercise class following induction to the program. Those who never attended following induction were defined as 'non-uptakers'.

**Drop-out:** Individuals who initiated the program, but stopped attending before the 12 month assessment were defined as 'drop-outs'. Participants were contacted via phone call to confirm attendance to each assessment and if participant confirmed during the call that they were no longer attending, the reason for drop-out was requested.

**Completers:** Participants who attending  $\geq$  1 sessions between BL and 12 months and also completed a 12 month assessment.

Adherence: Adherence to the program was based on the recommendation that participants attend at least 2 MedEx Wellness classes per week. MedEx Wellness offered classes on 46 weeks of the year, with a three week break in service both during the summer and at Christmas. Adherence was defined as the percentage of the 92 classes attended. Attendance recorded at 92 classes or more between BL and 12 months was defined as 100% adherence.

# Safety

Any adverse events where recorded and reported to the MedEx Wellness Chief Medical Officer and an incident report was filled with the DCU Sports Complex. Adverse events included training-related accidents or injuries or any other adverse event that interrupted participation in the program. Serious adverse events were defined as all-cause mortality or hospitalization for medical complications. If deemed necessary by the Chief Medical Officer or management within DCU sport, participants were required to provide medical clearance to return to the program following an adverse event.

# **Data Analysis**

#### Procedures for data checking and entering

Measures of physical function where manually recorded during assessment by researchers on individual data collection sheets assigned to each participant (Appendix F). Hardcopy questionnaires were completed by participants. To minimise data entry error, a double data entry and cleaning process was employed while entering data to encrypted excel spreadsheets.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

A diagram representing the timepoints included in the analysis for each study is present in figure 3.3. All analysis was conducted using IBM SPSS statistics software (version 25). Data cleaning was conducted by checking each variable for outliers. Outliers identified as a possible error were checked against original data collection files including paper files or original activPAL downloaded file. Data was checked for normal distribution using Komolgorov-Smirnoff test of normality. A significant ( $p \le 0.05$ ) Komolgorov-Smirnoff value was identified for many of the variables, indicating deviations from normal distribution. Ghasemi and Zahediasl (2012) suggest that when a sample size is large than 30 participants, it is still appropriate to use parametric procedures for analysis. As the sample size for this study was > 30 for all analysis, parametric procedures were employed. Specific statistical analysis procedures for each study are described in each chapter. **Study 1 (Chapter 4)** describes a cross-sectional analysis of the BL data. The purpose of this study was to describe the daily PA and SB of a diverse CD population with SCDs and MM and investigate the association between PA and SB with indices of health.

**Study 2 (Chapter 5)** describes the quasi-experimental study trial. The primary aim of this study was to investigate the effects of a mixed CBER program on PA levels and SB of a diverse CD population with SCDs and MM. The secondary aim of this study was to investigate effects of the mixed CBER program on physical, psychological and clinical measures of health.

**Study 3 (Chapter 6)** investigates factors associated with an effective response to participation in a CBER, in terms of a measurable change, in men and women with SCD and MM. A secondary aim was to establish the minimum attendance at a CBER needed to achieve clinically meaningful changes in primary indices of health.



# Chapter 4

# Study I

# Exploring Daily Step Count and Sedentary Behaviour in a Diverse Chronic Disease Population

# Introduction

CD are conditions lasting at least 1 year in duration, require continuous medical attention and can limit ADL (Moorman et al., 2007). The burden of CD on the Irish health care system is substantial with almost 30% of the total adult population in Ireland living with one or more CDs (Department of Health, 2019). MM refers to the coexistence of two or more long-term medical conditions or diseases and is associated with advancing age and a higher risk of premature death, hospital admission, reduced functional capacity and QoL compared to those with a SCD. (Bayliss et al., 2004; Fortin et al., 2004; Smith & O'Dowd, 2007; Wallace et al., 2015). Currently, over 70% of Irish older adults have MM (Hernández et al., 2019). The ongoing management of MM patients is challenging due to their complex care needs and the involvement of multiple healthcare professionals (Kuipers et al., 2020). Patients with MM are at higher risk of safety issues related to poor integration of health care, diagnostic errors, inappropriate prescription, poor medication adherence, adverse drug events, advanced age, cognitive impairment, limited health literacy and comorbidity of depression or anxiety (Phillips et al., 2004).

Several of the biological risk factors including hypertension, obesity, insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, dyslipidemia and chronic inflammation that are shared across CD groups are positively impacted by PA (Koene et al., 2016; Nesto, 2019; Warburton et al., 2006; World Health Organization, 2005b). Indeed, there are exceptionally few CDs in which the burden of the disease, comorbidities related to the disease, or HRQoL are not improved with PA (Desveaux et al., 2014a; Kelley et al., 2011; Pasanen et al., 2017).

To attain optimal health-related benefits for the secondary prevention of CD it is recommended that CD patients undertake 150 min/week of MVPA (US Department of Healt and Human Services, 2018b). Unfortunately, a very small proportion of CD patients achieve the daily recommended dose of PA. Bernard *et al.*, (2018) reported individuals with COPD to participate in significantly less MVPA than health controls (6.7 min/day vs 11.7 min/day). Morrato *et al.*, (2007) found 39% of adults with CD to meet the guidelines for MVPA compared to 58% of health controls. In a large population sample the proportion of the population completing no MVPA was 46% for those with no CD, 49% for one CD, 59% for 2 MM and 61% for those with three or more MM (Serrano-Sanchez et al., 2014). This may be due in part to the fact that many individuals with a SCD or MM have a low functional capacity secondary to their sedentary lifestyle and/or a disease related limitation that limits their ability to undertake MVPA (Brown & Flood, 2013; Kujala et al., 2019; Welmer et al., 2013).

SB is defined as any waking behaviour characterized by an energy expenditure  $\leq$  1.5 metabolic equivalents of task (METs), while in a seated, reclined or lying posture (Tremblay et al., 2017). It is distinct from physical inactivity, where an individual does not perform the recommended amount of MVPA. Epidemiological investigations and meta-analysis (Chau et al., 2013; Sun et al., 2015) have consistently found a strong dose-response relation between

SB and CVD and all-cause mortality. Furthermore, high levels of PA ( $\geq$  35.5 MET-hour per week or 60-75 min of daily MVPA) appear to attenuate the negative cardiovascular consequences of SB (Ekelund et al., 2016). However such levels of PA are typically unattainable for individuals with CD.

LIPA characterized by an energy expenditure ranging from 1.5 to 3.0 METs may be central to improving or maintaining health-related outcomes, particularly among individuals with one or more CDs and reduced functional capacity. Research has indicated that increasing LIPA can have beneficial effects in obesity, markers of lipid and glucose metabolism and mortality (Fuezeki et al., 2017a). Specifically in CD patients, increases in LIPA are significantly associated with reduced hospitalizations, a lower risk of mortality and improvements in lipid profiles (Beddhu et al., 2015; Donaire-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Li et al., 2019). Breaking up prolonged bouts of sitting with 2 min bouts in LIPA every 20 min has a positive impact on metabolic health (Dunstan et al., 2012). Longitudinal data also suggest that replacing sedentary time with LIPA is significantly associated with a reduced risk of all-cause and CVD mortality (Dohrn et al., 2018).

Reallocation of SB with either MVPA or LIPA is associated with immediate health benefits, primarily by increasing energy expenditure (Biswas et al., 2018). Therefore, "*moving more at any intensity*" has the potential to be an effective public health message (Stamatakis et al., 2019). The number of steps taken per day is an all-encompassing measure of ambulatory activity. Step count has been described as a means of bridging the gap between research and clinical practice, where research has the opportunity to have real word application (Tudor-Locke et al., 2012). Step count is an understandable common metric which can be easily communicated to practitioners and patients alike. A 10,000 step/d guidelines

has been highlighted in both popular press and academic literature (Bassett & Tudor-Locke, 2004). However more recent evidence revealed that as few as approximately 4400 steps/d was significantly associated with lower mortality rates (49% risk reduction) when compared to approximately 2700 step/d. With more steps, mortality rates continued to decrease, however no additional risk reduction was achieved above 7500 step/d in older women (Lee et al., 2019). Moreover, stepping intensity was not clearly associated with lower levels of mortality when accounting for total daily steps per day. The possible role of step count guidelines in eliciting increased PA participation over MVPA guidelines was demonstrated by Samuels *et al.*, (2011). Participants in this study received PA counselling advising participants to increase daily PA by increasing daily step count or achieving 30 min of MVPA daily. The 10,000 step/d guidelines resulted in the greatest increase in PA in terms of both daily step count achieved and MVPA. In terms of public health application, the evidence suggest that advise on daily step count may have greater efficacy in increasing PA participation while also inducing health enhancing effects.

Recent advancements in movement senor technologies have allowed for the development of devices which objectively measure both SB and PA, however limitations still exist with the classification of SB using device-measurements. The characterization of SB as < 100 - 200 accelerometer counts per min (Matthews et al., 2008; Mitchell et al., 2012; Ridgers et al., 2012) often fails to distinguish between standing and sitting. The ActivPAL<sup>™</sup> PA monitor (PAL Techologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK) is equipped with an inbuilt inclinometer that detects postural orientation and allows for direct measurement of SB.

The majority of previous studies examining the levels of both PA and SB in CD populations have involved primarily single disease cohorts. Currently, there is limited

research examining such behaviours in a mixed CD population and frequently individuals with MM are excluded. Differential methods of measures PA and SB in previous research prevents comparison of the available evidence across disease groups. Consequently, the evidence base regarding PA levels and potential benefits of PA in CD cohorts remain segregated. The purpose of this study was to describe the daily PA and SB of a diverse CD population with single and MM and investigate the association between PA and SB with selected indices of health. It was hypothesized that total daily PA will be low, SB will be high and will be accumulated in prolonged bouts in men and women with CD and MM and higher PA and lower SB will be associated with more favourable measures of physical, clinical and psychological health.

# Methods

A cross-sectional design was employed and the detailed methodology is described in Chapter 3. In summary, individuals with one or more CDs were recruited at induction to the MedEx Wellness program following referral from a healthcare professional. Participants primary CD diagnosis, namely CVD, respiratory disease, cancer, metabolic disease or neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders (neuro/MSK), and information on whether that participant had a SCD or MM was obtained from the referral letter provided by the referring healthcare professional. Data collection was conducted over two visits separated by 6 d (figure 4.1). PA and SB were assessed for 6 d using the activPAL <sup>™</sup> PA monitor (PAL Techologies Ltd, Glasgow, UK). Physical function was assessed using a 6-min time trial (6MTT); sit to stand test, grip strength, and sit and reach test. Body composition was assessed with measures of BMI and waist and hip circumference. A fasting blood sample was taken to measure fasting glucose, triglycerides, total, HDL and LDL cholesterol and CRP. Indices of psychological health were evaluated with measures of depressive symptoms, self-rated health, satisfaction with life and positive mental health. Finally psychosocial determinants of PA including, barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise, intentions for exercise and social support for PA were assessed.



# Figure 4.1 Outline of data collection procedures

Note: PA = physical activity; SR health = self-rated health; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; PHQ8 = 8item Patient Health Questionnaire; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale; 6MTT = 6 minute time trial

# **Statistical Analysis**

Participants demographics, PA and SB, health-related outcomes and psychosocial determinant of PA were reported using mean ± standard deviations (SD) or frequencies and percentages. Participants were categorized by i) primary CD diagnosis and ii) SCD or MM. Differences in participant demographics between primary CD diagnosis and between those with SCD of MM were assessed using Chi-square tests. Adjusted residual values were examined and computed to p-values to identify specific group differences. In addition, differences in age between primary CD diagnosis and between those with SCD of MM were assessed using a univariate analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). The ANCOVA controlled for sex, median household income, educational status, marital status, current work status and smoking status.

Preliminary analysis revealed a high degree of correlation among many of the variables derived from the activPAL  $^{\text{M}}$  monitor. To control for type 1 error further analysis included only measures of step count and sedentary time. Participants were also categorized as  $\geq$  MVPA guidelines or <MVPA guidelines. Differences in step count and sedentary time between primary CD diagnosis and between SCD and MM was assessed using a multivariable analysis of covariance (MANCOVA) controlling for participant demographics. Bonferroniadjusted post hoc analysis was conducted to investigate pairwise comparison between groups where a significant main effect was present.

Preliminary analysis identified a high degree of correlation among the measured health-related outcomes body composition, physical function, blood biomarkers, psychological health, and also psychosocial determinants of PA. To reduce the risk of making

a type 1 error while using these health-related outcomes and psychosocial determinants of PA in further analysis, two statistical analyses approaches were conducted.

The first approach involved using all health-related measures and psychosocial determinants of PA as dependent variables in general linear models to assess their association with step count, sedentary time and category for achieving the guidelines of MVPA (independent variable). Guidelines recommended by Pallant (2013) for the suitability of dependent variables for either ANCOVA or MANCOVA include; if there is a bivariate correlation coefficient  $\geq$  0.6 between any two dependent variables, one of the variables should be excluded. Dependent variables within a bivariate correlation coefficient ranging from 0.30 to 0.59 are suitable for MANCOVA and dependent variables with a bivariate correlation coefficient  $\leq$  0.29 are suitable for ANCOVA.

Person's correlation coefficient matrix was examined for all health-related variables and psychosocial determinants of PA. Dependent variables suitable for ANCOVA ( $r \le 0.29$ ) were sit and reach, handgrip strength, fasting glucose, triglycerides, HDL-C, LDL-C and hsCRP. Sit to stand and 6MTT had a degree of correlation suitable for dependent variables on a MANCOVA. Measures of BMI and waist to hip ratio (WHR) were highly correlated ( $r \ge 0.6$ ) with waist and hip circumference measures. BMI and WHR are well established as primary descriptors of body composition and were included in the MANCOVA as their correlation coefficient was between 0.30 to 0.59 (Esmaillzadeh et al., 2004; World Health Organization, 2011b). SWEMWBS was highly correlated ( $r \ge 0.6$ ) with all other measures of health-related wellbeing and excluded from further analysis. With the exception of self-efficacy, the correlation coefficients between psychosocial determinants of PA were  $\ge 0.60$ . PHQ8, SWLS, self-rated health and self-efficacy met the criteria for MANCOVA.

All ANCOVA and MANCOVA models included health-related variables and psychosocial determinants of PA as dependent variables, with step count and sedentary time as independent variables. In a separate model category for achieving the guidelines of MVPA was included as an independent variable in place of step count and sedentary time. ANCOVA and MANCOVA controlled for participant demographics primary CD diagnosis and SCD or MM. Bonferroni-adjusted post hoc analysis was undertaken to investigate mean differences for health-related variables and psychosocial determinants of PA.

The second statistical approach used principal component analysis (PCA) on the health-related variables and psychosocial determinants of PA to reduce the risk of committing a type 1 error. To ensure factors derived from the PCA were orthogonal, varimax rotation was used and minimum eigenvalue for extracted was set as 1. Factors produced from the PCA were included in a series of ANCOVAs as dependent variables. Step count and sedentary time were included as independent variables. A separate model included category for achieving the guidelines of MVPA as an independent variable. All models were controlled for participant demographics, primary CD diagnosis, SCD and MM. Bonferroni-adjusted post hoc analysis was undertaken to investigate mean differences for health-related variables and psychosocial determinants of PA.

Partial eta squared was used to interpreted effect sizes. A value of  $\geq$ 0.01 was defined as small, >0.01-0.06 as medium and  $\geq$ 0.14 as large (Pallant, 2013).

## Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 403 participants were recruited. Table 4.1 and 4.2 summarizes the participant demographics, health-related outcomes and psychosocial determinants of PA. The mean (± SD) age was 62.98 ± 10.99 yr and 50.6% were men. More than one-third (37.7%) of participants had a primary CD diagnosis of CVD which included CAD, PAD, hypertension, and stroke, 18.6% respiratory disease which included COPD, chronic bronchitis asthma and pulmonary hypertension, 22.8% cancer including breast, colorectal and prostate, 11.2% metabolic disease including type 1 and 2 diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance, 6.7% neuro/MSK disorders including arthritis, Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis and the primary CD of 6.0% of participants was not specified. The proportion of participants with a SCD and MM was 52.4% and 47.6%, respectively. Due to limitations with available accelerometers, a subsample of 283 participants were issued ActivPAL activity monitors, with 237 providing valid ActivPAL datasets for analysis. Reasons for missing datasets included non-wear time (n=29) and technical error with the accelerometer or software (n=17).

		Primary Chronic Disease						Number of Chronic Diseases	
	All	CVD	Respiratory	Cancer	Metabolic	Neuro or MK	Unspecified	SCD	MM
Variable	n=403	n=140	n=75	n=92	n=45	n=27	n=24	n=204	n=185
Age (years)	62.98 ± 11	66.52 ± 8.1	64.94 ± 9.5	57.54 ± 11.2	58.49 ± 11.3	67.33 ± 12.9	60.75 ± 14.9	61.8 ± 11.3	64.3 ± 10.4
Sex (men)	204 (50.6)	103 (72.9)	32 (42.7)	28 (30.4)	23 (51.1)	8 (29.6)	11 (45.8)	107 (52.5)	93 (50.3)
Income (€)									
64,393 – 105,943	82 (21.2)	23 (16.9)	11 (15.7)	24 (27.3)	10 (22.2)	6 (32.1)	8 (38.1)	42 (21.5)	36 (20.2)
51,535 – 64,278	163 (42.2)	62 (45.6)	25 (35.7)	33 (37.5)	25 (55.6)	11 (42.3)	7 (33.3)	81 (41.5)	77 (43.3)
42,309 – 51,517	97 (25.1)	39 (28.7)	21 (30.0)	23 (26.1)	4 (8.9)	5 (19.2)	5 (23.8)	51 (26.2)	43 (24.2)
< 3 <i>3, 493</i>	44 (11.4)	12 (8.8)	13 (18.6)	8 (9.1)	6 (13.3)	4 (15.4)	1 (4.8)	21 (10.8)	22 (12.4)
Educational status									
Some primary	45 (11.8)	18 (13.3)	15 (22.4)	2 (2.2)	2 (4.4)	5 (20.0)	3 (13.6)	23 (11.7)	22 (12.7)
Junior cert or equiv.	81 (21.1)	32 (23.7)	19 (28.4)	9 (10.0)	11 (25.6)	5 (20.0)	5 (22.7)	36 (18.3)	42 (24.3)
Leaving cert or equiv.	79 (20.7)	28 (20.7)	12 (17.9)	22 (24.4)	9 (20.9)	5 (20.0)	3 (13.6)	40 (20.3)	36 (20.8)
Diploma or cert	81 (21.2)	25 (18.5)	7 (10.4)	27 (30.0)	13 (30.2)	4 (16.0)	5 (22.7)	52 (26.4)	28 (16.2)
Degree or post grad	96 (25.1)	32 (23.7)	14 (20.9)	30 ( 33.3)	8 (18.6)	6 (24.0)	6 (27.3)	46 (23.4)	45 (16.2)
Marital status									
Married / partner	258 (67.7)	101 (74.8)	39 (57.4)	63 (70.8)	24 (55.8)	17 (68.0)	14 (66.7)	144 (72.7)	106 (62.4)
Divorced or widowed	64 (16.8)	20 (14.8)	19 (27.9)	11 (12.4)	6 (14.0)	4 (16.0)	4 (19.0)	26 (13.1)	36 (21.2)
Single	59 (15.5)	14 (10.4)	10 (14.7)	15 (16.9)	13 (30.2)	4 (16.0)	3 (14.3)	28 (14.1)	28 (16.5)
Working status									
Working or studying	106 (29.3)	36 (27.5)	8 (12.1)	35 (44.9)	20 (46.5)	4 (16.0)	3 (15.8)	66 (35.3)	38 (23.3)
Unemployed	88 (24.3)	19 (14.5)	29 (43.9)	18 (23.1)	9 (20.9)	8 (32.0)	5 (26.3	37 (19.8)	45 (27.6)
Retired	168 (46.4)	79 (58.0)	29 (43.9)	25 (32.1)	14 (32.6)	13 (52.0)	11 (57.9)	84 (44.9)	80 (49.1)
Smoking status									
Current or past smoker	224 (59.1)	92 (70.2)	52 (73.2)	38 (43.2)	20 (48.8)	9 (36.0)	13 (56.5)	88 (45.1)	61 (35.5)
Never smoked	155 (40.9)	39 (29.8)	19 (26.8)	50 (56.8)	21 (51.2)	16 (64.0)	10 (43.5)	107 (54.9)	111 (64.5)
Number of CDs									
SCD	204 (52.4)	70 (50.7)	28 (38.4)	61 (67)	14 (32.6)	17 (68)	14 (73.7)		
MM	185 (47.6)	68 (49.3)	45 (61.6)	30 (33)	29 (67.4)	8 (32)	5 (26.3)		

Table 4.1 Participant demographics for the entire cohort, primary chronic disease, single chronic disease and multimorbidity

Continuous variables are displayed as mean ± SD. Categorical variables are presented as n (%)

Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; neuro/MK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity; Equiv. = equivalent

			Primary Chronic Disease					Number of Chronic Diseases		
Variable	n	All	CVD	Respiratory	Cancer	Metabolic	Neuro or MK	Unspecified	SCD	MM
Physical Function										
6MTT (m)	384	468 ± 136	470 ± 145	391 ± 126	556 ± 98.7	447 ± 107	442 ± 105	429 ± 147	498 ± 141	438 ± 126
Sit to stand (sec)	400	22.8 ± 8.7	21.9 ± 7.0	26.2 ± 8.1	19.7 ± 5.5	23.4 ± 9	25.7 ± 12.7	25.7 ± 15.8	21.8 ± 8.3	23.7 ± 8.7
Handgrip (kg)	401	26.1 ± 9.0	28.7 ± 9.5	23.6 ± 7.9	25.7 ± 9.1	26 ± 7.6	21.8 ± 8.0	25.0 ± 8.5	26.6 ± 9.4	25.7 ± 8.6
Sit and reach (cm)	392	7.1 ± 9.4	6.0 ± 9.2	7.1 ± 8.2	9.9 ± 9.7	$4.0 \pm 10.1$	6.9 ± 10.2	7.8 ± 8.1	7.7 ± 9.2	6.5 ± 9.5
Body Composition										
Weight (kg)	402	83.5 ± 20.5	85.6 ± 17.3	78.5 ± 21.1	79.3 ± 18	95.2 ± 27	76.8 ± 16.6	88.9 ± 23.6	80.9 ± 20.5	86.2 ± 20.3
BMI (kg/m²)	400	30.0 ± 6.7	29.9 ± 5.4	29.0 ± 7.6	28.3 ± 5.7	34.3 ± 8.9	29.0 ± 5.3	32.2 ± 6.8	28.8 ± 5.8	31.1 ± 7.2
Waist circumference (cm)	403	100.9 ± 17.1	$103.5 \pm 14.4$	99.2 ± 17.5	94.8 ± 15	110.9 ± 21.2	93.3 ± 13.1	104.7 ± 20.7	97.8 ± 16.0	104.2 ± 17.4
Hip Circumference (cm)	401	$108.0 \pm 13.5$	$106.9 \pm 10.6$	$106.0 \pm 16$	107 ± 10.1	115.5± 21.5	107.5 ± 10.1	$110.5 \pm 11.0$	105.5 ± 11.7	110.4 ± 14.7
Waist to hip ratio	401	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$1.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$1.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$
Blood biomarkers (mmol/L)										
Fasting glucose	304	6.6 ± 2.2	6.5 ± 1.8	$6.3 \pm 1.6$	5.8 ± 1.0	9.2 ± 4.0	5.5 ± 0.7	5.9 ± 1.0	6.1 ± 1.5	7.0 ± 2.7
Triglycerides	336	$1.2 \pm 0.6$	$1.2 \pm 0.7$	$1.2 \pm 0.5$	$1.1 \pm 0.7$	$1.3 \pm 0.6$	$1.1 \pm 0.4$	$1.2 \pm 0.6$	$1.1 \pm 0.6$	$1.2 \pm 0.6$
Total cholesterol	335	4.6 ± 1.2	4.1 ± 1.2	5.1 ± 1.2	$5.0 \pm 1.1$	$4.2 \pm 1.0$	5.3 ± 0.9	4.9 ± 1.3	4.7 ± 1.2	4.5 ± 1.3
HDL cholesterol	333	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.2 \pm 0.4$	$1.6 \pm 0.5$	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.1 \pm 0.3$	$1.6 \pm 0.4$	$1.3 \pm 0.5$	$1.4 \pm 0.5$	$1.3 \pm 0.5$
LDL cholesterol	333	$2.4 \pm 1.1$	$2.1 \pm 1.0$	2.7 ± 1.1	$2.6 \pm 1.1$	2.2 ± 1.1	$2.6 \pm 0.9$	2.5 ± 1.0	2.5 ± 1.0	$2.3 \pm 1.1$
hsCRP	282	6.9 ± 13.0	4.9 ± 5.0	12.5 ± 25.6	5.3 ± 6.1	8.9 ± 8.0	2.8 ± 1.9	5.2 ± 4.9	6.8 ± 16.4	7.0 ± 8.6
Psychological health										
PHQ8	310	$5.3 \pm 5.0$	4.5 ± 4.2	7.1 ± 5.7	5.7 ± 5.2	5.2 ± 5.0	$4.0 \pm 4.6$	7.0 ± 5.7	4.9 ± 4.9	5.7 ± 5.0
EQ-VAS	332	65.2 ± 18.4	68.1 ± 16.7	55 ± 18.9	68.1 ± 17	64.9 ± 17.6	66.9 ± 19.8	64.3 ± 23.2	67.4 ± 18.5	63.1 ± 18.3
SWLS	325	23.7 ± 6.9	$24.7 \pm 6.1$	$21.0 \pm 6.9$	23.8 ± 7.5	$24.2 \pm 6.5$	$26.1 \pm 6.6$	20.2 ± 8.2	23.8 ± 7.0	23.7 ± 7.0
SWEMWBS	324	$26.6 \pm 4.6$	$27.2 \pm 4.4$	$26.3 \pm 4.9$	26.1 ± 4.5	$26.4 \pm 3.9$	$26.8 \pm 4.6$	$25.3 \pm 6.7$	$27.1 \pm 4.4$	$26.1 \pm 4.7$
Psychosocial determinants										
Barriers self-efficacy	343	60.6 ± 21.0	64.5 ± 22.2	52.5 ± 19.4	60.1 ± 19.8	58.7 ± 18.9	59.4 ± 18.3	64.8 ± 23.4	63.3 ± 20.9	57.6 ± 20.2
Self-regulatory self-efficacy	252	76.3 ± 19.0	76.5 ± 17.9	64.8 ± 23.2	81.2 ± 15.0	74.1 ± 20.5	79.5 ± 17.3	69.4 ± 29.2	78.9 ± 17.8	73.6 ± 19.7
Intentions for exercise	358	$3.4 \pm 0.5$	$3.4 \pm 0.5$	3.4 ± 0.5	3.5 ± 0.5	$3.4 \pm 0.4$	$3.2 \pm 0.6$	$3.4 \pm 0.7$	3.5 ± 0.5	$3.4 \pm 0.5$
Family support	363	$2.4 \pm 1.2$	$2.4 \pm 1.2$	$2.1 \pm 1.0$	2.5 ± 1.2	$2.3 \pm 1.2$	$2.2 \pm 0.9$	$2.6 \pm 1.4$	$2.4 \pm 1.1$	2.3 ± 1.2
Friend support	277	$2.1 \pm 1.1$	2.1 ± 1.2	$2.0 \pm 1.0$	2.2 ± 1.0	2.2 ± 1.2	$2.0 \pm 0.8$	2.3 ± 1.3	$2.2 \pm 1.1$	2.1 ± 1.2

Table 4.2 Health-related measures for the entire cohort, primary chronic disease, single chronic disease and multimorbidity

Variables are displayed as mean ± SD

Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; neuro/MK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorder; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity; 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; BMI = body mass index; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale; HDL = high density lipoprotein; LDL = low density lipoprotein; hsCRP = high sensitive C-reactive protein .
#### Participant demographics and chronic diseases

There was a significant main effect for primary CD diagnosis ( $f_{(5,285)}$ =4.04, p=0.001, partial eta squared =0.066) and whether participants had a SCD or MM ( $f_{(1,285)}$ =4.15, p=0.043, partial eta squared =0.014) on age. Participants with CVD were significantly older (estimated marginal means ± standard error (SE); 62.88 ± 61.13 yr) than those with metabolic disease (estimated marginal means ± SE; 57.42 ± 1.29 yr). No other primary CD diagnosis were significantly different in age. Participants with MM were significantly older (estimated marginal means ± SE; 61.98 ± 0.85 yr) than those with a single CD (estimated marginal means ± SE; 60.15 ± 0.60 yr).

Chi square analysis found a significant difference between primary CD diagnosis and sex ( $X^2$  (5) = 49.57, p=0.000), educational status ( $X^2$  (20) = 39.36, p=0.006), working status ( $X^2$ (10) = 46.68, p=0.000), smoking status ( $X^2$  (5) = 29.20, p=0.000) and whether participants had a SCD or MM ( $X^2$  (5) = 26.42, p=0.000). A higher proportion (p < 0.000) of men (72.9%) than women (27.1%) had CVD. There were no other statistically significant differences in sex proportions across primary CD diagnosis. Examination of adjusted residual values did not find any significant differences between primary CD diagnosis on educational status, work status, smoking status or those with SCD or MM.

There was a significant difference in working status between SCD and MM ( $X^2$  (2) = 6.80, p=0.033). However, examination of adjusted residual values did not indicate any specific group differences. There were no other statistically significant differences in participant demographics between SCD and MM.

## Health-related outcomes and psychosocial determinants of physical activity and chronic diseases

Summary of main effects for primary CD diagnosis and SCD or MM on health-related measures are presented in table 4.3. The estimated marginal means ± SE generated for post hoc analysis are presented in the subsequent text. Appendix G presents results of main effects for participant demographics on health related outcomes and psychosocial determinants of PA.

There was a significant main effect for primary CD diagnosis on 6MTT (p=0.001), sit to stand (p=0.000), BMI (p=0.041), WHR (p=0.012), and fasting blood glucose level (p=0.000). Distance achieved in the 6MTT was significantly higher in participants with cancer (507.40 ± 13.93 m) than in those with respiratory disease (440.14 ± 17.68 m) (p=0.035) and neuro/MSK disorders (426.01 ± 24.89 m) (p=0.038). Time to complete the sit to stand test was significantly slower in the unspecified condition (38.60 ± 4.64 s) than CVD (20.93 ± 1.23 s; p=0.003), cancer (21.99 ± 1.26; p=0.008) and metabolic disease (23.55 ± 1.88; p=0.045). BMI was significantly higher among participants with metabolic disease (33.93 ± 1.48 kg·m<sup>2</sup>) than cancer (28.59 ± 0.98 kg·m<sup>2</sup>) (p=0.022). WHR was significantly higher among participants with metabolic disease (0.98 ± 0.02) than those with cancer (0.91 ± 0.01; p=0.029) and a neuro/MSK disorder(0.88 ± 0.02; p=0.020). Fasting blood glucose was significantly higher in participants with metabolic disease (8.97 ± 0.41 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>) compared to CVD (6.21 ± 0.27 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>; p=0.000), respiratory disease (6.03 ± 0.35 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>; p=0.000), cancer (5.81 ± 0.30 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>; p=0.000) and neuro/MSK disorders (5.96 ± 0.45 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>; p=0.000). There was a significant main effect for SCD or MM on 6MTT and BMI. Distance achieved in the 6MTT was significantly higher (p=0.031) in individuals with a SCD (463.01 ± 13.74m) than MM (433.56 ± 14.43 m). BMI was significantly higher (p=0.006) among participants with MM (31.61 ± 1.03 kg·m<sup>2</sup>) than SCD (28.93 ± 0.98 kg·m<sup>2</sup>) (p=0.006).

		Primar	y CD	SC	SCD or MM					
Variables	n	df	F	sig	$\eta_p^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_p^2$	
Physical function										
6MTT	186	(5, 163)	4.4	.001	.118	(1, 163)	4.7	.031	.028	
Sit to stand	186	(5, 163)	5.1	.000	.135	(1, 163)	1.1	.301	.007	
Handgrip	188	(5, 165)	0.6	.670	.019	(1, 165)	1.6	.209	.010	
Sit and reach	185	(5, 162)	1.1	.359	.033	(1, 165)	0.0	.935	.000	
Body composition										
BMI	188	(5, 165)	2.4	.041	.067	(1, 165)	7.8	.006	.045	
Waist to hip ratio	188	(5, 165)	3.0	.012	.084	(1, 165)	0.9	.349	.005	
Blood biomarkers										
Fasting glucose	139	(5, 116)	10.6	.000	.313	(1, 116)	0.8	.387	.006	
Triglycerides	155	(5, 132)	1.3	.275	.046	(1, 123)	2.0	.161	.015	
LDL cholesterol	154	(5, 131)	0.7	.615	.026	(1, 131)	0.7	.405	.005	
HDL cholesterol	154	(5, 131)	2.2	.059	.077	(1, 131)	0.2	.647	.002	
hsCRP	124	(5, 101)	1.6	.175	.072	(1, 101)	0.1	.791	.001	
Health-related wellbeing										
PHQ8	132	(5, 109)	1.9	.103	.079	(1, 109)	1.0	.311	.019	
EQ-VAS	132	(5, 109)	0.5	.811	.020	(1, 109)	0.4	.527	.009	
SWLS	132	(5, 109)	0.5	.755	.024	(1, 109)	3.5	.064	.067	
Psychosocial determinants										
Barriers to self-efficacy for exercise	132	(5, 109)	1.6	.163	.069	(1, 109)	2.9	.092	.013	

Table 4.3 Summary main effe	ects for primary chronic o	diseases diagnosis and SCD or	MM on
health-related measures and	psychosocial determinan <sup>.</sup>	ts of physical activity.	

Note: CD = chronic disease; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity; 6MTT = 6 mln time trial; BMI = body mass index; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; LDL = low density lipoprotein; HDL = high density lipoprotein; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein

Number in **BOLD** indicates  $p \le 0.05$ 

#### **Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour**

Among all participants,  $9.5 \pm 1.9$  h of the waking day was spent sedentary. On average participants spent  $4.1 \pm 1.6$  h·day<sup>-1</sup> standing,  $1.4 \pm 6$  h·day<sup>-1</sup> stepping,  $1.1 \pm 0.4$  h·day<sup>-1</sup> <sup>1</sup> in LIPA and  $0.3 \pm 0.3$  h·day<sup>-1</sup> in MVPA. The mean (±SD) daily step count was 6713.3 ± 3143.2 steps. A total of 63.7% of participants did not meet the recommended 150 min of MVPA per week. Figure 4.2 summarizes the PA and sedentary time for all participants and individuals with SCD and MM. Figure 4.3 outlines the PA and sedentary time for each primary CD diagnosis. Figure 4.4 illustrates the mean number of sedentary bouts and the total time accumulated in each sedentary bout duration. Participants accumulated 45.27 ± 14.73 sedentary bouts per day. Of the total waking sedentary time, 15.47% ± 7.31% was accumulated in bouts < 10 min in duration, 27.05% ± 8.36% was in sedentary bouts 11-30 min, 25.41% ± 7.06% was in sedentary bouts 31-60 min and 32.07% ± 14.45% was in sedentary bouts > 60 min. A high degree of correlation was identified among PA variables and SB. To control for type 1 error further analysis included only measures of step count and sedentary time.



Figure 4.2 Physical activity and sedentary time for all participants and individuals with a single chronic disease and multimorbidity

Data presented as means and standard deviations

Note; LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity





Data presented as means and standard deviations

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity; CVD = cardiovascular disease; Res D = respiratory disease; Met D = metabolic disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders.



Figure 4.4 Patterns of sedentary behaviour Data presented as means and standard deviations

#### Step count and sedentary time, participants demographics and chronic diseases

There were no significant differences in daily step count or sedentary time between primary CD, SCD or MM, age, sex, median household income, educational status, marital status and current work status. There was a significant main effect of smoking status on step count ( $f_{(1,168)}$ =6.73, p=0.010, partial eta squared =0.039). Daily step count was significantly higher (p=0.010) in non-smokers than current/past smokers (estimates marginal mean ± SE; 6769 ± 532 vs5562 ± 497 steps·day<sup>-1</sup>).

#### Associations of step count and sedentary time with health-related measures

Step count was positively associated with 6MTT (p=0.000) and self-rated health (p=0.031) and inversely associated with BMI (p=0.003) and WHR (p=0.045). Sedentary time was positively associated with performance in the sit to stand test (p=0.012), where an increase in the sit to stand score, indicated poorer lower body strength, and inversely associated with LDL-C (p=0.003) and PHQ8 score (p=0.016). An increase in PHQ8 results indicates worsening symptoms of depression. Results presented in table 4.4.

# Differences between individuals above and below the guidelines of MVPA for health related outcomes.

Individuals who participated in MVPA at or above the recommended level had significantly more favourable measures for the 6MTT (p=0.000), BMI (p=0.001), WHR (p=0.015) and the EQ-VAS (p=0.018). Results are presented in table 4.5.

Health-related outcomes			tary time						
	n	df	F	sig	$\eta_p^2$	df	F	sig	${\eta_p}^2$
Physical function									
6MTT	186	(1, 163)	49.7	.000	.234	(1, 163)	0.0	.893	.000
Sit to stand	186	(1, 163)	2.8	.097	.017	(1, 163)	6.4	.012	.038
Handgrip	188	(1, 165)	2.3	.129	.014	(1, 165)	0.6	.445	.004
Sit and reach	185	(1, 162)	0.4	.524	.003	(1, 162)	0.9	.358	.005
Body composition									
BMI	188	(1, 165)	9.4	.003	.054	(1, 165)	3.2	.075	.019
Waist to hip ratio	188	(1, 165)	4.1	.045	.024	(1, 165)	0.1	.801	.000
Blood biomarkers									
Fasting glucose	139	(1, 116)	0.9	.335	.008	(1,116)	3.7	.057	.031
Triglycerides	155	(1, 132)	3.2	.074	.024	(1, 132)	0.0	.901	.000
LDL-C	154	(1, 131)	0.5	.477	.004	(1, 131)	8.9	.003	.064
HDL-C	154	(1, 131)	1.4	.240	.011	(1, 131)	0.5	.475	.004
hsCRP	124	(1, 101)	1.9	.172	.018	(1, 101)	0.1	.758	.001
Psychological health									
PHQ8	132	(1, 109)	0.5	.497	.004	(1, 109)	6.0	.016	.052
EQ-VAS	132	(1, 109)	4.8	.031	.042	(1, 109)	0.5	.480	.005
SWLS	132	(1, 109)	1.6	.206	.015	(1, 109)	2.2	.145	.019
Psychosocial determinants									
Barriers to self-efficacy for exercise	132	(1, 109)	0.1	.888	.000	(1, 109)	3.2	.078	.028

#### Table 4.4 Relation of step count and sedentary time with health related outcomes

Note: 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; BMI = body mass index; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein. Number in **BOLD** indicates  $p \le 0.05$ 

Health-related outcomes	≥MVP	A guidelines	≥ gu	:MVPA idelines				
	n	m±SE	n	m±SE	df	F	sig	$\eta_p^2$
Physical function								
6MTT (m)	68	490±12	118	413±14	(1, 164)	23.8	.000	.127
Sit to stand (s)	68	25.9±1.5	118	27.4±1.2	(1, 164)	1.1	.294	.007
Handgrip (kg)	69	25.2±1.2	119	24.5±1.0	(1,166)	0.4	.545	.002
Sit and reach (cm)	69	6.8±1.8	116	8.7±1.6	(1, 163)	1.6	.212	.010
Body composition								
BMI (kg/m²)	69	28.2±1.1	119	31.6±0.9	(1, 166)	10.5	.001	.060
Waist to hip ratio	69	0.90±0.01	119	0.93±0.01	(1, 166)	6.0	.015	.035
Blood biomarkers (mmol/L)								
Fasting glucose	50	6.6±0.3	89	6.7±0.3	(1, 117)	0.4	.552	.003
Triglycerides	52	1.3±0.1	103	1.3±0.1	(1, 133)	0.4	.530	.113
LDL-C	52	2.4±0.2	102	2.4±0.2	(1, 132)	0.0	.860	.000
HDL-C	52	1.5±0.1	102	1.4±0.1	(1, 132)	0.3	.607	.002
hsCRP	39	5.6±1.7	85	6.8±1.3	(1, 102)	0.6	.428	.006
Psychological health								
PHQ8	49	5.5±0.9	83	5.9±0.8	(1, 110)	0.2	.661	.002
EQ-VAS	49	70.0±3.9	83	61.8±3.4	(1, 110)	5.7	.018	.050
SWLS	49	22.6±1.5	83	21.5±1.3	(1, 110)	0.7	.384	.007
Psychosocial determinants								
Barriers to self- efficacy for exercise	49	59.9±4.2	83	60.1±3.6	(1, 110)	0.0	.953	.000

Table 4.5. Differences between individuals above and below the guidelines of MVPA for health related outcomes

Note: m±SE = mean ± standard error; 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; BMI = body mass index; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein.

Number in **BOLD** indicates  $p \le 0.05$ 

#### Principal component analysis of health-related measures

The PCA performed on the health-related measures produced seven distinct factors that accounted for 72.1% of the total variance in measures. Item loading with values  $\geq$  0.30 were used for interpretation of factors (Pallant, 2013). Kaiser-Mayer measures of sampling adequacy for variables included in PCA was 0.630. Factors were interpreted to represent measures of psychological health, body composition, functional capacity and self-efficacy to be active, metabolic health, social support to be active, cholesterol and lipid profile. Table 4.5 outlines the factor characteristics with item loading on which interpretation of factors was based.

	Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5	Factor 6	Factor 7
	Psychological health	Body composition	Functional capacity & self-efficacy	Metabolic health	Social support	Cholesterol	Lipid profile
BMI		.947					
Waist Circumference		.810		.510			
Hip Circumference		.946					
WHR				.785			
6MTT			.735				
Sit to stand			801				
Handgrip			.525	.520			
Sit and reach		326	.419	316			
PHQ8	850						
EQ-VAS	.842						
SWLS	.835						
SWEMBS	.883						
Fasting glucose				.594			
Triglycerides							.905
HDL cholesterol				470		.567	351
LDL cholesterol						.834	
hsCRP		.619					.353
Barriers self-efficacy			.312	.479		.392	
Self-regulatory self-efficacy	.591		.489				
Intentions for exercise			.653				
Family support					.812		
Friend support					.888		

Table 4.6 Factor derived from	principal compo	onent analysis of I	health-related measures

Extraction method: principal component analysis

Rotation method: varimax with kaiser normalization. Rotated component matrix with factor loading. Values < 0.30 are not displayed.

Note: BMI = body mass index; 6MTT = 6-minute time trial; PHQ8 = 8-Item Patient Health Questionnaire; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale; HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; hsCRP = high sensitivity c-reactive protein

### The relation of PCA derived factors with demographics, chronic disease, physical activity and sedentary behaviour

The sample size was reduced to 52 as a result of excluding cases listwise during both the PCA analysis and ANCOVA. Table 4.6 presents the main effects for participant demographics, disease status, physical activity and sedentary time on factors derived from PCA. Results presented in the subsequent text are PCA factor scores and the estimated marginal means ± standard error generated for post hoc analysis.

#### **Participant demographics**

There was a significant main effect for sex on functional capacity and self-efficacy to be active (p=0.014), metabolic health (p=0.007), social support (p=0.031) and lipid profile (p-0.021). The score for functional capacity and self-efficacy to be active was significantly higher (p=0.014) for men than women (0.43  $\pm$  0.24 vs.0.17  $\pm$  0.19) indicating better functional capacity and self-efficacy to be active among men. Metabolic health (p=0.007), social support to be active (p=0.031) and lipid profile (p=0.021) were significantly better in women than men participants. There was a significant main effect of current work status on lipid profile (p=0.037), however pairwise comparison did not indicate any significant group differences for current working status.

#### **Chronic disease**

There was a significant main effect of primary CD diagnosis on functional capacity and self-efficacy to be active (p=0.024). Pairwise comparisons did not indicate any significant group differences for primary CD diagnosis and functional capacity & self-efficacy to be active.

#### Physical activity and sedentary behaviour

Sedentary time was significantly inversely associated with functional capacity & selfefficacy to be active (p=0.041) and cholesterol (p=0.030). Table 4.7 ANCOVA main effects for participant demographics, disease status, physical activity and sedentary time on factors derived from principal component analysis

Ps	ycho hea	logica Ith	I	сс	Boc ompo	ly sition	1	Functional Metabolic capacity & SE health				Social support			C	Cholesterol			Lij	Lipid profile							
df	F	sig	$\eta_p{}^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_{\text{p}}{}^2$	df .	F	sig	$\eta_{\text{p}}{}^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_p{}^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_{\text{p}}{}^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_{\text{p}}{}^2$	df	F	sig	$\eta_{\text{p}}{}^2$
Demographics																											
Age (1, 29)	3.8	.062	.115	(1, 29)	0.4	.618	.014	(1, 29)	1.7	.207	.054	(1, 29)	0.3	.569	.011 (	1, 29)	0.4	.549	.013 (	1, 29)	0.1	.711	.005	(1, 29)	3.9	.058	.119
Sex (1, 29)	0.6	.451	.020	(1, 29)	2.0	.165	.065	(1, 29)	2.3	.014	.190	(1, 29)	8.6	.007	.228 (	1, 29)	5.2	.031	.151 (	1, 29)	4.0	.054	.122	(1, 29)	5.9	.021	.170
Income (3, 29)	1.4	.276	.123	(3 <i>,</i> 29)	2.0	.140	.169	(3, 29)	0.2	.861	.025	(3, 29)	1.1	.378	.100 (	3, 29)	1.5	.226	.137 (	3, 29)	1.3	.289	.120	(3, 29)	0.5	.679	.050
Education st. (4, 29)	0.6	.661	.007	(4, 29)	0.1	.996	.006	(4, 29)	0.6	.689	.072	(4, 29)	0.3	.906	.034 (	4, 29)	0.8	.545	.097 (	4, 29)	0.6	.683	.074	(4, 29)	1.3	.301	.150
Marital st. (2, 29)	0.2	.788	.016	(2, 29)	0.7	.525	.043	(2, 29)	0.2	.789	.016	(2, 29)	2.1	.135	.129 (	2, 29)	2.6	.088	.154 (	2, 29)	1.1	.360	.068	(2, 29)	0.4	.687	.026
Working st. (2, 29)	0.5	.629	.031	(2, 29)	0.02	.985	.001	(2, 29)	0.9	.405	.061	(2, 29)	0.003	.997	.000 (	2, 29)	0.4	.664	.028 (	2, 29)	0.6	.360	.037	(2, 29)	3.7	.037	.204
Smoking st, (1, 29)	2.6	.116	.083	(1, 29)	0.3	.567	.001	(1, 29)	1.2	.275	.041	(1, 29)	3.0	.096	.092 (	1, 29)	0.1	.893	.001 (	1, 29)	0.2	.675	.006	(1, 29)	0.1	.788	.003
Disease status																											
Primary CD (5, 29)	0.2	.961	.033	(5, 29)	1.9	.121	.249	(5, 29)	3.1	.024	.346	(5, 29)	1.0	.811	.148 (	5, 29)	1.7	.167	.226 (	5, 29)	0.6	.686	.096	(5, 29)	0.4	.873	.058
SCD/MMA (1 20)	2.1	150	067	(1 20)	17	205	055	(1 20)	0.2	EOO	010	(1 20)	0.4	E 1 0	012 /	1 201	0 1	000	001 (	1 201	0.2	EGE	012	(1 20)	0 1	012	000

*SCD/MM* (1, 29) 2.1 .159 .067 (1, 29) 1.7 .205 .055 (1, 29) 0.3 .599 .010 (1, 29) 0.4 .540 .013 (1, 29) 0.1 .883 .001 (1, 29) 0.3 .565 .012 (1, 29) 0.1 .913 .000 PA & SB

 SB (1, 29)
 0.2
 .632
 .008 (1, 29)
 0.3
 .618
 .009 (1, 29)
 4.6
 .041
 .136 (1, 29)
 0.5
 .465
 .019 (1, 29)
 0.6
 .446
 .020 (1, 29)
 5.2
 .030
 .152 (1, 29)
 2.8
 .103
 .089

 Step count (1, 29)
 0.02
 .881
 .001 (1, 29)
 0.5
 .465
 .019 (1, 29)
 0.1
 .727
 .004 (1, 29)
 0.1
 .785
 .003 (1, 29)
 3.7
 .063
 .114 (1, 29)
 2.5
 .128
 .078

 MVPA gl.
 (1,30)
 0.3
 .605
 .009 (1, 30)
 0.1
 .823
 .002 (1, 30)
 0.9
 .340
 .030 (1, 30)
 0.1
 .757
 .003 (1, 30)
 0.1
 .612
 .009 (1, 30)
 3.3
 .078
 .100

Note: Functional capacity & SE = functional capacity & self-efficacy to be active; Education st. = educational status; Marital st. = marital status; Working st. = working status; smoking st. = smoking status; Primary CD = primary chronic disease; SCD/MM = single chronic disease or multimorbidity; SB = sedentary behaviour; MVPA gl. =moderate to vigorous physical activity guidelines.

Number in **BOLD** indicates  $p \le 0.05$ 

#### Discussion

Significant differences exist across the diverse CD population between participant demographics and health-related measures. There were no significant differences between primary CDs or SCD and MM for PA or SB. Participants took on average 6,700 steps per day. Participants spent 9.5 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, 4.1 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, 1.4 h.day<sup>-1</sup>, and 0.3 h.day<sup>-1</sup> sedentary, standing, in LIPA or MVPA observed, respectively. The majority of sedentary time was accumulated in bouts lasting 30 min or more. A higher daily step count was associated with more favourable measures of body composition, aerobic fitness and self-rated health, with medium, large and medium effect sizes, respectively. Those achieving the recommended guidelines of MVPA had more favourable measures of aerobic fitness and body composition with a large effect size and self-rated health with a medium effect size. More sedentary time was associated with less favourable lower body strength, however the effect size of this association was small. In contrast, more SB was also associated with more favourable measures of LDL-C and depressive symptoms, both with a medium effect size observed.

Low levels of PA are consistently reported in CD cohorts (Bernard et al., 2018; Christiansen et al., 2017; Eliason et al., 2011; Evenson et al., 2014; Lauret et al., 2014; Lynch et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2017). According to the classifications by Tudor-Locke *et al.*, (2008), the mean daily step count of 6,700 steps in the present CD cohort is low. On average, the study participants failed to meet the recommended levels of 150 min MVPA per week. Similarly, the high levels of SB in the present study has been reported in a number of previous investigations involving CD populations (English et al., 2016; Lewis et al., 2016; Pitta at al., 2005; Prince et al., 2016). It is important to note however, that the majority of previous studies examining the impact of exercise in CD populations have involved primarily single disease cohorts. The current findings indicate that the levels of daily PA are low and SB high among individuals with either SCD or MM. There is a need for public health services to provide an integrated strategy to promote the engagement in PA and reductions in SB across all individuals living with SCD or MM.

#### **Chapter 5**

#### Study II

### Effect of a Community-based Exercise Rehabilitation Program on Physical Activity Levels, Sedentary Behaviour and Health Outcomes in a Diverse Chronic Disease Population

#### Introduction

The beneficial effect of PA and reduced SB in the secondary prevention of multiple CDs is well documented (Anderson et al., 2016; Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018; Jefferis et al., 2015; Judice et al., 2015; McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Sardinha et al., 2015). Regular PA and reduced SB mitigates many of the established risk factors that are associated with the development of a range CDs. These include hypertension, dyslipidemia, hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and obesity (Koene et al., 2016; Nesto, 2019; Warburton et al., 2006; World Health Organization, 2005b). However, in CVD patients, the positive impact of PA and reduced SB on established risk factors accounts for only 50% of the reduction in morbidity and mortality in these patients. There is now emerging evidence that PA and reduced SB induces improvements in CVD outcomes that can occur independent of their effects on traditional risk factors (Fiuza-Luces et al., 2018; Joyner & Green, 2009). This is due to the fact that several important physiologic and pathologic processes at play in patients with CVD are favourably modulated by PA and reduced SB. These include myocardial repair, positive vascular remodelling, coronary plaque stabilization and/or regression, development of coronary collateral blood vessels, improved autonomic nervous system balance, cardioprotection against ischemia–reperfusion injury and improvement in myocardial calcium sensitivity and contractility (Fiuza-Luces et al., 2018; Hambrecht et al., 2003; Nickolay et al., 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2010, 2012; Vlachopoulos et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2018). Although well established in CVD, it is likely that similar physiologic and pathological processes are associated with other CDs and are therefore positively affected by PA and reduced SB.

In addition to the positive effects on physiologic and pathological processes, regular PA improves functional capacity and QoL in patients with CD (Arne et al., 2009; Han et al., 2017; Sagar et al., 2015; Varas et al., 2018). All CDs have the potential to limit the functional capacity of the people who live with them (Harris & Wallace, 2012) and decrease functional independence, which can significantly impair QoL (Nihtilä et al., 2008). The benefits of PA for CD cohorts extend beyond what could be achieved by any other single treatment.

The growing burden of CD mandates the development and delivery of exercise rehabilitation services for patients with CD and MM. Community-based programmes are a safe and effective mode of delivery for CD rehabilitation (Desveaux et al., 2014b) and allow for increased accessibility and scalability through a public health approach (Kelley et al., 2011). CBER programs allow for much of the burden in the delivery of PA programs to patients with CD to be removed from the healthcare system into the community.

Poor long-term compliance to exercise following cardiac rehabilitation is a major problem with over 50% of patients returning to pre-rehabilitation levels of PA within 3 months of completing the program (Bock et al., 1997). Egan et al., (2012) found no significant changes in habitual PA levels after seven weeks of pulmonary rehabilitation, and at a one year followup, none of the physical function improvements observed immediately following the program

162

had been sustained. Patients have reported a preference towards CBER programs compared to hospital-based exercise rehabilitation (McNamara et al., 2016). Patients expressed how CBER promoted a sense of 'normality' within the rehabilitation experience, distinguishing exercise as a normal behaviour as opposed to a treatment for their condition. The community model may improve adherence by allowing for longer term or continual service provision or support.

CBER programmes have historically accommodated specific individual CDs (Anderson et al., 2016; Kelley et al., 2011; Mccarthy et al., 2015; Swartz et al., 2017). However, it is well recognised that these programmes have similar structures and components, irrespective of the disease (Desveaux et al., 2014b) and therefore, there appears to be no compelling evidence to indicate that community-based programmes need to be disease-specific (Kelley et al., 2011). Considering the growing prevalence of MM (Violan et al., 2014), an integrated approach to community-based exercise for CD management represents a more resource efficient strategy. Recent studies have found that CBER programs are an effective model for exercise rehabilitation across numerous CD groups (Gallé et al., 2019; Marsden et al., 2016; Pang et al., 2005; Santa Mina et al., 2017; Varas et al., 2018). Increases in daily PA levels with CBER have been reported in CD cohorts (Moreton et al., 2018; Varas et al., 2018).

There is compelling evidence that CBER is a successful intervention for the secondary prevention of CD. Substantial evidence supports the efficacy of CBER in enhancing physical functioning and QoL for individuals with CD. The effects of CBER on habitual PA levels and SB in CD cohort remains unclear, a further investigation is warranted. In line with the current research trends on PA levels in CD cohorts, the current model of CBER delivery is primarily restricted to single disease cohorts. The effectiveness of an integrated model of CBER deliver

163

which caters for individuals with a range of CD diagnosis and those with MM is yet to be established.

MedEx Wellness is a novel CBER programme for CD in Ireland. Participants with a range of CD, including CVD, pulmonary disease, diabetes, and cancer, are referred to the programme by hospital physicians and their teams and general practitioners. With medical oversight, MedEx Wellness offers a common CD programme of supervised group exercise classes. The programme is not fixed in duration and participants can attend on a continuous basis. Participants are encouraged to establish a lifelong relationship with MedEx Wellness, which supports the development of habitual exercise participation, and fosters the maintenance of active living.

The purpose of this study was to determine the effect of a CBER program (MedEx Wellness) on PA levels and SB in a diverse CD population and to assess its effect on selected health indices. It was hypothesized that participation in a CBER program will result in significant improvements in PA, SB, physical, clinical and psychological health.

#### Methods

The study used a quasi-experimental study design. Detailed methodology is described in Chapter 3. Briefly, participants with one or more established CD recruited from patients referred by healthcare professionals to a CBER programme (MedEx Wellness) were observed over 12-month period. Participants underwent an induction to the MedEx Wellness programme, which i) provided information on the programme structure and logistics; ii) involved a group exercise consultation and iii) a beginner exercise class. Group exercise consultations were repeated at 1, 3, and 6 months. Following induction, participants were recommended to attend 2 supervised group exercise classes per week. The classes were 60 min in duration consisting of a combination of aerobic and resistance exercise. Outcomes were assessed at baseline and 3, 6 and 12 months. Figure 5.1 outlines the intervention and data collection timepoints.

The primary outcome measures were PA and SB measured using the ActivPAL<sup>3</sup> micro (PAL Technologies Ltd. Glasgow, Scotland). Specifically, time spent in SB, standing, LIPA and MVPA; bouts of uninterrupted SB and mean daily step count were measured. Secondary outcome measures were physical function, body composition, blood biomarkers, psychological health and psychosocial determinants of PA.

165



Figure 5.1 The MedEx Wellness program and data collection timepoints

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Patterns of attendance to the program for all participants, completers and dropouts were presented using descriptive statistics. Independent t-tests and Chi Square analyses were used to compare differences between drop-outs and those who completed the program. Adjusted residual values were examined and computed to p-values, to identify group differences.

A linear mixed model analysis (MMA) was used to assess longitudinal changes. A MMA is a suitable approach to modelling time series data which contains repeated measures for several subjects (Haapalainen et al., 2008). The MMA does not require complete data sets and does not exclude participants with missing data (Armstrong, 2017; Howell, 2015). Furthermore, MMA has less stringent assumptions than other repeated measures models (such as analysis of variance) and also exhibits increased power to detect treatment effects. In addition, MMA accommodates longitudinal designs where data collection does not have to take place at equally spaced intervals, e.g. 3, 6 and 12 months (Armstrong, 2017).

The model was analysed for autoregressive, compound symmetry, diagonal, toeplitz and unstructured variance structures. The Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC) were used as a metric to identify the best-fit model. Time was treated as repeated measures and also incorporated as a fixed effect in the model. Categorical variables of primary CD diagnosis and SCD or MM were also included as fixed effects. Total number of classes attended was included as a covariate. The main effects for time and attendance and the interaction effects for time\*primary CD diagnosis and time\*SCD or MM were investigated. To control for heterogeneity within the population, models were adjusted for baseline principal health-related variables.

For primary outcome measures, models were adjusted for baseline measures of mean daily step count, 6MTT and BMI. For secondary outcome measures, models were adjusted for baseline measures of 6MTT and BMI. Daily step count was not controlled for in secondary outcome measures as this resulted in a significant decrease in sample size for these variables. To determine the timepoints at which intervention effects occurred between baseline (BL), 3 months (3 m), 6 months (6 m) and 12 months (12 m), Bonferroni-adjusted post-hoc stratified analysis comparing estimated marginal means at each timepoint were performed for primary and secondary outcome measures that indicated a significant main effect for time. To decompose significant interaction effects, a Bonferroni-adjusted simple effects analysis was used. Cohen's D was calculated. A value of  $\geq 0.2$  was defined as a small effect size, >0.2-0.5 as medium and  $\geq 0.8$  as large (Pallant, 2013).

Finally, Pearson's correlation was used to investigate the relation between change in measures of physical activity between BL and 12 months and changes in psychosocial determinants of PA.

168

#### Results

#### Participants

Four hundred and three participants (mean age 62.98 ± 11.00 yr; 50.6% men) were recruited. Forty-nine percent of participants were referred to the MedEx Wellness programme by hospital consultants and a further 14% from hospital-based phase IV cardiac rehabilitation. GPs were responsible for 26% of referrals. Participant demographics are described in Chapter 4.

#### Uptake and Adherence

Rates of programme initiation and drop-out and reasons for drop-out are summarised in figure 5.2. Thirty participants (7.5%) did not attend an exercise class following induction to the programme and were classified as non-uptakers. A total of 167 (41.4%) participants initiated the exercise classes but dropped out at a later stage. The dropout rate was 26.3% (n=106) between BL - 3 m, 5.0% (n=20) between 3 m - 6 m and 8.9% (n=36) between 6 m - 12 m. Time of drop out could not be determined for 5 participants as attendance data was not obtained

Attendance results are presented in table 5.1. Participants attended a mean of 22.97 classes during the 12 months, with large fluctuations in mean attendance evident throughout the program. Based on the recommendation of attending two exercise classes per week, and the program operating on 46 weeks of the year, adherence to the program over 12 months was estimated at 26%.

Program completers and dropouts had a mean attendance rate over the 12 months of 31.85 and 12.05 classes, respectively, with the highest mean attendance recorded in the first 3 months for both. Adherence for completers was estimated at 36%. There was a significant difference for number of sessions attended between completers and drop-outs at all time-points ( $p \le 0.000$ ).

Table 5.1 Number of classes attended for all participants, completers and drop-outs across all timepoints

Timepoint	All participants	Completers	Drop-outs
BL – 3 m	10.82 ± 6.81	12.66 ± 6.5*	8.54 ± 6.52*
3 m – 6 m	5.06 ± 6.99	7.54 ± 7.8*	2.01 ± 4.14*
6 m – 12 m	7.06 ± 12.22	11.57 ± 14.56*	1.50 ± 4.08*
BL – 12 m	22.97 ± 21.91	31.85 ± 24.26*	12.05 ± 11.5*

\* Indicts significant difference between groups ( $p \le 0.000$ )

Note: BL = baseline; 3 m = 3 months; 6 m = 6 months; 12 m = 12 months

BL participant demographics along with measures of physical, clinical, psychological and psychosocial characteristics for completers and drop-outs are presented in tables 5.2 -5.4. Drop-outs were significantly younger (p=0.020, Cohen's D=0.23) than completers. Compared to completers a lower proportion of drop-outs were male (p=0.033, Cramer's V (V)=0.11), retired (p=0.006, V=0.19) and a higher proportion were unemployed (p=0.009, V=0.19). There was a higher proportion of completers with CVD (p=0.000, V=0.25). There were no significant differences between completers and drop-outs for PA levels at BL. Compared to drop-outs, completers had a greater number (p=0.013, Cohen's D=0.33) and greater accumulated time (p=0.025, Cohen's D=0.29) in sedentary bouts that lasted between 31 - 60 min. Drop-outs had significantly less favourable measures of BMI (p=0.016, Cohen's D=0.24), hip circumference (p=0.004, Cohen's D=0.30), triglycerides (p=0.048, Cohen's D=0.22), total cholesterol (p=0.005, Cohen's D=0.29) than completers.



Figure 5.2 Program completion and dropout flow chart

Note: Attendance data was not obtained for 5 participants who dropped out and time of drop-out was not identified

	Completers	Drop-outs		
Variable	n=206	n=196	p value	Effect size
Age (years)	64.22 ± 10.45	61.67 ± 11.40	.020	0.23
Gender (male)	115 (55.8)	89(45.2)	.033	0.11
Income (€)				0.14
64,393 – 105,943	42 (21.1)	40 (21.4)	1.00	
51,535 – 64,278	85 (42.7)	78 (41.7)	.998	
42,309 – 51,517	49 (24.6)	48 (25.7)	.997	
<i>&lt; 33, 493</i>	23 (11.6)	21 (11.2)	1.00	
Educational status				0.16
Some primary	23 (11.7)	22 (11.9)	1.00	
Junior cert or equiv.	44 (22.3)	37 (20.0)	.989	
Leaving cert or equiv.	29 (14.7)	50 (27.0)	.066	
3Diploma or cert	44 (22.3)	37 (20.0)	.987	
Degree or post grad	57 (28.9)	39 (21.1)	.537	
Marital status				0.05
Married / partner	136 (69.7)	122 (65.6)	.687	
Divorced or widowed	30 (15.4)	34 (18.3)	.751	
Single	29 (14.9)	30 (16.1)	.944	
Working status				0.19
Working or studying	52 (27.8)	54 (30.9)	.816	
Unemployed	33 (17.6)*	55 (31.4)	.009	
Retired	102 (54.5)	66 (37.7)	.006	
Smoking status				0.05
Current or past smoker	75 (38.7)	80 (43.2)	.364	
Never smoked	119 (61.3)	105 (56.8)	.364	
Primary CD diagnosis				0.25
CVD	95 (46.1)	45 (22.8)	.000	
Respiratory disease	35 (17.0)	40 (20.3)	.981	
Cancer	36 (17.5)	56 (28.4)	.232	
Metabolic disease	20 (9.7)	25 (12.7)	.970	
Neuro/MSK	12 (5.8)	15 (7.6)	.665	
Unspecified	8 (3.9)	16 (8.1)	.992	
SCD or MM				0.04
SCD	110 (54.5)	94 (50.3)	.409	
MM	92 (45.5)	93 (49.7)	.409	

Table 5.2 Demographics for completers and drop-outs

Continuous variables are displayed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. Categorical variables are presented as n (%) Numbers in **BOLD** indicate p  $\leq$  0.05.

Note: Equiv. = equivalent ; CVD = cardiovascular disease; neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity

Note: effect size reported for age = Cohen's D; effect size reported for all other variables = Cramer's V

	Completers	Drop-outs		
Variable	n=126	n=111	p value	Cohen's D
Sedentary Time (hr)	9.58±1.88	9.49±1.90	.716	0.05
Standing Time (hr)	4.05±1.38	4.06±1.74	.957	0.01
LIPA (hr)	1.14±0.41	1.07±0.43	.243	0.15
MVPA (hr)	0.34±0.28	0.30±0.28	.277	0.14
Step Count (steps/day)	6979±3189	6411±3077	.166	0.18
Number of SedB < 10 min	32.05±15.04	29.92±12.73	.244	0.15
Time SedB < 10 min (min)	88.14±32.45	82.61±32.01	.189	0.17
Number of SedB 11-30 min	8.86±2.79	8.62±2.89	.526	0.08
Time SedB 11-30 min (min)	156.71±49.84	151.24±50.86	.406	0.11
Number of SedB 31-60 min	3.67±1.20	3.30±1.11	.013	0.33
Time SedB 31-60 min (min)	153.81±51.33	139.33±46.41	.025	0.29
Number of SedB > 60 min	1.94±0.95	2.04±0.93	.418	0.11
Time SedB > 60 min (min)	183.50±100.26	202.75±115.64	.172	0.18
Total number of. SedB	46.52±15.64	43.87±13.54	.169	0.18

Table 5.3 Baseline physical activity and sedentary behaviour for completers and drop-outs

Variables are displayed as mean ± standard deviation

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate  $p \le 0.05$ 

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity; SedB = sedentary bouts

Table 5.4 Baseline physical, clinical and psychological characteristics for completers and dropouts

	n	Completers	Dron outc	р	Cohen's
Variable	(completers/dropouts)	completers	Drop-outs	value	D
Physical Function					
6MTT (m)	202, 184	475.16±124.18	460.52±148.72	.294	0.11
Sit to stand (sec)	204, 196	22.05±7.15	23.66±7.15	.066	0.19
Handgrip (kg)	205, 196	26.59±9.23	25.55±8.81	.252	0.11
Sit and reach (cm)	203, 189	7.42±9.43	6.66±9.30	.425	0.08
Body Composition					
Weight (kg)	205, 197	81.72±18.51	85.39±22.25	.073	0.18
BMI (kg/m²)	205, 195	29.16±5.62	30.78±7.53	.016	0.24
Waist (cm)	206, 197	99.79±15.49	102.13±18.52	.171	0.14
Hip (cm)	205, 196	106.09±10.98	110.03±15.42	.004	0.30
Waist to hip ratio	205, 196	0.94±0.11	0.93±0.10	.216	0.12
Blood biomarkers (mmol/L)					
Fasting glucose	157, 147	6.35±1.47	6.77±2.77	.100	0.19
Triglycerides	173, 163	1.11±0.54	1.24±0.67	.048	0.22
Total cholesterol	172, 163	4.36±1.26	4.86±1.17	.000	0.40
HDL cholesterol	170, 163	1.31±0.47	1.39±0.47	.143	0.16
LDL cholesterol	171, 142	2.21±1.01	2.53±1.07	.005	0.31
hsCRP	145, 137	6.28±8.72	7.64±16.32	.379	0.10
Psychological health					
PHQ8	179, 140	4.96±4.74	5.81±5.20	.134	0.17
EQ-VAS	179, 153	66.58±18.90	63.64±17.78	.148	0.16
SWLS	179, 146	24.35±6.75	22.94±7.09	.068	0.20
SWEMWBS	175, 149	26.85±4.67	26.23±4.54	.231	0.13
Psychosocial determinants of PA					
Barriers self-efficacy for exercise	179, 164	61.66±20.64	59.36±21.30	.311	0.11
Self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise	157, 95	76.87±18.50	75.40±19.95	.555	0.08
Intentions for exercise	189, 169	3.39±0.50	3.45±0.53	.348	0.10
Family support for physical activity	186, 177	2.52±1.09	2.18±1.19	.005	0.29
Friend support for physical activity	151, 126	2.11±1.07	2.19±1.18	.566	0.07

N is displayed as completers, dropouts

Variables are displayed as mean ± standard deviation

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate  $p \le 0.05$ 

Note: 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; BMI = body mass index; hsCRP = high sensitivity c-reactive protein; PHQ8 = 8item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale; PA = physical activity

#### Adverse events

There was one fatality during the trial, that resulted from a cardiac arrest following participation in a MedEx Wellness class. The participant was a male of 62 yr with a primary diagnosis of CVD and no MM. He had been participating in the study for 10 months and had attended 52 classes.

#### Outcomes

Of the 403 participants who completed BL assessment, 264 (65.5%), 240 (59.6%) and 206 (51.1%) participants completed repeat assessments at 3 months, 6 months and 12 months, respectively.

#### **Primary Outcome: Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour**

Results of mixed model analyses on PA and SB variables are displayed in table 5.5. Statistically significant main effects for time were found for LIPA (p=0.016, Cohen's D=0.14), number of sedentary bouts between 11-30 min (p=0.040, Cohen's D=0.10), time in sedentary bouts of 11-30 mins (p=0.037, Cohen's D=0.11) and total number of sedentary bouts (p=0.040, Cohen's D=0.09). The post-hoc analysis indicated that there was a significant improvements in LIPA between BL - 6 m (p=0.014, Cohen's D=0.06) (figure 5.3), but did not find a significant differences at any time point for the number of and time spent in bouts of 11-30 min or total number of sedentary bouts (Figure 5.4). A summary table of pairwise comparisons on primary outcome variables with a significant main effect for time is included in Appendix H.

A significant positive association was found between attendance and LIPA (p=0.006), MVPA (p=0.010) and step count (p=0.002). There was a significant inverse association between attendance and time spent in sedentary bouts > 60 min (p=0.050). There were no significant interaction effects for time\*primary CD diagnosis or time\*SCD or MM.

											Time*						
Primary outcome											Prima	ry Cl	C	Ті	ime*		
variables					Т	ime		Atte	ndand	e	diag	nosis		SCD	or MI	V .	
n=224	BL	3 m	6 m	12 m	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	
Sedentary Time (hr)	9.4±0.2	9.6±0.2	9.6±0.2	9.7±0.3	(3, 114)	0.3	.886	(1, 202)	1.0	.323	(15, 121)	1.2	.246	(3, 119)	0.6	.616	
Standing Time (hr)	4.2±0.1	4.1±0.2	4.2±0.2	4.3±0.2	(3, 117)	0.4	.787	(1, 192)	0.3	.568	(15, 127)	1.5	.124	(3, 125)	0.6	.699	
LIPA (hr)	1.1±0.04	1.2±0.05	1.3±0.1	1.2±0.1	(3, 119)	3.7	.016	(1, 206)	7.6	.006	(15, 134)	1.2	.305	(3, 124)	0.4	.726	
MVPA (hr)	0.33±0.03	0.38±0.03	0.36±0.03	0.36±0.05	(3, 116)	1.2	.310	(1, 217)	6.8	.010	(15, 134)	0.8	.669	(3, 123)	0.1	.989	
Step Count (steps/day)	6885±273	7535±360	7671±397	7380±494	(3, 115)	2.4	.076	(1, 217)	9.4	.002	(15, 123)	1.2	.261	(3, 121)	0.2	.869	
No. SedB < 10 min	29.72±1.3	31.62±1.5	32.59±1.5	32.6±1.7	(3, 132)	2.2	.088	(1, 206)	0.1	.718	(15, 142)	0.9	.614	(3, 140)	0.6	.594	
Time SedB < 10 min (min)	82.6±2.9	88.4±3.3	89.8±3.6	90.9±4.6	(3, 118)	2.6	.054	(1, 195)	0.5	.475	(15, 125)	1.0	.440	(3, 123)	2.2	.090	
No. SedB 11-30 min	8.5±0.3	9.3±0.3	9.3±0.4	9.3±0.4	(3, 120)	2.9	.040	(1, 110)	0.1	.875	(15, 125)	0.8	.714	(3, 123)	0.1	.982	
Time SedB 11-30 min (min)	149.8±4.5	163.1±5.1	163.8±6.3	163.1±7.9	(3, 120)	2.9	.037	(1, 209)	.01	.945	(15, 122)	0.8	.665	(3, 123)	.03	.994	
No. SedB 31-60 min	3.5±0.1	3.5±0.2	3.5±0.2	3.4±0.2	(3, 125)	0.1	.968	(1, 202)	2.5	.117	(15, 141)	0.6	.859	(3, 133)	0.4	.737	
Time SedB 31-60 min (min)	148.1±4.5	146.3±7.3	148.9±7.4	143.1±8.1	(3, 126)	0.2	.923	(1, 200)	1.9	.175	(15, 138)	0.8	.698	(3, 133)	0.3	.805	
No. SedB > 60 min	2.0±0.1	1.9±0.1	1.9±0.1	2.0±0.1	(3, 122)	0.8	.488	(1, 174)	3.7	.056	(15, 128)	1.1	.402	(3, 128)	1.2	.307	
Time SedB > 60 min (min)	194.8±9.5	179.6±10.1	177.4±13.1	191.9±15.5	(3, 118)	1.0	.405	(1, 171)	3.9	.050	(15, 123)	0.9	.572	(3, 123)	1.3	.274	
Total No. SedB	44.3±1.4	46.8±1.6	47.8±1.6	47.6±1.8	(3, 125)	2.9	.040	(1, 211)	0.1	.716	(15, 134)	1.1	.346	(3, 135)	0.2	.919	

Table 5.5 Type III analysis of time, attendance, time\*primary chronic disease and time\*SCD or MM effects for primary outcomes

Data at each timepoint presented as estimated marginal means ± standard error.

Note: CD = chronic disease; SCD = single chronic disease; MM = multimorbidity; LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity; No. SedB = number of sedentary bouts; Time SedB = time in sedentary bouts. Numbers in **BOLD** indicate  $p \le 0.05$ .



Figure 5.3 LIPA (BL-12m) pairwise comparisons Data presented as estimated marginal means and standard error (\_\_\_\_\_\_\_) indicates significant change between two timepoints (p < 0.05)



Figure 5.4 Number of and time spent in sedentary bouts of 11-30 min duration and total number of sedentary bouts (BL-12m) pairwise comparisons

Data presented as estimated marginal means and standard error

#### Secondary Outcomes

A summary of results for secondary outcomes are in table 5.6. Results with a significant main effect for time were subjected to pairwise comparisons. Results are summarized in table 5.7.
				<u>e p</u>								Tin	ne*			-	
						т	Timo		۸tto	ndana	<b>`</b> 0	Prima	ary C	D	Ti	me* or M	IN A
Secondary outcome variables	n	BL	3 m	6 m	12 m	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig
Physical function																	
6MTT (m)	369	457.2 ± 8.6	508.6±10.4	522.7±11.3	532.1±12.2	(2, 221)	37.0	.000	(1, 361)	2.0	.157	(15, 222)	4.0	.000	(3, 220)	0.5	.673
Sit to stand (secs)	369	23.1±0.5	20.4±0.5	19.9±0.6	20.4±0.6	(3, 231)	17.6	.000	(1, 317)	3.4	.067	(15, 240)	1.7	.052	(3, 227)	0.2	.873
Handgrip (kg)	369	25.1±0.6	25.4±0.6	25.9±0.6	26.3±0.7	(3, 228)	3.8	.011	(1, 360)	.004	.952	(15, 227)	0.9	.515	(3, 225)	1.2	.294
Sit and reach (cm)	263	6.80±0.7	7.3±0.8	8.2±0.8	8.1±0.9	(3, 191)	2.6	.054	(1, 345)	3.3	.069	(15, 192)	0.6	.886	(3, 191)	3.8	.011
Body composition																	
Weight (kg)	369	83.5±1.4	83.2±1.4	83.2±1.3	82.8±1.3	(3, 218)	1.0	.407	(1, 333)	4.2	.041	(15, 218)	1.7	.055	(3, 216)	1.3	.271
BMI (kg/m²)	369	30.2±0.4	30.1±0.4	30.1±0.4	30.0±0.4	(3, 215)	0.7	.575	(1, 336)	4.2	.041	(15, 215)	1.7	.057	(3, 213)	1.2	.295
Waist cir (cm)	369	100.7±1.1	99.0±1.1	99.2±1.1	97.9±1.1	(3, 230)	9.1	.000	(1, 324)	2.5	.112	(15, 231)	1.0	.412	(3, 229)	1.8	.142
Hip cir (cm)	369	108.3±0.9	107.2±0.9	107.3±0.9	105.9±0.9	(3, 218)	14.4	.000	(1, 333)	6.0	.015	(15, 219)	1.1	.331	(3, 216)	2.3	.076
Waist to hip ratio	369	0.93±0.01	0.92±0.01	0.92±0.01	0.92±0.01	(3, 229)	1.2	.314	(1, 344)	0.5	.483	(15, 228)	1.1	.382	(3, 225)	1.5	.208
Blood biomarkers (mmol/L)																	
Fasting glucose	324	6.5±0.1	6.6±0.2	6.6±0.2	6.3±0.2	(3, 134)	2.3	.081	(1, 224)	1.8	.201	(15, 152)	0.8	.704	(3, 138)	0.5	.716
Triglycerides	337	1.2±0.04	1.2±0.1	1.2±0.1	1.2±0.1	(3, 181)	0.4	.738	(1, 303)	1.2	.279	(15, 182)	0.7	.804	(3, 183)	1.1	.357
HDL cholesterol	337	1.4±0.03	1.4±0.04	1.4±0.03	1.5±0.05	(3, 198)	1.9	.131	(1, 311)	0.2	.654	(15, 199)	1.0	.424	(3, 197)	0.8	.514
LDL cholesterol	337	2.4±0.1	2.3±0.1	2.4±0.1	2.6±0.1	(3, 189)	3.7	.012	(1, 307)	0.04	.836	(15, 194)	1.1	.353	(3, 192)	1.5	.225
Total cholesterol	337	4.8±0.1	4.8±0.1	4.8±0.1	4.8±0.1	(3, 193)	0.1	.964	(1, 323)	0.2	.661	(15, 212)	1.5	.141	(3, 194)	0.5	.663
hsC-reactive protein	317	6.2±1.0	5.8±0.8	4.5±0.7	4.1±0.7	(3, 138)	2.2	.085	(1, 157)	0.6	.433	(15, 151)	0.8	.694	(3, 138)	2.0	.111

Table 5.6 Type III analysis of time, attendance, time\*primary chronic disease and time\*SCD or MM effects for secondary outcomes

# Table 5.6 Continued

												Time	*				
												Primary	CD		Ti	me*	
<b>.</b>						-	Time		Attend	ance		diagno	sis		SCD	or M	м
variables	n	BL	3 m	6 m	12 m	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig
Psychological health																	
PHQ8	337	5.3±0.4	4.4±0.4	4.0±0.4	4.1±0.4	(3, 176)	5.9	.001	(1, 287)	15.8	.000	(15, 172)	1.8	.038	(3, 168)	0.4	.767
EQ-VAS	346	65.8±1.3	69.7±1.4	72.3±1.5	72.3±1.6	(3, 204)	9.1	.000	(1, 281)	11.9	.001	(15, 196)	0.9	.546	(3, 188)	0.4	.750
SWLS	338	23.7±0.5	24.5±0.5	25.2±0.5	24.5±0.6	(3, 186)	4.1	.008	(1, 294)	18.4	.000	(15, 185)	1.7	.049	(3, 176)	1.5	.225
SWEMWBS	338	26.6±0.3	26.7±0.4	26.5±0.4	27.0±0.5	(3, 168)	0.4	.762	(1, 312)	5.9	.015	(15, 172)	2.4	.004	(3, 161)	2.8	.043
Psychosocial																	
determinants of PA																	
Barriers self-efficacy for exercise	347	60.6±1.5	55.0±2.1	54.9±2.2	56.0±2.4	(3, 186)	2.8	.042	(1, 301)	7.3	.007	(15, 182)	0.9	.568	(3, 172)	0.4	.568
Self-regulatory self- efficacy for exercise	299	77.1±1.5	74.8±1.7	71.2±1.8	72.2±2.2	(3, 179)	3.9	.009	(1, 269)	17.6	.000	(15, 173)	0.8	.727	(3, 164)	1.6	.184
Intentions for exercise	347	3.4±0.04	3.3±0.04	3.2±0.05	3.2±0.06	(3, 195)	5.8	.001	(1, 301)	10.6	.001	(15, 192)	1.6	.068	(3, 188)	0.4	.778
Family support for physical activity	356	2.4±0.1	2.5±0.1	2.4±0.1	2.3±0.1	(3, 197)	1.4	.235	(1, 317)	2.6	.108	(15, 206)	1.4	.143	(3, 195)	0.5	.684
Friend support for physical activity	324	2.2±0.1	2.4±0.1	2.2±0.1	2.4±0.1	(3, 213)	1.7	.158	(1, 292)	0.6	.434	(15, 208)	0.6	.864	(3, 185)	0.2	.884

Results are presented as estimated marginal means ± standard error.

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate p < 0.05.

Note: BL = baseline; 3 m = 3 months; 6 m = 6 months; 12 m = 12 months; BMI = body mass index; cir = circumference; 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; HDL = high density lipoprotein; LDL = low density lipoprotein; hsC-reactive protein = high sensitivity c-reactive protein; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale; PA = physical activity

Health-related			Standard			
measure	Timepoint	Р	error	df	C.I	Cohen's D
6MTT	BL – 3 m	.000	5.67	264.03	(-66.53 <i>,</i> -36.39)	1.33
	BL – 6 m	.000	7.10	255.47	(-84.45 <i>,</i> -46.71)	1.54
	BL – 12 m	.000	8.39	245.78	(-97.25 <i>,</i> -52.63)	1.65
	3 m – 6 m	.058	5.41	216.24	(-28.52, 0.29)	0.41
	3 m – 12 m	.009	7.33	209.86	(-43.00 <i>,</i> -3.95)	0.60
	6 m – 12 m	.822	6.27	170.85	(-26.09, 7.36)	0.29
Sit to stand	BL – 3 m	.000	.439	289.06	(1.55 <i>,</i> 3.88)	0.24
	BL – 6 m	.000	.483	260.01	(1.93, 4,49)	0.29
	BL – 12 m	.000	.513	271.51	(1.38, 4.10)	0.23
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	.430	232.16	(-0.65, 1.64)	0.05
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	.419	199.14	(-1.09, 1.15)	0.00
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	.409	176.12	(-1.56, 0.62)	0.06
Handgrip	BL – 3 m	1.00	.355	274.37	(-1.24, 0.65)	0.03
	BL – 6 m	.108	.339	248.95	(-1.71, 0.09)	0.09
	BL – 12 m	.024	.400	220.42	(-2.23 <i>,</i> -0.10)	0.12
	3 m – 6 m	.761	.334	233.27	(-1.40, 0.38)	0.06
	3 m – 12 m	.132	.376	212.90	(-1.87, 0.13)	0.10
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	.384	200.23	(-1.38, 1.40)	0.04
Waist	BL – 3 m	.000	.408	257.87	(0.55 <i>,</i> 2.72)	0.16
circumference	BL – 6 m	.003	.422	252.29	(0.39, 2.63)	0.15
	BL – 12 m	.000	.586	233.74	(1.21, 4.33)	0.24
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	.379	224.43	(-1.14, 0.88)	0.01
	3 m – 12 m	.248	.553	223.31	(-0.34, 2.61)	0.10
	6 m – 12 m	.080	.508	200.74	(-0.09, 1.14)	0.13
Нір	BL – 3 m	.001	.282	262.45	(0.37, 1.88)	0.13
circumference	BL – 6 m	.006	.300	236.56	(0.21, 1.80)	0.12
	BL – 12 m	.000	.406	221.65	(1.40, 3.56)	0.26
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	.300	209.44	(-0.92, 0.68)	0.02
	3 m – 12 m	.010	.423	220.87	(0.23, 2.48)	0.14
	6 m – 12 m	.000	.362	162.79	(0.50, 2.44)	0.19
LDL cholesterol	BL – 3 m	.505	.091	209.73	(-0.08, 0.40)	0.04
	BL – 6 m	1.00	.088	218.01	(-0.18, 0.28)	0.01
	BL – 12 m	.452	.095	197.82	(-0.42, 0.08)	0.04
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	.097	202.93	(-0.37, 0.15)	0.02
	3 m – 12 m	.008	.100	176.80	(-0.40, -0.06)	0.08
	6 m – 12 m	.144	.096	176.11	(-0.48, 0.04)	0.05
PHQ8	BL – 3 m	.015	.312	215.00	(0.12, 1.79)	0.12
	BL – 6 m	.001	.328	222.62	(0.41, 2.15)	0.15
	BL – 12 m	.012	.384	204.84	(0.18, 1.23)	0.14
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	.301	160.65	(-0.48, 1.13)	0.05
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	.359	151.64	(-0.71, 1.21)	0.03
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	.359	166.34	(-1.03, 0.88)	0.01

Table 5.7 Summary of pairwise comparisons on secondary outcome variables with a significant main effect for time

Health-related			Standard			
measure	Timepoint	р	error	df	C.I	Cohen's D
EQ-VAS	BL – 3 m	.009	1.23	240.44	(-7.23 <i>,</i> -0.68)	0.23
	BL – 6 m	.000	1.47	222.23	(-10.52, -2.67)	0.36
	BL – 12 m	.000	1.57	212.76	(-10.75, -2.39)	0.36
	3 m – 6 m	.453	1.48	225.91	(-6.56, 1.29)	0.14
	3 m – 12 m	.627	1.48	200.51	(-6.88, 1.66)	0.15
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	1.64	203.38	(-4.35, 4.40)	0.00
SWLS	BL – 3 m	.356	.421	226.08	(-1.92, 0.32)	0.08
	BL – 6 m	.003	.437	213.09	(-2.69, -0.36)	0.16
	BL – 12 m	.883	.548	175.93	(-2.26, 0.67)	0.08
	3 m – 6 m	.585	.439	213.86	(-1.90, 0.44)	0.08
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	.524	144.73	(-1.45, 1.45)	0.00
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	.550	161.68	(-0.74, 2.20)	0.08
Barriers self-	BL – 3 m	.066	2.19	253.08	(-0.21, 11.42)	0.24
efficacy for	BL – 6 m	.086	2.28	232.95	(-0.44, 11.67)	0.24
exercise	BL – 12 m	.446	2.54	204.66	(-2.21, 11.30)	0.20
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	2.20	180.17	(-5.86 <i>,</i> 5.88)	0.00
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	2.37	157.55	(-7.39 <i>,</i> 5.28)	0.05
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	2.21	144.61	(-6.98, 4.84)	0.06
Self-regulatory	BL – 3 m	.801	1.54	227.18	(-1.78, 6.43)	0.12
self-efficacy for	BL – 6 m	.007	1.80	224.99	(1.13, 10.71)	0.29
exercise	BL – 12 m	.137	2.13	163.49	(-0.80, 10.60)	0.26
	3 m – 6 m	.163	1.62	195.85	(-0.71, 7.90)	0.20
	3 m – 12 m	.973	1.84	142.71	(-2.33, 7.49)	0.16
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	1.99	147.49	(-6.33, 4.30)	0.06
Intentions for	BL – 3 m	.232	.051	280.45	(-0.03, 0.24)	0.03
exercise	BL – 6 m	.001	.054	228.38	(0.07, 0.36)	0.06
	BL – 12 m	.011	.065	209.62	(0.03, 0.38)	0.06
	3 m – 6 m	.325	.056	198.75	(-0.04, 0.26)	0.03
	3 m – 12 m	.644	.060	157.15	(-0.06, 0.26)	0.03
	6 m – 12 m	.100	.060	157.39	(-0.17, 0.15)	0.00

# Table 5.7 continued

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate p < 0.05.

Note: BL = baseline; 3m = 3 months; 6m = 6 months; 12m = 12 months; 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; PHQ8 = 8item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; LDL = Low density lipoprotein

## **Physical Function**

There was a significant main effect for time on 6MTT (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.17), sit to stand (p=0.00, Cohen's D=0.14), and handgrip (p=0.011, Cohen's D=0.04). Performance in the 6MTT significantly improved between BL - 3 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=1.33), BL - 6 (p=0.000, Cohen's D=1.54), BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=1.65) and 3 m - 12 m (p=0.009, Cohen's D=0.60). Sit to stand significantly improved between BL - 3 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.24), BL - 6 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.29) and BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.23). Handgrip significantly improved between BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.23). Handgrip significantly improved between BL - 12 m (p=0.024, Cohen's D=0.12). There were no significant associations between measures of physical function and attendance. There was a significant interaction effect for time\*primary CD diagnosis on 6MTT (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.08) (figure 5.5) and for time\*SCD or MM on sit and reach (p=0.011, Cohen's D=0.08) (figure 5.6).

Individuals with cancer had a significantly higher 6MTT distance compared to all other primary CD diagnosis at BL, 3 m and 6 m (p < 0.05) and those with CVD (p=0.001) and respiratory disease (p=0.000) at 12 m. In addition, individuals with respiratory disease had a significantly lower 6MTT than those with CVD (p=0.001) at BL and those with CVD and metabolic disease at 3 m, 6 m and 12 m (p < 0.05) (Appendix I).



Figure 5.5 BL – 12m for primary chronic diseases diagnosis Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal; m = meters

There were no significant differences between SCD and MM for the sit and reach test

within the simple effects analysis.



Figure 5.6 Sit and reach BL – 12m for single chronic disease and multimorbidity Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM Note: CD = chronic disease

## **Body Composition**

There was a significant time main effect for waist circumference (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.06) and hip circumference (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.06). Waist circumference significantly decreased between BL - 3 months (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.16), BL - 6 m (p=0.003, Cohen's D=0.15) and BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.24). Hip circumference significantly decreased between BL - 3 m (p=0.001, Cohen's D=0.13), BL - 6 m (p=0.006, Cohen's D=0.12), BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.13), BL - 6 m (p=0.006, Cohen's D=0.12), BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.13), BL - 6 m (p=0.006, Cohen's D=0.12), BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.26), 3m - 12 m (p=0.010, Cohen's D=0.14) and 6m - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.19). There was a significant inverse association between attendance and weight (p=0.041), BMI (p=0.041) and hip circumference (p=0.015).

# **Blood Biomarkers**

There was a significant main effect for time on LDL (p=0.012, Cohen's D=0.02). LDL significantly worsened between 3 m - 12 m (p=0.008, Cohen's D=0.08).

#### **Psychological Health**

There was a significant main effect for time on PHQ8 (p=0.001, Cohen's D=0.09), EQ-VAS (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.15) and SWLS (p=0.008, Cohen's D=0.08). PHQ8 improved between BL - 3 m (p=0.015, Cohen's D=0.12), BL - 6 m (p=0.001, Cohen's D=0.15) and BL - 12 m (p=0.012, Cohen's D=0.14). EQ-VAS improved between BL - 3 m (p=0.009, Cohen's D=0.23), BL - 6 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.36) and BL - 12 m (p=0.000, Cohen's D=0.36). SWLS improved between BL - 6 m (p=0.003, Cohen's D=0.16). The was a significant inverse association between attendance and PHQ8 (p=0.000), and a significant positive association between attendance and EQ-VAS (p=0.001), SWLS (p=0.000) and SWEMWBS (p=0.015). There was a significant interaction effect for time\*primary CD diagnosis for PHQ8 (p=0.038, Cohen's D0.35) (figure 5.7), SWLS (p=0.049, Cohen's D=0.37) (figure 5.8) and SWEMWBS (p=0.005, Cohen's D=0.31) (figure 5.9). There was a significant interaction effect for time\*SCD or MM on SWEMWBS (p=0.043, Cohen's D=0.08) (figure 5.10).

Individuals with respiratory disease had significantly higher PHQ8 score than those with cancer (p=0.043) at 3 m, CVD (p=0.022) and metabolic disease (p=0.025) at 6 m and those with CVD (p=0.000), metabolic disease (p=0.015) and cancer (p=0.000) at 12 m (Appendix J).



Figure 5.7 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire BL – 12m for primary chronic disease diagnosis Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient

Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire Individuals with respiratory disease had significantly lower SWL scores than those with cancer (p < 0.05) at BL and 6 m, and those with CVD (p=0.049) and cancer (p=0.000) at 12 m (Appendix K).



Figure 5.8 Satisfaction with Life Scale BL – 12m for primary chronic disease diagnosis Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders; PHQ8 = 8-item

Patient Health Questionnaire

Individuals with respiratory disease had significantly lower SWEMWBS scores than those CVD (p = 0.008) and cancer (p = 0.001) at 12 m (Appendix L).



Figure 5.9 The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale BL – 12m for primary chronic disease diagnosis

Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM

Note: CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neuromuscular/musculoskeletal disorders; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

There were no significant differences identified between those with SCD and MM for the SWEMWBS within the simple effects analysis.



Figure 5.10 The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale BL - 12m single chronic disease and multimorbidity

Dates presented as estimated marginal means and SEM Note: CD = chronic disease; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

## **Psychosocial Determinants of Physical Activity**

There was a significant main effect for time on barrier self-efficacy for exercise (p=0.042, Cohen's D=0.10), self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise (p=0.009, Cohen's D=0.11) and intentions for exercise (p=0.001, Cohen's D0.17). Self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise decreased between BL - 6 m (p=0.007, Cohen's D=0.29) and intentions for exercise significantly decreased between BL - 6 m (p=0.001, Cohen's D=0.06) and BL - 12 m (p=0.011, Cohen's D=0.06). Post hoc analysis did not indicate any significant differences in timepoints for barrier self-efficacy for exercise. There was significant positive association between attendance and barrier self-efficacy (p=0.007), self-regulatory self-efficacy (p=0.000) and intentions for exercise (p=0.001).

# Psychosocial determinants of physical activity

Change in MVPA was positively correlated with both change in self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise (r = 0.264, p=0.030) and the change in intentions for exercise (r = 0.321 p=0.003). Change in step count was significant correlated with the change in self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise (r = 0.252, p=0.026) and the change in intentions for exercise (r = 0.319 p=0.003). Results are displayed in table 5.8.

Table 5.8 Correlation between change in measures of physical activity and psychosocial determinants of physical activity between baseline - 12 months

	LI	PA	MV	PA	Step count		
Psychosocial determents of physical activity	r	р	r	р	r	р	
Barriers to self-efficacy for exercise	.063	.570	.202	.068	.177	.110	
Self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise	.100	.385	.246	.030	.252	.026	
Intentions for exercise	.204	.065	.321	.003	.319	.003	
Family support for physical activity	.069	.650	.177	.238	.178	.238	
Friend support for physical activity	.124	.554	.202	.333	.195	.349	

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity, MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity Note: Results are not adjusted for multiple testing

#### Discussion

Participation in the MedEx Wellness CBER program was associated with a significant increase in LIPA, number and time spent in sedentary bouts of 11-30 min and total number of sedentary bouts. The observed effect size for all changes in PA and SB was small. Greater attendance to the program was associated with improvements in LIPA, MVPA, step count, time in sedentary bouts > 60 min. Significant improvements were also observed in measures of physical function, body composition and psychological health. Again all observed effect sizes where small, apart from CRF were a large effect size was identified for the change in this measures. With the exception of an increase in LDL-C, there was no significant change in any other of the other measured biomarkers. In addition, significant decreases in psychosocial determinants of PA were observed. Greater attendance was associated with improvements in body composition, all measures of psychological health, barrier self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise. Improvements occurred within 3 to 6 months of participation and were maintained at 12 months of participation. Significant interaction effects for time\*primary CD diagnosis were observed for the CRF, symptoms of depression, satisfaction with life and positive mental health. The cancer cohort had higher CRF fitness across all timepoints, while those with respiratory disease were had significantly lower. Moreover, those with respiratory disease had less favourable measures of satisfaction with life and positive mental health. Significant interaction effects for time\*SCD or MM were found for flexibility and positive mental health, however simple effects analyses did not indicate and differences between these groups.

The findings from this study provide evidence that an integrated delivery model of CBER is an effective approach to increasing PA levels, reducing SB and improving physical

functioning, body composition and positive mental health for individuals with a range of CDs and MM. Improvements in health-related outcomes as a result of CBER has been well documented in SCD cohorts (Gallé et al., 2019; Mendes et al., 2016, 2017; Bethell & Mullee, 1990; Cramp et al., 2010; Kwan et al., 2016; Marsden et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2016a; Amin et al., 2014; Beauchamp et al., 2013; Godtfredsen et al., 2019; Varas et al., 2018; Foley & Hasson, 2016; Foley et al., 2018; Knobf et al., 2014; Leach et al., 2015; Rajotte et al., 2012; Santa Mina et al., 2017). Surprisingly, relatively few studies have investigated the effects of CBER on habitual levels of PA and SB. The current findings indicate that CBER has the potential to positively impact both PA and SB. LIPA improved significantly, however whether the improvements are clinically meaningful is worth noting as the mean daily increase in LIPA between BL and 12 m was approximately 6 min. Furthermore, the findings provide preliminary evidence for the efficacy of a shared delivery model of CBER as a viable strategy in the secondary prevention of CD for those with both SCD and MM. Future studies should focus on optimising the various components of the MedEx Wellness shared CD model in order to inform best practice for CBER.

# **Chapter 6**

# Study III

# Factors Associated with Inter-Individual Variability in Response to Community-Based Exercise in a Diverse Chronic Disease Population

# Introduction

PA and CRF are major indicators of health status and risk of mortality for healthy populations and those with CD (Bossenbroek et al., 2011; Laukkanen et al., 2002; Warburton et al., 2006). Despite the strong evidence for PA and CRF, individuals with CD are reported to participate in low levels of PA (Hains-Monfette et al., 2019; Lauret et al., 2014; Lewis et al., 2016; Pitta et al., 2005; Segura-Jiménez et al., 2015).

CBER has been shown as an effective approach in increasing PA and CRF among individuals with CD (Gallé et al., 2019; Marsden et al., 2016; Pang et al., 2005; Santa Mina et al., 2017; Varas et al., 2018). Results from studies examining the health-related changes in CD populations in response to PA interventions are normally presented as average statistics. However, there is normally large inter-individual variability in the measured outcomes in response to these programs. In pulmonary rehabilitation research, approximately 25-30% of patients may be considered non-responders, where non improvements are observed in terms of health status and exercise tolerance (Garrod et al., 2006; Stoilkova-Hartmann et al., 2015). To date, there is currently a limited understanding of the factors that may predispose individuals with CD at an increased risk of non-response to CBER. The term non-responder can be defined as the lack of a clinically meaningful change or the lack of a measurable change (Pickering & Kiely, 2019). Of greatest concern for healthcare professionals are adverse responses to exercise rehabilitation. Adverse training responses have been reported during exercise rehabilitation studies. In a review article of 6 exercise interventions, Bouchard *et al.*, (2012), found that 31% of participants had at least one adverse response, 6.0% had two and 0.8% showed  $\geq$  3 adverse responses. In a 14 week CBER program for individuals with metabolic syndrome, where mean waist circumference, fasting glucose, HDL-C, TG and BP all significantly improved post intervention, the prevalence of an adverse cardiometabolic response was between 3.6% - 6.0% (Dalleck et al., 2015). This is considered low, and the general consensus is that severe adverse events are very rare in exercise rehabilitation programs that follow evidence-based practice.

Further research is warranted to identify factors within a CD population associated with response to CBER. Understanding both the genetic and non-genetic factors associated with inter-individual variability in response to exercise based rehabilitation programs will inform potential measure that could be deployed to reduce the number of non-responders. Non-genetic factors that could help to explain the inter-individual variability in response to exercise based rehabilitation programs will program, exercise prescription, nutritional status and mental health (Pickering & Kiely, 2019). Mann *et al.*, (2014) undertook a detailed review on the phenomenon of 'high-responders' and 'low-responders' and suggested a better understanding of non-genetic training determinants of training responses would allow for the more individually tailored approach that would ensure optimal outcomes for all participants. Establishing the non-genetic factors associated with non-response to CBER could inform screening procedures that could be

implemented into such programs. This would allow for high risk participants of non-response to be identified from the onset and allow for strategies to be put in place which could reduce the risk of non-response. The current evidence base on the factors associated with nonresponse however, remains under developed.

The minimum clinically meaningful change, refers to changes in health-related outcomes as a result of treatment or intervention, which are meaningful to a CD patient or have importance in the clinical management for the patient (Cook, 2008; Sedaghat, 2019). It is not uncommon for statistically significant changes to have little clinical significance for patient cohorts (Jaeschke et al., 1989). Minimum clinically meaningful changes provide healthcare professionals with a systematic approach to interpreting certain treatment effects. A responder is the term used to describe a patient who has achieved a clinically meaningful improvement in a given health-related outcome (Copay et al., 2007).

For patients with CD, the mediating role of PA in optimizing health is also of clinical importance. From a functional prospective, regular PA promotes mobility and reduces the risk for falls and fractures, which is vital in prevented dependency and institutionalisation in old age (Paterson & Warburton, 2010). For individuals with CD, maintaining independent living and preserving functional capacity, has direct implications on QoL and psychological health (Maresova et al., 2019). In addition, PA can attenuate the risk of developing MM, for those with an already established CD (Dhalwani et al., 2016). In terms of a PA intervention for CD, results which indicate no change, and therefore maintenance of health status also could be considered a positive result.

A recent study found that only 50% of CD patients attending exercise rehabilitation achieved clinically meaningful changes in 6MWT distances, at the end of the program (Barker *et al.*, 2018). In addition, this study reported significant improvements in ability to perform activities of daily living, however only one third of participants improved to a level established as clinically meaningful in this measure. Although a third of participants achieving a clinically meaningful improvement as a result of an intervention may be considered an effective intervention, there is a need to understand why certain participants attain a beneficial response while others do not. The translation of evidence based interventions into clinical practice is a major challenge within clinical research. Developing strategies that optimes the patient response to interventions will assist in bridging this gap. To date, little information is available regarding the inter-individual responses to exercise rehabilitation programs involving patients with more than one CD. Although shared exercise rehabilitation offers numerous benefits, identifying factors associated with meaningful biological and behavioural responses could assist in program design and delivery.

The primary aim of this study was to identify factors associated with an effective response to participation in a CBER, in terms of a measurable improvement, in men and women with SCD and MM. A secondary aim was to establish the minimum attendance at CBER needed to achieve measurable/clinically meaningful changes in selected indices of health. It was hypothesized that inter-individual variability in physical (activity behaviours and physical functioning), clinical or psychological health between men and women with SCD and MM will predict response to CBER.

#### Methods

The study used a quasi-experimental study. Detailed methodology is described in Chapter 3. In summary, individuals with one or more established CDs, primarily CVD, respiratory disease, metabolic disease, cancer or neuro/MSK disorders, were recruited at induction to the MedEx Wellness programme following referral from healthcare professionals. Following induction, participants were recommended to attend 2 supervised group exercise classes per week. The classes were 60 min in duration and consisted of a combination of aerobic and resistance exercise. Outcome measures that included PA, SB, physical function, blood biomarkers, mental health and psychosocial determinants of PA were assessed at BL and 3, 6 and 12 months.

Health related outcomes that improved significantly in response to participation in a CBER program (chapter 5), were selected as dependent variables and used to explore predictors of achieving a measurable improvement. The health related outcomes included were LIPA, CRF, lower body strength, upper body strength, waist circumference, hip circumference, number and time spent in sedentary bouts 11 to 30 min in duration, total number of sedentary bouts, symptoms of depression, self-rated health and satisfaction with life (Appendix M). Outcome variables that changed significantly, but unfavourably were not explored in further analysis. These included LDL-C, barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise showed. The statistical analysis in chapter 5 indicated that there was a significant time main effect for the number of classes attended and time spent in sedentary bouts 11 to 30 min in duration and the total

number of sedentary bouts. However, as the post hoc analysis did not identify specific time points of significant chances, these variables were not included in further analysis.

In study 2 (chapter 5) a significant association was found between total number of classes attended between BL and 12 months and LIPA, MVPA, step count, time spent in sedentary bouts < 60 min, weight, BMI, hip circumference, symptoms of depression, self-rated health, satisfaction with life, positive mental health, barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise (appendix N). These variables were selected to estimate the approximate number of attendance to MedEx Wellness classes requires to achieve a measurable change and a clinically meaningful change in each individual outcome measure. Defining a clinically meaningful change in barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise and intentions for exercise and intentions for exercise change in barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise and intentions for exercise and intentions for exercise is each individual outcome measure. Defining a clinically meaningful change in barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise and intentions for exercise was deemed inappropriate and these variables were analysed in terms of a measurable change only.

A measurable change was defined as an improvement in a health-related outcome of  $\geq 0.01$ . A clinically meaningful change was defined as an improvement identified to have a meaningful impact on a participants health status, functional capacity and/or QoL. A nonresponder referred to participants who did not change from BL or regressed between BL and 12m.

# Minimum clinically meaningful change

Evidence based publications were reviewed to establish a threshold which could be used to represent a minimum clinically meaningful improvement for each outcome variable.

## Physical activity and sedentary behaviour

#### Light intensity physical activity

The volume of LIPA required to elicit health benefits is not yet known, and recommendations do not yet exist on the clinically meaningful change in LIPA for healthy populations or CD cohorts. There is however, accumulating evidence to indicate that health-related benefits of increasing LIPA are possibly independent to the amount of MVPA performed. Khoja *et al.*, (2016) found independent associations between LIPA and a variety of cardiometabolic health markers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Each additional min of LIPA per day was associated with improvements in BMI, BP, insulin sensitivity, HDL-C and disability. The PA and SB patterns of this cohort (9.8 h/d sedentary, 3.5 h/d in very low intensity activity, 2.1 h/d in LIPA and 36 min/d in MVAP) were comparable to the PA and SB reported of the mixed chronic disease cohort of the current study (results chapter 4, study 1). Furthermore, each one min increase in LIPA/h during the waking day, was found to decrease the risk of mortality in healthy population and those with chronic kidney disease (Beddhu *et al.*, 2015). Based on these findings, an increase in LIPA of  $\geq$  16 min/d was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in LIPA.

#### Moderate to vigorous physical activity

Strong evidence supports that even small increases in MVPA can confer significant health-benefits for individuals with CD (Warburton & Bredin, 2016). A generalized minimum clinically meaningful change has yet to be established for MVPA. Hur *et al.*, (2019) recently estimated that an increase in MVPA of 26 min/week as the minimally important clinically meaningful difference for patients with interstitial lung disease. An increase of  $\geq$  26 min/week in MVPA between BL and 12 months was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in MVPA.

# Step count

Estimations of clinically meaningful changes in step count are limited, particularly in CD. A study in COPD estimated the minimal clinically important change for COPD to range between 600 to 1100 steps/day (Demeyer et al., 2016). An increase in daily step count of  $\geq$  1100 was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in MVPA.

## Time in sedentary bouts > 60 min

Guidelines recommending changes in SB are yet to be established. A recommendation of reducing total SB by 60 min a day has been proposed (Dempsey et al., 2016). As there are no specific evidence based recommendations applicable to time spent in sedentary bouts > 60 mins, only a measurable change in this variable was analysed.

# **Physical function**

## Six minute timed trial

Self-paced walk run tests have been established as valid tool for estimating CRF (Mayorga-Vega et al., 2016). The current study used a modified version of the 6 min walk test, in which participants where allow to run, walk or a combination of both to complete the test.

Numerous studies have established a clinically meaningful change in the 6 min walk test across a variety of disease groups. There estimations range from 34.3 m to 82 m in studies including Alzheimer's disease, geriatric participants, stroke, osteoporosis, Parkinson's disease and pulmonary diseases (Eng et al., 2004; Flansbjer et al., 2005; Kennedy et al., 2005; Perera et al., 2006; Rasekaba et al., 2009; Redelmeier et al., 1997; Ries et al., 2007; Steffen & Seney, 2008). More recently, in a systematic review by Bohannon and Crouch (2017) the minimal clinical change for 6MWT was estimated as between 14 – 30.5 m across multiple patient groups.

Based on the Bohannon and Crouch's most recent research, incorporating a mixed CD cohort, which is a useful comparison to the current study, an improvement of  $\geq$  30.5 m was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in 6MTT. Caution with the interpretation of this analysis is considered as the current estimate is based on the walk only test.

## Sit to stand

The present study used a 10-repatition protocol for the sit to stand test. Based on the 5 repetition sit to stand test, minimal clinical different ranges from -1.7 s to 3.1 s (Jones et al., 2013b; Vaidya et al., 2017). A decrease in time of  $\geq$  3.1 s was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in sit to stand. Similar to the 6MTT, caution with the interpretation of this analysis is considered as the current estimate is based on the 5 repetition sit to stand test.

## Handgrip

Clinically meaningful changes in handgrip strength using a handgrip dynameter have been estimated to range from 5.0 kg – 6.2 kg in healthy populations and those with CD (Bohannon, 2019; Lang et al., 2008; Nitschke et al., 1999). A threshold improvement of  $\geq$  5.0 kg was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in handgrip.

## **Body composition**

#### Weight

A 5% reduction in weight from a BL measures has been defined as clinically significant and is associated with significant improvements cardiometabolic health (Donnelly et al., 2009; Williamson et al., 2015). A threshold of  $\geq$  5% reduction in weight was as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in weight.

Note: Changes in BMI between BL and 12 m in the present study will be fundamentally the product of changes in weight as BMI is a composite score which includes weight as a primary component. BMI was not included in further analysis.

# Waist Circumference

Verweij *et al.*, (2013) suggest that a clinically meaningful change in waist circumference lies within the range of 3.0 cm and 6.8 cm. Cerhan *et al.*, (2014) found in a pooled analysis of 650,000 adults, that for each 5 cm increment in waist circumference the risk of mortality in men and women increased by 7% and 9% respectively, independent of

BMI. A decrease in waist circumference of 5 cm was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in waist circumference.

#### **Hip Circumference**

The focus on changes in body composition, with regards to waist and hip measurements, have primarily focused on waist circumference and WHR (World Health Organization, 2011b). Hip circumference alone does not effectively represent body composition (Mbanya et al., 2015), and was therefore not included in further analysis.

## **Psychological health**

#### 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire

The PHQ8 categorizes individuals by severity of depression ranging from none/minimal to severe. A 5 point decrease indicates an improvement in severity category (Kroenke & Spitzer, 2010). A decrease in score of  $\geq$  5 was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in PHQ8.

#### **EuroQoL-Visual Analogue Scale**

Zanini *et al.*, (2015) estimated a minimal clinically important change in EQ-VAS scores, for patients with COPD as an increase of eight points. Similarly, Chen *et al.*, (2016a) a minimal clinically important different in stroke patients as 8.6 to 10.8 points. An increase in score of  $\geq$  10 points was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in EQ-VAS.

## Satisfaction with Life Scale

The satisfaction with life scale is a measurement tool of the life satisfaction component of subjective wellbeing. Total scores are accumulated and results range from "extremely satisfied" to "extremely dissatisfied". An increase in score  $\geq$  5 results in an improvement in overall life satisfaction (Diener, 2006). An increase in score of  $\geq$  5 was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in SWLS.

#### The Short - Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

The SWEMWBS is a tool used to monitor positive mental health. The minimal detectable change in the SWEMWBS is estimated as a change in score by  $\geq$  3 points (Warwick Medical School, 2019). An increase in score of  $\geq$  3 points was used as a threshold for a clinically meaningful change in SWEMWBS.

#### **Statistical analysis**

Health-related outcomes where a significant main effect for time was identified in study 2 (chapter 5) were used to classify participants in groups representing response category, based on absolute change achieved. The absolute change between BL and 12 months for measures of 6MTT, sit to stand, handgrip, waist circumference, PHQ8 and EQ-VAS, and between BL and 6 months for measures of LIPA and SWLS was computed on IMB SPSS statistics software (version 25). Participants were classified into three groups for descriptive analysis: i) non-responder = no change in measure variables or a negative change, ii) measurable change = any observed improvement in measured variable iii) clinically meaningful change = an improvement equal to or above the identified clinically meaningful value in the measured variable.

Binary logistic regression models were used to assess factors associated with achieving a measurable change in health-related outcomes where a significant main effect for time was found in study 2 (chapter 5). Based on the absolute change of each healthrelated measure, participants where stratified into 2 groups: 0 = non-responder; 1 = measurable change achieved. The dichotomous variables representing non-response or measurable change achieved were used as dependent variables in binary logistic regression. Age, sex, primary CD diagnosis, SCD or MM, smoking status and BL measures of the specific dependent variable were included as independent variables. Contingency table results were used to estimate the accuracy of the predictive model, based on the percentage of cases correctly classified. The model discrimination was assed using relative operating characteristics (ROC) curves. The area under the curve (AUC) was generated using the predicted probabilities values (test variable) and non-response or measurable change achieved (state variable) (Chan, 2004). The ROC analysis results were interpreted as follows: AUC  $\geq$  0.60 indicated poor discriminatory ability, AUC = 0.61 – 0.70 fair discriminatory ability and AUC > 0.70 = good discriminatory ability (Mandrekar, 2010). P-values reported were not adjusted for multiple testing.

Health-related variables where a significant main effect for attendance was identified in study 2 (chapter 5), were investigated to assess if a corresponding attendance value could be estimated which is associated with achieving a measurable change and a clinically meaningful change. The absolute change between BL and 12 months for LIPA, MVPA,

step count, weight, BMI, PHQ8, EQ-VAS, SWLS, WEMWBS, Barriers to Self-Efficacy for Exercise Scale, Self-Regulatory Self-Efficacy for exercise and Intentions for Exercise were computed using SPSS statistical package v25. Based on the absolute change of each health-related measures and psychosocial determinant of PA, participants where stratified into 2 groups representing non-response (0 = non-responder) and achieving a measurable change (1 =measurable change achieved). In addition, based on the absolute change of each healthrelated measures, participants were stratified in to 2 groups representing non-response (0 = non-responder) and achieving a clinically meaningful change (1 = clinically meaningful change achieved). Dichotomous variables were used in binary logistic regression models as dependent variables. Number of sessions attended between BL and 12 months were used as independent variables. The intercept value for each model was divided by the parameter estimate to calculate the point in attendance that corresponds to a change from nonresponse to both achieving a measurable change and a clinically meaningful change. Only models with a p > 0.05 were interpreted to estimate number of attendance required for achieving a measurable change or a clinically meaningful change. P-values reported were not adjusted for multiple testing.

#### Results

A total of 403 participants were recruited for this study with 206 participants completing the trial. Participant characteristics are presented in the results section of chapter 4 and reasons for drop out are presented in the results section of chapter 5. In summary, the mean age was  $62.98 \pm 11.00$  years and 50.6% were male. The prevalence of achieving a positive measurable change in  $\geq 1$  health-related variable was 92.2%. In addition, 86.4% of participants achieved a measurable change in  $\geq 1$  health-related variable was being categorized as a non-responder in another.

## Predictors of achieving a measurable change

## **Light Intensity Physical Activity**

A total of 121 participants had valid BL and 6 months LIPA data, with 38.0% classified as non-responders (a decrease in LIPA  $\geq$  0 hr) and 62.0% achieving a measurable change (an increase in LIPA  $\geq$  0.01 hr) (figure 6.1). A clinically meaningful improvement in LIPA was achieved by 25.6% of participants (an increase in LIPA  $\geq$  0.26 hr).



Figure 6.1 Inter-individual variability for change in light intensity physical activity between baseline and 6 months Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; hr = hours

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 27.51$ , p=0.004. The model correctly classified 68.7% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.76 (SE 0.05, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.67 – 0.85). A lower BL LIPA increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable increases in LIPA ( $\beta$ =-1.65, OR 0.19, 95% CI 0.06 – 0.60, p=0.005). In addition, a primary CD diagnosis of metabolic disease decreased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in LIPA ( $\beta$ =-2.73 OR 0.07, 95% CI 0.01 – 0.73, p=0.027).

# 6 minute timed trial

A total of 198 participants completed the 6MTT at BL and 12 months, with 19.2% classified as non-responders (a decrease in 6MTT  $\ge$  0 m) and 80.8% achieving a measurable change (an increase in 6MTT  $\ge$  0.01 m) (figure 6.2). A clinically meaningful change in 6MTT was achieved by 65.7% of participants (an increase in 6MTT  $\ge$  30.5 m).



Figure 6.2 Inter-individual variability for change in six minute timed trial between baseline - 12 months

Note: 6MTT = 6 minute timed trial; m = metres

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 24.97$ , p=0.009. The model correctly classified 81.8% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.76 (SE 0.05, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.68 – 0.84). Increasing age reduced likelihood of achieving a measurable change in 6MTT ( $\beta$ =-0.08, OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.87 – 0.98, p=0.008) and lower 6MTT at BL reduced likelihood of achieving a measurable change ( $\beta$ =0.01, OR 1.01, 95% CI 1.00 – 1.04, p=0.022).

#### Sit to stand

A total of 201 participants completed sit to stand at BL and 12 months, with 20.9% classified as non-responders (an increase in STS  $\geq$  0 sec) and 79.1% achieving a measurable change (a decrease in STS  $\geq$  0.01 sec) (figure 6.3). A clinically meaningful change in sit to stand was achieved by 54.7% of participants (a decrease in STS  $\geq$  3.1 sec).



Figure 6.3 Inter-individual variability for change in sit to stand between baseline - 12 months Note: STS = sit to stand; sec = seconds

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 25.19$ , p=0.009. The model correctly classified 81.5% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.74 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.66 – 0.83). A higher BL sit to stand score, an indication of decreasing lower body strength, increased likelihood of achieving a measurable change in sit to stand ( $\beta$ =0.12, OR 1.13, 95% CI 1.04 – 1.23, p=0.006). In additional, a primary CD diagnosis of cancer increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in sit to stand ( $\beta$ =2.10, OR 8.17, 95% CI 1.14 – 58.37, p=0.036).

# Handgrip

A total of 205 participants completed handgrip at BL and 12 months, with 42.9% classified as non-responders (a decrease in HG  $\geq$  0 kg) and 57.1% achieving a measurable change (an increase in HG  $\geq$  0.01 kg) (figure 6.4). A clinically meaningful change in handgrip was achieved by 17.6% of participants (an increase in HG  $\geq$  5 kg).



Figure 6.4 Inter-individual variability for change in handgrip between baseline - 12 months Note: HG = handgrip; kg = kilograms

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 23.99$ , p=0.013. The model correctly classified 63.6% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.70 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.62 – 0.77). Increasing age reduced the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in handgrip ( $\beta$ =-0.05, OR 0.95, 95% CI 0.92 – 0.99, p=0.011) whereas a poor handgrip score at BL increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change ( $\beta$ =-0.11, OR 0.90, 95% CI 0.85 – 0.95, p=0.000). Finally, women were less likely to achieve a measurable change in handgrip ( $\beta$ =-1.73, OR 0.18, 95% CI 0.07 – 0.48, p=0.001).

## Waist circumference

A total of 203 participants completed waist measurements at BL and 12 months, with 23.3% classified as non-responders (an increase in waist circumference  $\ge 0$  cm) and 76.8% achieving a measurable change (a decrease in waist circumference  $\ge 0.01$  cm) (figure 6.5). A clinically meaningful change in waist circumference was achieved by 42.6% of participants (a decrease in waist circumference  $\ge 5$  cm).



Figure 6.5 Inter-individual variability for change in waist circumference between baseline - 12 months Note: WC = waist circumference; cm = centimetres

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 33.51$ , p=0.000. The model correctly classified 79.3% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.78 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.70 – 0.86). A higher waist circumference at BL increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in waist circumference ( $\beta$ =0.04, OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.01 – 1.08, p=0.025). Current or past smokers were less likely to achieve a measurable change in waist circumference compared to those who never smoked ( $\beta$ =-1.09, OR 0.34, 95% CI 0.13 – 0.83, p=0.019).

## 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire

A total of 139 participants completed PHQ8 at BL and 12 months, with 47.5% classified as non-responders (an increase in PHQ8 score > 0) and 52.5% achieving a measurable change (a decrease in PHQ8 score  $\leq$  0.01) (figure 6.6). A clinically meaningful change in PHQ8 was achieved by 13.7% of participants (a decrease in PHQ8 score  $\geq$  5).



Figure 6.6 Inter-individual variability for change in 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire between baseline - 12 months Note: PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 36.71$ , p=0.000. The model correctly classified 77.6% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.81 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.73 – 0.89). A high PHQ8 score at BL, indicating increased symptoms of depression, increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in PHQ8 ( $\beta$ =0.31, OR 1.37, 95% CI 1.18 – 1.59, p=0.000).

#### EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale

A total of 149 participants completed EQ-VAS at BL and 12 months, with 44.3% classified as non-responders (a decrease in EQ-VAS score  $\leq$  0) and 57.7% achieving a measurable change (an increase in EQ-VAS score  $\geq$  0.01) (figure 6.7). A clinically meaningful change in EQ-VAS was achieved by 39.6% of participants (an increase in EQ-VAS score  $\geq$  10).



Figure 6.7 Inter-individual variability for change in EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale between baseline - 12 months Note: EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 49.77$ , p=0.000. The model correctly classified 74.5% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.83 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.66 – 0.90). Increasing age reduced the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in EQ-VAS ( $\beta$ =-0.06, OR 0.94 95% CI 0.89 – 0.99, p=0.028). A primary CD diagnosis of a respiratory disease reduced the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in EQ-VAS ( $\beta$ =-4.33, OR 0.01 95% CI 0.001 – 0.20, p=0.002).
# Satisfaction with Life Scale

A total of 176 participants completed SWLS at BL and 6 months, with 53.4% classified as non-responders (a decrease in SWLS score  $\leq$  0) and 46.6% achieving a measurable change (an increase in SWLS score  $\geq$  0.01) (figure 6.8). A clinically meaningful change in SWLS was achieved by 17.6% of participants (an increase in SWLS score  $\geq$  5).



# Figure 6.8 Inter-individual variability for change in Satisfaction with Life Scale between baseline and 6 months Note: SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale

The logistic regression was statistically significant  $X^2(11) = 38.27$ , p=0.000. The model correctly classified 66.5% of cases. The AUC for predicted probabilities was 0.77 (SE 0.04, p=0.000, 95% CI 0.70 – 0.84). A lower SWLS at BL, increased the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in the SWLS ( $\beta$ =-0.11, OR 0.89, 95% CI 0.84 – 0.95, p=0.000).

# Estimated number of classes attended to achieve measurable/clinically meaningful improvements.

Significant binary logistic regression models ( $p \le 0.05$ ) for LIPA, barriers to selfefficacy for exercise and, intentions for exercise were identified and used to estimate the number of attended classes required to achieve a measurable change in each of the three variables. It was estimated that attending a mean of 13.3 classes was required to achieve a measurable change in LIPA, attending a mean of 41.3 classes was required to achieve a measurable change in Barriers to Self-Efficacy for Exercise and attending a mean of 51.8 classes was required to achieve a measurable change in Intentions for Exercise. Results displayed in table 6.1

Significant binary logistic regression models ( $p \le 0.05$ ) for step count and weight were found and used to estimate number of attended classes required to achieve a clinically meaningful change in each variable. It was estimated that attending a mean of 70.5 classes was required to achieve a clinically meaningful change in step count and attending a mean of 146.8 classes was required to achieve a clinically meaningful change in weight. Results displayed in table 6.1. Table 6.1 Binary logistic regression results used to estimate required number of attendance for achieving a measurable change and clinically meaningful change in health related measures and psychosocial determinants of physical activity

	Measurable change				Clinically meaningful change			
Variable	β±SE	Intercept	No of attendance	р	β±SE	Intercept	No of attendance	р
LIPA	.017 ± .008	226	13.3	.036	.007 ± .008	-1.354	193.4	.425
MVPA	.004 ± .007	028	7.0	.608	.002 ± .008	698	349.0	.797
Step count	.012 ± .008	172	14.3	.117	.017 ± .008	-1.199	70.5	.029
Time spent in bouts > 60 min	.008 ± .007	307	38.4	.283			-	
Weight	.011 ± .006	.057	5.2	.065	.015 ± .007	-2.202	146.8	.042
PHQ8	.006 ± .007	089	14.8	.405	.002 ± .010	-1.905	952.5	.842
EQ-VAS	.003 ± .007	.113	37.7	.657	.003 ± .007	538	179.3	.679
SWLS	004 ± .007	.232	58.0	.534	011 ± .010	-1.263	114.8	.250
SWEMWBS	005 ± .007	.055	11.0	.491	002 ± .007	820	410.0	.779
Barriers to self-efficacy for exercise	.029 ± .008	-1.198	41.3	.000			-	
Self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise	.011 ± .007	997	90.6	.142			-	
Intentions for exercise	.041 ± .009	-2.125	51.8	.000			-	

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate  $p \le 0.05$ 

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short - Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

Note: Within 12 months if participants attended: 2 classes/wk, total available classes = 96; 3 classes/wk, total available classes = 138; 5 classes/wk, total available classes = 230; 6 classes/wk (which is the maximum available) = total available classes = 276

# Discussion

Almost all participants (92.2%) achieved a measurable improvement in at least one health related measures after participation in the MedEx Wellness CBER program. For measures of LIPA (OR=0.19), lower-body strength (OR=1.04), upper-body strength (OR=0.90), waist circumference (OR=1.04), symptoms of depression (OR=1.37) and satisfaction with life (OR=0.89), a worse result at BL, increased likelihood of achieving a measurable change. In contrast, a better measure at BL of CRF increased likelihood of achieving a measurable change in this measures (OR=1.01). Older participants were less likely to improve CRF (OR=0.93), handgrip (OR=0.95) and self-rated health (OR=0.94). Women were less likely to improve upper-body strength (OR=0.18). Individuals with a primary diagnosis of metabolic disease and respiratory diseases were less likely to improve on measures of LIPA (OR=0.07) and self-rated health (OR=0.01), respectively. Individuals with cancer were more likely to improve lowerbody strength (OR=8.17).

It was estimated that attending 13.3 classes, 41.3 classes and 51.8 classes was required to achieve a measurable improvement in LIPA, barriers to self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise, respectively. In addition it was estimated that attending 70.5 classes, 146.8 classes and 66.3 classes was required to achieve a clinically meaningful improvement in step count, weight and barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, respectively.

A consistent finding of the present study was the large inter-individual variability in response to CBER among a diverse CD population. A lower levels of BL PA, strength, body composition and psychological health was associated with an increased likelihood of improving health related outcomes. Bouchard and Rankinen (2001) found that age, sex and

ethnic origin had a minimal effect on the training response, but that pretraining submaximal HR and BP were associated with a positive response to exercise. Surprisingly, a lower level of BL CRF decreased the likelihood of achieving an improvement in this measure in the current study. It is possible that participants with low CRF were limited in their ability to exercise at an intensity required to elicit positive CRF related adaptations. This is supported by Kaminsky *et al.,* (2013) who found that low CRF levels may limit participation in MVPA. There is currently a need to expand our understanding of the factors associated with non-response to exercise rehabilitation in order to identify non-responders and to tailor programs to minimise the number of participants failing to achieve a positive response.

# Chapter 7

# Discussion

#### Overview

Currently, almost half of the world's adult population suffers from at least one CD, with steadily increasing numbers living with MM (Hernández et al., 2019; Kingston et al., 2018). The implications of this epidemic are far-reaching (Booth et al., 2011; Suhrcke et al., 2006). In particular, CD places an overwhelming strain on healthcare resources (Cronin et al., 2017; Smyth, 2017) and a considerable burden on patients, including limiting ADL and impacting QoL (Harris & Wallace, 2012; Moorman et al., 2007). MM is associated with an even higher risk of premature death, hospital admission, reduced functional capacity and QoL compared to those with a SCD (Bayliss et al., 2004; Fortin et al., 2005; Smith & O'Dowd, 2007; Wallace et al., 2015).

A series of studies were undertaken to: i) determine the levels of PA and SB in a mixed CD cohort and to investigate the associations of PA and SB with selected indices of health; ii) evaluate the effects of CBER on PA levels, SB and selected indices of health in a mixed CD cohort and iii) investigate factors associated with a favourable response to CBER in a mixed CD cohort.

Limited research to date has investigated levels of PA and SB in a mixed CD cohort which also includes individuals with MM. In addition a range of methods have been employed to measure PA and SB in specific CD groups, and this has prevented comparison between groups in previous research. The current research has established that levels of PA and SB do

not differ between specific CD cohort or between those with a SCD and MM. This evidence suggest a need to move away from segregated interventions for improving PA and SB levels within the CD cohort and employing an integrated approach.

This research provides evidence that an integrated delivery model of CBER is an effective approach to increasing PA levels, reducing SB and improving physical functioning, body composition and positive mental health for individuals with a range of CDs and MM. The evidence supporting this novel approach to CBER delivery has immense implications for practical application within the healthcare setting.

The final study of this thesis highlighted the inter-individual variability to exists in the response of individuals with CD to CBER. Notably, specific CD diagnosis or the presence of MM has little impact on response to CBER. BL measures of fitness were identified as primary factors determining response to the program. Such findings provide evidence for the ability to create a profile of individuals as risk of non-response, identify these individuals at BL and implement strategies to reduce the risk of non-response for CD patients attending CBER.

# Study 1

According to the current WHO guidelines, individuals with CD should accumulate a minimum of 150 min of MVPA per week (World Health Organization, 2010) and/or at least 10,000 steps per day to optimise health status (Tudor-Locke et al., 2011a). The community-dwelling CD population in the present study fall short of both PA recommendations, with a mean MVPA and daily step count of 126 min per week (18 min·day<sup>-1</sup>) and 6700 steps per day, respectively. Low levels of MVPA are consistently reported in the CD population. Mean daily

MVPA has been described as 17 min per day in adults with T2DM (Wang et al., 2017), 7.0 to 16.5 min per day in patients with COPD (Bernard et al., 2018; Eliason et al., 2011), 8.6 min per day among those with heart failure, 11.4 min per day in individuals with angina (Evenson et al., 2014), 10 min per day in cancer survivors (Loprinzi et al., 2013), and 3.7 min per day in breast cancer survivors (Lynch et al., 2010). Of the participants in this study 36.3% were found to meet the PA guidelines for MVPA. This is lower than what has previously been reported in healthy adult populations. Recent evidence in the US and Ireland reported that 45% and 48% of adults populations meeting the guidelines for MVPA, respectively (Mc Dowell et al., 2020; Zenko et al., 2019). For participants that were meeting or above the recommended levels of MVPA significantly more favourable measures of aerobic fitness and body composition with large effect sizes and self-rated health with a medium effect size were observed.

Historically, PA guidelines have focused primarily on MVPA. There is now increasing awareness of the importance of LIPA for maintaining and enhancing health. A worrying find from the current study is the mean levels of LIPA (1.1 h per day). This is lower than what has previously been reported in CD populations. Mean daily LIPA has been described as 4.5 h per day in LIPA in individuals with a history of breast cancer (Lynch et al., 2010), 5.5 h per day in individuals with rheumatoid arthritis (Khoja et al., 2016) and 5.8 h per day in patients with T2DM (Healy et al., 2007). More comparable findings have been reported individuals with intermittent claudication at one h per day of walking and 21 min per day shuffling (Lauret et al., 2014).

There is accumulating evidence that significant health-related benefits are associated with LIPA and standing. Beddhu *et al.*, (2015) found that an increase of 2 min per h of LIPA was associated with a lower risk of mortality in individuals with chronic kidney

disease. LIPA has also been associated with a reduced risk of hospitalization, waist circumference and blood glucose levels in individuals with COPD (Donaire-Gonzalez et al., 2015; Park & Larson, 2014); cholesterol, waist circumference and risk of visual impairments in diabetics (Loprinzi et al., 2014; Loprinzi & Pariser, 2013); and HDL-C and total cholesterol in individuals with MM (Li et al., 2019). Recent evidence has demonstrated that reallocating 30 min of sleep, sedentary time or standing with LIPA is associated with marked improvements in BMI, body fat and fat mass in older adults (Powell et al., 2020). Increasing LIPA may be a more attainable goal among individuals with CD who are unable to achieve the daily recommended min of MVPA due to a reduced functional capacity. The current study promotes that targeting LIPA within CD populations is warranted, as low levels of LIPA within this population are established. Moreover, no differences in LIPA were found between different CD diagnosis or those with SCD and MM. Emphasising the message that 'some activity is better than none' (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a) should be considered as an target for intervention, with potential to elicit substantial health benefits. Research is required to establish feasible and scalable interventions which increase PA participation of any intensity within CD populations.

Daily step count is a useful means of capturing daily PA behaviour as it measures all locomotion across the day encompassing both LIPA and MVPA (Tudor-Locke et al., 2011b). Furthermore, step count can be easily translated into guidelines and simplifies the exercise prescription procedure for both practitioners and patients (Dasgupta et al., 2014). A threshold of 10,000 steps per day is currently recommended for optimal health benefits (Choi et al., 2007; Wattanapisit & Thanamee, 2017).

The total daily step count of the CD population in the present study was 6713 steps per day. This is in the typical range for CD cohorts and is categorised as 'low active' (Tudor-Locke *et al.*, 2008). The currenting findings are in line with the mean daily step count reported in previous research. Parkinson's disease patients were found to have a daily step count ranging from 4,765 to 5,423 steps per day (Benka Wallén et al., 2015; Christiansen et al., 2017; Lord et al., 2013). Yates et al., (2014) reported a daily step count of 6,245 steps per day in almost 10,000 individual with impaired glucose tolerance while Lauret *et al.*, (2014), reported a lower daily step count of 5,212 steps per day among patients with intermittent claudication. Among COPD patients, daily step count ranges from 4,782 to 7,232 steps per day, with increasing daily step count associated with a reduction in disease severity (Bernard et al., 2018; Moy et al., 2012).

An important finding in the present study was the significant association between step count and body composition, CRF and self-rated health indicating that a higher step count among individuals with a CD may positively impacts functional capacity, body composition and perception of health status. Effect sizes for these associations ranged from medium to large. Although the current evidence is correlational, research advocates the PA is the behaviours that impacts health outcomes (Blair, 2001). Among individuals with impaired glucose tolerance, each 2000 steps per day increment was associated with a 10% reduction in risk for a cardiovascular event (HR 0.9; 95% CI 0.81 to 1.01) (Yates et al., 2014). A increase in daily step count is associated favourable changes in BP, BMI, waist circumference and HbA1c in women with T2DM (Manjoo et al., 2012; Manjoo et al., 2010). Specifically, each standard deviation increase in daily step count was associated with clinically

significant reductions in waist circumference (-4.6cm; 95% CI -6.4 to -2.8 cm) and BMI (-1.6 kg/m<sup>2</sup>; 95% CI -2.4 to -0.8 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and a decline in HbA1c of 0.16% (95% CI 0.35% to 0,04%) (Manjoo et al., 2012). A 1000 daily step count increment was associated with a -2.6mmHg (95% CI; -4.1 to -1.1 mmHg) and a -1.4 mmHg (95% CI; -2.2 to -0.6 mmHg) change in systolic and diastolic BP, respectively (Manjoo et al., 2010). Severity of airflow obstruction and markers of systematic inflammation are associated with daily step counts among COPD patients (Moy et al., 2014; Saunders et al., 2016). A recent longitudinal study in 16,741 women (mean age 72.0 y) revealed that increasing daily step count evoked a steady decline in mortality rates, which appeared to reach a plateau at 7,500 steps per day (Lee *et al.*, 2019). Per increase in daily step count quartiles from lowest to highest the corresponding HR were 0.54 (95% CI 0.43 to 0.69), 0.47 (95% CI 0.35 to 0.62) and 0.34 (95% CI 0.24 to 0.48), respectively. Notably, the reduce risk of mortality among the women who increased their daily step count from 2,700 to 4,400 steps per day was approximately 46%. These findings provide strong encouragement for individuals restricted in their ability to achieve 10,000 steps/day and those in the lowest quartile of daily step count.

Compared to healthy populations, the CD cohort are markedly less physically active. In a population based study, the prevalence of self-reported low PA, classified as "mostly sitting down during leisure time", was highest in COPD (84.2%), followed by rheumatoid arthritis (74.4%), diabetes mellitus (72.5%) and finally healthy subjects (60.2%) (Arne et al., 2009). Similarly, Brawner *et al.*, (2016) found lower levels of self-reported leisure time PA across all CD categories compared to healthy comparisons, with the lowest levels found in individuals following a myocardial infarction, diabetes, kidney disease, stroke and COPD. Patients with COPD have reported mean daily walking time of almost half that of healthy age

matched controls (Pitta et al., 2005). In the present study, there was no significant difference in PA or SB between different primary CD diagnosis or between those with SCD or MM. A recent Canadian National Health Survey, also reported no difference in PA or SB between individuals with 1, 2 or  $\geq$  3 CDs (Hains-Monfette et al., 2019). Efforts to increase PA and reduce SB can apply to all individuals with a CD diagnosis, regardless of condition or severity.

The fact that participants in the current study spent on average 9.5 h of the waking day sedentary is alarming considering that SB is associated with increased BMI, waist circumference and TG, and decreased HDL-C and VO<sub>2</sub>peak (Prince et al., 2016). A recent metaanalysis found a positive dose-response relation between sitting time and CVD, and between cancer and all-cause mortality (Zhao et al., 2020). Not surprisingly, an increased risk of MM is associated with SB (Vancampfort et al., 2017). Zhao et al., (2020) found that the risk of mortality associated with SB was amplified in participants with T2DM and hypertension, suggesting that SB in combination with CD is more likely to have a damaging impact on health. High levels of MVPA can attenuate the negative effects of prolonged SB (Ekelund et al., 2016) however, individuals with CD are limited in their ability to achieve the required levels. A definitive threshold of too much SB is yet to be established and current recommendations on the daily amount of SB remain vague. The inverse association between SB and the factor representing functional capacity and self-efficacy for exercise is a novel findings and is worthy of further investigation. Moreover the effect size of this association was interpreted as large. This finding suggest that increasing SB may not only limit an individual's functional capability to be active, but can also reduce their exercise self-efficacy. Hence a vicious cycles onsets. The relation between self-efficacy to be active and SB has yet to be established. A recent

meta-analysis reported preliminary evidence that there is a significant inverse association between individual's SB and their self-efficacy to reduce it (Szczuka et al., 2019).

The pattern in which sedentary time is accumulated is also of clinical relevance. Prolonged and less fragmented SB has been associated with less favourable cardiometabolic and inflammatory biomarkers, poorer physical function, increased risk of abdominal obesity, greater BMI and increased risk of developing CD and depression (Dunstan et al., 2012; Healy et al., 2011; Jefferis et al., 2015; Judice et al., 2015; Sardinha et al., 2015). Among participants in the present study, the majority of SB was accumulated in bouts lasting > 30 min, with approximately one third of SB accumulated in bouts > 60 min. Increasing breaks in SB is associated with favourable measures of BMI, waist circumference, HDL-C, triglycerides, and glucose control, independent of total sedentary time (Bankoski et al., 2011; Dunstan et al., 2012; Healy et al., 2008a). Dorhn *et al.*, (2018) recently reported that breaks in SB involving LIPA was associated with reduced risk of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality.

Similar to step count, a specific target for total SB or bout length of sedentary behaviour has not yet been identified. In conjunction with increasing PA levels, current guidelines in the US are now promoting the reduction of SB and prolonged bout of SB (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018a). Other current public health messages regarding SB include statements such as *"break up long periods of sitting as often as possible"* (Australian Department of Health, 2019) or *"adults and older adults should avoid long periods of sitting"* (Fuezeki et al., 2017b).

An unexpected finding was the inverse relation between SB and LDL-C and SB and the PCA factor representing cholesterol, suggesting that longer bouts of SB is associated with

a worsening cholesterol profile. The "active couch potato phenomenon" represents individuals who are highly sedentary however also meet the recommended guidelines of MVPA (Owen et al., 2010). This pattern of PA and SB among participants could explain result in the observed association between SB and LDL-C. However, it is unlikely that this is the case given the low levels of PA also reported within the population. A possible explanation for this finding may be related to HMG CoA reductase inhibitor (statins) induced muscle myopathy. Statins are routinely prescribed to lower cholesterol in patients with CVD (Ziaeian & Fonarow, 2017). One of the most common side effects of statin therapy is muscle myopathy that can severely limited PA (Parker & Thompson, 2012). Lee *et al.*, (2014) also reported that older men taking statins had significantly more SB than those who were not on the medication. Although there was no information provided on medication use, more than one third (37.7%) of participants had CVD and were therefore likely to be taking statins as per standard guidelines.

#### Limitations of Study 1

Participants were recruited from individuals who were referred to and attended induction to a CBER program. Not all patients referred to the program attended the induction session. It is possible that those who did attend may have been more physically active and not representative of the general CD population giving rise to selection bias. Additionally, registering for an exercise rehabilitation program and/or attending induction may motivate participants to become more active. As no ActivPAL threshold currently exists for MVPA in a chronic disease population, MVPA was classified as  $\geq$  25 steps per 15 sec epoch, based off recommendations by Tudor-Locke et al., (2011a). This stepping frequency may not represent

MVPA in frail and deconditioned participants. Participant use medication was not collected which is a significant limitation of this research. Household income was estimated using the median household income assigned to the area of each participants address. As this is a proxy measure of gross household income it is a limitation when interpreting findings related to income. A major limitation of the research design is that exposure and outcomes are simultaneously assessed, which prevents the identification of causation or the analysis of behaviour over a period of time. Although, accelerometers, particularly those with an inbuilt inclinometer are the most accurate devise currently available to measure PA and SB, they have limitations. Participants may temporarily change their behaviour due to awareness of being monitored (Hawthorn effect) (Wickström & Bendix, 2000). In addition, the device has to be removed for water-based activities such as swimming or aqua aerobics.

Finally, as there was a large number of health-related outcome measures that were used as dependent variable in analysis, there was an increased risk of a type 1 error (Knudson & Lindsey, 2014). Data was subjected to principal component analysis (PCA) as an approach to reducing type 1 error. However, missing data significantly impacted the sample size included within factors.

#### Conclusion

The aim of this study was to describe the levels of PA and SB in a mixed CD population and to investigate the association of PA and SB with selected indices of health. The findings suggest that individuals with a CD, regardless of condition, participate in low levels of daily PA as measured by daily step count, LIPA and MVPA. Moreover, a high proportion of the day is spent in SB. A higher daily step count was associated with more favourable measures of

body composition, aerobic fitness and self-rated health, with medium, large and medium effect sizes, respectively. More sedentary time was associated with less favourable lower body strength, however the effect size of this association was small. In contrast, more SB was also associated with more favourable measures of LDL-C and depressive symptoms, both with a medium effect size observed.

Whether individuals with CD become less active as a result of worsening health or whether the health of an individual with CD deteriorates as a result of decreased PA levels and/or increasing SB is unclear. Regardless, it is likely that a deleterious cycle exists, where sustained physical inactivity induces dysfunction and disease progression, further limiting PA engagement and increasing SB (Booth et al., 2017). There is a need for public health services to promote the beneficial effects of both increasing PA, including participation in LIPA, and reducing SB. For the CD population, a simple message of "move more, sit less" very much encompasses the action needed to enhance health through PA.

# Study 2

Exercise rehabilitation programs offer a means of increasing PA engagement for individuals with CD. CBER programs can shift the resource burden from the healthcare system and remove many of the accessibility barriers associated with participation in hospital-based programmes. MedEx Wellness is a novel CBER program, that takes an integrated approach to CD rehabilitation by delivering a shared program across multiple CD. Study 2 evaluated the effect of 12 months of participation in the MedEx Wellness program in men and women with a diverse range of both SCD and MM. There were significant improvements in LIPA and patterns of SB, physical function, body composition and psychological health. In addition, a

higher rate of attendance was associated with improvements in LIPA, MVPA, step count, patterns of SB, body composition, psychological health and psychosocial determinants of PA. There were largely no differences identified between those with a range of SCD and MM in terms of their response to the integrated CBER program. The results of this study strongly advocate the a mixed CBER model can be efficacious.

The rates of uptake and drop-out to the programme compared favourably to similar exercise rehabilitation programs. Uptake, defined as attending at least one exercise class following induction, was 92.6%. In a systematic review of exercise referral schemes in the UK, the pooled levels of uptake was 66% (Pavey et al., 2012). Of those individuals who initiated the MedEx Wellness program, 41.4% dropped-out within the 12-month period. Drop-out rates of 50% and 58% have been previously been reported for short-term (6 - 8 weeks) cardiac rehabilitation (Cannon & O'Gara, 2007; Mikkelsen et al., 2014; Turk-Adawi et al., 2013) and pulmonary rehabilitation programs (Royal College of Physicians, 2016). Including individuals who never initiated the program, total drop-out was 49%. The highest rate of dropout in the current study occurred in the first 3 months, which is a consistent trend in CD exercise rehabilitation programs (Carmody et al., 1980; Nam et al., 2012; Yohannes et al., 2007). The findings indicate that if patients can be encouraged to attend a CD program for 3 months, there is a much higher likelihood of retention at 12 months.

The primary reason for dropout was physical limitations due to ill-health or injury. Courneya *et al.*, (2014) found a similar trend in cancer patients, where adherence to an exercise program was worse in patients with more physical limitations. A negative perception of health is an established barrier to PA among CD patients (Forechi et al., 2018). A perception of poor health may represent a robust negative psychological influence on exercise engagement in this patient cohort. Obesity and/or BMI have also been identified as determinants of adherence in cardiac rehabilitation (Forhan et al., 2013) and exercise rehabilitation for cancer (Courneya et al., 2014). Dropouts from MedEx Wellness program had significantly less favourable measures of BMI, hip circumference, triglycerides and LDL-C.

Dropouts had significantly less social support for exercise, which is believed to have a direct influence on exercise behaviour (Resnick et al., 2002) and is a primary psychosocial determinant of exercise adherence in CD (Hartman et al., 2013). In patients with CVD, T2DM and cancer, social support has been identified as a strong predictor of PA engagement (Adeniyi et al., 2012; Aliabad et al., 2014; Ormel et al., 2018; Won & Son, 2017). Individuals with CVD were more likely to remain in the MedEx Wellness program compared to other CD cohorts. This may be explained in part by the fact that many of the CVD participants were referred directly from a phase III cardiac rehabilitation program and it is possible that participating in a CBER program may have provided an opportunity to continue their exercise program. It is also likely that having a significant acute health event, such as a myocardial infarction, may intrinsically motivate someone to exercise (Seifert et al., 2012).

There were significant differences in age and employment status between drop-outs and completers. Dropouts were younger and more likely to be unemployed. Selzler *et al.*, (2012) reported age to be the strongest predictor of dropout from pulmonary rehabilitation with younger patients at a greater risk of dropping out. Similarly, older adults are more likely to uptake and adhere to exercise referral schemes compared to younger adults (Campbell et al., 2015; Pavey et al., 2011). It is possible that employment is the mediating factor because younger participants are on average, below the retirement age. Unemployment has

linking unemployment and an increased risk of dropout however, remain unclear (Leung et al., 2017). Developing a profile of dropouts could assist in identifing participants at high risk of dropout and guide the support structures required to maintain participation. The current study provides evidence that the characteristics of an individual more likely to dropout from CBER include younger, unemployed, non-retired or overweight individuals. Whether these characteristics occur independently or concurrent has yet to be established, however it is likely that exercise adherence is dependent on a range of factors. As drop-out rates remain sub-optimal, there is a need for a more proactive approach to prevent the loss of vulnerable participants prematurely from CBER programs. For example, the current findings propose that individuals who are retired are less likely to drop out, suggesting that time constraints is a possible barriers resulting in dropout in the younger, non-retired cohort. This information could inform the delivery of CBER services to assist individuals to overcome this barrier. A possible offering of shorter classes (45 min rather than one hr) or classes outside of general working hours (early morning or evening) could have an impact on drop-out rates. Adherence strategies that can be translated into the real-world delivery of CBER requires further research. Interestingly, sex was not associated with uptake or adherence to the MedEx Wellness program, as previous research has reported that women are more likely to uptake exercise referral schemes compared to men, whereas men are more likely to adhere to the programs (Gidlow et al., 2005; Pavey et al., 2011).

Few participants attended the recommended 2 classes per week. Despite the low adherence rate, there were significant improvements in a number of health indices. Previous research has shown some efficacy for low exercise dose interventions (Paw et al., 2008; Theou et al., 2011). Importantly, a higher attendance was associated with greater overall health

benefits. A recent intervention study reported non-significant improvements in HRQoL in older adults participating in a low-dose exercise program (2 exercise session/wk), however those participating in a high-dose exercise program (three exercise classes/wk) demonstrated significant improvements in each HRQoL dimension measured (Kaushal et al., 2019). The evidence advocates that although health related benefits can be attained with minimal attendance, greater benefits are likely to be achieved when attendance is increased. The role of intensity of exercise, in favour of greater intensities, for eliciting positive health-related has been widely accepted (Warburton & Bredin, 2017). However manipulation of total weekly exercise time has yet to has not yet been established.

Home-based exercise programs have shown to be as effective as centre-based in cardiac rehabilitation in terms of mortality risk, cardiac events, exercise capacity, a range of modifiable risk factors and QoL (Dalal et al., 2010) However, adherence to home-based exercise was reported as superior. Home-based rehabilitation provides an opportunity to widen access to exercise rehabilitation and thereby may be associated with greater adherence. Hardcastle & Cohen, (2017) suggest that attending centre-based rehabilitation programs may require a high level of motivation which can result in reduced adoption of these services. Similarly, in cancer survivors, research has reported a preference for home-based PA rather than centre-based (Hardcastle et al., 2017). It is possible that the optimal approach to exercise rehabilitation delivery is to offer a choice between centre-based or home-based. Differing preferences for both home and centre based rehabilitation was explored by Wingham *et al.*, (2006) in cardiac patients. Those showing preference for home-based rehabilitation believed that their rehabilitation should fit in with their lives rather than their lives fitting in with the rehabilitation. In contrast, those with preference for centre-based

rehabilitation placed emphasis on supervision during exercise and the need for the camaraderie of a group. Home-based exercise programs do not provide opportunity for peer support and role modelling. It is possible that a hybrid model of rehabilitation delivery which includes both centre-based and home-based elements may be a suitable alternative to CBER to provide wider access and efficacy of the service.

MVPA and step count did not change significantly in the present study but both were positively associated with attendance. Although MVPA is recommended for optimal health benefits, emerging evidence suggests that LIPA improves health. Participation in the MedEx CBER program was associated with a significant improvement in LIPA. The clinical implications of the observed improvement are questionable as the average daily increase overserved in LIPA between BL and 12 m is approximately 6 min. Conversely, no threshold has yet been identified that must be exceeded before beneficial effects onset as a result of increasing PA levels.

It is well established that psychosocial factors, including self-efficacy for exercise, are important determining factors for PA participation in individuals with CD (Bauman et al., 2012; Dutton et al., 2009; Hartman et al., 2013; Plotnikoff et al., 2000; Selzler et al., 2012). A regression in barriers to self-efficacy for exercise, self-regulatory self-efficacy for exercise and intentions for exercise was observed over the course of this study. This is an unexpected outcome as previous research reports that participation in exercise alone can increase exercise self-efficacy (Fletcher, 2012). In addition, the incorporation of exercise consultations which included a review of participant goals, provided with feedback on progress and strategies to overcome barriers was expected to impact exercise self-efficacy. This finding could account for the minimal changes that occurred in MVPA and step count. Moreover, the

relation between changes in psychosocial determinants for PA and changes in PA were weak, which could indicate the absolute change in both variables was minimal and relations could not be identified.

Program attendance was positively associated with improved self-efficacy for PA, self-regulatory self-efficacy for PA and intentions to exercise, in addition to MVPA and step count. It is probable many of the participants with low attendance did not gain experience or develop confidence in their abilities to be independently physically active or overcome barriers for physical activity. It is likely that participants may have had great intentions to becoming PA at induction to the program, following initial referral from a healthcare professional. The study findings indicate that these intentions were not maintained after the initial stages of joining the program. Several behaviour change techniques such as goal-setting, self-monitoring, prompts, graded tasks, non-specific rewards and social rewards, have been found to enhancing intentions for exercise, self-efficacy and overall PA levels (Finne et al, 2018; Samdal et al., 2017). Further research is required to investigate how to effectively incorporating evidence based behaviour change techniques feasibly into CBER. This knowledge could inform services on how to evoke improvements in exercise self-efficacy and further improve engagement with the program and PA outside of the program.

Increasing the number of interruptions in SB is associated with more favourable measures of BMI, waist circumference, HDL-C, TG, blood glucose control and markers of chronic inflammation (Bankoski et al., 2011; Dunstan et al., 2012; Healy et al., 2008b; Henson, et al., 2013a). For individuals who fail to meet the recommended levels of PA, reducing time spent in prolonged sedentary bouts may be a possible approach to initiating health enhancing behaviours. The evidence from both study 1 and study 2 support this theory. In the cross-

sectional analysis of study 1 less SB was associated with more favourable lower body strength. In study 2, changes in patterns of SB, where SB was accumulated in shorter bouts was observed. In addition a range of improvements in physical functioning, body composition and psychological health were found. No changes in MVPA were found, and minimal changes in LIPA were demonstrated. The current analysis did not identify the mechanisms which led to the positive changes in health outcomes. In line with previous evidence promoting the beneficial effects of more fragmented SB, it is possible that this change in SB may have had a role to play.

There is currently no published data evaluating the impact of CBER as an approach to reducing SB in CD cohorts. However, available evidence indicates those who are current participating in CBER or have previously attended CBER, have lower levels of SB compared to those have do not (Hernandes et al., 2013; Simoes et al., 2009). Although there was no significant change in total sedentary time, there was a change in the pattern of SB. An increase in the total number of sedentary bouts and more time spent in sedentary bouts of 11-30 min in duration, may imply there was greater interruption in SB and SB was accumulated in less prolonged bouts. In addition, attendance was inversely associated with time spent in sedentary bouts > 60 min. Although the threshold for a prolonged bout of SB has yet to be established, research has found that each additional sedentary bouts  $\ge 10$  min was positively associated with waist circumference. Indeed, sedentary bouts of  $\ge 60$  min are associated with a 48% increased risk of abdominal obesity (Judice et al., 2015).

By participants engaging in the CBER program is was assumed that this would have a knock on effect on SB. However increasing PA causes fatigue that, consequently can have

the unintended effect of also increasing SB, resulting the possible offset of the PA related health benefits (Siddique et al., 2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis by Prince *et al.*, (2014) provides some supporting evidence that small reductions in SB can result from PA focused interventions. Interventions that target both PA and SB also resulted in modest reductions in daily SB, however SB focused interventions may be the most effective in resulting in large and clinically meaningful reductions in daily SB. Incorporating SB targeted interventions within the CBER model may have a greater impact on changing SB in this cohort.

It has been well documented that participation in exercise rehabilitation can improve health-related outcomes in individuals with CD, including indices of physical, clinical and psychological health (Anderson et al., 2016; Dunlay et al., 2014; Houchen-Wolloff et al., 2018; McCarthy et al., 2015; Puhan et al., 2016; Shepherd & While, 2012). Much of the research has focused on exercise in a clinical setting but similar improvements have been reported following participation in CBER programs. The effectiveness of CBER in improving healthrelated outcomes has been demonstrated in patients with diabetes (Gallé et al., 2019; Mendes et al., 2016, 2017), CVD (Bethell & Mullee, 1990; Cramp et al., 2010; Kwan et al., 2016; Marsden et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2016a), COPD (Amin et al., 2014; Beauchamp et al., 2013; Godtfredsen et al., 2019; Varas et al., 2018), cancer (Foley & Hasson, 2016; Foley et al., 2018; Knobf et al., 2014; Leach et al., 2015; Rajotte et al., 2012; Santa Mina et al., 2017) and neurological conditions (Combs et al., 2013; Corcos et al., 2013; Elsworth et al., 2011; Poliakoff et al., 2013; Salbach et al., 2014).

The research to date is limited to specific CD populations and often excludes individuals with MM. A systematic review of CBER across chronic disease populations identified that the design and components of programmes were similar, irrespective of

disease (Desveaux et al., 2014a). The current study adopted a novel approach by integrating individuals with diverse CD diagnosis and MM into the same CBER program. The findings indicate that a shared approach to CBER is viable for the management of CD and offers a more resource efficient and potentially scalable rehabilitation strategy.

CRF reflects the integrative functioning of the respiratory, cardiovascular and skeletal muscle systems and is an independent predictor of overall health and mortality (Church et al., 2001; McAuley et al., 2009; Steell et al., 2019; Sui et al., 2010). Performance in 6MTT, an indicator of CRF improved at each time point in the present study. This is an important finding because even small improvements in CRF are associated with significant health consequences. For example, a one MET increase in CRF is associated with a 13% reduction in all-cause mortality (Kodama et al., 2009). A significant interaction effect between time and primary CD diagnosis was identified for 6MTT. Individuals with a primary diagnosis of cancer had a significantly higher CRF across all timepoints, suggesting that on average individuals with cancer have greater levels of CRF compared to other disease cohorts. Not surprisingly, those with respiratory disease had significantly lower CRF compared to CVD and metabolic disease across all timepoints. The specific symptoms of COPD make engagement in PA unpleasant as a result of air trapping and increased hyperinflation of the lungs, leading to breathlessness (O'Donnell, 2007). Increased breathlessness provokes anxiety towards PA, which inevitably leads to exacerbations of COPD. A vicious cycle is likely to develop whereby PA is avoided and further deconditioning onsets (Bourbeau, 2007).

The cancer cohort appear to display a distinct pattern of change in CRF compared to all other CD groups (figure 5.5). There was a large improvement 6MTT performance between BL and 3 months, followed by a slight decline. Interestingly, the participants with cancer were

the only group to receive a fixed 12 week program, as opposed to a continuous service. They were assessed at BL and 3 months, in line with other participants and retested at 6 and 12 months. Shorter term programs are common in cancer survivorship rehabilitation (Christopher & Morrow, 2004; Foley & Hasson, 2016; Leach et al., 2015). Once in survivorship, there is a greater emphasis for individuals with cancer to return to general public exercise services (Dennett et al., 2019; Penttinen et al., 2019). Similarly, the MedEx Wellness service catering for cancer survivors, entitled "Move On", worked in 12 week cycles with an emphasis on patients transferring back to previous gym facilities or exercise routines. In addition, the exercise content of the Move On program varied slightly in comparison to the general MedEx Wellness classes. Instructors incorporated spinning, circuits, Pilates and TRX training into classes on a regular basis within the 12 weeks. It is possible that those within the Move On program received a higher intensity exercise prescription during the program, resulting in substantial improvements in CRF. However, once out of the service, the findings from the present study suggest that CRF levels may start to decline, whereas other CD cohorts that remained in the program continued to improve beyond the 3 month timepoint.

Musculoskeletal fitness is associated with functional capacity including ability to carry out ACL, maintaining independence, risk of fracture, QoL and cognitive function (Kell et al., 2001; Pate et al., 2012; Warburton et al., 2001; Warburton & Bredin, 2016) and is predictive of premature mortality (Fujita et al., 1995; Katzmarzyk & Craig, 2002). Muscular strength improved over the course of the program. Improvements in musculoskeletal fitness, have widespread effects for individuals with CD, particularly improved functional capacity and the ability to perform ADL. The current guidelines for resistance training are 8-10 exercises, of at least a moderate intensity for 8-12 repetitions, which targets all major muscle groups on

2 or more days a week (Australian Department of Health, 2019; Chodzko-Zajko et al., 2009; Department of Health & Children & Health Service Executive, 2009; Tremblay et al., 2011; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018b). The minimum recommended attendance in the MedEx Wellness program of 2 class per week, would ensure participants were meeting these guidelines. Improved muscle strength reduces the reliance on family and society for personal care, delays in disease progression, reduced obesity, and improves glucose metabolism, bone health and psychological health (Hessert et al., 2005; Warburton et al., 2001).

Maintaining flexibility is associated with important health implications including QoL and independent living (Katzmarzyk & Craig, 2002). Interestingly, individuals with MM had less favourable measures for sit and reach values at BL, but appeared to achieve greater improvements across all time points compared to those with SCD. Compared to individuals with SCD those with MM have a significantly greater reduction in functional capacity (Bayliss et al., 2004; Smith & O'Dowd, 2007; Wallace et al., 2015) but also achieve substantial improvements following participation in a regular physical activity program. (Pate et al., 1995).

Favourable changes in body composition were observed over the course of this study, with improvements in both waist and hip circumferences. There was inverse relation between attendance with both BMI and weight. Abdominal obesity is strongly and positively related to all-cause, CVD and cancer mortality, independent of BMI, with elevated waist circumference significantly associated with CVD mortality even among normal weight individuals (Zhang et al., 2008). In addition, obesity is a significant contributor to morbidity and mortality from CVD, diabetes, cancer, osteoarthritis, liver and kidney disease and

depression (Pi-Sunyer, 2009). Exercise training is effective in counteracting the metabolic complications associated with abdominal obesity, both directly through fat loss and through favourable effects on insulin sensitivity, plasma lipoprotein profile and improve fibrinolytic activity (Buemann & Tremblay, 1996).

An unexpected finding was the significant increase in LDL-C over the 12 month period. Although information on prescribed medication was not attained from participants, it is likely that many participants were prescribed statins to lower cholesterol. Research has suggested that 40% of CVD patients reduce adherence to statin therapies within the first year of prescription, due primarily to muscle myopathy (Thornley et al., 2012). There is potential that some of the participants, reduced adherence to statin therapies over the course of the study leading to an increase in LDL-C levels. It is also a possibility that the dose of PA which participants engaged in throughout the study, was not sufficient enough to elicit beneficial effects on LDL-C. The fact that levels of MVPA did not change, suggests the potential of this theory. Finally, there was no data collected on the dietary habits of participants during the study, but it also may be possible that participants changed dietary habits over the 12 m and this may have had an impact on measured LDL-C.

Living with a CD is associated with a significant psychological burden and increased levels of depression, anxiety and decreased satisfaction with life are common in many CD cohorts (Chapman et al., 2008; Hébert, 1997; Mhaoláin et al., 2012; Rajput et al., 2016; Restorick Roberts et al., 2017). Improvements in psychological health are associated with better physical health (Boehm & Kubzansky, 2012; Pressman et al., 2019; Trudel-Fitzgerald et al., 2019). Ideally, treatment strategies for CD should target both the physical and psychological burden of the disease.

There is a substantial body of evidence linking CBER to improved measures of psychological health (Amin et al., 2014; Beauchamp et al., 2013; Christopher & Morrow, 2004; Elsworth et al., 2011; Foley et al., 2018; Godtfredsen et al., 2019; Haas et al., 2012; Harrington et al., 2010; Knobf et al., 2014; Rajotte et al., 2012). Participation in the MedEx Wellness CBER program improved symptoms of depression, self-rated health and satisfaction with life. The largest improvements in psychological health were in participants with the highest attendance.

With the exception of patients with a primary diagnosis of respiratory disease, all other CD groups had a significant improvement in symptoms of depression, satisfaction with life and positive mental health throughout the program. Individuals with respiratory disease had evidence of worsening psychological health scores (figures 5.6 - 5.8). Respiratory disease has been strongly associated with a negative psychological health (Hynninen et al., 2005) and the rates of both anxiety and depression are more prevalent in COPD sufferers compared to other CDs (Solano et al., 2006). The negative impact of respiratory disease on QoL could not be counteracted with CBER, despite significant improvements in other health indices. This may be due in part to the clinical sequelae (fibrosis) and severe functional impairment associated with respiratory disease.

A significant interaction effect was found between time and SCD or MM for positive mental health. Simple effects analysis did not indicate and difference between those with SCD or MM across timepoints. However, lower measures of psychological health were apparent in those with MM at BL compared to individuals with a SCD. Participants with MM achieved greater improvements across all time points than SCD (figure 5.10). MM is associated with a greater impact on QoL compared to SCD (Fortin et al., 2005; Smith & O'Dowd, 2007; Wallace

et al., 2015) and it is likely that those at poorer initial psychological health had more to gain from engagement in the CBER program.

Although group interaction was relatively low as participants attended a mean of 23 – 32 sessions in 12 m (all participants and completers, respectively), it is possible that the group-based setting of the MedEx Wellness classes had an impact on the improvements observed in the various measures of psychological health. Social isolation is commonly observed among individuals with CD (Biordi & Nicholson, 2013) and the group exercise classes offered an opportunity for social interaction and engagement. Although no significant changes in measures of social support were found in this study, it is worth noting that greater attendance was associated with improvements in this measure. In a qualitative study of CBER involving COPD, the psychosocial benefits were believed to mediated in part from the interpersonal relationships with the gym instructors and the support received from peers within the exercise group (Desveaux et al., 2014b). Participants highlighted the importance of the opportunity to integrate into the community and with community members. The experience of social connection with regular gym members provided a sense of feeling socially included and valued.

# Limitations of Study 2

The primary limitation of this study is the lack of a usual care control group. As the study setting was within an established program in the community, withholding the service to allow for a controlled trial was not considered ethically appropriate. A clustered controlled trial was not feasible due to the challenge of identifying a control group matched to the diverse CD population included and due to resource limitations. The lack of a comparison

group limits the ability to infer cause and effect. Similar to study 1, there is a risk of selection bias as participants were recruited from those who attended induction to the CBER program and no data was collected on those that were not referred or declined to attend. Additionally, study uptake rates were not recorded, although very few patients attending programme induction declined to participate. The method used to monitor attendance (scanned entry to the gym using individual fobs) could not differentiate between scanner entry for a class or scanned entry to the gym for personal use. Although the use of the gym facility outside of class times was not regularly availed of by participants, there is possibility that some attendance records include personal gym use also. Participant use medication was not collected which is a significant limitation of this research. Given the population studied, maturation may threaten the validity of the findings, as changes in health status may have occurred over the 12-month period. The MedEx Wellness program closes for three weeks during the Summer and three weeks at Christmas, which may have compromised outcome results due to a detraining effect and impacted attrition. Finally the researches were not blinded to the outcome measures.

# Conclusion

PA can have a profound effect on the treatment and management of CD (Warburton et al., 2006). Exercise rehabilitation programs provide an opportunity for individuals with CD to increase PA engagement. Delivering such programs in the community can improve accessibility, "normalise" or "demedicalise" exercise, and support individuals to incorporate PA into their daily or weekly routine. This study has shown that adopting a common CD model of CBER delivery can be successful in increasing LIPA levels and improving patterns of SB,

however the observed effect size was small. Moreover CBER is effective in enhancing physical functioning, body composition and psychological health outcomes. Observed effect sizes were small, with the exception of CRF where a large effect size was found. Largely no differences were found between different primary CD diagnosis or between those with a SCD and MM when participating in CBER, advocating for an integrated model approach.

#### Study 3

The results from Study 2 indicate that participation in the MedEx Wellness CBER program is associated with significant improvements in LIPA, SB, physical function and psychological health in men and women with a range of CDs. However, statistically significant improvements in health outcomes expressed as mean values often mask large inter-individual variability in measurable improvements in the response to lifestyle interventions. The present study identified factors associated with a measurable improvement in physical and psychological outcomes in men and women with SCD and MM in response to participation in a CBER program.

Although a measurable improvement in at least one health related outcome was achieved by 92.2% of participants, the prevalence of non-response (no change or a decrease) ranged from 19.2% for CRF to 53.4% for satisfaction with life. The findings indicate that participants attending a CBER program do not achieve positive improvements across all health-related measures. Both genetic and environmental factors and their interaction determine the individual response to lifestyle interventions. It is well established that BL measures of fitness and health are important determinants of how individuals respond to lifestyle interventions (Mann et al., 2014). Understanding how participants characteristics

determine measurable individual responses to exercise training would greatly assist allied health professionals in the design and deliver of future services. Specifically, individuals with more favourable BL measures of fitness and health are more likely to have a lower response to exercise training than those with less favourable BL measures (Bouchard & Rankinen, 2001). This can be explained by the 'ceiling effect' where further improvements in indices of fitness and health are limited beyond a certain threshold.

In the present study, a less favourable BL measure of PA levels (LIPA), functional capacity (lower- and upper- body strength), body composition (waist circumference), and psychological health (symptoms of depression and satisfaction with life) was found to increase the likelihood of achieving a measurable improvement. In contrast, lower BL CRF and increasing age reduced the likelihood of achieving a measurable change in the CRF. The 6MTT is a commonly used field-based measure of CRF. Low levels of CRF are associated with a small functional reserve and, can therefore severely limit the capacity to undertake moderate intensity exercise (Kaminsky et al., 2013). It is possible that study participants with low CRF levels were unable to exercise at an appropriate intensity level required to improve oxygen uptake, even when the exercise program was modified to account for their low functional capacity. From a clinical perspective, the identification of an age-adjusted, minimum 6MTT performance for entry to CBER would help to identify participants with a minimal functional capacity to ensure sufficient engagement with the program. Individuals below the minimum 6MTT threshold could be prescribed a remedial one-on-one exercise program to increase CRF levels prior to engaging in a group based exercise program.

For a number of health related outcomes, achieving a measurable change was predicted by primary CD diagnosis. A primary diagnosis of metabolic disease decreased the

likelihood of improving LIPA. This has important clinical implications, as low levels of PA are commonly associated with the presence of metabolic diseases (Egede & Zheng, 2002; Loprinzi et al., 2014; Loprinzi & Pariser, 2013; Nelson et al., 2002) and increasing levels of PA is challenging in this sedentary cohort (Cradock et al., 2017). Studies consistently report that participation in MVPA is suboptimal in patients with metabolic diseases and based on the findings in this study increasing efforts to promote LIPA among this patient cohort are warranted.

A primary CD diagnosis of cancer was associated with an increased likelihood of achieving a measurable improvement in the lower-body strength, which was used to assed lower body muscular endurance. Many cancer patients report a substantial decrease in PA levels after diagnosis (Irwin et al., 2011). Cancer therapies including chemotherapy, radiotherapy and hormonal therapy may result in loss of muscle mass and muscle weakness (Daly et al., 2018; Sturgeon et al., 2019) exercise has been shown to reverse the deleterious effect of cancer treatment on muscle function.

A primary diagnosis of respiratory disease was found to reduce the likelihood of improving self-rated health. Psychological health decreased in the respiratory cohort over the duration of the 12-month MedEx Wellness program as described in study 2. An individual's perception of physical exertion during exercise is highly correlated with pulmonary ventilation and respiratory rate (Robertson & Noble, 1997). For individuals with COPD, the experience of inspiratory difficulty can be overwhelming (Hanania & O'Donnell, 2019). In addition, the increased motor command output and contractile muscle efforts associated with exercise induces heavier breathing in both healthy individuals and those with COPD (Burton et al., 2004). Importantly, the anticipation of dyspnea itself can have

considerable negative psychological impact and has been found to be a mediator of anxiety (Janssens et al., 2011). Although PA is important for improving patient outcomes in COPD, experiences of dyspnea, even in patients with a mild diagnosis of COPD, can significant impact health-related QoL (Miravitlles & Ribera, 2017).

A secondary aim of study 3 was to identify the minimum CBER attendance required to achieve measurable/clinically meaningful changes in selected health indices. However, due the fact that statistical model did not control for extraneous variables and the low attendance to the program, the estimations of required number of classes attended to achieve improvements are likely to be imprecise. Notwithstanding these limitation, it was found that almost 5 months attendance (two classes a week) was associated with achieving a measurable change for any of the psychosocial determinants. Indeed, research has consistently demonstrated the link between psychosocial factors and PA participation (Bauman et al., 2012; Dutton et al., 2009; Hartman et al., 2013; Plotnikoff et al., 2000; Selzler et al., 2012), suggesting that one cannot change without the other (i.e. to induce changes in PA, psychosocial factors must also be addressed). The considerable duration of attendance required to achieve improvements in psychosocial determinants of PA, could help to explain the small changes in PA levels over the course of the program.

Maintaining optimal clinical, psychological and physical health and preventing disease progression are outcomes of exercise rehabilitation (Agency for Clinical Innovation, 2017; World Health Organization, 2019a). In this study, individuals who had no change in the selected indices of health or a regression, were classified as non-responders. However, for some of the participants maintaining health status or slowing the rate of disease progression was a positive outcome.

Genotype variations are significant determinants of training response phenotypes. In recent years, a greater number of specific gene variations associated with such responses have been identified. It is well established that approximately 50% of the variance in VO<sub>2max</sub> response to training is explained by 21 single nucleotide polymorphisms (Bouchard et al., 2011). A significant genetic role has also been identified in the response of muscle performance and body composition to resistance training (Clarkson et al., 2005; Harmon et al., 2010; Van Deveire et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2012; Walsh et al., 2009). However our understanding of genomic predictions particular, in relation to gene-environmental interactions is only in its infancy and, is currently of little real value in maximizing participants response to CBER.

The current research investigated inter-individual responses to CBER in terms of phenotypic traits including measures of physical function, CD diagnosis and sex. Identifying phenotypic predictors of responders and non-response has practical application in the CBER setting. There is a still lack of understanding of the individual characteristics associated with non-response to CBER. When limiting the number of measures assessed to determine response, it is likely that many positive response mechanisms are missed. (Pickering & Kiely, 2019). Exercise has wide varying implications that it is almost impossible to capture all within the one study. Furthermore, in addition to the established physiological benefits, the psychological and community benefits should also be appreciated.

The findings from this study indicates that individuals with CD attending CBER do not achieve positive improvements across all health-related outcomes. However, there is a predominate pattern whereby those with less favourable BL measures of LIPA, strength, body composition and mental health are more likely to improve with CBER. It is possible that a
cluster exist, where the same individual has less favourable BL measures across all healthoutcomes. What is notably from this research is that those initiating the CBER program at the lower end of the spectrum in terms of health related measures, are found to be the most likely to benefit. This further advocates for the role of CBER in the secondary prevention of CD, as it essentially may primarily benefit those who need it most. Moreover, primary CD diagnosis or the presence of MM largely was not associated with response to the program.

#### Limitations of study 3

The thresholds used to classify clinically meaningful changes require caution with interpretation. For many of the health-related measures, evidence-based clinically meaningful changes do not exist or they are based on a single disease group and may not be generalizable across the range of disease included in this study. Secondly, the analysis used did not differentiate between participants who had healthy measured of certain outcomes at BL and those who did not. For instance, individuals with healthy measured of weight and waist circumference, ideally would remain unchanged, however in this analysis such individuals were considered non-responders. Thirdly, grouping all participants who achieved a measurable change or more may not effectively represent those who achieved a positive change to the program, as large variation exists within this category. For example, there would be substantial difference in an individual who increased their LIPA by  $\geq$  0.01 min/day and those who increased it by > 30 min or more. Currently both types of individuals are represented within the one group for analysis. Furthermore, training responses can be detected in a myriad of outcome measures and interpreting inter-individual training response on a measurement-by-measurement basis, leads to reduced generalizability of the predictive

outcomes identified. For instance, increasing age was a predictor of non-response to improving handgrip. Although the current evidence suggests that older individuals are less likely to improve handgrip strength, it cannot necessarily be assumed that older individuals will not respond positively in other outcome measures. Moreover, the selected indices of health used to investigate inter-individual responses, do not account for all putative components, which could be impacted by participating in a CBER program. In addition, participant use medication was not collected which is a significant limitation of this research. Finally, the analysis on estimated attendance required to achieve measurable and clinically meaningful improvements is not robust, and specific values revealed from required attendance must be interpreted with caution. Inter-individual variability exists in the required attendance to achieve a measurable change, and the current analysis technique did not account for this variability.

# Conclusion

This study found that inter-individual variability exists among participants attending a CBER program. These findings suggest that individuals with lower PA levels, strength and psychological health are more likely to response positively to the program. In contrast, a lower level of CRF is an indicator of non-response. Future research could provide the evidence-base used to predict responders to exercise rehabilitation by identifying the factors or cluster of factors which predispose participants to a greater risk of non-response. Assessing the effectiveness of strategies, such as an introductory individualised program for those identified as at risk of non-response, would enhance the delivery of CBER and maximise the potential of this secondary preventative service in CD.

## Strengths of this research

The clinical conditions which fall under the umbrella term of CD, although diverse in many ways, are associated with a similar impact on functional capacity and QoL. The mixed CD population which included individuals with both a SCD and MM is a key strength of this research. Research studies which focus on individual disease cohorts limits the generalizability of findings beyond that of the specific condition in question.

Study 1 (chapter 4) demonstrated that, regardless of disease, PA levels are low and excessive levels of SB exist within Cd population. Integrating a range of CDs within one study, including those with SCD and MM is current a novel approach in this field of research. The findings advocate that increasing PA levels and reducing SB within this cohort, has the potential to significantly impact disease progression, physical function and QoL.

The research was undertaken in the MedEx Wellness program, a CBER program that has been operating since 2007. A major finding of study 2 was that participation in the MedEx Wellness CBER program resulted in significant improvements in LIPA, patterns of SB, physical function and psychological health. Levels of MVPA were not found to significantly change, however a significant improvement in CRF was observed, with a large effect size. This finding suggest that although frequency of MVPA may not have changed, it is possible the intensity of MVPA bouts did while participating in MedEx Wellness classes. This change in MVPA participation was possibly enough to onset improvements in CRF. CRF is a vital predictor of health status (Warburton & Bredin, 2016; Blair et al., 2001; Myers et al., 2004; Williams, 2001). Hence, the effectiveness of the CBER program in eliciting changes in CRF, further advocates for its role in the secondary prevention of CD. The viability of the program has

been clearly demonstrated through its growth as a company, currently operating in a number locations in Ireland. The current research findings provide empirical evidence regarding the effectiveness of the service.

The study sample size would be considered relatively large. There are a limited number of interventional exercise studies involving individuals with CD, meeting the sample size of the current research. The inclusion of a number assessments throughout the study allowed for analysis of temporal changes.

An additional strength to this research is the incorporation of a wide variety of outcome measures, which were related to levels of PA, SB, physical function, clinical health, psychological health and psychosocial determinants of PA. This large data collection series provides a holistic insight into the potential benefits achieved through participation in the MedEx Wellness program. CD, in many cases, is a lifelong condition, and the management of the condition should ideally focus well beyond the immediate disease manifestations. This research highlights the potential of CBER as a comprehensive rehabilitation service which can simultaneously positively impact a number of CDs disease, while also enhancing additional components of health and wellbeing.

#### Impact of this research

It is likely that a futile cycle is prevalent among individuals with CD, whereby decreased PA participation and increased SB is associated with decreased functional capacity, QoL and accelerated disease progression (figure 7.1). The current findings advocate for an integrated approach to increasing PA participation and reducing SB across CD populations.

The heterogeneity of the population in this research, enhances the external validity of the findings.



Figure 7.1 Cycle of physical inactivity associated with chronic disease Note: QoL = quality of life; MM = multimorbidity, ADL = activities of daily living

The current shift in distribution of population age and increased life expectancy make it more likely that the prevalence of CD will continue to remain a substantial burden to society. PA/exercise is well established an adjunctive therapy in the secondary prevention of CD.

Exercise rehabilitation remains an under-utilized therapy within in the treatment of

CD. The major findings from the current research are twofold. Firstly, the research provides

evidence for the efficacy of CBER as a secondary preventative therapy. Secondly, the research advocates for the novel integrated approach to CBER delivery for those with SCD and MM. CBER programs have enormous potential to widen access for CD populations to supervised exercise and reduce reliance on overwhelmed clinically based services. Not only does the CBER model remove some of the burden of rehabilitation from the hospitals where resources are sparse, it also has the potential to reduce future hospital admission and use of clinical healthcare systems. Future research is recommended to further enhance CBER design and delivery. For example, the optimal exercise dose remains unknown (optimal frequency of classes, duration and intensity). Although gaps still remain, referral to CBER should become part of standard care for the growing CD cohort.

The current global COVID-19 pandemic has further heightened interest in the delivery of non-essential health services in the community. In response to COVID-19, hospital-based exercise rehabilitation services have ceased, and staff reassigned to intensive care.

National recommendations of social-distancing and cocooning have created an environment less conducive to PA and more likely to promote SB (Pinto et al., 2020). The MedEx Wellness CBER program facilitated continuation of their services through a homebased online delivery platform, demonstrating the adaptability of CBER programs over more traditional hospital-based programs. It is likely that CBER programs will evolve to a blended centre and online model of delivery. Commercial devices are now available to monitor the electrical activity of the heart, respiratory rate and oxygen saturation during exercise (Fourth Frontier, 2020; Gilgen-Ammann et al., 2019). The adoption of these technologies has the potential to allow low to moderate risk CD patients undertake a 'supervised' combined home-

CBER program. This will facilitate the continued access for high risk patients to hospital-based program that will be running at a much lower capacity.

Although it was recommended that participants in the current study attend two classes per week, the MedEx Wellness model of delivery encouraged a flexible approach to attendance. For certain outcome variables, for example 6MTT, continuous significant improvements were observed at each time point, indicating that greater improvements were gained with longer engagement, and suggest that up to 12 months there is no significant plateau effect.

Creating a profile to identify individuals at risk of non-response to CBER has substantial implications for the future of CBER delivery. Inter-individual variability in response to CBER is inevitable, especially in a highly heterogeneous cohort. Notably, the current study found minimal differences in the response to CBER across different CD and between those with SCD or MM. Response was primarily based on BL levels of measurable health outcomes. Although the current consensus supports the theory that those with lower levels of PA, fitness and health at BL are generally the most susceptible to exercise rehabilitation, the current study provides evidence that low levels of CRF may contradict this. Low levels of CRF appear to prevent individuals for effectively responding to the MedEx Wellness program. Establishing a profile of those at risk of non-response, could inform strategies to reduce this risk from the onset, further enhancing the efficacy of CBER.

### **Recommendations for future research**

- Research establishing a threshold for "too much sitting" in terms of the total accumulated amount of sitting per day and the length of a single uninterrupted sedentary bout are paramount in the development of the public health guidelines for this behaviour.
- Future studies should expand on various components of the MedEx Wellness shared
  CD model that could inform best practice for CBER. Areas in which research is
  particularly warranted include the following:

i) Factors associated with uptake and adherence to CBER, which currently remain sub-optimal

ii) Optimal exercise prescription in terms exercise intensity and total exercise dose

iii) Compliance of participants to the recommended exercise intensity within the group based setting

iv) Randomised controlled trials investigating the impact of different models of delivery that provide greater or less flexibility in relation to attendance to determine most effective prescription approach to CBER

v) Optimal program design to cater for low, moderate and high risk CD patients in order to ensure the most efficient use of resources in both the clinical setting and in the community

vi) Effect of behaviour change techniques to enhance the impact of CBER on habitual PA and SB. Research should investigate feasible behaviour change techniques that could be incorporated into the service, which focus on deceasing SB and

increasing habitual PA participation outside of class times/days. Specifically, increasing LIPA outside of the classes is recommended.

vii) Strategies to overcome the risk of non-response in order to maximise engagement with CBER for all referred participants

- Research establishing the factors and mechanisms that contribute to response to CBER is warranted. Defining the range of biopsychosocial factors associated with nonresponse could be used to create a profile of those at risk of non-response. Identifying individuals at BL who are at risk of non-response and implementing strategies to overcome the risk would inform the overall effectiveness of the service in practical application.
- An integrated clinical and community healthcare delivery model has significant potential for enhancing the management of patients with CD. Healthcare delivery systems are beginning to move away from segregated management of SCD to a multidisciplinary approach. Future research should focus on developing an evidence-base to support the new model of delivery
- An economic impact analysis of the CBER shared model is integral to inform future policy development.

#### **Recommendations for future practice**

MedEx Wellness, which has been recently renamed ExWell Medical, is a growing company and service. Since its debut in 2006, the program has expanded and is now operating in 3 community-based locations in Dublin and varies additional locations in Ireland, including programs led in University of Limerick, Waterford Institute of Technology, Sligo

institute of Technology, and a University of Pittsburgh Medical Centre supported branch in Kilkenny. All centres have adopted the integrated model to CBER. The evidence provided by this thesis supports commencement of a national roll out of this service. The current research has highlight aspects of the program design and delivery that could be altered to further enhance the service. Attendance was suboptimal, with few participants attaining the recommended levels of twice a week or more. More emphasis on attendance from the medical director during induction to the program could improve this component. Incorporating behaviour change techniques focused on reducing SB and improving habitual PA outside of classes could enhance the holistic impact of this program. Finally, offering a beginners/lower intensity program or one to one service for individuals with very low CRF at baseline may enhance the ability of such participants to engage in the standard group exercise effectively.

There is an imperative need to embed PA into healthcare for the secondary prevention of CD. The current evidence supports an integrated CBER service for those with SCD and MM as an effective health intervention. Government collaboration is recommended to support the provision of CBER nationwide. Resources in terms of trained personnel and support for suitable centres could be incorporated in the government healthcare agenda. In addition, standard procedures for exercise referral should be put in place to promote exercise referral among primary care healthcare professionals. A National Exercise Referral Framework (NERF) for Ireland was published in 2016 (Woods, et al., 2016). The development of NERF was commissioned by the HSE. The framework recommends exercise referral to CBER for those with CD to. The design of the NERF community centres was based off a MedEx Wellness CBER model, however this framework has yet to be funded. The current research

provides the evidence base to advocate for the implementation of the NERF in Ireland. Developing a national registry of appropriate facilities with qualified personnel to deliver CBER and establishing links between local healthcare practitioners and CBER services is the steps the need to be taken to allow for nationwide implementation of CBER.

Ireland's National Centre for Exercise is Medicine<sup>®</sup> (EIM) was launched in February 2020. Increasing PA assessment, prescription and referral to NERF centres by physicians and allied health professionals has been stated as a primary aim within the current EIM initiative in Ireland (EIM Ireland, 2020). The implementation of an integrated pathway that standardizes the referral of CD patients to evidence based, safe and effective CBER services is recommended.

## Conclusion

Despite the beneficial effects of PA in the secondary prevention of CD, only a small proportion of CD patients in this study meet the current PA recommendations. Furthermore, time spent in SB was excessive, potentially accelerating the rate of disease progression. Recent PA guidelines for the general population and those with CD, recommend that individuals who engage in little or no PA, should replace SB with LIPA, as there is no threshold to be exceeded before health benefits are observed (US Department of Healt and Human Services, 2018b). The current thesis findings support these recommendations. A shared CBER model across CD populations was found to be an effective approach to increasing PA engagement and habitual levels of LIPA in this cohort. The model of delivery improved physical function and psychological health. With the growing global burden of CD and the associated health care costs, there is an urgent need to identify effective approaches to implementing evidence-based exercise rehabilitation services.

# References

Abernethy, P. J., Jürimäe, J., Logan, P. A., Taylor, A. W., & Thayer, R. E. (1994). Acute and chronic response of skeletal muscle to resistance exercise. *Sports Medicine*, *17*(1), 22–38.

Adams, M. L., Grandpre, J., Katz, D. L., & Shenson, D. (2019). The impact of key modifiable risk factors on leading chronic conditions. *Preventive Medicine*.

Adeniyi, A. F., Idowu, O. A., Ogwumike, O. O., & Adeniyi, C. Y. (2012). Comparative influence of self-efficacy, social support and perceived barriers on low physical activity development in patients with type 2 diabetes, hypertension or stroke. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Sciences*, 22(2).

Agency for Clinical Innovation. (2017). *Rehabilitation for chronic conditions*. Available at: https://www.aci.health.nsw.gov.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/385998/ACI\_Rehabilitatio n\_for\_-chronic\_conditions\_framework\_FINAL.PDF

Agurs-Collins, T. D., Kumanyika, S. K., Ten Have, T. R., & Adams-Campbell, L. L. (1997). A randomized controlled trial of weight reduction and exercise for diabetes management in older African-American subjects. *Diabetes Care*, *20*(10), 1503–1511.

Agusti, A. G. N. (2005). COPD, a multicomponent disease: Implications for management. *Respiratory Medicine*, *99*(6), 670–682.

Agusti, A. G. N., Noguera, A., Sauleda, J., Sala, E., Pons, J., & Busquets, X. (2003). Systemic effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *European Respiratory Journal*, *21*(2), 347–360.

Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*(2), 179–211.

Akechi, T., Kugaya, A., Okamura, H., Yamawaki, S., & Uchitomi, Y. (1999). Fatigue and its associated factors in ambulatory cancer patients: a preliminary study. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 17(1), 42-48.

Aliabad, H. O., Vafaeinasab, M., Morowatisharifabad, M. A., Afshani, S. A., Firoozabadi, M. G., & Forouzannia, S. K. (2014). Maintenance of physical activity and exercise capacity after rehabilitation in coronary heart disease: A randomized controlled trial. *Global Journal of Health Science*, *6*(6), 198.

Alibegovic, A. C., Sonne, M. P., Højbjerre, L., Bork-Jensen, J., Jacobsen, S., Nilsson, E., F\a erch, K., Hiscock, N., Mortensen, B., & Friedrichsen, M. (2010). Insulin resistance induced by physical inactivity is associated with multiple transcriptional changes in skeletal muscle in young men. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *299*(5), E752–E763.

Alkhajah, T. A., Reeves, M. M., Eakin, E. G., Winkler, E. A., Owen, N., & Healy, G. N. (2012). Sit–stand workstations: A pilot intervention to reduce office sitting time. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *43*(3), 298–303.

Allemani, C., Matsuda, T., Di Carlo, V., Harewood, R., Matz, M., Nikšić, M., Bonaventure, A., Valkov, M., Johnson, C. J., & Estève, J. (2018). Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000–14 (CONCORD-3): Analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. *The Lancet*, *391*(10125), 1023–1075.

Alonso, J., Ferrer, M., Gandek, B., Ware, J. E., Aaronson, N. K., Mosconi, P., Rasmussen, N. K., Bullinger, M., Fukuhara, S., & Kaasa, S. (2004). Health-related quality of life associated with chronic conditions in eight countries: Results from the International Quality of Life Assessment (IQOLA) Project. *Quality of Life Research*, *13*(2), 283–298.

Amara, A. W., Wood, K. H., Joop, A., Memon, R. A., Pilkington, J., Tuggle, S. C., Reams, J., Barrett, M.J., Edwards, D.A., Weltman, A.L. & Hurt, C. P. (2020). Randomized, Controlled Trial of Exercise on Objective and Subjective Sleep in Parkinson's Disease. *Movement Disorders*.

American Diabetes Association. (2005). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Care*, *28*(S37), S5–S10.

Amin, S., Abrazado, M., Quinn, M., Storer, T. W., Tseng, C.-H., & Cooper, C. B. (2014). A controlled study of community-based exercise training in patients with moderate COPD. *BMC Pulmonary Medicine*, *14*(1), 125.

Anderson, L., Oldridge, N., Thompson, D. R., Zwisler, A.-D., Rees, K., Martin, N., & Taylor, R. S. (2016). Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *67*(1), 1–12.

Anderson-Bill, E. S., Winett, R. A., & Wojcik, J. R. (2011). Social cognitive determinants of nutrition and physical activity among web-health users enrolling in an online intervention: The influence of social support, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and self-regulation. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, *13*(1), e28.

Anderson-Bill, E. S., Winett, R. A., Wojcik, J. R., & Williams, D. M. (2011). Aging and the social cognitive determinants of physical activity behavior and behavior change: Evidence from the guide to health trial. *Journal of Aging Research*, 2011.

Antonucci, R., Berton, E., Huertas, A., Laveneziana, P., & Palange, P. (2003). Exercise physiology in COPD. *Monaldi Archives for Chest Disease*, *59*(2), 134–139.

Aoyagi, Y. (2011). Habitual physical activity and health in the elderly: The Nakanojo study. *The Health & Fitness Journal of Canada*, 4(1), 9–12.

Arem, H., Moore, S. C., Patel, A., Hartge, P., De Gonzalez, A. B., Visvanathan, K., Campbell, P. T., Freedman, M., Weiderpass, E., & Adami, H. O. (2015). Leisure time physical activity and

mortality: A detailed pooled analysis of the dose-response relationship. JAMA Internal Medicine, 175(6), 959–967.

Armstrong, R. A. (2017). Recommendations for analysis of repeated-measures designs: Testing and correcting for sphericity and use of manova and mixed model analysis. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics*, *37*(5), 585–593.

Arne, M., Janson, C., Janson, S., Boman, G., Lindqvist, U., Berne, C., & Emtner, M. (2009). Physical activity and quality of life in subjects with chronic disease: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease compared with rheumatoid arthritis and diabetes mellitus. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, *27*(3), 141–147.

Ashcraft, K. A., Warner, A. B., Jones, L. W., & Dewhirst, M. W. (2019). Exercise as adjunct therapy in cancer. *Seminars in Radiation Oncology*, *29*(1), 16–24.

Australian Department of Health. (2019). *Australia's Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour Guidelines and the Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines*.

Avgerinos, K. I., Spyrou, N., Mantzoros, C. S., & Dalamaga, M. (2019). Obesity and cancer risk: Emerging biological mechanisms and perspectives. *Metabolism*, *92*, 121–135.

Ayala, F., de Baranda, P. S., Croix, M. D. S., & Santonja, F. (2012). Reproducibility and criterionrelated validity of the sit and reach test and toe touch test for estimating hamstring flexibility in recreationally active young adults. *Physical Therapy in Sport*, *13*(4), 219-226.

Ayán-Pérez, C., Martínez-Lemos, R. I., & Cancela-Carral, J. M. (2017). Reliability and convergent validity of the 6-min run test in young adults with Down syndrome. *Disability and Health Journal*, *10*(1), 105–113.

Ayotte, B. J., Margrett, J. A., & Hicks-Patrick, J. (2010). Physical activity in middle-aged and young-old adults: The roles of self-efficacy, barriers, outcome expectancies, self-regulatory behaviors and social support. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *15*(2), 173–185.

Bachmann, J., Büchler, M. W., Friess, H., & Martignoni, M. E. (2013). Cachexia in patients with chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer: Impact on survival and outcome. *Nutrition and Cancer*, *65*(6), 827–833.

Bandura, A. (1998). Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. *Psychology and Health*, *13*(4), 623–649.

Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education & Behavior*, *31*(2), 143–164.

Bandura, A., Freeman, W. H., & Lightsey, R. (1999). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control.* Springer.

Bankoski, A., Harris, T. B., McClain, J. J., Brychta, R. J., Caserotti, P., Chen, K. Y., Berrigan, D., Troiano, R. P., & Koster, A. (2011). Sedentary activity associated with metabolic syndrome independent of physical activity. *Diabetes Care*, *34*(2), 497–503. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc10-0987

Barber, F. D. (2012). Social support and physical activity engagement by cancer survivors. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, *16*(3).

Barber, M. D., Ross, J. A., & Fearon, K. C. (1999). Cancer cachexia. *Surgical Oncology*, 8(3), 133–141.

Barker, K., Holland, A. E., Lee, A. L., Ritchie, K., Boote, C., Lowe, S., Pazsa, F., Thomas, L., Turczyniak, M., & Skinner, E. H. (2018). A rehabilitation programme for people with multimorbidity versus usual care: A pilot randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Comorbidity*, *8*(1), 2235042X18783918.

Barnes, P. J., & Celli, B. R. (2009). Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, *33*(5), 1165–1185.

Bassett, D., & Tudor-Locke, C. (2004). How many steps/day are enough? Preliminary pedometer indices for public health. *Sports Med*, *34*, 1-8.

Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R. J., Martin, B. W., & Group, L. P. A. S. W. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: Why are some people physically active and others not? *The Lancet*, *380*(9838), 258–271.

Bauman, A. E., Sallis, J. F., Dzewaltowski, D. A., & Owen, N. (2002). Toward a better understanding of the influences on physical activity: the role of determinants, correlates, causal variables, mediators, moderators, and confounders. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 23(2), 5-14.

Baumgartner, T., & Jackson, S. A. (1995). *Measurement for Evaluation in Physical Education and Exercise Science. Dubuque: Wm. C. Brown Communications*. Inc.

Bayliss, E. A., Bayliss, M. S., Jr, J. E. W., & Steiner, J. F. (2004). Predicting declines in physical function in persons with multiple chronic medical conditions: What we can learn from the medical problem list. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *2*, 47.

Beauchamp, M. K., Francella, S., Romano, J. M., Goldstein, R. S., & Brooks, D. (2013b). A novel approach to long-term respiratory care: Results of a community-based post-rehabilitation maintenance program in COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, *107*(8), 1210–1216.

Beauchamp, M. R., Crawford, K. L., & Jackson, B. (2019). Social cognitive theory and physical activity: Mechanisms of behavior change, critique, and legacy. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *42*, 110–117.

Beddhu, S., Wei, G., Marcus, R. L., Chonchol, M., & Greene, T. (2015). Light-intensity physical activities and mortality in the United States general population and CKD subpopulation. *Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, *10*(7), 1145–1153.

Belza, B., Steele, B. G., Hunziker, J., Lakshminaryan, S., Holt, L., & Buchner, D. M. (2001a). Correlates of physical activity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Nursing Research*, *50*(4), 195–202.

Benatti, F. B., & Ried-Larsen, M. (2015). The Effects of Breaking up Prolonged Sitting Time: A Review of Experimental Studies. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 47(10), 2053–2061. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000654

Bendermacher, B. L., Willigendael, E. M., Nicolaï, S. P., Kruidenier, L. M., Welten, R. J., Hendriks, E., Prins, M. H., Teijink, J. A., & de Bie, R. A. (2007). Supervised exercise therapy for intermittent claudication in a community-based setting is as effective as clinic-based. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *45*(6), 1192–1196.

Benka Wallén, M., Franzén, E., Nero, H., & Hagströmer, M. (2015). Levels and patterns of physical activity and sedentary behavior in elderly people with mild to moderate Parkinson disease. *Physical Therapy*, *95*(8), 1135–1141.

Bergmann, G., Bergmann, M., de Castro, A., Lorenzi, T., Pinheiro, E., Moreira, R., Marques, A., & Gaya, A. (2014). Use of the 6-minute walk/run test to predict peak oxygen uptake in adolescents. *Revista Brasileira de Atividade Física & Saúde*, *19*(1), 64–64.

Bernard, P., Hains-Monfette, G., Atoui, S., & Moullec, G. (2018). Daily objective physical activity and sedentary time in adults with COPD using spirometry data from canadian measures health survey. *Canadian Respiratory Journal*, 2018.

Bethell, H. J., & Mullee, M. A. (1990). A controlled trial of community based coronary rehabilitation. *Heart*, *64*(6), 370–375.

Bethell, H., Lewin, R., Evans, J., Turner, S., Allender, S., & Petersen, S. (2008). Outpatient cardiac rehabilitation attendance in England: Variability by region and clinical characteristics. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, *28*(6), 386–391.

Betof, A. S., Lascola, C. D., Weitzel, D., Landon, C., Scarbrough, P. M., Devi, G. R., Palmer, G., Jones, L. W., & Dewhirst, M. W. (2015). Modulation of murine breast tumor vascularity, hypoxia, and chemotherapeutic response by exercise. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *107*(5).

Bey, L., & Hamilton, M. T. (2003). Suppression of skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity during physical inactivity: A molecular reason to maintain daily low-intensity activity. *The Journal of Physiology*, *551*(2), 673–682.

Bigley, A. B., Rezvani, K., Chew, C., Sekine, T., Pistillo, M., Crucian, B., Bollard, C. M., & Simpson, R. J. (2014). Acute exercise preferentially redeploys NK-cells with a highly-

differentiated phenotype and augments cytotoxicity against lymphoma and multiple myeloma target cells. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 39,* 160–171.

Biordi, D. L., & Nicholson, N. R. (2013). Social isolation. *Chronic Illness: Impact and Intervention*, 85–115.

Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Faulkner, G. E., Bajaj, R. R., Silver, M. A., Mitchell, M. S., & Alter, D. A. (2015). Sedentary time and its association with risk for disease incidence, mortality, and hospitalization in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *162*(2), 123–132.

Biswas, A., Oh, P. I., Faulkner, G. E., Bonsignore, A., Pakosh, M. T., & Alter, D. A. (2018). The energy expenditure benefits of reallocating sedentary time with physical activity: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Public Health*, *40*(2), 295–303.

Blair, C. K., Morey, M. C., Desmond, R. A., Cohen, H. J., Sloane, R., Snyder, D. C., & Demark-Wahnefried, W. (2014). Light-intensity activity attenuates functional decline in older cancer survivors. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *46*(7), 1375.

Blair, S. N., Cheng, Y., & Holder, J. S. (2001). Is physical activity or physical fitness more important in defining health benefits? *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *33*(6), S379–S399.

Blanchard, C., Arthur, H. M., & Gunn, E. (2015). Self-efficacy and outcome expectations in cardiac rehabilitation: Associations with women's physical activity. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *60*(1), 59.

Bluethmann, S. M., Mariotto, A. B., & Rowland, J. H. (2016). *Anticipating the "silver tsunami": Prevalence trajectories and comorbidity burden among older cancer survivors in the United States*. AACR.

Bobbio, M. (1989). Does post myocardial infarction rehabilitation prolong survival? A metaanalytic survey. *Giornale Italiano Di Cardiologia*, *19*(11), 1059–1067.

Bock, B. C., Albrecht, A. E., Traficante, R. M., Clark, M. M., Pinto, B. M., Tilkemeier, P., & Marcus, B. H. (1997). Predictors of exercise adherence following participation in a cardiac rehabilitation program. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *4*(1), 60–75.

Boehm, J. K., & Kubzansky, L. D. (2012). The heart's content: The association between positive psychological well-being and cardiovascular health. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*(4), 655.

Boereboom, C., Doleman, B., Lund, J. N., & Williams, J. P. (2016). Systematic review of preoperative exercise in colorectal cancer patients. *Techniques in Coloproctology*, *20*(2), 81–89.

Bohannon, R. W. (2019). Minimal clinically important difference for grip strength: A systematic review. *Journal of Physical Therapy Science*, *31*(1), 75–78.

Bohannon, R. W., & Crouch, R. (2017). Minimal clinically important difference for change in 6-minute walk test distance of adults with pathology: A systematic review. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 23(2), 377–381.

Bohannon, R. W., & Schaubert, K. L. (2005). Test–retest reliability of grip-strength measures obtained over a 12-week interval from community-dwelling elders. *Journal of hand therapy*, *18*(4), 426-428.

Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., & Laye, M. J. (2011). Lack of exercise is a major cause of chronic diseases. *Comprehensive Physiology*, *2*(2), 1143–1211.

Booth, F. W., Roberts, C. K., Thyfault, J. P., Ruegsegger, G. N., & Toedebusch, R. G. (2017a). Role of inactivity in chronic diseases: Evolutionary insight and pathophysiological mechanisms. *Physiological Reviews*, *97*(4), 1351–1402.

Borghouts, L. B., & Keizer, H. A. (2000). Exercise and insulin sensitivity: A review. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, *21*(01), 1–12.

Bossenbroek, L., de Greef, M. H., Wempe, J. B., Krijnen, W. P., & Ten Hacken, N. H. (2011). Daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *8*(4), 306–319.

Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., Church, T. S., Earnest, C. P., Hagberg, J. M., Häkkinen, K., Jenkins, N. T., Karavirta, L., Kraus, W. E., & Leon, A. S. (2012). Adverse metabolic response to regular exercise: Is it a rare or common occurrence? *PloS One*, *7*(5).

Bouchard, C., Blair, S. N., & Katzmarzyk, P. T. (2015). Less sitting, more physical activity, or higher fitness? *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *90*(11), 1533–1540.

Bouchard, C., & Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *33*(6).

Bouchard, C., Sarzynski, M. A., Rice, T. K., Kraus, W. E., Church, T. S., Sung, Y. J., Rao, D. C., & Rankinen, T. (2011). Genomic predictors of the maximal O2 uptake response to standardized exercise training programs. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *110*(5), 1160–1170.

Boulé, N. G., Haddad, E., Kenny, G. P., Wells, G. A., & Sigal, R. J. (2001). Effects of exercise on glycemic control and body mass in type 2 diabetes mellitus: A meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. *Jama*, *286*(10), 1218–1227.

Bourbeau, J., & Nault, D. (2007). Self-management strategies in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clinics in chest medicine*, *28*(3), 617-628.

Bourke, L., Smith, D., Steed, L., Hooper, R., Carter, A., Catto, J., Albertsen, P. C., Tombal, B., Payne, H. A., & Rosario, D. J. (2016). Exercise for men with prostate cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Urology*, *69*(4), 693–703.

Brawner, C. A., Churilla, J. R., & Keteyian, S. J. (2016). Prevalence of physical activity is lower among individuals with chronic disease. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 48(6), 1062–1067.

Brochado, A., Oliveira-Brochado, F., & Brito, P. Q. (2010). Effects of personal, social and environmental factors on physical activity behavior among adults. *Revista Portuguesa de Saúde Pública*, *1*, 7–17.

Brocklebank, L. A., Falconer, C. L., Page, A. S., Perry, R., & Cooper, A. R. (2015). Accelerometermeasured sedentary time and cardiometabolic biomarkers: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, *76*, 92–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.04.013

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, *32*(7), 513.

Brown, C. J., & Flood, K. L. (2013). Mobility limitation in the older patient: A clinical review. *Jama*, *310*(11), 1168–1177.

Buemann, B., & Tremblay, A. (1996). Effects of exercise training on abdominal obesity and related metabolic complications. *Sports Medicine*, *21*(3), 191–212.

Burton, D. A., Stokes, K., & Hall, G. M. (2004). Physiological effects of exercise. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain*, 4(6), 185–188.

Butcher, S. J., & Jones, R. L. (2006). The impact of exercise training intensity on change in physiological function in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Sports Medicine*, *36*(4), 307–325.

Byrom, B., Stratton, G., Mc Carthy, M., & Muehlhausen, W. (2016). Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour using accelerometers. *International Journal of Obesity*, *40*(11), 1809–1812.

Campbell, A., Stevinson, C., & Crank, H. (2012). The BASES expert statement on exercise and cancer survivorship. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *30*(9), 949–952.

Campbell, F., Holmes, M., Everson-Hock, E., Davis, S., Woods, H. B., Anokye, N., Tappenden, P., & Kaltenthaler, E. (2015). A systematic review and economic evaluation of exercise referral schemes in primary care: A short report. *Health Technology Assessment*, *19*(60).

Campbell, K. L., Winters-Stone, K. M., Wiskemann, J., May, A. M., Schwartz, A. L., Courneya, K. S., Zucker, D.S., Matthews, C.E., Ligibel, J.A., Gerber, L.H. & Morris, G. S. (2019). Exercise guidelines for cancer survivors: consensus statement from international multidisciplinary roundtable. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *51*(11), 2375-2390.

Cannon, C. P., & O'Gara, P. T. (2007). *Critical pathways in cardiovascular medicine*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

Cano-de-la-Cuerda, R., Pérez-de-Heredia, M., Miangolarra-Page, J. C., Munoz-Hellín, E., & Fernández-de-las-Penas, C. (2010). Is there muscular weakness in Parkinson's disease? *American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation*, *89*(1), 70–76.

Carey, R. N., Connell, L. E., Johnston, M., Rothman, A. J., de Bruin, M., Kelly, M. P., & Michie, S. (2019). Behavior change techniques and their mechanisms of action: a synthesis of links described in published intervention literature. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *53*(8), 693-707.

Carlin, A., Perchoux, C., Puggina, A., Aleksovska, K., Buck, C., Burns, C., Cardon, G., Chantal, S., Ciarapica, D., Condello, G., & Coppinger, T. (2017). A life course examination of the physical environmental determinants of physical activity behaviour: a "Determinants of Diet and Physical Activity" (DEDIPAC) umbrella systematic literature review. *PLoS One*, *12*(8), e0182083.

Carlson, J. J., Norman, G. J., Feltz, D. L., Franklin, B. A., Johnson, J. A., & Locke, S. K. (2001). Self-efficacy, psychosocial factors, and exercise behavior in traditional versus modified cardiac rehabilitation. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, *21*(6), 363–373.

Carmody, T. P., Senner, J. W., Malinow, M. R., & Matarazzo, J. D. (1980). Physical exercise rehabilitation: Long-term dropout rate in cardiac patients. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *3*(2), 163–168.

Carroll, S., Ingle, L., Hamer, M., & Stamatakis, E. (2012). Physical activity and cardiovascular mortality risk: Possible protective mechanisms? *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 44(1).

Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., & Christenson, G. M. (1985a). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: Definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Reports*, *100*(2), 126.

Catt, S., Sheward, J., Sheward, E., & Harder, H. (2018). Cancer survivors' experiences of a community-based cancer-specific exercise programme: Results of an exploratory survey. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *26*(9), 3209–3216.

Cauza, E., Hanusch-Enserer, U., Strasser, B., Ludvik, B., Metz-Schimmerl, S., Pacini, G., Wagner, O., Georg, P., Prager, R., & Kostner, K. (2005). The relative benefits of endurance and strength training on the metabolic factors and muscle function of people with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *86*(8), 1527–1533.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2011). Healthy aging: Helping people to live long and productive lives and enjoy a good quality of life. *National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion*. Retrieved from *Http://Www. Cdc. Gov/Chronicdisease/Resources/Publications/AAG/Aging. Htm*.

Central Statistics Office. (2019). *Geographical Profiles of Income in Ireland 2016*. Available at: https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/ep/p-gpii/geographicalprofilesofincomeinireland2016/incomeinireland/

Cerhan, J. R., Moore, S. C., Jacobs, E. J., Kitahara, C. M., Rosenberg, P. S., Adami, H.-O., Ebbert, J. O., English, D. R., Gapstur, S. M., & Giles, G. G. (2014). A pooled analysis of waist circumference and mortality in 650,000 adults. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, *89*(3), 335–345.

Chakrabarti, S. (2014). What's in a name? Compliance, adherence and concordance in chronic psychiatric disorders. *World journal of psychiatry*, *4*(2), 30.

Chan, Y. H. (2004). Biostatistics 202: Logistic regression analysis. *Singapore Medical Journal*, 45(4), 149–153.

Chapman, D., Perry, G., & Strine, T. (2008). *The vital link between chronic disease and depressive disorders*.

Chastin, S. F., De Craemer, M., De Cocker, K., Powell, L., Van Cauwenberg, J., Dall, P., Hamer, M., & Stamatakis, E. (2019). How does light-intensity physical activity associate with adult cardiometabolic health and mortality? Systematic review with meta-analysis of experimental and observational studies. *Br J Sports Med*, *53*(6), 370–376.

Chastin, S. F. M., Dontje, M. L., Skelton, D. A., Čukić, I., Shaw, R. J., Gill, J. M. R., Greig, C.A., Gale, C.R., Deary, I.J., Der, G. & Dall, P. M. (2018). Systematic comparative validation of self-report measures of sedentary time against an objective measure of postural sitting (activPAL). *international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity*, *15*(1), 21.

Chau, J. Y., Grunseit, A. C., Chey, T., Stamatakis, E., Brown, W. J., Matthews, C. E., Bauman, A. E., & van der Ploeg, H. P. (2013). Daily sitting time and all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis. *PloS One*, *8*(11).

Chen, P., Lin, K.-C., Liing, R.-J., Wu, C.-Y., Chen, C.-L., & Chang, K.-C. (2016a). Validity, responsiveness, and minimal clinically important difference of EQ-5D-5L in stroke patients undergoing rehabilitation. *Quality of Life Research*, *25*(6), 1585–1596.

Chen, T., Narazaki, K., Haeuchi, Y., Chen, S., Honda, T., & Kumagai, S. (2016b). Associations of Sedentary Time and Breaks in Sedentary Time With Disability in Instrumental Activities of Daily Living in Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*, *13*(3), 303–309. https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2015-0090

Cheng, Y. J., Macera, C. A., Addy, C. L., Sy, F. S., Wieland, D., & Blair, S. N. (2003). Effects of physical activity on exercise tests and respiratory function. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *37*(6), 521–528.

Chodzko-Zajko, W. J., Fiatarone, M. A., Singh, M. D., Minson, C. T., Nigg, C. R., George, J., Salem, S. J & Skinner, J. S. (2009). Exercise and physical activity for older adults. ACSM Position Stand. Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise. Special Comunications, 1510-1530.

Choi, B. C., Pak, A. W., & Choi, J. C. (2007). Daily step goal of 10,000 steps: A literature review. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine*, E146–E151.

Christiansen, C., Moore, C., Schenkman, M., Kluger, B., Kohrt, W., Delitto, A., Berman, B., Hall, D., Josbeno, D., & Poon, C. (2017). Factors associated with ambulatory activity in de novo Parkinson disease. *Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy: JNPT*, *41*(2), 93.

Christopher, K. A., & Morrow, L. L. (2004). Evaluating a community-based exercise program for women cancer survivors. *Applied Nursing Research*, *17*(2), 100–108.

Chudyk, A., & Petrella, R. J. (2011). Effects of exercise on cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Diabetes Care*, *34*(5), 1228–1237.

Church, T. S., Kampert, J. B., Gibbons, L. W., Barlow, C. E., & Blair, S. N. (2001). Usefulness of cardiorespiratory fitness as a predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in men with systemic hypertension. *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *88*(6), 651–656.

Clark, R. A., Conway, A., Poulsen, V., Keech, W., Tirimacco, R., & Tideman, P. (2015). Alternative models of cardiac rehabilitation: A systematic review. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 22(1), 35–74.

Clarkson, P. M., Devaney, J. M., Gordish-Dressman, H., Thompson, P. D., Hubal, M. J., Urso, M., Price, T. B., Angelopoulos, T. J., Gordon, P. M., & Moyna, N. M. (2005). ACTN3 genotype is associated with increases in muscle strength in response to resistance training in women. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *99*(1), 154–163.

Combs, S. A., Diehl, M. D., Chrzastowski, C., Didrick, N., McCoin, B., Mox, N., Staples, W. H., & Wayman, J. (2013). Community-based group exercise for persons with Parkinson disease: A randomized controlled trial. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *32*(1), 117–124.

Condello, G., Puggina, A., Aleksovska, K., Buck, C., Burns, C., Cardon, G., Carlin, A., Simon, C., Ciarapica, D., Coppinger, T., & Cortis, C. (2017). Behavioral determinants of physical activity across the life course: a "DEterminants of Dlet and Physical ACtivity" (DEDIPAC) umbrella systematic literature review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 58.

Cook, C. E. (2008). Clinimetrics corner: The minimal clinically important change score (MCID): a necessary pretense. *Journal of Manual & Manipulative Therapy*, *16*(4), 82E–83E.

Copay, A. G., Subach, B. R., Glassman, S. D., Polly Jr, D. W., & Schuler, T. C. (2007a). Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: A review of concepts and methods. *The Spine Journal*, 7(5), 541–546.

Copeland, J. L., Ashe, M. C., Biddle, S. J., Brown, W. J., Buman, M. P., Chastin, S., Gardiner, P. A., Inoue, S., Jefferis, B. J., & Oka, K. (2017a). Sedentary time in older adults: A critical review of measurement, associations with health, and interventions. *Br J Sports Med*, *51*(21), 1539–1539.

Corcos, D. M., Robichaud, J. A., David, F. J., Leurgans, S. E., Vaillancourt, D. E., Poon, C., Rafferty, M. R., Kohrt, W. M., & Comella, C. L. (2013). A Two Year Randomized Controlled Trial of Progressive Resistance Exercise for Parkinson's Disease. *Movement Disorders*, *28*(9), 1230–1240.

Cormie, P., Atkinson, M., Bucci, L., Cust, A., Eakin, E., Hayes, S., McCarthy, A. L., Murnane, A., Patchell, S., & Adams, D. (2018). Clinical Oncology Society of Australia position statement on exercise in cancer care. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 209(4), 184–187.

Cortis, C., Puggina, A., Pesce, C., Aleksovska, K., Buck, C., Burns, C., Cardon, G., Carlin, A., Simon, C., Ciarapica, D., & Condello, G. (2017). Psychological determinants of physical activity across the life course: A" DEterminants of Dlet and Physical ACtivity"(DEDIPAC) umbrella systematic literature review. *PloS one*, *12*(8), e0182709.

Courneya, K. S., Plotnikoff, R. C., Hotz, S. B., & Birkett, N. J. (2001). Predicting exercise stage transitions over two consecutive 6-month periods: A test of the theory of planned behaviour in a population-based sample. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *6*(2), 135-150.

Courneya, K. S., Segal, R. J., Gelmon, K., Mackey, J. R., Friedenreich, C. M., Yasui, Y., Reid, R. D., Proulx, C., Trinh, L., & Dolan, L. B. (2014). Predictors of adherence to different types and doses of supervised exercise during breast cancer chemotherapy. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *11*(1), 85.

Cox, N. S., Oliveira, C. C., Lahham, A., & Holland, A. E. (2017). Pulmonary rehabilitation referral and participation are commonly influenced by environment, knowledge, and beliefs about consequences: A systematic review using the Theoretical Domains Framework. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, *63*(2), 84–93.

Cradock, K. A., ÓLaighin, G., Finucane, F. M., Gainforth, H. L., Quinlan, L. R., & Ginis, K. A. M. (2017). Behaviour change techniques targeting both diet and physical activity in type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 1–17.

Cramp, M. C., Greenwood, R. J., Gill, M., Lehmann, A., Rothwell, J. C., & Scott, O. M. (2010). Effectiveness of a community-based low intensity exercise programme for ambulatory stroke survivors. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *32*(3), 239–247.

Cronin, J., Murphy, A., & Savage, E. (2017). Can chronic disease be managed through integrated care cost-effectively? Evidence from a systematic review. *Irish Journal of Medical Science (1971-), 186*(4), 827–834.

Csuka, M., & McCarty, D. J. (1985). Simple method for measurement of lower extremity muscle strength. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 78(1), 77–81.

Dalal, H. M., Doherty, P., & Taylor, R. S. (2015). Cardiac rehabilitation. *Bmj*, 351, h5000.

Dalal, H. M., Zawada, A., Jolly, K., Moxham, T., & Taylor, R. S. (2010). Home based versus centre based cardiac rehabilitation: Cochrane systematic review and meta-analysis. *Bmj*, *340*, b5631.

Dalleck, L. C., Van Guilder, G. P., Richardson, T. B., & Vella, C. A. (2015). The prevalence of adverse cardiometabolic responses to exercise training with evidence-based practice is low. *Diabetes, Metabolic Syndrome and Obesity: Targets and Therapy*, *8*, 73.

Daly, L. E., Ní Bhuachalla, É. B., Power, D. G., Cushen, S. J., James, K., & Ryan, A. M. (2018). Loss of skeletal muscle during systemic chemotherapy is prognostic of poor survival in patients with foregut cancer. *Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle*, *9*(2), 315–325.

Daniali, S. S., Darani, F. M., Eslami, A. A., & Mazaheri, M. (2017). Relationship between selfefficacy and physical activity, medication adherence in chronic disease patients. *Advanced Biomedical Research*, *6*.

Darden, D., Richardson, C., & Jackson, E. A. (2013). Physical activity and exercise for secondary prevention among patients with cardiovascular disease. *Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports*, 7(6), 411–416.

Dasgupta, K., Rosenberg, E., & Daskalopoulou, S. S. (2014). Step Monitoring to improve ARTERial health (SMARTER) through step count prescription in type 2 diabetes and hypertension: Trial design and methods. *Cardiovascular Diabetology*, *13*(1), 7.

David, S., & Edwards, C. W. (2019). Forced Expiratory Volume. In *StatPearls* [Internet]. StatPearls Publishing.

Davignon, J., & Ganz, P. (2004). Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, *109*(23\_suppl\_1), III–27.

Davis, M. G., Fox, K. R., Stathi, A., Trayers, T., Thompson, J. L., & Cooper, A. R. (2014). Objectively measured sedentary time and its association with physical function in older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 22(4), 474–481.

DeFina, L. F., Haskell, W. L., Willis, B. L., Barlow, C. E., Finley, C. E., Levine, B. D., & Cooper, K. H. (2015). Physical activity versus cardiorespiratory fitness: Two (partly) distinct components of cardiovascular health? *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, *57*(4), 324–329.

DeFronzo, R. A. (2004). Pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Medical Clinics*, 88(4), 787–835.

del Pozo-Cruz, B., Carrick-Ranson, G., Reading, S., Nolan, P., & Dalleck, L. C. (2018). The relationship between exercise dose and health-related quality of life with a phase III cardiac rehabilitation program. *Quality of Life Research*, *27*(4), 993–998.

Demeyer, H., Burtin, C., Hornikx, M., Camillo, C. A., Van Remoortel, H., Langer, D., Janssens, W., & Troosters, T. (2016a). The minimal important difference in physical activity in patients with COPD. *PLoS One*, *11*(4).

Dempsey, P. C., Owen, N., Yates, T. E., Kingwell, B. A., & Dunstan, D. W. (2016). Sitting less and moving more: Improved glycaemic control for type 2 diabetes prevention and management. *Current Diabetes Reports*, *16*(11), 114.

Dempsey, P. C., & Thyfault, J. P. (2018). Physiological responses to sedentary behaviour. In *Sedentary Behaviour Epidemiology* (pp. 109–153). Springer.

Dennett, A. M., Peiris, C. L., Taylor, N. F., Reed, M. S., & Shields, N. (2019). 'A good stepping stone to normality': A qualitative study of cancer survivors' experiences of an exercise-based rehabilitation program. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *27*(5), 1729–1736.

Department of Health. (2019). *Health in Ireland—Key Trends 2019*. Available at: https://www.gov.ie/en/publication/f1bb64-health-in-ireland-key-trends-2019/

Department of Health & Children, & Health Service Executive. (2009). The national guidelines on physical activity for Ireland. *Children*, 1–32.

Després, J.-P., & Lamarche, B. (1994). Low-intensity endurance exercise training, plasma lipoproteins and the risk of coronary heart disease. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 236(1), 7–22.

Desveaux, L., Beauchamp, M., Goldstein, R., & Brooks, D. (2014). Community-based exercise programs as a strategy to optimize function in chronic disease: A systematic review. *Medical Care*, *52*(3), 216–226.

Desveaux, L., Beauchamp, M., Rolfe, D., Goldstein, R., & Brooks, D. (2014b). Participant experiences of a community-based maintenance program post-pulmonary rehabilitation. *Chronic Respiratory Disease*, *11*(1), 23–30.

Devlin, J. T., Hirshman, M., Horton, E. D., & Horton, E. S. (1987). Enhanced peripheral and splanchnic insulin sensitivity in NIDDM men after single bout of exercise. *Diabetes*, *36*(4), 434–439.

Dhalwani, N. N., O'Donovan, G., Zaccardi, F., Hamer, M., Yates, T., Davies, M., & Khunti, K. (2016). Long terms trends of multimorbidity and association with physical activity in older English population. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *13*(1), 8.

Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. (2002). Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *346*(6), 393–403.

Dibben, G. O., Dalal, H. M., Taylor, R. S., Doherty, P., Tang, L. H., & Hillsdon, M. (2018). Cardiac rehabilitation and physical activity: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart*, *104*(17), 1394–1402.

Diener, E. (2006). Understanding scores on the satisfaction with life scale. Available in *Http://Internal. Psychology. Illinois. Edu/~ Ediener/Documents/Understanding% 20SWLS% 20Scores. Pdf.* 

Dohrn, M., Kwak, L., Oja, P., Sjöström, M., & Hagströmer, M. (2018). Replacing sedentary time with physical activity: A 15-year follow-up of mortality in a national cohort. *Clinical Epidemiology*, *10*, 179.

Donaire-Gonzalez, D., Gimeno-Santos, E., Balcells, E., de Batlle, J., Ramon, M. A., Rodriguez, E., Farrero, E., Benet, M., Guerra, S., & Sauleda, J. (2015). Benefits of physical activity on COPD hospitalisation depend on intensity. *European Respiratory Journal*, *46*(5), 1281–1289.

Donnelly, J. E., Blair, S. N., Jakicic, J. M., Manore, M. M., Rankin, J. W., & Smith, B. K. (2009). Appropriate physical activity intervention strategies for weight loss and prevention of weight regain for adults. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(2), 459–471.

Dowd, K. P., Harrington, D. M., Bourke, A. K., Nelson, J., & Donnelly, A. E. (2012). The measurement of sedentary patterns and behaviors using the activPAL<sup>™</sup> professional physical activity monitor. *Physiological Measurement*, *33*(11), 1887.

Dunlay, S. M., Pack, Q. R., Thomas, R. J., Killian, J. M., & Roger, V. L. (2014). Participation in cardiac rehabilitation, readmissions, and death after acute myocardial infarction. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *127*(6), 538–546.

Dunstan, D W, Barr, E. L. M., Healy, G. N., Salmon, J., Shaw, J. E., Balkau, B., Magliano, D. J., Cameron, A. J., Zimmet, P. Z., & Owen, N. (2010). Television viewing time and mortality: The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). *Circulation*, *121*(3), 384–391. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.894824

Dunstan, David W., Daly, R. M., Owen, N., Jolley, D., De Courten, M., Shaw, J., & Zimmet, P. (2002). High-intensity resistance training improves glycemic control in older patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *25*(10), 1729–1736.

Dunstan, David W., Daly, R. M., Owen, N., Jolley, D., Vulikh, E., Shaw, J., & Zimmet, P. (2005). Home-based resistance training is not sufficient to maintain improved glycemic control following supervised training in older individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *28*(1), 3–9.

Dunstan, Kingwell, B. A., Larsen, R., Healy, G. N., Cerin, E., Hamilton, M. T., Shaw, J. E., Bertovic, D. A., Zimmet, P. Z., & Salmon, J. (2012). Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces postprandial glucose and insulin responses. *Diabetes Care*, *35*(5), 976–983.

Durstine, J. L., Gordon, B., Wang, Z., & Luo, X. (2013). Chronic disease and the link to physical activity. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, 2(1), 3–11.

Dutton, G. R., Tan, F., Provost, B. C., Sorenson, J. L., Allen, B., & Smith, D. (2009). Relationship between self-efficacy and physical activity among patients with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *32*(3), 270–277.

Dworak, M., Schierl, T., Bruns, T., & Strüder, H. K. (2007). Impact of singular excessive computer game and television exposure on sleep patterns and memory performance of school-aged children. *Pediatrics*, *120*(5), 978-985.

Dyer, M. T., Goldsmith, K. A., Sharples, L. S., & Buxton, M. J. (2010). A review of health utilities using the EQ-5D in studies of cardiovascular disease. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *8*(1), 13.

Edwards, M. K., & Loprinzi, P. D. (2018). Systemic inflammation as a function of the individual and combined associations of sedentary behaviour, physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness. *Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging*, *38*(1), 93–99.

Edwardson, C. L., Gorely, T., Davies, M. J., Gray, L. J., Khunti, K., Wilmot, E. G., Yates, T., & Biddle, S. J. (2012). Association of sedentary behaviour with metabolic syndrome: A metaanalysis. *PloS One*, 7(4), e34916.

Edwardson, C. L., Winkler, E. A., Bodicoat, D. H., Yates, T., Davies, M. J., Dunstan, D. W., & Healy, G. N. (2017). Considerations when using the activPAL monitor in field-based research with adult populations. *Journal of Sport and Health Science*, *6*(2), 162–178.

Effing, T., Zielhuis, G., Kerstjens, H., van der Valk, P., & van der Palen, J. (2011). Community based physiotherapeutic exercise in COPD self-management: A randomised controlled trial. *Respiratory Medicine*, *105*(3), 418–426.

Egan, C., Deering, B. M., Blake, C., Fullen, B. M., McCormack, N. M., Spruit, M. A., & Costello, R. W. (2012). Short term and long term effects of pulmonary rehabilitation on physical activity in COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, *106*(12), 1671–1679.

Egede, L. E., & Zheng, D. (2002). Modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in adults with diabetes: Prevalence and missed opportunities for physician counseling. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *162*(4), 427–433.

EIM Ireland, (2020). *Ireland – 2020 Fact Sheet.* Retrieved from https://www.exerciseismedicine.org/assets/documents/pdf\_files/Ireland%20-%202020%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf

Eisner, M. D., Blanc, P. D., Yelin, E. H., Sidney, S., Katz, P. P., Ackerson, L., Lathon, P., Tolstykh, I., Omachi, T., & Byl, N. (2008). COPD as a systemic disease: Impact on physical functional limitations. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *121*(9), 789–796.

Ekelund, U., Steene-Johannessen, J., Brown, W. J., Fagerland, M. W., Owen, N., Powell, K. E., Bauman, A., Lee, I.-M., Series, L. P. A., & Group, L. S. B. W. (2016). Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. *The Lancet*, *388*(10051), 1302–1310.

Ekelund, U., Tarp, J., Steene-Johannessen, J., Hansen, B. H., Jefferis, B., Fagerland, M. W., Whincup, P., Diaz, K. M., Hooker, S. P., & Chernofsky, A. (2019). Dose-response associations between accelerometry measured physical activity and sedentary time and all cause mortality: Systematic review and harmonised meta-analysis. *Bmj*, *366*, 14570.

Eliason, G., Zakrisson, A.-B., Piehl-Aulin, K., & Hurtig-Wennlöf, A. (2011). Physical activity patterns in patients in different stages of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *8*(5), 369–374.

Elsworth, C., Winward, C., Sackley, C., Meek, C., Freebody, J., Esser, P., Izadi, H., Soundy, A., Barker, K., & Hilton-Jones, D. (2011). Supported community exercise in people with long-term neurological conditions: A phase II randomized controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *25*(7), 588–598.

Emaus, A., Veierød, M. B., Tretli, S., Finstad, S. E., Selmer, R., Furberg, A.-S., Bernstein, L., Schlichting, E., & Thune, I. (2010). Metabolic profile, physical activity, and mortality in breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *121*(3), 651–660.

Eng, J. J., Chu, K. S., Kim, C. M., Dawson, A. S., Carswell, A., & Hepburn, K. E. (2003). A community-based group exercise program for persons with chronic stroke. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *35*(8), 1271.

Eng, J. J., Dawson, A. S., & Chu, K. S. (2004). Submaximal exercise in persons with stroke: Testretest reliability and concurrent validity with maximal oxygen consumption. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *85*(1), 113–118.

English, C., Healy, G. N., Coates, A., Lewis, L., Olds, T., & Bernhardt, J. (2016). Sitting and activity time in people with stroke. *Physical Therapy*, *96*(2), 193–201.

Enright, P. L. (2003). The six-minute walk test. *Respiratory Care*, 48(8), 783–785.

Esmaillzadeh, A., Mirmiran, P., & Azizi, F. (2004). Waist-to-hip ratio is a better screening measure for cardiovascular risk factors than other anthropometric indicators in Tehranian adult men. *International Journal of Obesity*, *28*(10), 1325–1332.

Evenson, K. R., Butler, E. N., & Rosamond, W. D. (2014). United States prevalence of physical activity and sedentary behavior among adults with cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, *34*(6), 406.

Ewanchuk, B. W., Gharagozloo, M., Peelen, E., & Pilutti, L. A. (2018). Exploring the role of physical activity and exercise for managing vascular comorbidities in people with multiple sclerosis: A scoping review. *Multiple Sclerosis and Related Disorders*, *26*, 19–32.

Ezzati, M., & Riboli, E. (2013). Behavioral and dietary risk factors for noncommunicable diseases. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *369*(10), 954–964.

Finne, E., Glausch, M., Exner, A. K., Sauzet, O., Stoelzel, F., & Seidel, N. (2018). Behavior change techniques for increasing physical activity in cancer survivors: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Cancer Management and Research*, *10*, 5125.

Fiuza-Luces, C., Santos-Lozano, A., Joyner, M., Carrera-Bastos, P., Picazo, O., Zugaza, J. L., Izquierdo, M., Ruilope, L. M., & Lucia, A. (2018a). Exercise benefits in cardiovascular disease: Beyond attenuation of traditional risk factors. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*, *15*(12), 731–743.

Flansbjer, U.-B., Holmbäck, A. M., Downham, D., Patten, C., & Lexell, J. (2005). Reliability of gait performance tests in men and women with hemiparesis after stroke. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *37*(2), 75–82.

Fletcher, J. S. (2012). Using Exercise to Increase Self-Efficacy and Improve Health Behaviors.

Fogelholm, M. (2010). Physical activity, fitness and fatness: Relations to mortality, morbidity and disease risk factors. A systematic review. *Obesity Reviews*, *11*(3), 202–221.

Foley, Michael P., & Hasson, S. M. (2016). Effects of a community-based multimodal exercise program on health-related physical fitness and physical function in breast cancer survivors: A pilot study. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*, *15*(4), 446–454.

Foley, Michael Paul, Hasson, S. M., & Kendall, E. (2018). Effects of a translational communitybased multimodal exercise program on quality of life and the influence of start delay on physical function and quality of life in breast cancer survivors: A pilot study. *Integrative Cancer Therapies*, *17*(2), 337–349.

Fong, D. Y., Ho, J. W., Hui, B. P., Lee, A. M., Macfarlane, D. J., Leung, S. S., Cerin, E., Chan, W. Y., Leung, I. P., & Lam, S. H. (2012). Physical activity for cancer survivors: Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Bmj*, *344*, e70.

Forechi, L., Mill, J. G., Griep, R. H., Santos, I., Pitanga, F., & Molina, M. del C. B. (2018). Adherence to physical activity in adults with chronic diseases: ELSA-Brasil. *Revista de Saude Publica*, *52*, 31.

Forhan, M., Zagorski, B. M., Marzonlini, S., Oh, P., & Alter, D. A. (2013). Predicting exercise adherence for patients with obesity and diabetes referred to a cardiac rehabilitation and secondary prevention program. *Canadian Journal of Diabetes*, *37*(3), 189–194.

Fortin, M., Bravo, G., Hudon, C., Vanasse, A., & Lapointe, L. (2005). Prevalence of multimorbidity among adults seen in family practice. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, *3*(3), 223–228.

Fortin, M., Lapointe, L., Hudon, C., Vanasse, A., Ntetu, A. L., & Maltais, D. (2004). Multimorbidity and quality of life in primary care: A systematic review. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *2*(1), 51.

Fourth Frontier. (2020). Fourth Frontier. Available at: https://fourthfrontier.com/

Fox, K. R., Ku, P.-W., Hillsdon, M., Davis, M. G., Simmonds, B. A., Thompson, J. L., Stathi, A., Gray, S. F., Sharp, D. J., & Coulson, J. C. (2015). Objectively assessed physical activity and lower limb function and prospective associations with mortality and newly diagnosed disease in UK older adults: An OPAL four-year follow-up study. *Age and Ageing*, *44*(2), 261–268.

Fuezeki, E., Engeroff, T., & Banzer, W. (2017a). Health benefits of light-intensity physical activity: A systematic review of accelerometer data of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). *Sports Medicine*, *47*(9), 1769–1793.

Fuezeki, E., Vogt, L., & Banzer, W. (2017b). German national physical activity recommendations for adults and older adults: Methods, database and rationale. *Gesundheitswesen (Bundesverband Der Arzte Des Offentlichen Gesundheitsdienstes (Germany))*, 79(S 01), S20–S28.

Fujita, Y., Nakamura, Y., Hiraoka, J., Kobayashi, K., Sakata, K., Nagai, M., & Yanagawa, H. (1995). Physical-strength tests and mortality among visitors to health-promotion centers in Japan. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *48*(11), 1349–1359.

Gallé, F., Di Onofrio, V., Miele, A., Belfiore, P., & Liguori, G. (2019). Effects of a communitybased exercise and motivational intervention on physical fitness of subjects with type 2 diabetes. *European Journal of Public Health*, *29*(2), 281–286.

Gando, Y., Murakami, H., Kawakami, R., Tanaka, N., Sanada, K., Tabata, I., Higuchi, M., & Miyachi, M. (2014). Light-intensity physical activity is associated with insulin resistance in elderly Japanese women independent of moderate-to vigorous-intensity physical activity. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *11*(2), 266–271.

Garcia-Aymerich, Judith Félez, M. A., Escarrabill, J., Marrades, R. M., Morera, J., Elosua, R., & Antó, J. M. (2004). Physical activity and its determinants in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *36*(10), 1667–1673.

Garcia-Aymerich, Judith, Lange, P., Benet, M., Schnohr, P., & Anto, J. M. (2007). Regular physical activity modifies smoking-related lung function decline and reduces risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A population-based cohort study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 175(5), 458–463.

Garrod, R., Marshall, J., Barley, E., & Jones, P. W. (2006). Predictors of success and failure in pulmonary rehabilitation. *European Respiratory Journal*, *27*(4), 788–794.

Gayda, M., Brun, C., Juneau, M., Levesque, S., & Nigam, A. (2008). Long-term cardiac rehabilitation and exercise training programs improve metabolic parameters in metabolic syndrome patients with and without coronary heart disease. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 18*(2), 142–151.

Ghasemi, A., & Zahediasl, S. (2012). Normality tests for statistical analysis: A guide for non-statisticians. *International Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *10*(2), 486.

Gianoudis, J., Bailey, C. A., & Daly, R. M. (2015). Associations between sedentary behaviour and body composition, muscle function and sarcopenia in community-dwelling older adults. *Osteoporosis International*, *26*(2), 571–579.

Gidlow, C., Johnston, L. H., Crone, D., & James, D. (2005). Attendance of exercise referral schemes in the UK: A systematic review. *Health Education Journal*, *64*(2), 168–186.

Gilford, D. M. (1988). *The aging population in the twenty-first century: Statistics for health policy*. National Academies.

Gilgen-Ammann, R., Schweizer, T., & Wyss, T. (2019). RR interval signal quality of a heart rate monitor and an ECG Holter at rest and during exercise. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *119*(7), 1525–1532.

Gill, J. M., & Malkova, D. (2006). Physical activity, fitness and cardiovascular disease risk in adults: Interactions with insulin resistance and obesity. *Clinical Science*, *110*(4), 409–425.

Gimeno-Santos, E., Frei, A., Steurer-Stey, C., De Batlle, J., Rabinovich, R. A., Raste, Y., Hopkinson, N. S., Polkey, M. I., Van Remoortel, H., & Troosters, T. (2014). Determinants and outcomes of physical activity in patients with COPD: A systematic review. *Thorax*, *69*(8), 731–739.

Glynn, L. G., Valderas, J. M., Healy, P., Burke, E., Newell, J., Gillespie, P., & Murphy, A. W. (2011). The prevalence of multimorbidity in primary care and its effect on health care utilization and cost. *Family Practice*, *28*(5), 516–523.

Godtfredsen, N., Sørensen, T. B., Lavesen, M., Pors, B., Dalsgaard, L. S., Dollerup, J., & Grann, O. (2019). Effects of community-based pulmonary rehabilitation in 33 municipalities in Denmark–results from the KOala project. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 14, 93.

González, K., Fuentes, J., & Márquez, J. L. (2017). Physical inactivity, sedentary behavior and chronic diseases. *Korean Journal of Family Medicine*, *38*(3), 111.

Government of Ireland. (2018). 2018 National Risk Assessment—Overview of Strategic Risks.Availableat:https://assets.gov.ie/2405/261018155017-8828303ace924307816fda25dde8811c.pdf

Gregg, E. W., Gerzoff, R. B., Caspersen, C. J., Williamson, D. F., & Narayan, K. V. (2003). Relationship of walking to mortality among US adults with diabetes. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *163*(12), 1440–1447.

Guralnik, J. M., LaCroix, A. Z., Abbott, R. D., Berkman, L. F., Satterfield, S., Evans, D. A., & Wallace, R. B. (1993). Maintaining mobility in late life. I. Demographic characteristics and chronic conditions. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *137*(8), 845–857.

Liang, M., & M Jette, A. (1981). Measuring functional ability in chronic arthritis. A critical review. *Arthritis & Rheumatism: Official Journal of the American College of Rheumatology*, 24(1), 80–86.

Haapalainen, E., Laurinen, P., Siirtola, P., Roning, J., Kinnunen, H., & Jurvelin, H. (2008). Exercise energy expenditure estimation based on acceleration data using the linear mixed model. *2008 IEEE International Conference on Information Reuse and Integration*, 131–136.

Haas, B. K., Kimmel, G., Hermanns, M., & Deal, B. (2012). Community-based FitSTEPS for life exercise program for persons with cancer: 5-year evaluation. *Journal of Oncology Practice*, *8*(6), 320–324.

Hains-Monfette, G., Atoui, S., Needham Dancause, K., & Bernard, P. (2019). Device-assessed physical activity and sedentary behaviors in Canadians with chronic disease (s): Findings from the Canadian Health Measures Survey. *Sports*, 7(5), 113.

Hallal, P. C., Andersen, L. B., Bull, F. C., Guthold, R., Haskell, W., Ekelund, U., & Group, L. P. A. S. W. (2012). Global physical activity levels: Surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects. *The Lancet*, *380*(9838), 247–257.

Hallgren, M., Owen, N., Stubbs, B., Zeebari, Z., Vancampfort, D., Schuch, F., Bellocco, Z., Vancampfort, D., & Lagerros, Y. T. (2018). Passive and mentally-active sedentary behaviors and incident major depressive disorder: a 13-year cohort study. *Journal of affective disorders*, *241*, 579-585.

Hallgren, M., Thi-Thuy-Dung, N., Owen, N., Stubbs, B., Vancampfort, D., Lundin, A., Dunstan, D., Bellocco, R., & Lagerros, Y. T. (2020a). Cross-sectional and prospective relationships of passive and mentally active sedentary behaviours and physical activity with depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *217*(2), 413-419.

Hallgren, M., Owen, N., Vancampfort, D., Dunstan, D. W., Wallin, P., Andersson, G., & Ekblom-Bak, E. (2020b). Associations of sedentary behavior in leisure and occupational contexts with symptoms of depression and anxiety. *Preventive medicine*, *133*, 106021. Hambrecht, R., Adams, V., Erbs, S., Linke, A., Krankel, N., Shu, Y., Baither, Y., Gielen, S., Thiele, H., & Gummert, J. F. (2003). Regular physical activity improves endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease by increasing phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Circulation*, *107*(25), 3152–3158.

Hamburg, N. M., McMackin, C. J., Huang, A. L., Shenouda, S. M., Widlansky, M. E., Schulz, E., Gokce, N., Ruderman, N. B., Keaney, J. F., Jr, & Vita, J. A. (2007). Physical inactivity rapidly induces insulin resistance and microvascular dysfunction in healthy volunteers. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *27*(12), 2650–2656.

Hamer, M., & Smith, L. (2018). Sedentary behaviour and depression. In *Sedentary Behaviour Epidemiology* (pp. 299-310). Springer, Cham.

Hamer, M., Smith, L., & Stamatakis, E. (2015). Prospective association of TV viewing with acute phase reactants and coagulation markers: English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Atherosclerosis*, *239*(2), 322-327.

Hamilton, M. T., Hamilton, D. G., & Zderic, T. W. (2007). Role of low energy expenditure and sitting in obesity, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes*, *56*(11), 2655–2667.

Hamilton, M. T., Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Zderic, T. W., & Owen, N. (2008). Too little exercise and too much sitting: inactivity physiology and the need for new recommendations on sedentary behavior. *Current cardiovascular risk reports*, *2*(4), 292.

Han, P., Zhang, W., Kang, L., Ma, Y., Fu, L., Jia, L., Yu, H., Chen, X., Hou, L., & Wang, L. (2017). Clinical evidence of exercise benefits for stroke. In *Exercise for Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Treatment* (pp. 131–151). Springer.

Hanania, N. A., & O'Donnell, D. E. (2019). Activity-related dyspnea in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Physical and psychological consequences, unmet needs, and future directions. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *14*, 1127.

Hansen, H., Beyer, N., Frølich, A., Godtfredsen, N., & Bieler, T. (2018). Intra-and inter-rater reproducibility of the 6-minute walk test and the 30-second sit-to-stand test in patients with severe and very severe COPD. *International journal of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*, *13*, 3447.

Hansson, G. K. (2005). Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *352*(16), 1685–1695.

Hardcastle, S. J., & Cohen, P. A. (2017). Effective Physical Activity Promotion to Survivors of Cancer Is Likely to Be Home Based and to Require Oncologist Participation. *Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 35*(32), 3635-3637.

Hardcastle, S. J., Maxwell-Smith, C., Kamarova, S., Lamb, S., Millar, L., & Cohen, P. A. (2018). Factors influencing non-participation in an exercise program and attitudes towards physical activity amongst cancer survivors. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *26*(4), 1289-1295.

Hardefeldt, P. J., Penninkilampi, R., Edirimanne, S., & Eslick, G. D. (2018). Physical activity and weight loss reduce the risk of breast cancer: A meta-analysis of 139 prospective and retrospective studies. *Clinical Breast Cancer*, *18*(4), e601–e612.

Harmon, B. T., Orkunoglu-Suer, E. F., Adham, K., Larkin, J. S., Gordish-Dressman, H., Clarkson, P. M., Thompson, P. D., Angelopoulos, T. J., Gordon, P. M., & Moyna, N. M. (2010). CCL2 and CCR2 variants are associated with skeletal muscle strength and change in strength with resistance training. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *109*(6), 1779–1785.

Harrington, R., Taylor, G., Hollinghurst, S., Reed, M., Kay, H., & Wood, V. A. (2010). A community-based exercise and education scheme for stroke survivors: A randomized controlled trial and economic evaluation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *24*(1), 3–15.

Harris, J. R., & Wallace, R. B. (2012). The Institute of Medicine's New Report on Living Well With Chronic Illness. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, *9*. https://doi.org/10.5888/pcd9.120126

Hartman, J. E., Boezen, H. M., de Greef, M. H., & Nick, H. (2013). Physical and psychosocial factors associated with physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *94*(12), 2396–2402.

Haskell, W. L., Lee, I.-M., Pate, R. R., Powell, K. E., Blair, S. N., Franklin, B. A., Macera, C. A., Heath, G. W., Thompson, P. D., & Bauman, A. (2007). Physical activity and public health: Updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *116*(9), 1081.

Haydon, A. M., MacInnis, R. J., English, D. R., & Giles, G. G. (2006). Effect of physical activity and body size on survival after diagnosis with colorectal cancer. *Gut*, *55*(1), 62–67.

Health Service Executive.(2018). Intergrated Care Programs for the Prevention andManagementofChronicDisease.HSE.le.Availableat:https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/who/cspd/icp/chronic-disease/about-the-programme.html

Healthy Ireland. (2019). Healthy Ireland Summary Report 2019. Dublin: Healthy Ireland.

Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Cerin, E., Shaw, J. E., Zimmet, P. Z., & Owen, N. (2007). Objectively measured light-intensity physical activity is independently associated with 2-h plasma glucose. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(6), 1384–1389.

Healy, G. N., Dunstan, D. W., Salmon, J., Cerin, E., Shaw, J. E., Zimmet, P. Z., & Owen, N. (2008a). Breaks in sedentary time: Beneficial associations with metabolic risk. *Diabetes Care*, *31*(4), 661–666. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc07-2046

Healy, G. N., Matthews, C. E., Dunstan, D. W., Winkler, E. A., & Owen, N. (2011). Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003–06. *European Heart Journal*, *32*(5), 590–597.

Healy, G. N., Wijndaele, K., Dunstan, D. W., Shaw, J. E., Salmon, J., Zimmet, P. Z., & Owen, N. (2008b). Objectively measured sedentary time, physical activity, and metabolic risk: The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). *Diabetes Care*, *31*(2), 369–371.

Healy, G. N., Winkler, E. A., Owen, N., Anuradha, S., & Dunstan, D. W. (2015). Replacing sitting time with standing or stepping: Associations with cardio-metabolic risk biomarkers. *European Heart Journal*, *36*(39), 2643–2649.

Heaney, C. A., & Israel, B. A. (2008). Social networks and social support. *Health Behavior and Health Education: Theory, Research, and Practice*, *4*, 189–210.

Hébert, R. (1997). Functional decline in old age. *Cmaj*, *157*(8), 1037–1045.

Hegde, S. M., & Solomon, S. D. (2015). Influence of physical activity on hypertension and cardiac structure and function. *Current Hypertension Reports*, *17*(10), 77.

Heiwe, S., & Jacobson, S. H. (2011). Exercise training for adults with chronic kidney disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *10*.

Henson, J., Yates, T., Biddle, S. J., Edwardson, C. L., Khunti, K., Wilmot, E. G., Gray, L. J., Gorely, T., Nimmo, M. A., & Davies, M. J. (2013a). Associations of objectively measured sedentary behaviour and physical activity with markers of cardiometabolic health. *Diabetologia*, *56*(5), 1012–1020.

Henson, J., Yates, T., Edwardson, C. L., Khunti, K., Talbot, D., Gray, L. J., Leigh, T. M., Carter, P., & Davies, M. J. (2013b). Sedentary time and markers of chronic low-grade inflammation in a high risk population. *PloS One*, *8*(10).

Heran, B. S., Chen, J. M., Ebrahim, S., Moxham, T., Oldridge, N., Rees, K., Thompson, D. R., & Taylor, R. S. (2011). Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation for coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *7*.

Hernandes, N. A., Probst, V. S., Silva Jr, R. A. D., Januário, R. S., Pitta, F., & Teixeira, D. C. (2013). Physical activity in daily life in physically independent elderly participating in community-based exercise program. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, *17*(1), 57–63.

Hernández, B., Reilly, R. B., & Kenny, R. A. (2019). Investigation of multimorbidity and prevalent disease combinations in older Irish adults using network analysis and association rules. *Scientific Reports*, *9*(1), 1–12.

Herring, M. P., O'Connor, P. J., & Dishman, R. K. (2010). The effect of exercise training on anxiety symptoms among patients: a systematic review. *Archives of internal medicine*, *170*(4), 321-331.
Herring, M. P., Puetz, T. W., O'Connor, P. J., & Dishman, R. K. (2012). Effect of exercise training on depressive symptoms among patients with a chronic illness: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *172*(2), 101-111.

Herring, M. P., Sailors, M. H., & Bray, M. S. (2014). Genetic factors in exercise adoption, adherence and obesity. *Obesity reviews*, *15*(1), 29-39.

Hessert, M. J., Gugliucci, M. R., & Pierce, H. R. (2005). Functional fitness: Maintaining or improving function for elders with chronic diseases. *FAMILY MEDICINE-KANSAS CITY-*, *37*(7), 472.

Holland, A. E., & Nici, L. (2013). *The return of the minimum clinically important difference for 6-minute-walk distance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*. American Thoracic Society.

Holten, M. K., Zacho, M., Gaster, M., Juel, C., Wojtaszewski, J. F., & Dela, F. (2004). Strength training increases insulin-mediated glucose uptake, GLUT4 content, and insulin signaling in skeletal muscle in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, *53*(2), 294–305.

Honkola, A., Forsen, T., & Eriksson, J. (1997). Resistance training improves the metabolic profile in individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Acta Diabetologica*, *34*(4), 245–248.

Hou, C., Ping, Z., Yang, K., Chen, S., Liu, X., Li, H., Liu, M., Ma, Y., van Halm-Lutterodt, N., & Tao, L. (2018). Trends of activities of daily living disability situation and association with chronic conditions among elderly aged 80 years and over in China. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 22*(3), 439–445.

Houchen-Wolloff, L., Williams, J. E., Green, R. H., Woltmann, G., Steiner, M. C., Sewell, L., Morgan, M. D., & Singh, S. J. (2018a). Survival following pulmonary rehabilitation in patients with COPD: The effect of program completion and change in incremental shuttle walking test distance. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *13*, 37.

Hovanec, N., Bellemore, D., Kuhnow, J., Miller, F., van Vloten, A., & Vandervoort, A. A. (2015). Exercise prescription considerations for individuals with multiple chronic diseases: Systematic review. *J Gerontol Geriatr Res*, *4*(201), 2.

Howell, D. C. (2015). *Mixed models for missing data with repeated measures Part 1*. Available at: https://www.uvm.edu/~statdhtx/StatPages/More\_Stuff/Mixed-Models-Repeated/Mixed-Models-for-Repeated-Measures1.html

Howley, E. T. (2001). Type of activity: resistance, aerobic and leisure versus occupational physical activity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *33*(6), S364-S369.

Hu, F. B., Manson, J. E., Stampfer, M. J., Colditz, G., Liu, S., Solomon, C. G., & Willett, W. C. (2001). Diet, lifestyle, and the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *345*(11), 790–797.

Hupin, D., Roche, F., Gremeaux, V., Chatard, J.-C., Oriol, M., Gaspoz, J.-M., Barthélémy, J.-C., & Edouard, P. (2015). Even a low-dose of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity reduces mortality by 22% in adults aged  $\geq$  60 years: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 49(19), 1262–1267.

Hur, S. A., Guler, S. A., Khalil, N., Camp, P. G., Guenette, J. A., Swigris, J. J., & Ryerson, C. J. (2019). Minimal Important Difference for Physical Activity and Validity of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire in Interstitial Lung Disease. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, *16*(1), 107–115.

Hurley, N. R., Barrett, C., Przybylski, P., Power, G., Smith, H. G., Field, K., McDermott, C., Furlong, B., McCaffrey, N., & Moyna, N. (2017). Physiological, Perceptual And Affective Responses During Community-Based Cardiac Rehabilitation: 1473 Board# 148 June 1 900 AM-1030 AM. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *49*(5S), 409.

Huynh, Q. L., Blizzard, C. L., Sharman, J. E., Magnussen, C. G., Dwyer, T., & Venn, A. J. (2014). The cross-sectional association of sitting time with carotid artery stiffness in young adults. *BMJ Open*, *4*(3), e004384.

Hynninen, K. M. J., Breitve, M. H., Wiborg, A. B., Pallesen, S., & Nordhus, I. H. (2005). Psychological characteristics of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A review. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *59*(6), 429–443.

Ibrahim, E. M., & Al-Homaidh, A. (2011). Physical activity and survival after breast cancer diagnosis: Meta-analysis of published studies. *Medical Oncology*, *28*(3), 753–765.

Irish College of General Practitioners. (2018). *ICGP Pre-Budget Submisison 2019*. http ICGP\_Pre Budget\_Submission\_2019 20 1 pdf

Irish Heart Foundtaion. (2020). *Irish Heart What is Stroke?* Available at: <u>https://irishheart.ie/your-health/learn-about-stroke/what-is-stroke/</u>

Irwin, M. L., Crumley, D., McTiernan, A., Bernstein, L., Baumgartner, R., Gilliland, F. D., Kriska, A. & Ballard-Barbash, R. (2003). Physical activity levels before and after a diagnosis of breast carcinoma: the Health, Eating, Activity, and Lifestyle (HEAL) study. *Cancer: Interdisciplinary International Journal of the American Cancer Society*, *97*(7), 1746-1757

Irwin, M. R., & Miller, A. H. (2007). Depressive disorders and immunity: 20 years of progress and discovery. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, *21*(4), 374-383.

Izquierdo-Porrera, A. M., Gardner, A. W., Bradham, D. D., Montgomery, P. S., Sorkin, J. D., Powell, C. C., & Katzel, L. I. (2005). Relationship between objective measures of peripheral arterial disease severity to self-reported quality of life in older adults with intermittent claudication. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *41*(4), 625–630.

Jaeschke, R., Singer, J., & Guyatt, G. H. (1989). Measurement of health status: Ascertaining the minimal clinically important difference. *Controlled Clinical Trials*, *10*(4), 407–415.

Jakes, R. W., Day, N. E., Patel, B., Khaw, K.-T., Oakes, S., Luben, R., Welch, A., Bingham, S., & Wareham, N. J. (2002). Physical inactivity is associated with lower forced expiratory volume in 1 second: European Prospective Investigation into Cancer-Norfolk Prospective Population Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *156*(2), 139–147.

Jakicic, J. M., & Davis, K. K. (2011). Obesity and physical activity. *Psychiatric Clinics*, *34*(4), 829-840.

Janssens, T., De Peuter, S., Stans, L., Verleden, G., Troosters, T., Decramer, M., & Van den Bergh, O. (2011). Dyspnea perception in COPD: Association between anxiety, dyspnea-related fear, and dyspnea in a pulmonary rehabilitation program. *Chest*, *140*(3), 618–625.

Jefferis, B. J., Sartini, C., Shiroma, E., Whincup, P. H., Wannamethee, S. G., & Lee, I.-M. (2015). Duration and breaks in sedentary behaviour: Accelerometer data from 1566 community-dwelling older men (British Regional Heart Study). *Br J Sports Med*, *49*(24), 1591–1594.

Jennersjö, P., Ludvigsson, J., Länne, T., Nystrom, F. H., Ernerudh, J., & Östgren, C. J. (2012). Pedometer-determined physical activity is linked to low systemic inflammation and low arterial stiffness in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetic Medicine*, *29*(9), 1119–1125.

Jiménez-Navarro, M. F., Lopez-Jimenez, F., Pérez-Belmonte, L. M., Lennon, R. J., Diaz-Melean, C., Rodriguez-Escudero, J. P., Goel, K., Crusan, D., Prasad, A., & Squires, R. W. (2017). Benefits of cardiac rehabilitation on cardiovascular outcomes in patients with diabetes mellitus after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, *6*(10), e006404.

John, D., Thompson, D. L., Raynor, H., Bielak, K., Rider, B., & Bassett, D. R. (2011). Treadmill workstations: A worksite physical activity intervention in overweight and obese office workers. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *8*(8), 1034–1043.

Jolliffe, J., & Taylor, R. (1998). Physical activity and cardiac rehabilitation: A critical review of the literature. *Coronary Health Care*, *2*(4), 179–186.

Jones, J. M., Olson, K., Catton, P., Catton, C. N., Fleshner, N. E., Krzyzanowska, M. K., McCready, D. R., Wong, R. K., Jiang, H., & Howell, D. (2016). Cancer-related fatigue and associated disability in post-treatment cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *10*(1), 51–61.

Jones, L. W., Fels, D. R., West, M., Allen, J. D., Broadwater, G., Barry, W. T., Wilke, L. G., Masko, E., Douglas, P. S., & Dash, R. C. (2013a). Modulation of circulating angiogenic factors and tumor biology by aerobic training in breast cancer patients receiving neoadjuvant chemotherapy. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *6*(9), 925–937.

Jones, S. E., Kon, S. S., Canavan, J. L., Patel, M. S., Clark, A. L., Nolan, C. M., Polkey, M. I., & Man, W. D. (2013b). The five-repetition sit-to-stand test as a functional outcome measure in COPD. *Thorax*, *68*(11), 1015–1020.

Joyner, M. J., & Green, D. J. (2009). Exercise protects the cardiovascular system: Effects beyond traditional risk factors. *The Journal of Physiology*, *587*(23), 5551–5558.

Judice, P. B., Silva, A. M., & Sardinha, L. B. (2015). Sedentary bout durations are associated with abdominal obesity in older adults. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging*, *19*(8), 798–804.

Júnior, E. B. dos S., Oliveira, L. P. A. B. de, & Silva, R. A. R. da. (2017). Chronic noncommunicable diseases and the functional capacity of elderly people. *Revista de Pesquisa: Cuidado é Fundamental Online*, 6(2), 516–524.

Kaminsky, L. A., Arena, R., Beckie, T. M., Brubaker, P. H., Church, T. S., Forman, D. E., Franklin, B. A., Gulati, M., Lavie, C. J., & Myers, J. (2013a). The importance of cardiorespiratory fitness in the United States: The need for a national registry: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *127*(5), 652–662.

Kantsiper, M., McDonald, E. L., Geller, G., Shockney, L., Snyder, C., & Wolff, A. C. (2009). Transitioning to breast cancer survivorship: Perspectives of patients, cancer specialists, and primary care providers. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *24*(2), 459.

Katzmarzyk, Peter T., Church, T. S., Craig, C. L., & Bouchard, C. (2009). Sitting time and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *41*(5), 998–1005.

Katzmarzyk, Peter T., & Craig, C. L. (2002). Musculoskeletal fitness and risk of mortality. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *34*(5), 740–744.

Kaushal, N., Langlois, F., Desjardins-Crépeau, L., Hagger, M. S., & Bherer, L. (2019). Investigating dose–response effects of multimodal exercise programs on health-related quality of life in older adults. *Clinical interventions in aging*, *14*, 209.

Keating, A., Lee, A., & Holland, A. E. (2011). What prevents people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease from attending pulmonary rehabilitation? A systematic review. *Chronic Respiratory Disease*, 8(2), 89–99.

Kell, R. T., Bell, G., & Quinney, A. (2001). Musculoskeletal fitness, health outcomes and quality of life. *Sports Medicine*, *31*(12), 863–873.

Kelley, G. A., Kelley, K. S., Hootman, J. M., & Jones, D. L. (2011). Effects of Community-Deliverable Exercise on Pain and Physical Function in Adults With Arthritis and Other Rheumatic Diseases: A Meta-Analysis. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *63*(1), 79–93.

Kelly, N. A., Ford, M. P., Standaert, D. G., Watts, R. L., Bickel, C. S., Moellering, D. R., Tuggle, S.S., Williams, J.Y., Lieb, L., Windham, S.T. & Bamman, M. M. (2014). Novel, high-intensity exercise prescription improves muscle mass, mitochondrial function, and physical capacity in individuals with Parkinson's disease. *Journal of applied physiology*.

Kemps, H., Kränkel, N., Dörr, M., Moholdt, T., Wilhelm, M., Paneni, F., Serratosa, L., Ekker Solberg, E., Hansen, D., & Halle, M. (2019). Exercise training for patients with type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease: What to pursue and how to do it. A position paper of the European Association of Preventive Cardiology (EAPC). *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, *26*(7), 709–727.

Kennedy, D. M., Stratford, P. W., Wessel, J., Gollish, J. D., & Penney, D. (2005). Assessing stability and change of four performance measures: A longitudinal study evaluating outcome following total hip and knee arthroplasty. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *6*(1), 3.

Kessels, E., Husson, O., & Van der Feltz-Cornelis, C. M. (2018). The effect of exercise on cancer-related fatigue in cancer survivors: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Neuropsychiatric disease and treatment*, *14*, 479.

Khoja, S. S., Almeida, G. J., Wasko, M. C., Terhorst, L., & Piva, S. R. (2016). Light intensity physical activity is associated with lower cardiovascular risk factor burden in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care & Research*, *68*(4), 424.

Kim, R. B., Phillips, A., Herrick, K., Helou, M., Rafie, C., Anscher, M. S., Mikkelsen, R. B., & Ning, Y. (2013). Physical activity and sedentary behavior of cancer survivors and non-cancer individuals: Results from a national survey. *PloS One*, *8*(3).

Kingston, A., Robinson, L., Booth, H., Knapp, M., Jagger, C., & project, M. (2018). Projections of multi-morbidity in the older population in England to 2035: Estimates from the Population Ageing and Care Simulation (PACSim) model. *Age and Ageing*, *47*(3), 374–380.

Knaeps, S., Bourgois, J. G., Charlier, R., Mertens, E., Lefevre, J., & Wijndaele, K. (2018). Tenyear change in sedentary behaviour, moderate-to-vigorous physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness and cardiometabolic risk: Independent associations and mediation analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(16), 1063–1068.

Knobf, M. T., Thompson, A. S., Fennie, K., & Erdos, D. (2014). The effect of a community-based exercise intervention on symptoms and quality of life. *Cancer Nursing*, *37*(2), E43.

Knudson, D. V., & Lindsey, C. (2014). Type I and Type II errors in correlations of various sample sizes. *Comprehensive Psychology*, *3*, 03–CP.

Kodama, S., Saito, K., Tanaka, S., Maki, M., Yachi, Y., Asumi, M., Sugawara, A., Totsuka, K., Shimano, H., & Ohashi, Y. (2009). Cardiorespiratory fitness as a quantitative predictor of allcause mortality and cardiovascular events in healthy men and women: A meta-analysis. *Jama*, *301*(19), 2024–2035.

Koene, R. J., Prizment, A. E., Blaes, A., & Konety, S. H. (2016). Shared Risk Factors in Cardiovascular Disease and Cancer. *Circulation*, *133*(11), 1104–1114. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.020406 Kotrotsiou, E., Tzounis, E., Daniil, Z., Hatzoglou, C., Skenteris, N., & Gourgoulianis, K. (2017). Anxiety, stress and depression on COPD patients. A qualitative research. *European Psychiatry*, *41*(S1), s243–s243.

Koushede, V., Lasgaard, M., Hinrichsen, C., Meilstrup, C., Nielsen, L., Rayce, S. B., Torres-Sahli, M., Gudmundsdottir, D.G., Stewart-Brown, S. & Santini, Z. I. (2019). Measuring mental wellbeing in Denmark: Validation of the original and short version of the Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS and SWEMWBS) and cross-cultural comparison across four European settings. *Psychiatry Research*, *271*, 502-509.

Kraut, R., Patterson, M., Lundmark, V., Kiesler, S., Mukophadhyay, T., & Scherlis, W. (1998). Internet paradox: A social technology that reduces social involvement and psychological wellbeing?. *American psychologist*, *53*(9), 1017.

Kroenke, K., & Spitzer, R. L. (2010). *Instruction manual: Instructions for patient health questionnaire (PHQ) and GAD-7 measures.* 

Kroenke, Kurt, Strine, T. W., Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B., Berry, J. T., & Mokdad, A. H. (2009). The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *114*(1–3), 163–173.

Kruidenier, L. M., Nicolaï, S. P., Hendriks, E. J., Bollen, E. C., Prins, M. H., & Teijink, J. A. (2009). Supervised exercise therapy for intermittent claudication in daily practice. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *49*(2), 363–370.

Ku, P.-W., Fox, K. R., Chen, L.-J., & Chou, P. (2011). *Physical activity, sedentary time and subjective well-being in Taiwanese older adults.* 43(3), 245–262.

Kuipers, S. J., Nieboer, A. P., & Cramm, J. M. (2020). The Need for Co-Creation of Care with Multi-Morbidity Patients—A Longitudinal Perspective. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(9), 3201.

Kujala, U. M., Hautasaari, P., Vähä-Ypyä, H., Waller, K., Lindgren, N., Iso-Markku, P., Heikkilä, K., Rinne, J., Kaprio, J., & Sievänen, H. (2019). Chronic diseases and objectively monitored physical activity profile among aged individuals–a cross-sectional twin cohort study. *Annals of Medicine*, *51*(1), 78–87.

Kwan, Y. H., Ong, K. Y., Tay, H. Y., & Chang, J. Y. (2016). Heart wellness programme: A pilot community-based cardiac rehabilitation programme in a multiethnic society. *Singapore Medical Journal*, *57*(4), 188.

Lahart, I. M., Metsios, G. S., Nevill, A. M., & Carmichael, A. R. (2015). Physical activity, risk of death and recurrence in breast cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Acta Oncologica*, *54*(5), 635–654.

Laires, P. A., & Perelman, J. (2019). The current and projected burden of multimorbidity: A cross-sectional study in a Southern Europe population. *European Journal of Ageing*, *16*(2), 181–192.

Lam, C. L., & Lauder, I. J. (2000). The impact of chronic diseases on the health-related quality of life (HRQOL) of Chinese patients in primary care. *Family Practice*, *17*(2), 159-166.

LaMonte, M. J., Blair, S. N., & Church, T. S. (2005). Physical activity and diabetes prevention. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *99*(3), 1205–1213.

Lane, R., Ellis, B., Watson, L., & Leng, G. C. (2014). *Exercise for intermittent claudication*. *Cochrane database of syst rev*. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Lang, C. E., Edwards, D. F., Birkenmeier, R. L., & Dromerick, A. W. (2008). Estimating minimal clinically important differences of upper-extremity measures early after stroke. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *89*(9), 1693–1700.

Larsen, P. D., & Lubkin, I. M. (2009). *Chronic illness: Impact and intervention*. Jones & Bartlett Learning.

Laukkanen, J. A., Kurl, S., & Salonen, J. T. (2002). Cardiorespiratory fitness and physical activity as risk predictors of future atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, *4*(6), 468–476.

Lauret, G. J., Fokkenrood, H. J. P., Bendermacher, B. L., Scheltinga, M. R. M., & Teijink, J. A. W. (2014). Physical activity monitoring in patients with intermittent claudication. *European Journal of Vascular and Endovascular Surgery*, *47*(6), 656–663.

Lavie, C. J., & Milani, R. V. (1997a). Benefits of cardiac rehabilitation and exercise training in elderly women. *The American journal of cardiology*, *79*(5), 664-666.

Lavie, C. J., & Milani, R. V. (1997b). Effects of cardiac rehabilitation, exercise training, and weight reduction on exercise capacity, coronary risk factors, behavioral characteristics, and quality of life in obese coronary patients. *The American journal of cardiology*, *79*(4), 397-401.

Lavie, C. J., Thomas, R. J., Squires, R. W., Allison, T. G., & Milani, R. V. (2009, April). Exercise training and cardiac rehabilitation in primary and secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. In *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* (Vol. 84, No. 4, pp. 373-383). Elsevier.

Lavin, K. M., Ge, Y., Sealfon, S. C., Nair, V. D., Wilk, K., McAdam, J. S., Windham, S.T., Kumar, P.L., McDonald, M.N. & Bamman, M. M. (2020). Rehabilitative Impact of Exercise Training on Human Skeletal Muscle Transcriptional Programs in Parkinson's Disease. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *11*, 653.

Leach, H. J., Danyluk, J. M., Nishimura, K. C., & Culos-Reed, S. N. (2015). Evaluation of a community-based exercise program for breast cancer patients undergoing treatment. *Cancer Nursing*, *38*(6), 417–425.

Lee, D., Artero, E. G., Sui, X., & Blair, S. N. (2010). Mortality trends in the general population: The importance of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, *24*(4\_suppl), 27–35.

Lee, D. S., Markwardt, S., Goeres, L., Lee, C. G., Eckstrom, E., Williams, C., Fu, R., Orwoll, E., Cawthon, P. M., & Stefanick, M. L. (2014). Statins and physical activity in older men: The osteoporotic fractures in men study. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(8), 1263–1270.

Lee, D., Sui, X., Church, T. S., Lavie, C. J., Jackson, A. S., & Blair, S. N. (2012a). Changes in fitness and fatness on the development of cardiovascular disease risk factors: Hypertension, metabolic syndrome, and hypercholesterolemia. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *59*(7), 665–672.

Lee, D., Sui, X., Church, T. S., Lee, I.-M., & Blair, S. N. (2009). Associations of cardiorespiratory fitness and obesity with risks of impaired fasting glucose and type 2 diabetes in men. *Diabetes Care*, *32*(2), 257–262.

Lee, I.-M. (2003). Physical activity and cancer prevention—Data from epidemiologic studies. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *35*(11), 1823–1827.

Lee, I. M., Sesso, H. D., Oguma, Y., & Paffenbarger Jr, R. S. (2003). Relative intensity of physical activity and risk of coronary heart disease. *Circulation*, *107*(8), 1110-1116.

Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Kamada, M., Bassett, D. R., Matthews, C. E., & Buring, J. E. (2019). Association of step volume and intensity with all-cause mortality in older women. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *179*(8), 1105–1112.

Lee, I.-M., Shiroma, E. J., Lobelo, F., Puska, P., Blair, S. N., Katzmarzyk, P. T., & Group, L. P. A. S. W. (2012b). Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: An analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *The Lancet, 380*(9838), 219–229.

Lee, I.-M., & Skerrett, P. J. (2001). Physical activity and all-cause mortality: What is the dose-response relation? *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *33*(6), S459–S471.

Lees, A. J., Blackburn, N. A., & Campbell, V. L. (1988). The nighttime problems of Parkinson's disease. *Clinical neuropharmacology*, *11*(6), 512-519.

Lemanski, K. M. (1990). The use of self-efficacy in cardiac rehabilitation. *Progress in Cardiovascular Nursing*, *5*(4), 114–117.

Leroux, A. (2005). Exercise training to improve motor performance in chronic stroke: Effects of a community-based exercise program. *International Journal of Rehabilitation Research*, *28*(1), 17–23.

Leung, A. W., Chan, R. S., Sea, M. M., & Woo, J. (2017). An overview of factors associated with adherence to lifestyle modification programs for weight management in adults. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(8), 922.

Lewinsohn, P. M. (1974). A behavioral approach to depression. *Essential papers on depression*, 150-172.

Lewis, L. K., Hunt, T., Williams, M. T., English, C., & Olds, T. S. (2016). Sedentary Behavior in People with and without a Chronic Health Condition: How Much, What and When? *AIMS Public Health*, *3*(3), 503.

Li, Y., White, K., O'Shields, K. R., McLain, A. C., & Merchant, A. T. (2019). Light-Intensity Physical Activity and Cardiometabolic Risk Among Older Adults With Multiple Chronic Conditions. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *33*(4), 507–515.

Liuzzo, G. (2001). Atherosclerosis: An inflammatory disease. *Rays*, *26*(4), 221–230.

Loimaala, A., Huikuri, H. V., Kööbi, T., Rinne, M., Nenonen, A., & Vuori, I. (2003). Exercise training improves baroreflex sensitivity in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, *52*(7), 1837–1842.

López-Ortega, M., Torres-Castro, S., & Rosas-Carrasco, O. (2016). Psychometric properties of the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS): secondary analysis of the Mexican Health and Aging Study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *14*(1), 170

Loprinzi, P. D. (2015). Dose–response association of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity with cardiovascular biomarkers and all-cause mortality: Considerations by individual sports, exercise and recreational physical activities. *Preventive Medicine*, *81*, 73–77.

Loprinzi, P. D. (2017). Light-intensity physical activity and all-cause mortality. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *31*(4), 340–342.

Loprinzi, P. D., Lee, H., & Cardinal, B. J. (2013). Objectively measured physical activity among US cancer survivors: Considerations by weight status. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 7(3), 493–499.

Loprinzi, P. D., Lee, H., & Cardinal, B. J. (2015). Evidence to support including lifestyle lightintensity recommendations in physical activity guidelines for older adults. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *29*(5), 277–284.

Loprinzi, P. D., & Pariser, G. (2013). Physical activity intensity and biological markers among adults with diabetes: Considerations by age and gender. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, 27(2), 134–140.

Loprinzi, P. D., Pariser, G., & Ramulu, P. Y. (2014). Accelerometer-assessed sedentary and physical activity behavior and its association with vision among US adults with diabetes. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *11*(6), 1156–1161.

Lord, S., Godfrey, A., Galna, B., Mhiripiri, D., Burn, D., & Rochester, L. (2013). Ambulatory activity in incident Parkinson's: More than meets the eye? *Journal of Neurology*, *260*(12), 2964–2972.

Loughney, L., West, M. A., Kemp, G. J., Grocott, M. P. W., & Jack, S. (2016). Exercise intervention in people with cancer undergoing neoadjuvant cancer treatment and surgery: A systematic review. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology (EJSO)*, *42*(1), 28–38.

Luan, X., Tian, X., Zhang, H., Huang, R., Li, N., Chen, P., & Wang, R. (2019). Exercise as a prescription for patients with various diseases. *Journal of sport and health science*, 8(5), 422-441.

Luszczynska, A., & Sutton, S. (2006). Physical activity after cardiac rehabilitation: Evidence that different types of self-efficacy are important in maintainers and relapsers. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *51*(4), 314.

Lynch, B. M., Dunstan, D. W., Healy, G. N., Winkler, E., Eakin, E., & Owen, N. (2010). Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary time of breast cancer survivors, and associations with adiposity: Findings from NHANES (2003–2006). *Cancer Causes & Control*, 21(2), 283–288.

Maltais, F., LeBlanc, P., Simard, C., Jobin, J., Bérubé, C., Bruneau, J., Carrier, L., & Belleau, R. (1996). Skeletal muscle adaptation to endurance training in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 154(2), 442–447.

Mampuya, W. M. (2012). Cardiac rehabilitation past, present and future: An overview. *Cardiovascular Diagnosis and Therapy*, *2*(1), 38.

Mandrekar, J. N. (2010). Receiver operating characteristic curve in diagnostic test assessment. *Journal of Thoracic Oncology*, *5*(9), 1315–1316.

Manjoo, P., Joseph, L., & Dasgupta, K. (2012). Abdominal adiposity and daily step counts as determinants of glycemic control in a cohort of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nutrition & Diabetes*, *2*(1), e25–e25.

Manjoo, Priya, Joseph, L., Pilote, L., & Dasgupta, K. (2010). Sex differences in step count-blood pressure association: A preliminary study in type 2 diabetes. *PLoS One*, *5*(11), e14086.

Mann, T. N., Lamberts, R. P., & Lambert, M. I. (2014). High responders and low responders: Factors associated with individual variation in response to standardized training. *Sports Medicine*, *44*(8), 1113–1124.

Manson, J. E., Greenland, P., LaCroix, A. Z., Stefanick, M. L., Mouton, C. P., Oberman, A., Perri, M. G., Sheps, D. S., Pettinger, M. B., & Siscovick, D. S. (2002). Walking compared with vigorous exercise for the prevention of cardiovascular events in women. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *347*(10), 716–725.

Marengoni, A., Angleman, S., Melis, R., Mangialasche, F., Karp, A., Garmen, A., Meinow, B., & Fratiglioni, L. (2011). Aging with multimorbidity: A systematic review of the literature. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *10*(4), 430–439.

Maresova, P., Javanmardi, E., Barakovic, S., Husic, J. B., Tomsone, S., Krejcar, O., & Kuca, K. (2019). Consequences of chronic diseases and other limitations associated with old age–a scoping review. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 1431.

Marsden, Dianne Lesley, Dunn, A., Callister, R., McElduff, P., Levi, C. R., & Spratt, N. J. (2016). A home-and community-based physical activity program can improve the cardiorespiratory fitness and walking capacity of stroke survivors. *Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases*, *25*(10), 2386–2398.

Mathiowetz, V., Weber, K., Volland, G., & Kashman, N. (1984). Reliability and validity of grip and pinch strength evaluations. *Journal of Hand Surgery*, *9*(2), 222-226.

Matias, M., Baciarello, G., Neji, M., Di Meglio, A., Michiels, S., Partridge, A. H., Bendiane, M. K., Fizazi, K., Ducreux, M., & Andre, F. (2019). Fatigue and physical activity in cancer survivors: A cross-sectional population-based study. *Cancer Medicine*, *8*(5), 2535–2544.

Matthews, C. E., Chen, K. Y., Freedson, P. S., Buchowski, M. S., Beech, B. M., Pate, R. R., & Troiano, R. P. (2008). Amount of time spent in sedentary behaviors in the United States, 2003–2004. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *167*(7), 875–881.

Matzka, M., Mayer, H., Köck-Hódi, S., Moses-Passini, C., Dubey, C., Jahn, P., Schneeweiss, S., & Eicher, M. (2016). Relationship between resilience, psychological distress and physical activity in cancer patients: A cross-sectional observation study. *PloS One*, *11*(4), e0154496.

May, G. A., & Nagle, F. J. (1984). Changes in rate-pressure product with physical training of individuals with coronary artery disease. *Physical Therapy*, *64*(9), 1361–1366.

May, S. M., & Li, J. T. (2015). Burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Healthcare costs and beyond. *Allergy and Asthma Proceedings*, *36*(1), 4.

Mayorga-Vega, D., Bocanegra-Parrilla, R., Ornelas, M., & Viciana, J. (2016). Criterion-related validity of the distance-and time-based walk/run field tests for estimating cardiorespiratory fitness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One*, *11*(3).

Mbanya, V. N., Kengne, A. P., Mbanya, J. C., & Akhtar, H. (2015). Body mass index, waist circumference, hip circumference, waist—hip-ratio and waist—height-ratio: Which is the better discriminator of prevalent screen-detected diabetes in a Cameroonian population? *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 108(1), 23–30.

McAlister, A. L., Perry, C. L., & Parcel, G. S. (2008). How individuals, environments, and health behaviors interact. *Health Behavior*, *169*.

McAuley, E. (1992). The role of efficacy cognitions in the prediction of exercise behavior in middle-aged adults. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *15*(1), 65–88.

McAuley, P., Myers, J., Emerson, B., Oliveira, R. B., Blue, C. L., Pittsley, J., & Froelicher, V. F. (2009). Cardiorespiratory fitness and mortality in diabetic men with and without cardiovascular disease. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, *85*(3), e30–e33.

McCarthy, B., Casey, D., Devane, D., Murphy, K., Murphy, E., & Lacasse, Y. (2015). Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *2*.

McCullough, D. J., Stabley, J. N., Siemann, D. W., & Behnke, B. J. (2014). Modulation of blood flow, hypoxia, and vascular function in orthotopic prostate tumors during exercise. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *106*(4), dju036.

McDermott, M. M., Greenland, P., Liu, K., Guralnik, J. M., Criqui, M. H., Dolan, N. C., Chan, C., Celic, L., Pearce, W. H., & Schneider, J. R. (2001). Leg symptoms in peripheral arterial disease: Associated clinical characteristics and functional impairment. *Jama*, *286*(13), 1599–1606.

McDowell, C. P., Carlin, A., Capranica, L., Dillon, C., Harrington, J. M., Lakerveld, J., & Herring, M. P. (2018a). Associations of self-reported physical activity and depression in 10,000 Irish adults across harmonised datasets: a DEDIPAC-study. *BMC public health*, *18*(1), 779.

McDowell, C. P., Carlin, A., Capranica, L., Dillon, C., Harrington, J. M., Lakerveld, J., & Herring, M. P. (2020). Associations of self-reported physical activity and anxiety symptoms and status amoung 7,874 Irish adults across harmonised datasets: a DEDIPAC-study. *BMC public health*, 20(1), 365.

McDowell, C. P., Dishman, R. K., Gordon, B. R., & Herring, M. P. (2019a). Physical activity and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *American journal of preventive medicine*, *57*(4), 545-556.

McDowell, C. P., Dishman, R. K., Hallgren, M., MacDonncha, C., & Herring, M. P. (2018b). Associations of physical activity and depression: results from the Irish longitudinal study on ageing. *Experimental gerontology*, *112*, 68-75.

McDowell, C. P., Gordon, B. R., Andrews, K. L., MacDonncha, C., & Herring, M. P. (2019b). Associations of physical activity with anxiety symptoms and status: results from The Irish longitudinal study on ageing. *Epidemiology and psychiatric sciences*, *28*(4), 436-445.

McLeroy, K. R., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., & Glanz, K. (1988). An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly*, *15*(4), 351–377.

McMahon, S. R., Ades, P. A., & Thompson, P. D. (2017). The role of cardiac rehabilitation in patients with heart disease. *Trends in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *27*(6), 420–425.

McNamara, R. J., McKeough, Z. J., Mo, L. R., Dallimore, J. T., & Dennis, S. M. (2016). Community-based exercise training for people with chronic respiratory and chronic cardiac disease: A mixed-methods evaluation. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *11*, 2839.

McTiernan, A. (2008). Mechanisms linking physical activity with cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 8(3), 205–211.

McTiernan, A., Friedenreich, C. M., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Powell, K. E., Macko, R., Buchner, D., Pescatello, L. S., Bloodgood, B., Tennant, B., & Vaux-Bjerke, A. (2019). Physical Activity in Cancer Prevention and Survival: A Systematic Review. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *51*(6), 1252–1261.

Mead, J. R., Irvine, S. A., & Ramji, D. P. (2002). Lipoprotein lipase: Structure, function, regulation, and role in disease. *Journal of Molecular Medicine (Berlin, Germany)*, *80*(12), 753–769.

Mendes, R., Sousa, N., Reis, V. M., & Themudo-Barata, J. L. (2017). Implementing low-cost, community-based exercise programs for middle-aged and older patients with type 2 diabetes: What are the benefits for glycemic control and cardiovascular risk? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *14*(9), 1057.

Mendes, R., Sousa, N., Themudo-Barata, J., & Reis, V. (2016). Impact of a community-based exercise programme on physical fitness in middle-aged and older patients with type 2 diabetes. *Gaceta Sanitaria*, *30*, 215–220.

Mendis, S., Puska, P., Norrving, B., & Organization, W. H. (2011). *Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Meneses-Echávez, J. F., González-Jiménez, E., & Ramírez-Vélez, R. (2015). Effects of supervised exercise on cancer-related fatigue in breast cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Cancer*, *15*(1), 77.

Mhaoláin, A. M. N., Gallagher, D., Connell, H. O., Chin, A. V., Bruce, I., Hamilton, F., Teehee, E., Coen, R., Coakley, D., & Cunningham, C. (2012). Subjective well-being amongst communitydwelling elders: What determines satisfaction with life? Findings from the Dublin Healthy Aging Study. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(2), 316–323.

Middleton, K. R., Anton, S. D., & Perri, M. G. (2013). Long-term adherence to health behavior change. *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine*, 7(6), 395–404.

Midtgaard, J., Christensen, J. F., Tolver, A., Jones, L. W., Uth, J., Rasmussen, B., Tang, L., Adamsen, L., & Rørth, M. (2013). Efficacy of multimodal exercise-based rehabilitation on physical activity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and patient-reported outcomes in cancer survivors: A randomized, controlled trial. *Annals of Oncology*, *24*(9), 2267–2273.

Mikkelsen, T., Korsgaard Thomsen, K., & Tchijevitch, O. (2014). Non-attendance and drop-out in cardiac rehabilitation among patients with ischaemic heart disease. *Dan Med J*, *61*(10), A4919.

Milani, R. V., Lavie, C. J., & Mehra, M. R. (2004). Reduction in C-reactive protein through cardiac rehabilitation and exercise training. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *43*(6), 1056-1061.

Miles, L. (2007). Physical activity and health. *Nutrition Bulletin*, *32*(4), 314–363.

Miller, F. L., O'Connor, D. P., Herring, M. P., Sailors, M. H., Jackson, A. S., Dishman, R. K., & Bray, M. S. (2014). Exercise dose, exercise adherence, and associated health outcomes in the TIGER study. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *46*(1).

Miravitlles, M., & Ribera, A. (2017). Understanding the impact of symptoms on the burden of COPD. *Respiratory Research*, *18*(1), 67.

Mitchell, J. A., Pate, R. R., Dowda, M., Mattocks, C., Riddoch, C., Ness, A. R., & Blair, S. N. (2012). A prospective study of sedentary behavior in a large cohort of youth. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 44(6), 1081.

Mommersteeg, P. M., Herr, R., Zijlstra, W. P., Schneider, S., & Pouwer, F. (2012). Higher levels of psychological distress are associated with a higher risk of incident diabetes during 18 year follow-up: results from the British household panel survey. *BMC Public Health*, *12*(1), 1109.

Moore, S. C., Lee, I.-M., Weiderpass, E., Campbell, P. T., Sampson, J. N., Kitahara, C. M., Keadle, S. K., Arem, H., De Gonzalez, A. B., & Hartge, P. (2016). Association of leisure-time physical activity with risk of 26 types of cancer in 1.44 million adults. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(6), 816–825.

Moorman, J. E., Rudd, R. A., Johnson, C. A., King, M., Minor, P., Bailey, C., Scalia, M. R., & Akinbami, L. J. (2007). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *MMWR Surveill Summ*, *56*, 1–54.

Mora, S., Cook, N., Buring, J. E., Ridker, P. M., & Lee, I.-M. (2007). Physical activity and reduced risk of cardiovascular events: Potential mediating mechanisms. *Circulation*, *116*(19), 2110.

Moreton, R., Stutz, A., Mulla, I., Winter, M., Roberts, J., & Hillsdon, M. (2018). *Evaluation of the Macmillan physical activity behaviour change care pathway. Final report 2018.* CFE research. Available at: https://www.macmillan.org.uk/assets/evaluation-of-macmillan-physical-activity-behaviour-change-care-pathway-2018.pdf

Morowatisharifabad, M. A., Abdolkarimi, M., Asadpour, M., Fathollahi, M. S., & Balaee, P. (2019). Study on social support for exercise and its impact on the level of physical activity of patients with type 2 diabetes. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 7(1), 143.

Morrato, E. H., Hill, J. O., Wyatt, H. R., Ghushchyan, V., & Sullivan, P. W. (2007). Physical activity in US adults with diabetes and at risk for developing diabetes, 2003. *Diabetes Care*, *30*(2), 203–209.

Morris, J. N., Heady, J. A., Raffle, P. A. B., Roberts, C. G., & Parks, J. W. (1953). Coronary heartdisease and physical activity of work. *The Lancet*, *262*(6796), 1111–1120.

Mosleh, S. M., Bond, C. M., Lee, A. J., Kiger, A., & Campbell, N. C. (2015). Effects of community based cardiac rehabilitation: Comparison with a hospital-based programme. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, *14*(2), 108–116.

Moy, M. L., Danilack, V. A., Weston, N. A., & Garshick, E. (2012). Daily step counts in a US cohort with COPD. *Respiratory Medicine*, *106*(7), 962–969.

Moy, M. L., Teylan, M., Weston, N. A., Gagnon, D. R., Danilack, V. A., & Garshick, E. (2014). Daily step count is associated with plasma C-reactive protein and IL-6 in a US cohort with COPD. *Chest*, *145*(3), 542–550.

Myers, J., Kaykha, A., George, S., Abella, J., Zaheer, N., Lear, S., Yamazaki, T., & Froelicher, V. (2004). Fitness versus physical activity patterns in predicting mortality in men. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *117*(12), 912–918.

Myers, J., McAuley, P., Lavie, C. J., Despres, J.-P., Arena, R., & Kokkinos, P. (2015). Physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness as major markers of cardiovascular risk: Their independent and interwoven importance to health status. *Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases*, *57*(4), 306–314.

Naicker, K., Johnson, J. A., Skogen, J. C., Manuel, D., Øverland, S., Sivertsen, B., & Colman, I. (2017). Type 2 diabetes and comorbid symptoms of depression and anxiety: Longitudinal associations with mortality risk. *Diabetes Care*, *40*(3), 352–358.

Nam, S., Dobrosielski, D. A., & Stewart, K. J. (2012). Predictors of exercise intervention dropout in sedentary individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, *32*(6), 370.

National Cancer Institute. (2020). *Physical Activity and Cancer Fact Sheet* Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/causes-prevention/risk/obesity/physical-activity-fact-sheet

National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. (2019). *About Chronic Diseases | CDC*. Available at: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/about/index.htm</u>.

National Comprehensive Cancer Network. (2020). *Fatigue*. Available at: https://www.nccn.org/patients/resources/life\_with\_cancer/fatigue.aspx

Nausieda, P. A., Weiner, W. J., Kaplan, L. R., Weber, S., & Klawans, H. L. (1982). Sleep disruption in the course of chronic levodopa therapy: an early feature of the levodopa psychosis. *Clinical neuropharmacology*, *5*(2), 183-194.

Nayak, M. G., George, A., Vidyasagar, M. S., Mathew, S., Nayak, S., Nayak, B. S., Shashidhara, Y. N., & Kamath, A. (2017). Quality of life among cancer patients. *Indian Journal of Palliative Care*, 23(4), 445.

Nelson, K. M., Reiber, G., & Boyko, E. J. (2002). Diet and exercise among adults with type 2 diabetes: Findings from the third national health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES III). *Diabetes Care*, *25*(10), 1722–1728.

Nesto, R. W. (2019). The relation of insulin resistance syndromes to risk of cardiovascular disease. *Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*, *4*(S6), 11–18.

Neupert, S. D., Lachman, M. E., & Whitbourne, S. B. (2009). Exercise self-efficacy and control beliefs: Effects on exercise behavior after an exercise intervention for older adults. *Journal of Aging and Physical Activity*, 17(1), 1–16.

Neves, L. F., Reis, M. H. dos, & Gonçalves, T. R. (2016). Home or community-based pulmonary rehabilitation for individuals with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cadernos de Saúde Pública*, *32*, e00085915.

Nici, L., Donner, C., Wouters, E., Zuwallack, R., Ambrosino, N., Bourbeau, J., Carone, M., Celli, B., Engelen, M., & Fahy, B. (2006). American thoracic society/European respiratory society statement on pulmonary rehabilitation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *173*(12), 1390–1413.

Nickolay, T., Nichols, S., Ingle, L., & Hoye, A. (2019). Exercise Training as a Mediator for Enhancing Coronary Collateral Circulation: A Review of the Evidence. *Current Cardiology Reviews*.

Nihtilä, E. K., Martikainen, P. T., Koskinen, S. V., Reunanen, A. R., Noro, A. M., & Häkkinen, U. T. (2008). Chronic conditions and the risk of long-term institutionalization among older people. *European Journal of Public Health*, *18*(1), 77–84.

Nitschke, J. E., McMeeken, J. M., Burry, H. C., & Matyas, T. A. (1999). When is a change a genuine change?: A clinically meaningful interpretation of grip strength measurements in healthy and disabled women. *Journal of Hand Therapy*, *12*(1), 25–30.

Norton, K., Norton, L., & Sadgrove, D. (2010). Position statement on physical activity and exercise intensity terminology. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *13*(5), 496–502.

Nussbaumer-Ochsner, Y., & Rabe, K. F. (2011). Systemic manifestations of COPD. *Chest*, *139*(1), 165–173.

O'Connor, G. T., Buring, J. E., Yusuf, S., Goldhaber, S. Z., Olmstead, E. M., Paffenbarger Jr, R. S., & Hennekens, C. H. (1989). An overview of randomized trials of rehabilitation with exercise after myocardial infarction. *Circulation*, *80*(2), 234–244.

O'Donnell, D. E., Aaron, S., Bourbeau, J., Hernandez, P., Marciniuk, D. D., Balter, M., ... & Kaplan, A. (2007). Canadian Thoracic Society recommendations for management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease–2007 update. *Canadian Respiratory Journal*, *14*.

O'Donnell, D. E., McGuire, M., Samis, L., & Webb, K. A. (1995). The impact of exercise reconditioning on breathlessness in severe chronic airflow limitation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *152*(6), 2005–2013.

O'Donoghue, G., Kennedy, A., Puggina, A., Aleksovska, K., Buck, C., Burns, C., Cardon, G., Carlin, A., Ciarapica, D., Colotto, M., & Condello, G. (2018). Socio-economic determinants of physical activity across the life course: A" DEterminants of Dlet and Physical ACtivity" (DEDIPAC) umbrella literature review. *PLoS One*, *13*(1), e0190737.

OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. (2019a). *Ireland: Country Health Profile 2019, State of Health in the EU*. OECD Publishing.

OECD/European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. (2019b). *State of Health in the EU. United Kingdom. Country Health Profile 2019.* http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0006/419478/Country-Health-Profile-2019-United-Kingdom.pdf?ua=1

OECD/European Union. (2018). *Health at a Glance: Europe 2018. State of health in the EU cycle*. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/state/docs/2018\_healthatglance\_rep\_en.pdf

Oldridge, N. B., Guyatt, G. H., Fischer, M. E., & Rimm, A. A. (1988). Cardiac rehabilitation after myocardial infarction: Combined experience of randomized clinical trials. *Jama*, *260*(7), 945–950.

O'Leary E. (2019). *Adherence to a community-based chronic illness exercise program* [Doctoral dissertation, Dublin City University, Dublin Ireland]. DCU Online Research Access Service

Oliveira, N. L., Ribeiro, F., Alves, A. J., Teixeira, M., Miranda, F., & Oliveira, J. (2013). Heart rate variability in myocardial infarction patients: Effects of exercise training. *Revista Portuguesa de Cardiologia (English Edition)*, *32*(9), 687–700.

Oliveira, N. L., Ribeiro, F., Silva, G., Alves, A. J., Silva, N., Guimaraes, J. T., Teixeira, M., & Oliveira, J. (2015). Effect of exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation on arterial stiffness and inflammatory and endothelial dysfunction biomarkers: A randomized controlled trial of myocardial infarction patients. *Atherosclerosis*, *239*(1), 150–157.

Ormel, H. L., Van Der Schoot, G. G. F., Sluiter, W. J., Jalving, M., Gietema, J. A., & Walenkamp, A. M. E. (2018). Predictors of adherence to exercise interventions during and after cancer treatment: A systematic review. *Psycho-Oncology*, *27*(3), 713–724.

Osterberg, L., & Blaschke, T. (2005). Adherence to medication. *New England journal of medicine*, *353*(5), 487-497.

Owen, N., Healy, G. N., Matthews, C. E., & Dunstan, D. W. (2010). Too much sitting: the population-health science of sedentary behavior. *Exercise and sport sciences reviews*, *38*(3), 105.

Owen, N., Salmon, J., Koohsari, M. J., Turrell, G., & Giles-Corti, B. (2014). Sedentary behaviour and health: Mapping environmental and social contexts to underpin chronic disease prevention. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *48*(3), 174–177.

Paffenbarger, R. S., & Lee Jr, I.-M. (1998). A natural history of athleticism, health and longevity. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *16*(sup1), 31–45.

Pallant, J. (2013). SPSS survival manual. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).

Pan, X.-R., Li, G., Hu, Y.-H., Wang, J.-X., Yang, W.-Y., An, Z.-X., Hu, Z.-X., Xiao, J.-Z., Cao, H.-B., & Liu, P.-A. (1997). Effects of diet and exercise in preventing NIDDM in people with impaired glucose tolerance: The Da Qing IGT and Diabetes Study. *Diabetes Care*, *20*(4), 537–544.

Pang, M. Y., Eng, J. J., Dawson, A. S., McKay, H. A., & Harris, J. E. (2005). A community-based fitness and mobility exercise program for older adults with chronic stroke: A randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *53*(10), 1667–1674.

Pareja-Galeano, H., Garatachea, N., & Lucia, A. (2015). Exercise as a polypill for chronic diseases. In *Progress in molecular biology and translational science* (Vol. 135, pp. 497–526). Elsevier.

Park, S. K., & Larson, J. L. (2014). The relationship between physical activity and metabolic syndrome in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 29(6), 499.

Parker, B. A., & Thompson, P. D. (2012). Effect of statins on skeletal muscle: Exercise, myopathy, and muscle outcomes. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 40(4), 188.

Parsons, T. J., Sartini, C., Ellins, E. A., Halcox, J. P., Smith, K. E., Ash, S., Lennon, L. T., Wannamethee, S. G., Lee, I.-M., & Whincup, P. H. (2016). Objectively measured physical activity and sedentary behaviour and ankle brachial index: Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations in older men. *Atherosclerosis*, *247*, 28–34.

Pasanen, T., Tolvanen, S., Heinonen, A., & Kujala, U. M. (2017). Exercise therapy for functional capacity in chronic diseases: An overview of meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. *Br J Sports Med*, *51*(20), 1459–1465.

Pate, R., Oria, M., & Pillsbury, L. (2012). Health-related fitness measures for youth: Musculoskeletal fitness. In *Fitness measures and health outcomes in youth*. National Academies Press (US).

Pate, R. R., O'neill, J. R., & Lobelo, F. (2008). The evolving definition of "sedentary". *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, *36*(4), 173–178.

Pate, R. R., Pratt, M., Blair, S. N., Haskell, W. L., Macera, C. A., Bouchard, C., Buchner, D., Ettinger, W., Heath, G. W., & King, A. C. (1995). Physical activity and public health: A

recommendation from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the American College of Sports Medicine. *Jama*, 273(5), 402–407.

Patel, A. V., Bernstein, L., Deka, A., Feigelson, H. S., Campbell, P. T., Gapstur, S. M., Colditz, G. A., & Thun, M. J. (2010). Leisure time spent sitting in relation to total mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *172*(4), 419–429. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwq155

Paterson, D. H., & Warburton, D. E. (2010). Physical activity and functional limitations in older adults: A systematic review related to Canada's Physical Activity Guidelines. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 38.

Patterson, R., McNamara, E., Tainio, M., de Sá, T. H., Smith, A. D., Sharp, S. J., Edwards, P., Woodcock, J., Brage, S., & Wijndaele, K. (2018). Sedentary behaviour and risk of all-cause, cardiovascular and cancer mortality, and incident type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and dose response meta-analysis. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, *33*(9), 811–829. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-018-0380-1

Pauwels, R. A., Buist, A. S., Calverley, P. M., Jenkins, C. R., & Hurd, S. S. (2001). Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *163*(5), 1256–1276.

Pavey, T. G., Anokye, N., Taylor, A. H., Trueman, P., Moxham, T., Fox, K. R., Hillsdon, M., Green, C., Campbell, J. L., & Foster, C. (2011). The clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of exercise referral schemes: A systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, *15*(44), i.

Pavey, T., Taylor, A., Hillsdon, M., Fox, K., Campbell, J., Foster, C., Moxham, T., Mutrie, N., Searle, J., & Taylor, R. (2012). Levels and predictors of exercise referral scheme uptake and adherence: A systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, *66*(8), 737–744.

Pavot, W., Diener, E. D., Colvin, C. R., & Sandvik, E. (1991). Further validation of the Satisfaction with Life Scale: Evidence for the cross-method convergence of well-being measures. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *57*(1), 149–161.

Paw, M. J. C. A., Chin, A., van Uffelen, J. G., Riphagen, I., & van Mechelen, W. (2008). The functional effects of physical exercise training in frail older people. *Sports Medicine*, *38*(9), 781-793.

Pedersen, B. K. (2007). Body mass index-independent effect of fitness and physical activity for all-cause mortality. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, *17*(3), 196–204.

Pedersen, L., Idorn, M., Olofsson, G. H., Lauenborg, B., Nookaew, I., Hansen, R. H., Johannesen, H. H., Becker, J. C., Pedersen, K. S., & Dethlefsen, C. (2016). Voluntary running suppresses tumor growth through epinephrine-and IL-6-dependent NK cell mobilization and redistribution. *Cell Metabolism*, *23*(3), 554–562.

Pelkonen, M., Notkola, I.-L., Lakka, T., Tukiainen, H. O., Kivinen, P., & Nissinen, A. (2003). Delaying decline in pulmonary function with physical activity: A 25-year follow-up. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *168*(4), 494–499.

Penttinen, H., Utriainen, M., Kellokumpu-Lehtinen, P.-L., Raitanen, J., Sievänen, H., Nikander, R., Blomqvist, C., Huovinen, R., Vehmanen, L., & Saarto, T. (2019). Effectiveness of a 12-month Exercise Intervention on Physical Activity and Quality of Life of Breast Cancer Survivors; Five-year Results of the BREX-study. *In Vivo*, *33*(3), 881–888.

Perera, S., Mody, S. H., Woodman, R. C., & Studenski, S. A. (2006). Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *54*(5), 743–749.

Phillips, R. L., Bartholomew, L. A., Dovey, S. M., Fryer, G. E., Miyoshi, T. J., & Green, L. A. (2004). Learning from malpractice claims about negligent, adverse events in primary care in the United States. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, *13*(2), 121–126.

Phillips, S. M., & McAuley, E. (2013). Social cognitive influences on physical activity participation in long-term breast cancer survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, *22*(4), 783–791.

Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee. (2008). Physical activity guidelines advisory committee report, 2008. *Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services, 2008*, A1–H14.

Pickering, C., & Kiely, J. (2019). Do non-responders to exercise exist—And if so, what should we do about them? *Sports Medicine*, *49*(1), 1–7.

Pinto, A. J., Dunstan, D. W., Owen, N., Bonfá, E., & Gualano, B. (2020). Combating physical inactivity during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*, 1–2.

Pinto, B. M., Rabin, C., & Dunsiger, S. (2009). Home-based exercise among cancer survivors: Adherence and its predictors. *Psycho-Oncology: Journal of the Psychological, Social and Behavioral Dimensions of Cancer, 18*(4), 369–376.

Pi-Sunyer, X. (2009). The medical risks of obesity. *Postgraduate Medicine*, 121(6), 21–33.

Pitta, Fabio, Troosters, T., Spruit, M. A., Probst, V. S., Decramer, M., & Gosselink, R. (2005). Characteristics of physical activities in daily life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *171*(9), 972–977.

Plotnikoff, R. C., Brez, S., & Hotz, S. B. (2000). Exercise behavior in a community sample with diabetes: Understanding the determinants of exercise behavioral change. *The Diabetes Educator*, *26*(3), 450–459.

Poliakoff, E., Galpin, A. J., McDonald, K., Kellett, M., Dick, J. P., Hayes, S., & Wearden, A. J. (2013). The effect of gym training on multiple outcomes in Parkinson's disease: A pilot randomised waiting-list controlled trial. *NeuroRehabilitation*, *32*(1), 125–134.

Polkey, M. I., Spruit, M. A., Edwards, L. D., Watkins, M. L., Pinto-Plata, V., Vestbo, J., Calverley, P. M., Tal-Singer, R., Agustí, A., & Bakke, P. S. (2013). Six-minute-walk test in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Minimal clinically important difference for death or hospitalization. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *187*(4), 382–386.

Powell, C., Browne, L. D., Carson, B. P., Dowd, K. P., Perry, I. J., Kearney, P. M., Harrington, J. M., & Donnelly, A. E. (2020). Use of compositional data analysis to show estimated changes in cardiometabolic health by reallocating time to light-intensity physical activity in older adults. *Sports Medicine*, *50*(1), 205-217.

Powell, C., Herring, M. P., Dowd, K. P., Donnelly, A. E., & Carson, B. P. (2018). The crosssectional associations between objectively measured sedentary time and cardiometabolic health markers in adults–a systematic review with meta-analysis component. *Obesity Reviews*, 19(3), 381–395.

Pressler, S. J., Subramanian, U., Perkins, S. M., Gradus-Pizlo, I., Kareken, D., Kim, J., Ding, Y., Sauvé, M.J. & Sloan, R. (2011). Measuring depressive symptoms in heart failure: Validity and reliability of the Patient Health Questionnaire–8. *American Journal of Critical Care*, *20*(2), 146-152.

Pressman, S. D., Jenkins, B. N., & Moskowitz, J. T. (2019). Positive affect and health: What do we know and where next should we go? *Annual Review of Psychology*.

Prince, S. A., Saunders, T. J., Gresty, K., & Reid, R. D. (2014). A comparison of the effectiveness of physical activity and sedentary behaviour interventions in reducing sedentary time in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Obesity Reviews*, *15*(11), 905–919.

Prince, Stephanie A., Blanchard, C. M., Grace, S. L., & Reid, R. D. (2016). Objectively-measured sedentary time and its association with markers of cardiometabolic health and fitness among cardiac rehabilitation graduates. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, 23(8), 818–825.

Prochaska, J. O., & Marcus, B. H. (1994). The transtheoretical model: Applications to exercise.

Puetz, T. W., & Herring, M. P. (2012). Differential effects of exercise on cancer-related fatigue during and following treatment: a meta-analysis. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 43(2), e1-e24.

Puhan, M. A., Gimeno-Santos, E., Cates, C. J., & Troosters, T. (2016). Pulmonary rehabilitation following exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *12*.

Raghupathi, W., & Raghupathi, V. (2018). An empirical study of chronic diseases in the United States: A visual analytics approach to public health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(3), 431.

Rajotte, E. J., Jean, C. Y., Baker, K. S., Gregerson, L., Leiserowitz, A., & Syrjala, K. L. (2012). Community-based exercise program effectiveness and safety for cancer survivors. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *6*(2), 219–228.

Rajput, R., Gehlawat, P., Gehlan, D., Gupta, R., & Rajput, M. (2016). Prevalence and predictors of depression and anxiety in patients of diabetes mellitus in a tertiary care center. *Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *20*(6), 746.

Rasekaba, T., Lee, A. L., Naughton, M. T., Williams, T. J., & Holland, A. E. (2009). The six-minute walk test: A useful metric for the cardiopulmonary patient. *Internal Medicine Journal, 39*(8), 495–501.

Rebar, A. L., Vandelanotte, C., Van Uffelen, J., Short, C., & Duncan, M. J. (2014). Associations of overall sitting time and sitting time in different contexts with depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms. *Mental Health and Physical Activity*, 7(2), 105-110.

Redelmeier, D. A., Bayoumi, A. M., Goldstein, R. S., & Guyatt, G. H. (1997). Interpreting small differences in functional status: The Six Minute Walk test in chronic lung disease patients. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *155*(4), 1278–1282.

Rees, J. L., Johnson, S. T., & Boulé, N. G. (2017). Aquatic exercise for adults with type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. *Acta Diabetologica*, *54*(10), 895–904.

Reid, K. F., & Fielding, R. A. (2012). Skeletal muscle power: A critical determinant of physical functioning in older adults. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 40(1), 4.

Reiner, M., Niermann, C., Jekauc, D., & Woll, A. (2013). Long-term health benefits of physical activity–a systematic review of longitudinal studies. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 813.

Resnick, B., Orwig, D., Magaziner, J., & Wynne, C. (2002). The effect of social support on exercise behavior in older adults. *Clinical Nursing Research*, *11*(1), 52–70.

Restorick Roberts, A., Betts Adams, K., & Beckette Warner, C. (2017). Effects of chronic illness on daily life and barriers to self-care for older women: A mixed-methods exploration. *Journal of Women & Aging*, *29*(2), 126–136.

Rezende, L., Rey-López, J. P., Matsudo, V. K. R., & do Carmo Luiz, O. (2014). Sedentary behavior and health outcomes among older adults: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*, *14*, 333. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-333

Ribeiro, F., Alves, A. J., Duarte, J. A., & Oliveira, J. (2010). Is exercise training an effective therapy targeting endothelial dysfunction and vascular wall inflammation? *International Journal of Cardiology*, 141(3), 214–221.

Ribeiro, F., Alves, A. J., Teixeira, M., Miranda, F., Azevedo, C., Duarte, J. A., & Oliveira, J. (2012). Exercise training enhances autonomic function after acute myocardial infarction: A

randomized controlled study. *Revista Portuguesa de Cardiologia (English Edition), 31*(2), 135–141.

Ridgers, N. D., Salmon, J., Ridley, K., O'Connell, E., Arundell, L., & Timperio, A. (2012). Agreement between activPAL and ActiGraph for assessing children's sedentary time. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *9*(1), 15.

Ries, A. L., Bauldoff, G. S., Carlin, B. W., Casaburi, R., Emery, C. F., Mahler, D. A., Make, B., Rochester, C. L., ZuWallack, R., & Herrerias, C. (2007). Pulmonary rehabilitation: Joint ACCP/AACVPR evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. *Chest*, *131*(5), 4S–42S.

Riley, L., Guthold, R., Cowan, M., Savin, S., Bhatti, L., Armstrong, T., & Bonita, R. (2016). The World Health Organization STEPwise approach to noncommunicable disease risk-factor surveillance: Methods, challenges, and opportunities. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(1), 74–78.

Ritchie, H. (2018). *What do people die from?* Our World in Data. Available at: https://ourworldindata.org/what-does-the-world-die-from

Robertson, R. J., & Noble, B. N. (1997). Perception of physical exertion: Methods, mediators, and applications (pp. 407-452). *Exercise and Sport Sciences Review. Baltimore: Williams & Williams*.

Rock, C. L., Doyle, C., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Meyerhardt, J., Courneya, K. S., Schwartz, A. L., Bandera, E. V., Hamilton, K. K., Grant, B., & McCullough, M. (2012). Nutrition and physical activity guidelines for cancer survivors. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, *62*(4), 242–274.

Rodgers, W. M., Hall, C. R., Blanchard, C. M., McAuley, E., & Munroe, K. J. (2002). Task and scheduling self-efficacy as predictors of exercise behavior. *Psychology and Health*, *17*(4), 405–416.

Rodgers, W. M., & Sullivan, M. J. (2001). Task, coping, and scheduling self-efficacy in relation to frequency of physical activity 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *31*(4), 741-753.

Rosenstock, I. M., Strecher, V. J., & Becker, M. H. (1988). Social learning theory and the health belief model. *Health Education Quarterly*, *15*(2), 175–183.

Rosenwinkel, E. T., Bloomfield, D. M., Arwady, M. A., & Goldsmith, R. L. (2001). Exercise and autonomic function in health and cardiovascular disease. *Cardiology Clinics*, *19*(3), 369–387.

Ross, Russell. (1999). Atherosclerosis—An inflammatory disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *340*(2), 115–126.

Roth, G. A., Abate, D., Abate, K. H., Abay, S. M., Abbafati, C., Abbasi, N., Abbastabar, H., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., & Abdelalim, A. (2018). Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *The Lancet*, *392*(10159), 1736–1788.

Rovniak, L. S., Anderson, E. S., Winett, R. A., & Stephens, R. S. (2002). Social cognitive determinants of physical activity in young adults: A prospective structural equation analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *24*(2), 149–156.

Royal College of Physicians. (2016). *National COPD Audit Programme: Pulmonary rehabilitation workstream 2015*. RCP London. Available at: https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/national-copd-audit-programme-pulmonary-rehabilitation-workstream-2015

Ruano-Ravina, A., Pena-Gil, C., Abu-Assi, E., Raposeiras, S., van't Hof, A., Meindersma, E., Prescott, E. I. B., & González-Juanatey, J. R. (2016). Participation and adherence to cardiac rehabilitation programs. A systematic review. *International Journal of Cardiology*, *223*, 436–443.

Ryan, J. L., Carroll, J. K., Ryan, E. P., Mustian, K. M., Fiscella, K., & Morrow, G. R. (2007). Mechanisms of cancer-related fatigue. *Oncologist*, *12*.

Sadarangani, K. P., Hamer, M., Mindell, J. S., Coombs, N. A., & Stamatakis, E. (2014). Physical activity and risk of all-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality in diabetic adults from Great Britain: Pooled analysis of 10 population-based cohorts. *Diabetes Care*, *37*(4), 1016–1023.

Safran, D. G., Neuman, P., Schoen, C., Kitchman, M. S., Wilson, I. B., Cooper, B., Li, A., Chang, H., & Rogers, W. H. (2005). Prescription drug coverage and seniors: Findings from a 2003 national survey: where do things stand on the eve of implementing the new medicare part D benefit? *Health Affairs*, *24*(Suppl1), W5–152.

Sagar, V. A., Davies, E. J., Briscoe, S., Coats, A. J., Dalal, H. M., Lough, F., Rees, K., Singh, S., & Taylor, R. S. (2015). Exercise-based rehabilitation for heart failure: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Open Heart*, *2*(1), e000163.

Salbach, N. M., Howe, J.-A., Brunton, K., Salisbury, K., & Bodiam, L. (2014). Partnering to increase access to community exercise programs for people with stroke, acquired brain injury, and multiple sclerosis. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, 11(4), 838–845.

Salive, M. E. (2013). Multimorbidity in older adults. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, 35(1), 75–83.

Sallis, J. F., Grossman, R. M., Pinski, R. B., Patterson, T. L., & Nader, P. R. (1987). The development of scales to measure social support for diet and exercise behaviors. *Preventive Medicine*, *16*(6), 825–836.

Samdal, G. B., Eide, G. E., Barth, T., Williams, G., & Meland, E. (2017). Effective behaviour change techniques for physical activity and healthy eating in overweight and obese adults; systematic review and meta-regression analyses. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 42.

Samuels, T. Y., Raedeke, T. D., Mahar, M. T., Karvinen, K. H., & DuBose, K. D. (2011). A randomized controlled trial of continuous activity, short bouts, and a 10,000 step guideline in inactive adults. *Preventive medicine*, *52*(2), 120-125.

Sanchez, N. F., Stierman, B., Saab, S., Mahajan, D., Yeung, H., & Francois, F. (2012). Physical activity reduces risk for colon polyps in a multiethnic colorectal cancer screening population. *BMC Research Notes*, *5*(1), 312.

Santa Mina, D., Au, D., Brunet, J., Jones, J., Tomlinson, G., Taback, N., Field, D., Berlingeri, A., Bradley, H., & Howell, D. (2017). Effects of the community-based Wellspring Cancer Exercise Program on functional and psychosocial outcomes in cancer survivors. *Current Oncology*, *24*(5), 284.

Sardinha, L. B., Santos, D. A., Silva, A. M., Baptista, F., & Owen, N. (2015). Breaking-up sedentary time is associated with physical function in older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series A, Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 70(1), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glu193

Saunders, T., Campbell, N., Jason, T., Dechman, G., Hernandez, P., Thompson, K., & Blanchard, C. M. (2016). Objectively measured steps/day in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*, *13*(11), 1275–1283.

Sabiston, C. M., Sedgwick, W. A., Crocker, P. R. E., Kowalski, K. C., & Mack, D. E. (2007). Social physique anxiety in adolescence: An exploration of influences, coping strategies, and health behaviors. *Journal of Adolescent Research*, *22*(1), 78-101.

Sakthong, P., Sonsa-ardjit, N., Sukarnjanaset, P., & Munpan, W. (2015). Psychometric properties of the EQ-5D-5L in Thai patients with chronic diseases. *Quality of Life Research*, *24*(12), 3015-3022.

Scharhag-Rosenberger, F., Walitzek, S., Kindermann, W., & Meyer, T. (2012). Differences in adaptations to 1 year of aerobic endurance training: Individual patterns of nonresponse. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports*, *22*(1), 113–118.

Schmid, D., & Leitzmann, M. F. (2014). *Association between physical activity and mortality among breast cancer and colorectal cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis.* 

Schmitz, K. H., Campbell, A. M., Stuiver, M. M., Pinto, B. M., Schwartz, A. L., Morris, G. S., Ligibel, J.A., Cheville, A., Galvão, D.A., Alfano, C.M & Patel, A. V. (2019). Exercise is medicine in oncology: engaging clinicians to help patients move through cancer. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians*, *69*(6), 468-484.

Schmitz, K. H., Courneya, K. S., Matthews, C., Demark-Wahnefried, W., Galvão, D. A., Pinto, B. M., Irwin, M. L., Wolin, K. Y., Segal, R. J., & Lucia, A. (2010). American College of Sports Medicine roundtable on exercise guidelines for cancer survivors. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *42*(7), 1409–1426.

Schutzer, K. A., & Graves, B. S. (2004). Barriers and motivations to exercise in older adults. *Preventive medicine*, *39*(5), 1056-1061.

Sedaghat, A. R. (2019). Understanding the minimal clinically important difference (MCID) of patient-reported outcome measures. *Otolaryngology–Head and Neck Surgery*, *161*(4), 551–560.

Segura-Jiménez, V., Álvarez-Gallardo, I. C., Estévez-López, F., Soriano-Maldonado, A., Delgado-Fernández, M., Ortega, F. B., Aparicio, V. A., Carbonell-Baeza, A., Mota, J., & Silva, P. (2015). Differences in sedentary time and physical activity between female patients with fibromyalgia and healthy controls: The al-Ándalus project. *Arthritis & Rheumatology*, *67*(11), 3047–3057.

Segura-Ortí, E., & Martínez-Olmos, F. J. (2011). Test-retest reliability and minimal detectable change scores for sit-to-stand-to-sit tests, the six-minute walk test, the one-leg heel-rise test, and handgrip strength in people undergoing hemodialysis. *Physical Therapy*, *91*(8), 1244-1252.

Seifert, C. M., Chapman, L. S., Hart, J. K., & Perez, P. (2012). Enhancing intrinsic motivation in health promotion and wellness. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *26*(3), 1–12.

Seki, E., Watanabe, Y., Sunayama, S., Iwama, Y., Shimada, K., Kawakami, K., Sato, M., Sato, H., Mokuno, H., & Daida, H. (2003). Effects of phase III cardiac rehabilitation programs on health-related quality of life in elderly patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation Journal*, *67*(1), 73–77.

Selzler, A.-M., Rodgers, W. M., Berry, T. R., & Stickland, M. K. (2016). The importance of exercise self-efficacy for clinical outcomes in pulmonary rehabilitation. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, *61*(4), 380.

Selzler, A.-M., Simmonds, L., Rodgers, W. M., Wong, E. Y., & Stickland, M. K. (2012). Pulmonary rehabilitation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Predictors of program completion and success. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, *9*(5), 538–545.

Serrano-Sanchez, J. A., Bello-Luján, L. M., Auyanet-Batista, J. M., Fernández-Rodríguez, M. J., & Gonzalez-Henriquez, J. J. (2014). Lack of exercise of moderate to vigorous" intensity in people with low levels of physical activity is a major discriminant for sociodemographic factors and morbidity. *PloS One*, *9*(12).

Sesso, H. D., Paffenbarger Jr, R. S., & Lee, I.-M. (2000). Physical activity and coronary heart disease in men: The Harvard Alumni Health Study. *Circulation*, *102*(9), 975–980.

Shaw, L. H., & Gant, L. M. (2002). Users divided? Exploring the gender gap in Internet use. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, *5*(6), 517-527.

Shepherd, C. W., & While, A. E. (2012). Cardiac rehabilitation and quality of life: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *49*(6), 755–771.

Shin, Y., Yun, S., Pender, N. J., & Jang, H. (2005). Test of the health promotion model as a causal model of commitment to a plan for exercise among Korean adults with chronic disease. *Research in Nursing & Health*, *28*(2), 117–125.

Shioya, T., Sato, S., Iwakura, M., Takahashi, H., Terui, Y., Uemura, S., & Satake, M. (2018). Improvement of physical activity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease by pulmonary rehabilitation and pharmacological treatment. *Respiratory Investigation*, *56*(4), 292–306.

Siddique, J., De Chavez, P. J., Craft, L. L., Freedson, P., & Spring, B. (2017). The effect of changes in physical activity on sedentary behavior: results from a randomized lifestyle intervention trial. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *31*(4), 287-295.

Siegel, R., DeSantis, C., Virgo, K., Stein, K., Mariotto, A., Smith, T., Cooper, D., Gansler, T., Lerro, C., & Fedewa, S. (2012). Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2012. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, *62*(4), 220–241.

Simoes, E. J., Hallal, P., Pratt, M., Ramos, L., Munk, M., Damascena, W., Parra Perez, D., Hoehner, C. M., Gilbertz, D., & Malta, D. C. (2009). Effects of a community-based, professionally supervised intervention on physical activity levels among residents of Recife, Brazil. *American Journal of Public Health*, *99*(1), 68–75.

Singh, F., Newton, R. U., Galvão, D. A., Spry, N., & Baker, M. K. (2013). A systematic review of pre-surgical exercise intervention studies with cancer patients. *Surgical Oncology*, *22*(2), 92–104.

Skerrett, P. J., & Manson, J. E. (2002). Reduction in risk of coronary heart disease and diabetes. *Handbook of Exercise in Diabetes*, 155–182.

Smith, G. L., Banting, L., Eime, R., O'Sullivan, G., & Van Uffelen, J. G. (2017). The association between social support and physical activity in older adults: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 56.

Smith, S. M., & O'Dowd, T. (2007). *Chronic diseases: What happens when they come in multiples?* British Journal of General Practice.

Smyth, B. (2017). *Planning for health: Trends and priorities to inform health service planning 2017*.

Sniehotta, F. F., Scholz, U., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). Bridging the intention–behaviour gap: Planning, self-efficacy, and action control in the adoption and maintenance of physical exercise. *Psychology & Health*, *20*(2), 143–160.

Sofi, F., Capalbo, A., Cesari, F., Abbate, R., & Gensini, G. F. (2008). Physical activity during leisure time and primary prevention of coronary heart disease: An updated meta-analysis of cohort studies. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 15(3), 247–257.

Solano, J. P., Gomes, B., & Higginson, I. J. (2006). A comparison of symptom prevalence in far advanced cancer, AIDS, heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and renal disease. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, *31*(1), 58–69.

Speck, R. M., Courneya, K. S., Mâsse, L. C., Duval, S., & Schmitz, K. H. (2010). An update of controlled physical activity trials in cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 4(2), 87–100.

Spence, R. R., Heesch, K. C., & Brown, W. J. (2010). Exercise and cancer rehabilitation: A systematic review. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, *36*(2), 185–194.

Spruit, M. A., Singh, S. J., Garvey, C., ZuWallack, R., Nici, L., Rochester, C., Hill, K., Holland, A. E., Lareau, S. C., & Man, W. D.-C. (2013). An official American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society statement: Key concepts and advances in pulmonary rehabilitation. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *188*(8), e13–e64.

Stamatakis, E., Ekelund, U., Ding, D., Hamer, M., Bauman, A. E., & Lee, I.-M. (2019). Is the time right for quantitative public health guidelines on sitting? A narrative review of sedentary behaviour research paradigms and findings. *Br J Sports Med*, *53*(6), 377–382.

Stamatakis, E., Hamer, M., & Dunstan, D. W. (2011). Screen-based entertainment time, allcause mortality, and cardiovascular events: Population-based study with ongoing mortality and hospital events follow-up. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *57*(3), 292–299.

Stanford, K. I., & Goodyear, L. J. (2014). Exercise and type 2 diabetes: Molecular mechanisms regulating glucose uptake in skeletal muscle. *Advances in Physiology Education*, *38*(4), 308–314.

Steele, B. G., Holt, L., Belza, B., Ferris, S., Lakshminaryan, S., & Buchner, D. M. (2000). Quantitating physical activity in COPD using a triaxial accelerometer. *Chest*, *117*(5), 1359–1367.

Steell, L., Ho, F. K., Sillars, A., Petermann-Rocha, F., Li, H., Lyall, D. M., Iliodromiti, S., Welsh, P., Anderson, J., & MacKay, D. F. (2019). Dose-response associations of cardiorespiratory fitness with all-cause mortality and incidence and mortality of cancer and cardiovascular and respiratory diseases: The UK Biobank cohort study. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *53*(21), 1371–1378.

Steffen, T., & Seney, M. (2008). Test-retest reliability and minimal detectable change on balance and ambulation tests, the 36-item short-form health survey, and the unified Parkinson disease rating scale in people with parkinsonism. *Physical Therapy*, *88*(6), 733–746.

Steffens, D., Beckenkamp, P. R., Hancock, M., Solomon, M., & Young, J. (2018). Preoperative exercise halves the postoperative complication rate in patients with lung cancer: A systematic review of the effect of exercise on complications, length of stay and quality of life in patients with cancer. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *52*(5), 344–344.

Stenman, U., Hakama, M., Knekt, P., Aromaa, A., Teppo, L., Leinonen, J., Zhang, B. H., Yang, B. H., & Tang, Z. Y. (2010). Measurement and modeling of health-related quality of life. *Epidem Demog Public Health*, *195*, Q5.

Stephens, B. R., Granados, K., Zderic, T. W., Hamilton, M. T., & Braun, B. (2011). Effects of 1day of inactivity on insulin action in healthy men and women: Interaction with energy intake.Metabolism:ClinicalandExperimental,60(7),941–949.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2010.08.014

Stewart, R., Held, C., Brown, R., Vedin, O., Hagstrom, E., Lonn, E., Armstrong, P., Granger, C. B., Hochman, J., & Davies, R. (2013). Physical activity in patients with stable coronary heart disease: An international perspective. *European Heart Journal*, *34*(42), 3286–3293.

Stoilkova-Hartmann, A., Janssen, D. J., Franssen, F. M., & Wouters, E. F. (2015). Differences in change in coping styles between good responders, moderate responders and non-responders to pulmonary rehabilitation. *Respiratory Medicine*, *109*(12), 1540–1545.

Stolar, M. (2010). Glycemic control and complications in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The American Journal of Medicine*, *123*(3), S3–S11.

Stoller, O., de Bruin, E. D., Knols, R. H., & Hunt, K. J. (2012). Effects of cardiovascular exercise early after stroke: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Neurology*, *12*(1), 45.

Stuck, A. E., Walthert, J. M., Nikolaus, T., Büla, C. J., Hohmann, C., & Beck, J. C. (1999). Risk factors for functional status decline in community-living elderly people: A systematic literature review. *Social Science & Medicine*, *48*(4), 445–469.

Sturgeon, K. M., Mathis, K. M., Rogers, C. J., Schmitz, K. H., & Waning, D. L. (2019). Cancerand Chemotherapy-Induced Musculoskeletal Degradation. *JBMR Plus*, *3*(3), e10187.

Suhrcke, M., Nugent, R. A., Stuckler, D., & Rocco, L. (2006). Chronic disease: An economic perspective. *London: Oxford Health Alliance*, 11.

Sui, X., Lee, D., Matthews, C. E., Adams, S. A., Hébert, J. R., Church, T. S., Lee, C.-D., & Blair, S. N. (2010). The influence of cardiorespiratory fitness on lung cancer mortality. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *42*(5), 872.

Sum, G., Hone, T., Atun, R., Millett, C., Suhrcke, M., Mahal, A., Koh, G. C.-H., & Lee, J. T. (2018). Multimorbidity and out-of-pocket expenditure on medicines: A systematic review. *BMJ Global Health*, *3*(1), e000505.

Sun, J.-W., Zhao, L.-G., Yang, Y., Ma, X., Wang, Y.-Y., & Xiang, Y.-B. (2015). Association between television viewing time and all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis of cohort studies. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *182*(11), 908–916.

Swartz, M. C., Lewis, Z. H., Lyons, E. J., Jennings, K., Middleton, A., Deer, R. R., Arnold, D., Dresser, K., Ottenbacher, K. J., & Goodwin, J. S. (2017). Effect of home-and community-based

physical activity interventions on physical function among cancer survivors: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *98*(8), 1652–1665.

Sylvia, L. G., Bernstein, E. E., Hubbard, J. L., Keating, L., & Anderson, E. J. (2014). Practical guide to measuring physical activity. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *114*(2), 199-208.

Szczuka, Z., Banik, A., Abraham, C., Kulis, E., & Luszczynska, A. (2020). Associations between self-efficacy and sedentary behaviour: a meta-analysis. *Psychology & Health*, 1-19.

Taylor, C., Tsakirides, C., Moxon, J., Moxon, J. W., Dudfield, M., Witte, K. K., Ingle, L., & Carroll, S. (2016a). Submaximal fitness and mortality risk reduction in coronary heart disease: A retrospective cohort study of community-based exercise rehabilitation. *BMJ Open*, *6*(6).

Taylor, L. M., Raine, K. D., Plotnikoff, R. C., Vallance, J. K., Sharma, A. M., & Spence, J. C. (2016b). Understanding physical activity in individuals with prediabetes: An application of social cognitive theory. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, *21*(2), 254–260.

Tennant, R., Hiller, L., Fishwick, R., Platt, S., Joseph, S., Weich, S., Parkinson, J., Secker, J., & Stewart-Brown, S. (2007). The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, *5*(1), 63.

Ter Hoeve, N., Huisstede, B. M., Stam, H. J., van Domburg, R. T., Sunamura, M., & van den Berg-Emons, R. J. (2015). Does cardiac rehabilitation after an acute cardiac syndrome lead to changes in physical activity habits? Systematic review. *Physical Therapy*, *95*(2), 167–179.

Teychenne, M., Ball, K., & Salmon, J. (2008). Physical activity and likelihood of depression in adults: a review. *Preventive medicine*, *46*(5), 397-411.

Teychenne, M., Costigan, S. A., & Parker, K. (2015). The association between sedentary behaviour and risk of anxiety: a systematic review. *BMC public health*, *15*(1), 1-8.

The American Cancer Society (2020). *Physical Activity and the Cancer Patient*. Available from: <u>https://www.cancer.org/treatment/survivorship-during-and-after-treatment/staying-active/physical-activity-and-the-cancer-</u>

patient.html#:~:text=The%20American%20Cancer%20Society%20recommends,least%20150 %20minutes%20per%20week

Theou, O., Stathokostas, L., Roland, K. P., Jakobi, J. M., Patterson, C., Vandervoort, A. A., & Jones, G. R. (2011). The effectiveness of exercise interventions for the management of frailty: a systematic review. J Aging Res 569194.

Thijssen, D. H., Maiorana, A. J., O'Driscoll, G., Cable, N. T., Hopman, M. T., & Green, D. J. (2010). Impact of inactivity and exercise on the vasculature in humans. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *108*(5), 845–875.

Thivel, D., Tremblay, A., Genin, P. M., Panahi, S., Rivière, D., & Duclos, M. (2018). Physical activity, inactivity, and sedentary behaviors: Definitions and implications in occupational health. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *6*, 288.

Thornley, S., Marshall, R., Chan, W. C., Kerr, A., Harrison, J., Jackson, G., Crengle, S., Wright, C., Wells, S., & Jackson, R. (2012). Four out of ten patients are not taking statins regularly during the 12 months after an acute coronary event. *European Journal of Preventive Cardiology*, *19*(3), 349–357.

Tiozzo, E., Youbi, M., Dave, K., Perez-Pinzon, M., Rundek, T., Sacco, R. L., Loewenstein, D., Lewis, J. E., & Wright, C. B. (2015). Aerobic, resistance, and cognitive exercise training poststroke. *Stroke*, *46*(7), 2012–2016.

Tremblay, M. S., Aubert, S., Barnes, J. D., Saunders, T. J., Carson, V., Latimer-Cheung, A. E., Chastin, S. F., Altenburg, T. M., & Chinapaw, M. J. (2017). Sedentary behavior research network (SBRN)–terminology consensus project process and outcome. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 75.

Tremblay, M. S., Warburton, D. E., Janssen, I., Paterson, D. H., Latimer, A. E., Rhodes, R. E., Kho, M. E., Hicks, A., LeBlanc, A. G., & Zehr, L. (2011). New Canadian physical activity guidelines. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism*, *36*(1), 36–46.

Trost, S. G., Mciver, K. L., & Pate, R. R. (2005). Conducting accelerometer-based activity assessments in field-based research. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *37*(11 Suppl), S531–43.

Trudel-Fitzgerald, C., Millstein, R. A., von Hippel, C., Howe, C. J., Tomasso, L. P., Wagner, G. R., & VanderWeele, T. J. (2019). Psychological well-being as part of the public health debate? Insight into dimensions, interventions, and policy. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 1–11.

Tudor-Locke, C., Craig, C. L., Aoyagi, Y., Bell, R. C., Croteau, K. A., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Ewald, B., Gardner, A. W., Hatano, Y., & Lutes, L. D. (2011a). How many steps/day are enough? For older adults and special populations. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *8*(1), 80.

Tudor-Locke, C., Craig, C. L., Brown, W. J., Clemes, S. A., De Cocker, K., Giles-Corti, B., Hatano, Y., Inoue, S., Matsudo, S. M., & Mutrie, N. (2011b). How many steps/day are enough? For adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8(1), 79.

Tudor-Locke, C., Craig, C. L., Thyfault, J. P., & Spence, J. C. (2012). A step-defined sedentary lifestyle index:< 5000 steps/day. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 38*(2), 100–114.

Tudor-Locke, C., Hatano, Y., Pangrazi, R. P., & Kang, M. (2008). Revisiting" how many steps are enough?". *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 40(7), S537–S543.

Tudor-Locke, C., Washington, T. L., & Hart, T. L. (2009). Expected values for steps/day in special populations. *Preventive Medicine*, 49(1), 3–11.

Tuomilehto, J., Lindström, J., Eriksson, J. G., Valle, T. T., Hämäläinen, H., Ilanne-Parikka, P., Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, S., Laakso, M., Louheranta, A., & Rastas, M. (2001). Prevention of type 2 diabetes mellitus by changes in lifestyle among subjects with impaired glucose tolerance. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *344*(18), 1343–1350.

Turk-Adawi, K. I., Oldridge, N. B., Tarima, S. S., Stason, W. B., & Shepard, D. S. (2013). Cardiac rehabilitation patient and organizational factors: What keeps patients in programs? *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 2(5), e000418.

Uchino, B. N. (2004). Social support and physical health: Understanding the health consequences of relationships. Yale University Press.

UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. (1998). Effect of intensive blood-glucose control with metformin on complications in overweight patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 34). *The Lancet*, *352*(9131), 854–865.

US Department of Health and Human Services. (2018b). Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. 2nd editions. *Prieiga per Internetą: Https://Health. Gov/Paguidelines/Second-Edition*.

US Department of Health and Human Services. (2018a). 2018 Physical activity guidelines advisory committee scientific report.

US Department of Health, & Services, H. (2008a). Physical activity guidelines for Americans: Be active, healthy, and happy! *Http://Www. Health. Gov/Paguidelines/Guidelines/Default. Aspx*.

US Department of Health, & Services, H. (2008b). US Department of Health and Human Services 2008 physical activity guidelines for Americans. *Hyattsville, MD: Author*.

Vaidya, T., Chambellan, A., & de Bisschop, C. (2017). Sit-to-stand tests for COPD: A literature review. *Respiratory Medicine*, *128*, 70–77.

Vallance, J. K., Courneya, K. S., Plotnikoff, R. C., & Mackey, J. R. (2008). Analyzing theoretical mechanisms of physical activity behavior change in breast cancer survivors: Results from the activity promotion (ACTION) trial. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *35*(2), 150–158.

Van der Ploeg, H. P., Chey, T., Korda, R. J., Banks, E., & Bauman, A. (2012). Sitting time and allcause mortality risk in 222 497 Australian adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *172*(6), 494– 500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2011.2174</u>

Van der Ploeg, H. P., & Hillsdon, M. (2017). Is sedentary behaviour just physical inactivity by another name?. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 142.

Van Deveire, K. N., Scranton, S. K., Kostek, M. A., Angelopoulos, T. J., Clarkson, P. M., Gordon, P. M., Moyna, N. M., Visich, P. S., Zoeller, R. F., & Thompson, P. D. (2012). Variants of the ankyrin repeat domain 6 gene (ANKRD6) and muscle and physical activity phenotypes among European-derived American adults. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research/National Strength & Conditioning Association*, *26*(7), 1740.

Van Remoortel, H., Hornikx, M., Langer, D., Burtin, C., Everaerts, S., Verhamme, P., Boonen, S., Gosselink, R., Decramer, M., & Troosters, T. (2014). Risk factors and comorbidities in the preclinical stages of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *189*(1), 30–38.

Vancampfort, D., Stubbs, B., & Koyanagi, A. (2017). Physical chronic conditions, multimorbidity and sedentary behavior amongst middle-aged and older adults in six low-and middle-income countries. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *14*(1), 147.

Vanfleteren, L. E., Spruit, M. A., Groenen, M., Gaffron, S., van Empel, V. P., Bruijnzeel, P. L., Rutten, E. P., Op't Roodt, J., Wouters, E. F., & Franssen, F. M. (2013). Clusters of comorbidities based on validated objective measurements and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, *187*(7), 728–735.

Varas, A. B., Córdoba, S., Rodríguez-Andonaegui, I., Rueda, M. R., García-Juez, S., & Vilaró, J. (2018). Effectiveness of a community-based exercise training programme to increase physical activity level in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A randomized controlled trial. *Physiotherapy Research International*, 23(4), e1740.

Verweij, L. M., Terwee, C. B., Proper, K. I., Hulshof, C. T., & van Mechelen, W. (2013). Measurement error of waist circumference: Gaps in knowledge. *Public Health Nutrition*, *16*(2), 281–288.

Vlachopoulos, C., Aznaouridis, K., & Stefanadis, C. (2010). Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, *55*(13), 1318–1327.

Vogiatzis, Ioannis, Zakynthinos, G., & Andrianopoulos, V. (2012). Mechanisms of physical activity limitation in chronic lung diseases. *Pulmonary Medicine*, 2012.

Walker, P. P., Burnett, A., Flavahan, P. W., & Calverley, P. M. (2008). Lower limb activity and its determinants in COPD. *Thorax*, *63*(8), 683–689.

Wallace, E., Salisbury, C., Guthrie, B., Lewis, C., Fahey, T., & Smith, S. M. (2015). Managing patients with multimorbidity in primary care. *Bmj*, *350*, h176.

Wallen, M., Brown, S., Evans, L., Harvey, J., Fletcher, J., Duncan, R., Grace, F., Wong Shee, A., Rawstorn, J., & Corbett, G. (2018). *Engage: Preoperative exercise intervention for patients with prostate, colon and breast cancer.* 

Walsh, S., Haddad, C. J., Kostek, M. A., Angelopoulos, T. J., Clarkson, P. M., Gordon, P. M., Moyna, N. M., Visich, P. S., Zoeller, R. F., & Seip, R. L. (2012). Leptin and leptin receptor genetic variants associate with habitual physical activity and the arm body composition response to resistance training. *Gene*, *510*(1), 66–70.

Walsh, Sean, Kelsey, B. K., Angelopoulos, T. J., Clarkson, P. M., Gordon, P. M., Moyna, N. M., Visich, P. S., Zoeller, R. F., Seip, R. L., & Bilbie, S. (2009). CNTF 1357 G $\rightarrow$  A polymorphism and the muscle strength response to resistance training. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, *107*(4), 1235–1240.

Wang, X., & Perry, A. C. (2006). Metabolic and physiologic responses to video game play in 7to 10-year-old boys. *Archives of Pediatrics & adolescent medicine*, *160*(4), 411-415.

Wang, X., Strizich, G., Hua, S., Sotres-Alvarez, D., Buelna, C., Gallo, L. C., Gellman, M. D., Mossavar-Rahmani, Y., O'Brien, M. J., & Stoutenberg, M. (2017). Objectively measured sedentary time and cardiovascular risk factor control in US Hispanics/Latinos with diabetes mellitus: Results from the Hispanic community health study/study of Latinos (HCHS/SOL). *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 6(6), e004324.

Warburton, D. E., Katzmarzyk, P. T., Rhodes, R. E., & Shephard, R. J. (2007). Evidence-based guidelines for physical activity of adult Canadians. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism= Physiologie Appliquee, Nutrition et Metabolisme, 32*, S17–74.

Warburton, D. E., & Bredin, S. S. (2016). Reflections on physical activity and health: What should we recommend? *Canadian Journal of Cardiology*, *32*(4), 495–504.

Warburton, D. E., & Bredin, S. S. (2017). Health benefits of physical activity: a systematic review of current systematic reviews. *Current opinion in cardiology*, *32*(5), 541-556.

Warburton, D. E., Charlesworth, S., Ivey, A., Nettlefold, L., & Bredin, S. S. (2010). A systematic review of the evidence for Canada's Physical Activity Guidelines for Adults. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 39.

Warburton, Darren ER, Gledhill, N., & Quinney, A. (2001). The effects of changes in musculoskeletal fitness on health. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology*, *26*(2), 161–216.

Warburton, Darren ER, Nicol, C. W., & Bredin, S. S. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: The evidence. *Cmaj*, *174*(6), 801–809.

Warren, T. Y., Barry, V., Hooker, S. P., Xuemei Sui, Church, T. S., & Blair, S. N. (2010). Sedentary Behaviors Increase Risk of Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Men. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *42*(5), 879–885.

Warwick Medical School. (2019). *WEMWBS: 14-item vs 7-item scale*. Available at: https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/sci/med/research/platform/wemwbs/about/wemwbsvsswemwb s/

Waschki, B., Spruit, M. A., Watz, H., Albert, P. S., Shrikrishna, D., Groenen, M., Smith, C., Man, W. D.-C., Tal-Singer, R., & Edwards, L. D. (2012). Physical activity monitoring in COPD: Compliance and associations with clinical characteristics in a multicenter study. *Respiratory Medicine*, *106*(4), 522–530.

Waterhouse, J. C., Walters, S. J., Oluboyede, Y., & Lawson, R. A. (2010). A randomised 2 x 2 trial of community versus hospital pulmonary rehabilitation, followed by telephone or conventional follow-up. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 14(6), i–v.

Wattanapisit, A., & Thanamee, S. (2017). Evidence behind 10,000 steps walking. *Journal of Health Research*, *31*(3), 241–248.

Watz, H., Waschki, B., Meyer, T., & Magnussen, H. (2009a). Physical activity in patients with COPD. *European Respiratory Journal*, *33*(2), 262–272.

Watz, Henrik, Waschki, B., Boehme, C., Claussen, M., Meyer, T., & Magnussen, H. (2008). Extrapulmonary effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on physical activity: A cross-sectional study. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 177(7), 743–751.

Watz, Henrik, Waschki, B., Kirsten, A., Müller, K.-C., Kretschmar, G., Meyer, T., Holz, O., & Magnussen, H. (2009b). The metabolic syndrome in patients with chronic bronchitis and COPD: Frequency and associated consequences for systemic inflammation and physical inactivity. *Chest*, *136*(4), 1039–1046.

Waxman, A. (2004). WHO global strategy on diet, physical activity and health. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, *25*(3), 292–302.

Welmer, A.-K., Angleman, S., Rydwik, E., Fratiglioni, L., & Qiu, C. (2013). Association of cardiovascular burden with mobility limitation among elderly people: A population-based study. *PLoS One*, *8*(5).

West, R. (1995). Evaluation of cardiac rehabilitation programmes. *Cardiac Rehabilitation*, 184–206.

White, S. M., Wójcicki, T. R., & McAuley, E. (2012). Social cognitive influences on physical activity behavior in middle-aged and older adults. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *67*(1), 18–26.

Wickström, G., & Bendix, T. (2000). The" Hawthorne effect"—What did the original Hawthorne studies actually show? *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health*, 363–367.

Willerson, J. T., Cohn, J. N., Wellens, H. J. J., & Holmes, D. R. (2007). *Cardiovascular Medicine*. Springer Science & Business Media.

Williams, M. A., Ades, P. A., Hamm, L. F., Keteyian, S. J., LaFontaine, T. P., Roitman, J. L., & Squires, R. W. (2006). Clinical evidence for a health benefit from cardiac rehabilitation: an update. *American heart journal*, *152*(5), 835-841.

Williams, M. A., Haskell, W. L., Ades, P. A., Amsterdam, E. A., Bittner, V., Franklin, B. A., Gulanick, M., Laing, S. T., & Stewart, K. J. (2007). Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: 2007 update: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association Council on Clinical Cardiology and Council on Nutrition, Physical Activity, and Metabolism. *Circulation*, *116*(5), 572–584.

Williams, P., Barclay, L., & Schmied, V. (2004). Defining social support in context: A necessary step in improving research, intervention, and practice. *Qualitative Health Research*, *14*(7), 942–960.

Williams, P. T. (2001). Physical fitness and activity as separate heart disease risk factors: A meta-analysis. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, *33*(5), 754.

Williams, S. L., & French, D. P. (2011). What are the most effective intervention techniques for changing physical activity self-efficacy and physical activity behaviour—and are they the same?. *Health education research*, *26*(2), 308-322.

Williamson, D. A., Bray, G. A., & Ryan, D. H. (2015). Is 5% weight loss a satisfactory criterion to define clinically significant weight loss? *Obesity*, *23*(12), 2319.

Wilmot, K. A., O'flaherty, M., Capewell, S., Ford, E. S., & Vaccarino, V. (2015). Coronary heart disease mortality declines in the United States from 1979 through 2011: Evidence for stagnation in young adults, especially women. *Circulation*, *132*(11), 997–1002.

Wingham, J., Dalal, H. M., Sweeney, K. G., & Evans, P. H. (2006). Listening to patients: choice in cardiac rehabilitation. *European journal of cardiovascular nursing*, *5*(4), 289-294.

Wirth, K., Klenk, J., Brefka, S., Dallmeier, D., Faehling, K., Roqué I Figuls, M., Tully, M. A., Giné-Garriga, M., Caserotti, P., Salvà, A., Rothenbacher, D., Denkinger, M., & Stubbs, B. (2017). Biomarkers associated with sedentary behaviour in older adults: A systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *35*, 87–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2016.12.002

Wolfe, R. R. (2006). The underappreciated role of muscle in health and disease. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *84*(3), 475–482.

Won, M. H., & Son, Y.-J. (2017). Perceived social support and physical activity among patients with coronary artery disease. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *39*(12), 1606–1623.

Woods, C., McCaffrey, N., Furlong, B., Fitzsimons-D'Arcy, L., Murphy, M., Harrison, M., ... & Peppard, C. (2016). The national exercise referral framework.

World Health Organization. (2003). *Adherence to long-term therapies: Evidence for action*. World Health Organization.
World Health Organization. (2005a). Chronic diseases in low and middle income countries. *Geneva: WHO*.

World Health Organization. (2005b). Facing the facts #1: Chronic diseases and their common risk factors. *Geneva: World Health Organisation*.

World Health Organization. (2009). *Global health risks: Mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks*. World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2010). Global recommendations on physical activity for health. *Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health.* 

World Health Organization. (2011a). *Global Health and Aging*. NIH publication.

World Health Organization. (2011b). Waist circumference and waist-hip ratio: Report of a WHO expert consultation, Geneva, 8-11 December 2008.

World Health Organization. (2013). *Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020*. World Health Organization.

World Health Organization. (2018a). *Cancer*. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer

World Health Organization. (2018b). *Global Health Estimates 2016: Deaths by Cause, Age, Sex, by Country and by Region, 2000-2016. Geneva: WHO, 2018.* 

World Health Organization. (2018c). *Ireland Physical Activity Factsheet 2018*. Available at: https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0005/382514/ireland-eng.pdf

WorldHealthOrganization.(2019a).Availableat:Rehabilitation.https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/rehabilitation

World Health Organization. (2019b). Available at: *World health statistics 2019: Monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals.* 

World Health Organization. (2020a). Available at:What is Moderate-intensity and Vigorous-intensityPhysicalActivity?WHO;WorldHealthOrganization.https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/physical\_activity\_intensity/en/Vigorous-Vigorous-Vigorous-

World Health Organization. (2020b). *WHO | Risk factors*. WHO; World Health Organization. Available at: <u>http://www.who.int/gho/ncd/risk factors/en/</u>

World Health Organization. (2020c). *Cardiovascular disease*. Available at: https://www.who.int/health-topics/cardiovascular-diseases/#tab=tab\_1

Wu, Y., Zhang, D., & Kang, S. (2013). Physical activity and risk of breast cancer: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *137*(3), 869–882.

Wullems, J. A., Verschueren, S. M., Degens, H., Morse, C. I., & Onambélé, G. L. (2016). A review of the assessment and prevalence of sedentarism in older adults, its physiology/health impact and non-exercise mobility counter-measures. *Biogerontology*, *17*(3), 547–565.

Yates, T., Haffner, S. M., Schulte, P. J., Thomas, L., Huffman, K. M., Bales, C. W., Califf, R. M., Holman, R. R., McMurray, J. J., & Bethel, M. A. (2014). Association between change in daily ambulatory activity and cardiovascular events in people with impaired glucose tolerance (NAVIGATOR trial): A cohort analysis. *The Lancet*, *383*(9922), 1059–1066.

Yohannes, A. M., Yalfani, A., Doherty, P., & Bundy, C. (2007). Predictors of drop-out from an outpatient cardiac rehabilitation programme. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *21*(3), 222–229.

Zafari, A. M., & Wenger, N. K. (1998). Secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *79*(8), 1006–1017.

Zanini, A., Aiello, M., Adamo, D., Casale, S., Cherubino, F., Della Patrona, S., Raimondi, E., Zampogna, E., Chetta, A., & Spanevello, A. (2015). Estimation of minimal clinically important difference in EQ-5D visual analog scale score after pulmonary rehabilitation in subjects with COPD. *Respiratory Care*, *60*(1), 88–95.

Zderic, T. W., & Hamilton, M. T. (2006). Physical inactivity amplifies the sensitivity of skeletal muscle to the lipid-induced downregulation of lipoprotein lipase activity. *Journal of Applied Physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985), 100*(1), 249–257.

Zenko, Z., Willis, E. A., & White, D. A. (2019). Proportion of adults meeting the 2018 physical activity guidelines for Americans according to accelerometers. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *7*, 135.

Zgibor, J. C., Ye, L., Boudreau, R. M., Conroy, M. B., Vander Bilt, J., Rodgers, E. A., Schlenk, E. A., Jacob, M. E., Brandenstein, J., & Albert, S. M. (2017). Community-based healthy aging interventions for older adults with arthritis and multimorbidity. *Journal of Community Health*, *42*(2), 390–399.

Zhang, C., Rexrode, K. M., Van Dam, R. M., Li, T. Y., & Hu, F. B. (2008). Abdominal obesity and the risk of all-cause, cardiovascular, and cancer mortality. *Circulation*, *117*(13), 1658–1667.

Zhang, Y., Qi, L., Xu, L., Sun, X., Liu, W., Zhou, S., van de Vosse, F., & Greenwald, S. E. (2018). Effects of exercise modalities on central hemodynamics, arterial stiffness and cardiac function in cardiovascular disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PloS One*, *13*(7).

Zhao, G., Ford, E. S., Li, C., & Balluz, L. S. (2011). Physical activity in US older adults with diabetes mellitus: Prevalence and correlates of meeting physical activity recommendations. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *59*(1), 132–137.

Zhao, G., Ford, E. S., Li, C., & Mokdad, A. H. (2008). Are United States adults with coronary heart disease meeting physical activity recommendations? *The American Journal of Cardiology*, *101*(5), 557–561.

Zhao, R., Bu, W., Chen, Y., & Chen, X. (2020). The Dose-Response Associations of Sedentary Time with Chronic Diseases and the Risk for All-Cause Mortality Affected by Different Health Status: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging, 24*(1), 63–70.

Zhai, L., Zhang, Y., & Zhang, D. (2015). Sedentary behaviour and the risk of depression: a metaanalysis. *British journal of sports medicine*, *49*(11), 705-709.

Ziaeian, B., & Fonarow, G. C. (2017). Statins and the prevention of heart disease. *JAMA Cardiology*, 2(4), 464–464.

Ziegelstein, R. C., Fauerbach, J. A., Stevens, S. S., Romanelli, J., Richter, D. P., & Bush, D. E. (2000). Patients with depression are less likely to follow recommendations to reduce cardiac risk during recovery from a myocardial infarction. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *160*(12), 1818–1823.

Ziouzenkova, O., Perrey, S., Asatryan, L., Hwang, J., MacNaul, K. L., Moller, D. E., Rader, D. J., Sevanian, A., Zechner, R., & Hoefler, G. (2003). Lipolysis of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins generates PPAR ligands: Evidence for an antiinflammatory role for lipoprotein lipase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *100*(5), 2730–2735.

Zoppini, G., Targher, G., Zamboni, C., Venturi, C., Cacciatori, V., Moghetti, P., & Muggeo, M. (2006). Effects of moderate-intensity exercise training on plasma biomarkers of inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in older patients with type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, *16*(8), 543–549.

Zorbas, Y. G., Yarullin, V. L., Denogradov, S. D., & Afonin, V. B. (1999). Plasma volume and biochemical changes in athletes during bed rest chronic hyperhydration. *Acta Astronautica*, *45*(12), 747–754.

**Appendices** 

#### Appendix A. Plain language statement

**Plain Language Statement** 

DUBLIN CITY UNIVERSITY



An evaluation of the effects of the MedEx programme on physical, clinical and psychosocial outcomes and an examination of determinants of adherence to MedEx

School of Health and Human Performance, DCU

Dr. Catherine Woods (<u>catherine.woods@dcu.ie</u>), Dr. Noel McCaffrey (<u>noel.mccaffrey@dcu.ie</u>) and Ms Fiona Skelly (<u>fiona.skelly2@mail.dcu.ie</u>)

#### Details of what involvement in the Research Study will require

Participation in this study will involve you attending DCU for 2 days of testing, before you start the MedEx programme. Each visit will last approximately 90 minutes and be separated by at least 1 week. On day 1 you will be asked to complete a questionnaire and perform some physical tests, including a simple strength test, and flexibility test. You will also have your height, weight, waist and hip circumference, measured. On this day you will also be asked to give a blood sample. Before you leave on day 1, a device will be given to you to wear for 1 week. This device is an ActivPal Accelerometer and will measure your activity levels throughout the week. A second questionnaire will also be given to fill out at home.

On testing day 2 you will be perform a simple walk test. Along with this you will perform two brain function tasks. One

measuring memory and the second measuring attention. As part of the induction process, on day 2, a group exercise

consultation will be conducted. This will be repeated at 4 weeks and then at 3 month intervals going forward.

A second questionnaire is also give out to fill out at home. Before you leave on day 2 you will be given a 24 hour blood pressure monitor to wear from for 24 hours.

During your first class participants with claudication will conduct a treadmill walking test, participants with lung conditions will be assess on lung function and also participants identified as at risk of falls will perform a simple balance test.

Every 3 months you will be asked to repeat the induction measures in order to monitor your progress.

#### Potential risks to participants from involvement in the Research Study (if greater than that encountered in everyday life)

Exercise and exercise testing carries with it a very small risk of abnormal heart rhythms, heart attack or death in less than one in 30,000 people. There may also be a risk of anginal symptoms such as an increased blood pressure or arrhythmias. With all exercise sessions, there is a risk of delayed onset of muscle soreness. Participants will be advised that they may experience muscle soreness. All individuals will be advised and given training to exercise at their own level of intensity and to increase progressively to help minimize any discomfort. Participants may also experience some discomfort due to the effects of exercise, such as increased respiration and sweating. Drawing blood may cause a slight pain where the needle is inserted and can leave a bruise. A person trained to take blood will be used to decrease these risks. The amount of blood drawn is not harmful.

#### Benefits (direct or indirect) to participants from involvement in the Research Study

Besides the benefits associated with regular exercise which participants will be receiving as part of the MedEx service, benefit to participants will include increased knowledge regarding recommended levels of physical activity for people living with chronic conditions and methods of achieving these recommendations Participants will also benefit from meeting other people in similar situations to themselves and will be provided with a supportive and safe environment in which they can exercise in a supportive safe environment.

### Advice as to arrangements to be made to protect confidentiality of data, including that confidentiality of information provided is subject to legal limitations

Confidentiality is an important issue during data collection. Participant's identity, or other personal information, will not be revealed or published. All raw data will only be available to the DCU research team who shall not have any means of accessing the identity of any participants. All responses are anonymous and will be dealt with on a strictly confidential basis. The investigators alone will have access to the data. In accordance with DCU policy all data will be kept on-site in DCU in a locked secure area.

#### Advice as to whether or not data is to be destroyed after a minimum period

After a 5 year period, if participants do not wish to have their data returned, or do not contact the investigators, all data will be destroyed in accordance with DCU policy.

#### Statement that involvement in the Research Study is voluntary

If at any point during your participation in the study you feel as if you wish to leave, this is not a problem. You are under no obligation to stay involved if you do not wish too.

If you are willing to do so please contact the investigators if you are unable or unwilling to continue in the project so as we can address an issues within the project.

#### If participants have concerns about this study and wish to contact an independent person, please contact:

The Secretary, Dublin City University Research Ethics Committee, c/o Research and Innovation Support, Dublin City University, Dublin 9. Tel 01-7008000

#### **Appendix B. Informed Consent**

#### **Informed Consent**



#### DUBLIN CITY UNIVERSITY

An evaluation of the effects of the MedEx programme on physical, clinical and psychosocial outcomes and an examination of determinants of adherence to MedEx

**Principal Investigator:** Dr. Catherine Woods, School of Health and Human Performance, Dr Noel McCaffrey School of Health and Human Performance

Other Investigators: Ms. Fiona Skelly School of Health and Human Performance

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the MedEx programme on participant physical and psychological health, as well as investigating the factors associated with uptake, adherence, relapse, and dropout of a community based chronic illness rehabilitation programme.

This study requires you to participate in physical fitness testing (walk test, lower body strength test, grip strength test, flexibility test, and body composition measure) at induction and at 3 month intervals, and completion of questionnaires at induction, also at 3 month intervals. Finally participants will be asked to give a blood sample at baseline and at 3 month intervals.

As part of the induction process a group exercise consultation will be conducted. This will be repeated at 4 weeks and then at 3 month intervals going forward.

Finally, you are asked to wear two devices. The first is an ActivPal Accelerometer. This is a small device attached to the right leg and worn for one week. The second is a 24-hour blood pressure monitor. This consists of a blood pressure cuff around the left and kept on for 24 hours.

#### Participant – please complete the following (Circle Yes or No for each question)

I have read the Plain Language Statement (or had it read to me)	Yes/No
I understand the information provided	Yes/No
I have had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study Yes/No	
I have received satisfactory answers to all my questions	Yes/No

If at any point during your participation in the study, you feel as if you wish to leave this is not a problem. You are under no obligation to stay involved if you do not wish to. Please make sure to contact the investigators if you are unable or unwilling to continue in the project so as we can address any issues within the project.

Dublin City University will protect all the information about me, and my part in this study. I will be assigned a unique ID number under which all my personal information will be stored securely and saved in a password protected file in a computer at DCU. My identity or personal information will not be revealed or published. All records associated with my participation in the study will be subject to the usual confidentiality standards applicable to medical records. All contact information will be securely stored in Dublin City University and will not be revealed to any third party. In addition, the study findings may be presented at scientific meetings and published in a scientific journal but my identity will not be divulged and only presented as part of a group. I am aware that the confidentiality of information provided can only be protected within the limitations of the law. It is possible for data to be subject to subpoena, freedom of information claim or mandated reporting by some professions.

#### If I have questions about the research project, I am free to call Dr. Catherine Woods at 01-7008008 or Brona Furlong at 01 7006442

I have read and understood the information in this form. My questions and concerns have been answered by the researchers, and I have a copy of this consent form. Therefore, I consent to take part in this research project:

Participants Sig	gnature:			
Name in Block	Capitals:	 	 	_
Witness:		 		
Date:				



#### Appendix C. Feedback Report

#### Appendix D. Questionnaire competed during visit 1

# Deu



#### **MedEx Induction Questionnaire**

The following questionnaire is designed to gather information on your health and wellbeing. Your responses are both for **research** purposes and for **reports to your medical team** and will be treated in the strictest confidence.

- While many of the questions may appear quite similar, there are subtle differences between them and you should treat each one as a separate question.
- The best approach is to answer each question fairly quickly and focus on each item separately.
- It is important to answer ALL the questions.
- Your answers are strictly confidential so try to answer all questions as honestly as you can.
- This is not a test, so there is no pass/fail.

#### Thank you

#### Participant information

24 Home address	

5	Р
	р

2

3□ 4□

<u>-</u>С

**Gender** (Please tick  $(\checkmark)$  one box):

**Q6 What is your marital status** (Use "✓" to indicate your answer)

Married .....

Living with partner .....

Single (never married) .....

Separated .....

Widowed .....

have completed? (Use "✓" to indicate your answer)
Some primary (not completed)

07 What is the highest level of education you

Male 1 Female 2

Some primary (not completed)	$_{1}\square$
Intermediate/junior/group certificate or equivalent	2
Leaving certificate or equivalent	3П
Diploma/certificate	4
Primary degree	5
Postgraduate/ higher degree	6
None	7
Don't know	8

#### **Q8 How would you describe your present principle status?** (Use """ to indicate your answer)

Working for payment or profit	1
Looking for first regular job	2
Unemployed	3
Student or pupil	4
Looking after home or family	5
Retired from employment	6
Unable to work due to permanent sickness or disability	7
Other	8

#### Q9 What is (was) your occupation in your main job?

Write in your main occupation?

Q5

Q10 Sometime in the future we may want to contact you to follow up on this research. Would that be OK? (Please tick ( $\checkmark$ ) one box): Yes  $_{1}\square$  No  $_{2}\square$ 

#### Q1. Who referred you to MedEx?

(Use " $\checkmark$ " to indicate your answer)

Hospital Consultant Please list:	1
General practitioner (GP) Please list:	2
Phase III Cardiac Rehab (Beaumont)	3
Phase III Cardiac Rehab (Mater)	4
Other Please list:	5

#### **SECTION 2**

**Q1**. Please indicate which chronic condition(s) you have (tick all that apply).

None	
Heart Disease     Type of heart disease	□ <sub>2</sub>
Peripheral arterial disease/claudication	□ <sub>3</sub>
Chronic bronchitis, emphysema or COPD	□ 4
Asthma	□ 5
Other lung disease Type of lung disease	6
Cancer Specify type	
Type 2 diabetes	
Type 1 diabetes	9
Depression	□ <sub>10</sub>
Anxiety or other emotional mental health condition	
Arthritis or other rheumatic disease         Specify type	12
Other chronic condition Please specify	13

Section 3

We are interested in finding out about the kinds of physical activities that people do as part of their everyday lives. The questions will ask you about the time you spent being physically active in the **last 7 days**. Please answer each question even if you do not consider yourself to be an active

person. Please think about the activities you do at work, as part of your house and yard work, to get from place to place, and in your spare time for recreation, exercise or sport.

Think about all the vigorous activities that you did in the **last 7 days**. **Vigorous** physical activities refer to activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal. Think only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

Q1a During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities like heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, or fast bicycling? Please circle one number.

0 days 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 days

Q1b How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing vigorous physical activities? \_\_\_\_\_hours\_\_\_\_\_minutes per day

Think about all the **moderate** activities that you did in the **last 7 days**. **Moderate** activities refer to activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal. Think only about those physical activities that you did for at least 10 minutes at a time.

Q2a. During the last 7 days, on how many days did you do moderate physical activities like carrying light loads, bicycling at a regular pace, or doubles tennis? Do not include walking. Please circle one number.

0 days 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 days

Q2b How much time did you usually spend on one of those days doing moderate physical activities? \_\_\_\_\_hours\_\_\_\_\_minutes per day

Think about the time you spent **walking** in the **last 7 days**. This includes at work and at home, walking to travel from place to place, and any other walking that you have done solely for recreation, sport, exercise, or leisure.

Q3a During the last 7 days, on how many days did you walk for at least 10 minutes at a time? Please circle one number.

0 days 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 days

- Q3b How much time did you usually spend **walking** on one of those days? \_\_\_\_\_hours\_\_\_\_\_minutes *per day*
- Q3c Which of the following best describes your usual walking pace?

A slow	A steady average	A fairly brisk pace	A fast pace (at least
pace	pace		4mph)
1□	2	3□	4

#### TIME SPENT SITTING

Q4 During the last 7 days, how much of the time did you usually spend sitting on one week day? (Includes time spent at a desk, visiting friends, reading, travelling, or sitting or lying down to watch television).

\_\_\_\_hours\_\_\_\_\_minutes per day

The following items reflect situations that are listed as common reasons for preventing individuals from participating in exercise sessions or, in some cases, dropping out. Using the scales below please indicate how confident you are that you could exercise in the event that any of the following circumstances were to occur.

Please indicate the degree to which you are confident that you could exercise in the event that any of the following circumstances were to occur by ticking the appropriate %. Select the response that most closely matches your own, remembering that there are no right or wrong answers.

FOR EXAMPLE: In question #1 if you have complete confidence that you could exercise even if "the weather was very bad," you would tick 100%. If however, you had no confidence at all that you could exercise (that is, confidence you would not exercise), you would circle 0%.

#### I believe that I could exercise 3 times per week for the next 3 months if:

1. The weather was very bad (hot, humid, rainy, cold).

Not at all	:	:			:	:	:	_:	:	:	:	: Highly Confident
(	0 <b>%</b>	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100 <b>%</b>	
					Mo Co	deratel nfident	У					

2. I was bored by the program or activity.



3. I was on vacation.

4. I was not interested in the activity.

#### 5. I felt pain or discomfort when exercising.



Not at all	:	:		:	:	:		_:	:	:	:	: Highly	Confident
Confident	0%	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%		
					Mo Co	oderately onfident	/						

7. It was not fun or enjoyable.



8. It became difficult to get to the exercise location.

 Not at all
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :

9. I didn't like the particular activity program that I was involved in.

Not at all	:_	:		::	:	:	:	_::		:	:	: Highly Confident
(	0%	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%	
Moderately												
					Co	onfident						

10.My schedule conflicted with my exercise session.

Not at all \_\_\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_: Highly Confident Confident 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% Moderately Confident

11.I felt self-conscious about my appearance when I exercised.

Not at all	:		::		:	:	:	::		:	:	: Highly Confident
	0%	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%	
Moderately												
					Co	nfident						

12.An instructor does not offer me any encouragement.

Not at all \_\_\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_: Highly Confident Confident 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% Moderately Confident

13.I was under personal stress of some kind.

Please continue to the next page

The following items reflect activities surrounding exercise, physical activity and MedEx class attendance. Please indicate the degree to which you intend to do the following items by ticking the appropriate box. Select the response that most closely matches your own. Remember there are no right or wrong answers.

I intend to (Use <sup>w</sup> √" to indicate your	Completely disagree	Disagree	Agree	Totally agree
answer)	1	2	3	4
<b>Q1</b> . Exercise several times a week		2	3	4
Q2. Work up a sweat regularly	1	2	3	4
Q3. Exercise regularly	1	2	3	4
<b>Q4.</b> Be physically active regularly for a minimum of 30 minutes 3 times a week	ι	2	3	4
<b>Q5.</b> To increase my leisure time activity	цЦ	2	3	4
<b>Q6.</b> To adhere to the exercise regimen prescribed to me		2	3	4
Q7. Attend MedEx classes at least once a week		2	3	4
<b>Q8.</b> To stick to MedEx classes	ī	2	3	4

#### Section 6

#### Q1 Have you fallen in the last 12 months?

Yes  $_1\Box$ 

No ₂□

Don't know 1

#### Q3 Are you afraid of falling?

Yes ₁□

No ₂□

No ₂□

#### Q4 Do you have any problems with your walking or balance?

Yes 1

This section is about exercise support from FAMILY. Please use a " $\checkmark$ " to indicate how much of the time the following statements relate. If these statements do not relate to family please tick "none" instead of leaving it blank.

How much of the time during the past t months, my family (or members of my household)	hree	None	Rarely	A few times	Often	Very often	Does Not Apply
		1	2	3	4	5	6
Q1. Exercised with me	Family	1□	2	3□	4	5	6
<b>Q2.</b> Offered to exercise with me	Family	1□	2	3□	4	5	6
<b>Q3.</b> Gave me helpful reminders to exercise ("Are you going to exercise tonight?")	Family	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q4.</b> Gave me encouragement to stick with my exercise program	Family	1	2	3□	4	5	6
<b>Q5.</b> Changed their schedule so we could exercise together	Family	1	2	3□	4	5	6
<b>Q6.</b> Discussed exercise with me	Family	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q7.</b> Planned for exercise on recreational outings	Family	1	2	3□	4	5	6
<b>Q8.</b> Helped me plan activities around my exercise	Family	1	2	3	4	5	6

#### Please continue to the next page

Please answer the following questions in relation to smoking, alcohol consumption and diet.

Q1. On how many days during a typical week did you usually drink alcohol, on average?
Number of Days
Q.2 On the days that you drank alcohol, how many drinks did you have on average?
A drink is: a half pint/glass of beer, lager, stout or cider
a single measure of spirits (whiskey, rum, vodka, gin)
a single glass of wine, sherry, port
Number of drinks
<b>Q.3</b> Do you smoke cigarettes <u>now</u> ?
$\Box \text{ No } \rightarrow \underline{\text{Go to Question 6}}$
Yes, regularly
□ Yes, occasionally (usually less than 1 per day)
Q.4 In a day, how many of the following do you usually smoke? (Please write a number)
branded cigarettes
Q.5 How long have you been a cigarette smoker for?
years
<b>Q.6</b> Did you ever smoke cigarettes in the <u>past</u> ?
□ No, never
Current smoker
Occasionally (usually less than 1 cigarette per day)
Yes, regularly
Q.7 How often do you eat convenience food (i.e. fast food or 'take-aways': e.g. Chinese, Indian, pizza, burgers,
chips, etc.)
Daily 4-6 times a week 1-3 times a week Less than once a week Never
Q.8 How often do you prepare food from fresh ingredients rather than pre-prepared food?
Daily 4-6 times a week 1-3 times a week Less than once a week Never
The questionnaire is now complete. Thank you very much

for your tíme.



Please use " $\checkmark$ " to indicate your answer in the following section.

Q1. In general w	1. In general would you say your health is;										
Excellent	Very good	Good	Fair	Poor							
1	2	з 🗖	4	5							

0	<b>2.</b> The following questions are about activities you might do during a typical day											
		Yes, limited a lot	Yes, limited a little	No, not limited at all								
а	Moderate activities, such as moving a table, pushing a vacuum, bowling or playing golf.		2	3								
b	Climbing several flights of stairs		2	3								

Q	B. During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the follow per regular daily activities as a regult of your physical health	ing problem	s with your work or
00	iel regular dany activities as a result of your physical health	Ves	No
-	Accomplished loss than you would like		
a	Accomplished less than you would like		2
b	Were limited in the kind of work or other activities	1	2

**Q4.** During the past 4 weeks, have you had any of the following problems with your work or other regular daily activities as a result of any emotional problems (such as feeling depressed or anxious)?

		Yes	No
а	Accomplished less than you would like		2
b	Didn't do work or other activities as carefully as usual		2

Q5. During the pa	st 4 weeks how m	uch of the time did	pain interfere with	your normal work						
(including work both outside the home and housework)?										
Not at all	A little bit	Moderately	Quite a bit	Extremely						
	2	3	4	5						

**Q6.** These questions are about how you feel and how things have been with you during the past month. For each question, please indicate the one answer that comes closest to the way you have been feeling.

,		All of the time	Most of the time	A good bit of the time	Some of the time	None of the time
а	Have you felt calm and peaceful?	1	2	з 🗖	4	5
b	Did you have lots of energy?		2	3	4	5□
с	Have you felt downhearted and low?	1	2	3	4	5
d	Has your health limited your social activities (like visiting friends or close relatives)?	1	2	3	4	5

Q7.	Over the last two weeks how often have	e you been bo	othered by any	of the follow	ving
prot	piems?			More	Nearly
		Not at all	Several days	than half the days	every day
A	Little interest or pleasure in doin things	9 <sub>1</sub>	2	3	4
в	Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless		2	3	4
С	Trouble falling or staying asleep, or sleeping too much	r 1	2	3	4
D	Feeling tired or having little energy	1	2	3	4
E	Poor appetite or overeating	1	2	3	4
F	Feeling bad about yourself- or that yo are a failure or have let yourself or yo family down	u 1 u	2	3	4
G	Trouble concentrating on things such a reading the newspaper or watchin television	s ı g	2	3	4
I	Moving or speaking so slowly that other people could have noticed? Or the opposite-being so fidgety or restless that you have been moving around a log more than usual	r ₁□ e s t	2	3	4
I	If you checked off ANY problems, h you to do your work, take care of the second	ow difficult nings at hon	have these p ne, or get alor	roblems m ng with oth	ade it for her people?
	Not difficult at all Somewhat di	fficult	Very difficult	: Ex	ctremely difficult
			3		4

Q8. In the	last 7 da	ys, abou	t how m	any hou	rs per 24	l hour pe	eriod did	you spe	nd sleepi	ng?
	3 or	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12 or
	less bours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	more
Weekdays		2	3	4	₅□	6	7	8		
Weekends		2	3П	4	5	6	7	8	_ و	10

<b>Q9.</b> sleep	During the )?	past	week,	how	would	you	rate	your	sleep	quality	overall	(how	well	you
	Very bad			Fai	irly ba	d		Fai	rly go	od	V	ery go	ood	
	1				2				3			4		

If any of your answers give you concern please contact a member of MedEx staff or Dr. Noel McCaffrey who can deal with these concerns.

SECTION 2								
Q1 Are you covered	<b>by:</b> (Use "✓" to indic	ate your answer)	1					
Full Medical Card or equivalent	GP visit card	Neither	Don't know					
1	2	3	3 4					
Q2. In the last 12 m	onths, about how	often did you	visit your GP?					
0-200								
Don't know $_1\Box$								
Q3 In the last 12 emergency departn 0-200	2 months, how ment as a patient?	many times o	did you visit a l	hospital				
Don't know 1 Q4. In the last 12 m many visits did you as an outpatient? (In consultations, tests, op or treatments)	nonths, about how make to a hospita nclude all types of perations, procedure	<b>Q5. V</b> I outpa a: (Use	When you went to atient, was this pre e "√" to select one and	hospital as an edominantly as swer only)				
0-200		As a p	ublic patient					
Don't know 1		As a p	rivate patient	□ <sub>2</sub>				
		Don't	know	□ <sub>3</sub>				
		Not ap	oplicable	□ 4				
Q6. In total, about l did you spend in hos months?	how many nights spital in the last 1	Q7. V 2 hospi (Use ",	When you stayed of tal, was this predo	overnight in ominantly as a: er only)				
0-364		As a p	ublic patient					
Don't know 1		As a p	rivate patient	2				
		Don't	know	3				
		Not a	pplicable	4				
Q8. In total during t (If working) due to i	he last 12 months illness?	about how m	any days have you	u taken off work				
0-364								
Don't know ₁□								

Not applicable  $2\Box$ 

## Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.

Mobility (walking about)	
I have no problems walking about	
I have some problems walking about	
I have <u>a lot</u> of problems walking about	
Looking after myself	
I have no problems washing or dressing myself	
I have some problems washing or dressing myself	
I have <u>a lot</u> of problems washing or dressing myself	
<i>Doing Usual Activities</i> (for example, hobbies, gardening, house work, doing things with family or friends)	
I have <u>no</u> problems doing my usual activities	
I have some problems doing my usual activities	
I have <u>a lot</u> of problems doing my usual activities	
Having pain or discomfort	
I have <u>no</u> pain or discomfort	
I have <u>some</u> pain or discomfort	
I have <u>a lot</u> of pain or discomfort	
Feeling worried, sad or unhappy	
I am <u>not</u> worries, sad or unhappy	
I am <u>a bit</u> worried, sad or unhappy	
I am very worried, sad or unhappy	





Below are five statements that you may agree or disagree with. Using the 1 - 7 scale below, indicate your agreement with each item by placing the appropriate number on the line preceding that item. Please be open and honest in your responding.

- 7 Strongly agree
- 6 Agree
- 5 Slightly agree
- 4 Neither agree nor disagree
- 3 Slightly disagree
- 2 Disagree
- 1 Strongly disagree

\_\_\_\_\_ In most ways my life is close to my ideal.

- \_\_\_\_\_ The conditions of my life are excellent.
- \_\_\_\_\_ I am satisfied with my life.
- \_\_\_\_\_ So far I have gotten the important things I want in life.
- \_\_\_\_\_ If I could live my life over, I would change almost nothing.

#### **SECTION 6**

#### Below are some statements about feelings and thoughts.

## Please tick the box that best describes your experience of each over the last 2 weeks

Statements	None of the time	Rarely	Some of the Time	Often	All of the Time
I've been feeling optimistic about the future					
I've been feeling useful					
I've been feeling relaxed					
I've been dealing with problems well					
I've been thinking clearly					
I've been feeling close to other people					
I've been able to make up my own mind about things					

Using the scales below please indicate how confident you are in the following items by ticking the appropriate %. Select the response that most closely matches your own, remembering that there are no right or wrong answers.

#### How confident are you that you can...

(Please use "✓" to indicate your answer)

1. Motivate yourself to get at least 30 minutes of activity a day, 3 times per week?

Not at all \_\_\_\_:\_\_\_:\_\_\_:\_\_\_:\_\_\_:\_\_\_:\_\_\_: Completely Confident 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% Somewhat Confident

2. Motivate yourself to attend at least 1 MedEx class a week?

 Not at all \_\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:\_\_:Completely Confident

 Confident
 0% 10
 20
 30
 40
 50
 60
 70
 80
 90
 100%

 Somewhat
 Confident
 Confident
 Confident
 Confident
 Confident

3. Use safe, effective exercise technique (e.g. warm-up, stretching)?



4. Plan exercise sessions that will be at least moderately difficult (e.g. have you breathing a little hard, your heart rate increases)?

Not at all	:	:	·	:	:		::	:	:	:	Completely	Confident
Confident	0% 10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%		
				So	mewh	nat						
				C	onfide	nt						

5. Monitor your exercise progress by recording what exercises you do, how often you do them and for how long?

Not at all	:	:	:	::	:		:	:	::	:	Completely	Confident
	0% 10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%		
				So	mewh	nat						
				C	onfide	nt						

6. Set realistic, weekly exercise goals for yourself (e.g. exercising 3 days/week)?

 Not at all
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 :
 <th:

7. Monitor and regulate the intensity of your exercise so that it is moderately difficult?

Not at all	:		:	::	:					::	Completely Confident
	0% 10	20	30	40	50	60	70	80	90	100%	
				Sc	mewh	at					
				C	onfide	nt					

8. Develop solutions to cope with potential barriers that can interfere with your exercise?

	Not at all:::::::::
9.	Schedule exercise sessions into your weekly routine so that you get at least 30 minutes of exercise a day, 3 times per week?
	Not at all:::::::::
10	You can return to exercise even if you have relapsed (returned to a sedentary/physically inactive state) for several weeks?
	Not at all:::::::: Completely Confident Confident 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% Somewhat Confident
11	.You can return to exercise even if you have relapsed (returned to a sedentary/physically inactive state) several times?
	Not at all:::::::: Completely Confident 0% 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100% Somewhat Confident

#### Please continue to the next page

•

This section is about exercise support from FRIENDS. Please use a " $\checkmark$ " to indicate how much of the time the following statements relate. If these statements do not relate to friends please tick "none" instead of leaving it blank.

How much of the time during the past three months, friends (this can include fellow MedEx participants)		None	Rarely	A Few Times	Often	Very Often	Does Not Apply
Q.1 Exercised with me	Friends	1□	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q.2</b> Offered to exercise with me	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q.3</b> Gave me helpful reminders to exercise ("are you going to exercise tonight?")	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q.4</b> Gave me encouragement to stick with my exercise program	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6□
<b>Q.5</b> Changed their schedule so we could exercise together	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6
Q.6 Discussed exercise with me	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6□
Q.7 Planned for exercise on recreational outings	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6
<b>Q.8</b> Helped me plan activities around my exercise	Friends	1	2	3	4	5	6□

## The questionnaire is now complete. Thank you very much for your time.



#### **Appendix F. Data Collection sheets**

MedEx Wellness



	6 Minute Walk Test													
20 m		320 m	*	620 m										
40 m	*	340 m		640 m	*									
60 m		360 m	*	660 m										
80 m	*	380 m		680 m	*									
100 m		400 m	*	700 m										
120 m	*	420 m		720 m	*									
140 m		440 m	*	740 m										
160 m	*	460 m		760 m	*									
180 m		480 m	*	780 m										
200 m	*	500 m		800 m	*									
220 m		520 m	*	820 m										
240 m	*	540 m		840 m	*									
260 m		560 m	*	860 m										
280 m	*	580 m		880 m	*									
300 m		600 m	*	900 m										

#### DATE:

#### Please Circle: Baseline / 3 Month / 6 Month / 12 Months

1. Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Total: \_\_\_\_\_

2. Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Total: \_\_\_\_\_

3. Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Total: \_\_\_\_\_

Health-related outcomes		Age		:	Sex		Inc	ome		Educatio	onal S	tatus	Marita	al Sta	tus	Worki	ng sta	atus	Smokiı	ng Sta	atus
	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig	df	F	sig
Physical functioning																					
6MTT	(1, 163)	9.6	.002	(1, 163)	0.7	.395	(3, 163)	0.5	.663	(4, 163)	1.1	.367	(2, 163)	0.4	.663	(2, 163)	1.5	.221	(1, 163)	1.3	.256
Sit to stand	(1, 163)	2.8	.096	(1, 163)	0.6	.449	(3, 163)	1.9	.140	(4, 163)	1.7	.147	(2, 163)	0.2	.791	(2, 163)	3.7	.027	(1, 163)	1.2	.270
Handgrip	(1, 165)	3.8	.054	(1, 165)	76.4	.000	(3, 165)	0.2	.927	(4, 165)	0.1	.990	(2, 165)	1.9	.147	(2, 165)	2.3	.106	(1, 165)	0.1	.720
Sit and reach	(1, 162)	10.8	.001	(1, 162)	6.1	.015	(3, 162)	1.4	.250	(4, 162)	0.9	.480	(2, 162)	3.5	.033	(2, 162)	1.1	.340	(1, 162)	0.0	.919
Body composition																					
BMI	(1, 165)	0.0	.978	(1, 165)	2.3	.133	(3, 165)	0.6	.618	(4, 165)	1.9	.120	(2, 165)	0.8	.430	(2, 165)	3.6	.029	(1, 165)	2.3	.133
Waist to hip ratio	(1, 165)	3.4	.068	(1, 165)	47.9	.000	(3, 165)	0.4	.777	(4, 165)	0.6	.697	(2, 165)	0.5	.635	(2, 165)	1.6	.209	(1, 165)	4.8	.030
Blood biomarkers																					
Fasting glucose	(1, 116)	0.0	.976	(1, 116)	3.0	.086	(3, 116)	0.5	.711	(4, 116)	1.5	.212	(2, 116)	0.4	.679	(2, 116)	0.3	.754	(1, 116)	0.0	.915
Triglycerides	(1, 132)	1.4	.247	(1, 132)	3.6	.061	(3, 132)	0.1	.941	(4, 132)	1.2	.300	(2, 132)	0.3	.731	(2, 132)	1.7	.183	(1, 132)	0.9	.347
LDL cholesterol	(1, 131)	0.0	.899	(1, 131)	1.8	.188	(3, 131)	2.1	.102	(4, 131)	1.0	.396	(2, 131)	1.1	.347	(2, 131)	1.0	.375	(1, 131)	3.4	.068
HDL cholesterol	(1, 131)	1.7	.195	(1, 131)	7.4	.007	(3, 131)	0.6	.590	(4, 131)	2.2	.072	(2, 131)	0.9	.400	(2, 131)	1.4	.249	(1, 131)	0.0	.926
hsCRP	(1, 101)	0.0	.967	(1, 101)	2.9	.090	(3, 101)	0.5	.673	(4, 101)	1.3	.266	(2, 101)	2.0	.145	(2, 101)	2.7	.073	(1, 101)	1.4	.232
Psychological health																					
PHQ8	(1, 109)	2.2	.144	(1, 109)	0.8	.376	(3, 109)	4.0	.009	(4, 109)	0.6	.644	(2, 109)	1.2	.303	(2, 109)	0.6	.527	(1, 109)	3.3	.070
EQ-VAS	(1, 109)	1.0	.320	(1, 109)	0.2	.676	(3, 109)	0.7	.567	(4, 109)	3.4	.059	(2, 109)	0.4	.697	(2, 109)	0.9	.418	(1, 109)	5.3	.023
SWLS	(1, 109)	7.8	.006	(1, 109)	0.1	.914	(3, 109)	3.9	.010	(4, 109)	1.6	.182	(2, 109)	0.9	.407	(2, 109)	0.3	.706	(1, 109)	0.5	.482
Psychosocial det																					
Self-efficacy	(1, 109)	1.4	.223	(1, 109)	0.2	.626	(3, 109)	0.7	.583	(4, 109)	0.2	.919	(2, 109)	0.2	.842	(2. 109)	0.1	.930	(1, 109)	1.9	.176

Appendix G. Summary of main effects for participant demographics on health-related measures

Note: 6MTT = 6 minute time trial; BMI = body mass index; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQol Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; LDL = low density lipoprotein; HDL = high density lipoprotein; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; Psychosocial det = psychosocial determinants of physical activity.

Number in **BOLD** indicate  $p \le 0.05$ 

			Standard			
Outcome	Timepoint	р	error	df	C.I	Cohen's D
LIPA	BL – 3 m	.249	0.04	139.34	(-0.19 <i>,</i> 0.03)	0.03
	BL – 6 m	.014	0.05	135.92	(-0.30, -0.02)	0.06
	BL – 12 m	1.00	0.06	144.83	(-0.22 <i>,</i> 0.09)	0.02
	3 m – 6 m	.794	0.05	118.18	(-0.21, 0.06)	0.03
	3 m – 12 m	.1.00	0.06	127.53	(-0.14, 0.18)	0.01
	6 m – 12 m	.537	0.06	107.86	(-0.06, 0.25)	0.04
Number of	BL – 3 m	.069	0.29	160.15	(-1.52, 0.03)	0.11
sedentary	BL – 6 m	.173	0.33	137.46	(-1.62, 0.16)	0.11
bouts 11-30	BL – 12 m	.396	0.42	131.72	(-1.91, 0.35)	0.10
min	3 m – 6 m	1.00	0.31	107.17	(-0.83, 0.85)	0.00
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	0.43	117.91	(-1.18, 1.10)	0.00
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	0.47	107.40	(-1.30, 1.20)	0.01
Time in	BL – 3 m	.066	5.18	164.45	(-27.17, 0.51)	0.46
sedentary	BL – 6 m	.109	5.85	135.14	(-29.65, 1.68)	0.50
bouts 11-30	BL – 12 m	.531	7.76	131.64	(-34.09, 7.47)	0.42
min	3 m – 6 m	1.00	5.44	105.32	(-15.28, 13.97)	0.03
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	7.73	115.57	(-20.74, 20.77)	0.00
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	8.41	104.73	(-21.94, 23.29)	0.02
Total number	BL – 3 m	.296	1.29	142.22	(-6.01, 0.89)	0.19
of sedentary	BL – 6 m	.087	1.41	133.81	(-7.26, 0.28)	0.25
bouts	BL – 12 m	.211	1.54	137.24	(-7.40 <i>,</i> 0.85)	0.22
	3 m – 6 m	1.00	1.48	121.94	(-4.90, 3.04)	0.07
	3 m – 12 m	1.00	1.78	147.93	(-5.48, 4.04)	0.04
	6 m – 12 m	1.00	1.59	109.91	(-4.06, 4.48)	0.02

## Appendix H. Summary of post hoc analysis on primary outcome variables with a significant main effect for time

Numbers in **BOLD** indicate p < 0.05.

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity

			B	aseline	9		3	mont	hs		6	mont	hs		1	2 mon	ths
Primar	y CD	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI
	CVD	87.5	18.0	.000	(34.3, 140.7)	142.6	21.1	.000	(80.4, 204.9)	116.9	23.1	.000	(28.8, 185.0)	97.6	24.6	.001	(24.7, 170.5)
	Respiratory	152.9	20.7	.000	(91.7, 214.0)	236.2	25.0	.000	(162.2, 310.1)	210.6	27.6	.000	(129.0, 292.3)	183.8	29.4	.000	(96.9, 270.8)
Cancer	Metabolic	91.4	24.0	.002	(20.4, 162.3)	141.0	29.1	.000	(55.0, 226.9)	101.3	32.0	.025	(6.7, 195.8)				
	Neuro/MSK	116.9	29.7	.001	(29.1, 204.7)	173.5	35.6	.000	(68.3, 278.7)	171.3	38.6	.001	(39.2, 303.3)				
	Unspecified	138.1	33.1	.001	(40.1, 236.0)	177.1	40.8	.000	(56.5, 297.7)	159.4	44.7	.002	(45.2, 273.6)				
Deenington	CVD	-65.4	19.0	.001	(-121.6, -9.2)	-93.5	22.8	.001	(-161.0, -26.0)	-93.7	25.0	.003	(-167.7, -19.8)	-86.2	26.2	.017	(-163.8, -8.7)
Respiratory	Metabolic					-95.2	30.0	.024	(-183.8, -6.6)	-210.6	27.6	.015	(-292.3, -129.0)	-111.8	29.4	.000	(-213.5, -10.0)

Appendix I. Summary of simple effects analysis on time\*primary CD interaction effect for the 6MTT

Note: CD = chronic disease; MD = mean difference; SE = standard error; 95% CI = 95 % confidence interval; CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neurological/musculoskeletal

	Appendix J. Summar	y of simple	e effects analy	sis on time	primary CD	) interaction	effect for the PHQ
--	--------------------	-------------	-----------------	-------------	------------	---------------	--------------------

			Baseline	2		3	3 month	าร		e	5 mont	hs			12 mon	ths
Primar	y CD	MD	SE sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI
	CVD								2.7	0.8	.022	(0.2, 5.2)	4.0	0.9	.000	(1.4 to 6.6)
Respiratory	Metabolic								3.6	1.1	.025	(0.2, 6.9)	3.9	1.2	.015	(0.4 to 7.4)
	Cancer				2.8	0.9	.043	(-0.4, 4.6)					4.6	1.0	.000	(1.6 to 7.5)

Note: CD = chronic disease; MD = mean difference; SE = standard error; 95% CI = 95 % confidence interval; CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neurological/musculoskeletal

			E	Baselin	9		3 mont	ns		6 m	onths			12 mon	ths
Primary	CD	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE sig	95% CI	MD	SE sią	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI
Respiratory	CVD											-3.9	1.3	.049	(-7.7, -0.01)
	Cancer	-3.6	1.2	.046	(-7.2, -0.03)				-3.7	1.2 .04	0 (-7.3, -0.1)	-6.8	1.5	.000	(-11.2, -2.4)

#### Appendix K. Summary of simple effects analysis on time\*primary CD interaction effect for the SWLS

Note: CD = chronic disease; MD = mean difference; SE = standard error; 95% CI = 95 % confidence interval; CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neurological/musculoskeletal

#### Appendix L. Summary of simple effects analysis on time\*primary CD interaction effect for the WEMWBS

			E	Baseline	2		:	3 montl	ıs			6 mon	ths		:	12 mon	ths
Primary	CD	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI	MD	SE	sig	95% CI
Respiratory	CVD													-3.9	1.3	.049	(-7.7, -0.01)
	Cancer	-3.6	1.2	.046	(-7.2, -0.03)					-3.7	1.2	.040	(-7.3, -0.1)	-6.8	1.5	.000	(-11.2, -2.4)

Note: CD = chronic disease; MD = mean difference; SE = standard error; 95% CI = 95 % confidence interval; CVD = cardiovascular disease; Neuro/MSK = neurological/musculoskeletal

Outcome measures	3 months	6 months	12 months
Physical activity and sedentary behaviour			
Sedentary time			
Standing time			
LIPA		↑ BL	
MVPA			
Step count			
Number of sedentary bouts <10 min			
Time sedentary bouts <10 min (min)			
Number of sedentary bouts 11-30 min <sup>a</sup>			
Time sedentary bouts 11-30 min (min) <sup>a</sup>			
Number of sedentary bouts 31-60 min			
Time sedentary bouts 31-60 min (min)			
Number of sedentary bouts > 60 min			
Time sedentary bouts > 60 min (min)			
Total number of sedentary bouts <sup>a</sup>			
Physical function			
6MTT	个 BL	↑ BL	个 BL, 个 3 m
Sit to stand	个 BL	↑ BL	个 BL
Handgrip			个 BL
Sit and reach			
Body composition			
Weight			
BMI			
Waist circumference	个 BL	个 BL	个 BL
Hip circumference	ተ BL	个 BL	个 BL, 个 3 m, 个 6 m
Waist to hip ratio			
Blood biomarkers			
Fasting glucose			
Iriglycerides			
HDL-C			
nscrP			
	T BL	η· BL Δ DI	T, BL ↑ BL
EQ-VAS	I. BL	- ·BL ∕A DI	I. BL
SWLS		I. BL	
SWEIVIWBS			
Self-regulatory self-efficacy			
Intentions for Evereise <sup>b</sup>			
Eamily support			
Friend support			

## Appendix M. Outcome measure were there was a significant main effect for time in study 2 (chapter 5)

 $\uparrow$  BL = Significant improvement between baseline and indicated timepoint

 $\uparrow$  3 m = Significant improvement between 3 months and indicated timepoint

 $\uparrow$  6 m =Significant improvement between 6 months and 12 months

<sup>a</sup> Significant main effect for time with insignificant post hoc and no identified timepoint of change

<sup>b</sup> Significant main effect for time with a negative outcome

Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate intensity physical activity; 6MTT = 6 minute timed trial; BMI = body mass index; HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale

Outcome measures	Iviain effect for attendance
Physical activity and sedentary behaviour	
Sedentary time	
Standing time	
LIPA	Х
MVPA	Х
Step count	Х
Number of sedentary bouts <10 min	
Time sedentary bouts <10 min (min)	
Number of sedentary bouts 11-30 min	
Time sedentary bouts 11-30 min (min)	
Number of sedentary bouts 31-60 min	
Time sedentary bouts 31-60 min (min)	
Number of sedentary bouts > 60 min	
Time sedentary bouts > 60 min (min)	Х
Total number of sedentary bouts	
Physical function	
6MTT	
Sit to stand	
Handgrip	
Sit and reach	
Body composition	
, . Weight	Х
BMI	х
Waist circumference	
Hip Circumference	Х
Waist to hip ratio	
Blood biomarkers	
Fasting glucose	
Triglycerides	
HDL-C	
LDL-C	
hsCRP	
Psychological health	
PHO8	х
EO-VAS	X
SWIS	X
SWEMWBS	X
Psychosocial determinants of PA	~
	х
Barriers self-efficacy	
Barriers self-efficacy Self-regulatory self-efficacy	x
Barriers self-efficacy Self-regulatory self-efficacy Intentions for Exercise	X X
Barriers self-efficacy Self-regulatory self-efficacy Intentions for Exercise Family support	x x

## Appendix N. Outcome measures were there was a significant main effect for attendance in study 2 (chapter 5)

X indicates variables where a significant association with attendance was identified in study 2 (chapter 5) Note: LIPA = light intensity physical activity; MVPA = moderate intensity physical activity; 6MTT = 6 minute timed trial; BMI = body mass index; HDL-C = high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C = low density lipoprotein cholesterol; hsCRP = high sensitivity C-reactive protein; PHQ8 = 8-item Patient Health Questionnaire; EQ-VAS = EuroQoL Visual Analogue Scale; SWLS = Satisfaction with Life Scale; SWEMWBS = The Short - Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Scale